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~PARKVSLOPE HISTORIC DISTRICT, Borough of Brooklyn

INTRODUCTION

The Park Slope Historic-District is a roughly L-shaped ‘area bounded approxi-
mately by Prospect Park Yest on the east side, by Flatbush Avenue on the northeast,
Park Place on the north, Sixth Avenue on the west, and by Berkeley Place, Seventh
Avenue, Fourth Street, Eighth Avenues;and by Fourteenth Street at its southern end.

BOUNDARIES

The property bounded by the southern property line of 446 through 494 14th
Street, the eastern property line of 494 14th Street, 14th Street, Prospect Park
West, 10th Street, the eastern and northern property lines of 693 10th Street, part
of the northern property line of 691 10th Street, the eastern property line of 572
9th Street, 9th Street, Prospect Park West, 4th Street, the eastern property lines
of 597 4th Street, the eastern property line of 634 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the
eastern property line of 631 3rd Street, the southern-property lines of 646 and 648
2nd Street and of 65 Prospect Park West, Prospect Park West, lst Street, the eastern
property line of 567 1st Street, part of the southern and the eastern property lines
of 316 Garfield Place, Garfield Place, the eastern property line of 323 Garfield
Place, part of the southern property line of 54 Montgomery Place, the southern
property lines of 56 through 60 Montgomery Place and of 32 Prospect Park West,
Prospect Park West, Montgomery Place, part of the eastern property line of 59
Montgomery Place, the southern property line of 25 Prospect Park West, Prospect
Park West, part of the northern property line of 13 Prospect Park Yest, the
eastern. property line of 946 President Street, President Street, the eastern property
line of 953 President Street, the northern property lines of 953 through 947 Presi-
dent Street, the northern and part of the western property lines of 945 President
Street, the northern property line of 943 President Street, part of the eastern and
the northern property lines of 941 President Street, the northern property lines of
939 through 933 President Street, the eastern property line of 902 Union Street,
Union Street, the eastern property lines of 71 through 63 8th Avenue, the southern
property lines of 264 through 276 Berkeley Place, the eastern property line of 276
Berkeley Place, Berkeley Place, the eastern property lines of 49 through 27 8th
Avenue,- Lincoln Place, Plaza Street, the northern property line of 5 Plaza Street,
8th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the eastern property line of 217 St. Johns Place, the
‘northern property lines of 217 through 179 St. Johns Place, part of the northern
property line of 31+35 7th Avenue, the eastern property line of 29 7th Avenue, the

" -eastern property line of 146 Sterling Place, Sterling Place, the eastern property

lines:of 19 through 13 7th Avenue, the northern property 11ne of 13 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, Park Place, the eastern property line of 133 Park Place, the northern
property lines of 133 through 95 Park Place, the western property line of 95 Park
Place, Park Place, the western and part of the northern property lines of the
stable (90 Park Place), the southern property line of the stable (90 Park Place),
part of the western property line of 92 Park Place, the southern property lines of
92 through 144 Park Place, the western property lines of 18 through 24 7th Avenue,
Sterling Place, the western property line of 130 Sterling Place, the western prop-
erty line of 34 7th Avenue, part of the northern property line of 139 St. Johns
Place, the northern property lines of 137 through 93 St. Johns Place, the eastern
property lines of 143 through 135 6th Avenue, Sterling Place, the western property
lines of 128 through 146 6th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the western property lines
of 148 through 168 6th Avenue, Lincoln Place, 6th Avenue, Berkeley Place, the
western property lines of 188 through 192-A 6th Avenue, the southern property

line of 192-A 6th Avenue, 6th Avenue, the southern property line of 199 6th Avenue,
part of the western and the southern property lines of 100 Berkeley Place, the
southern property lines of 102 through 156 Berkeley Place, part of the southern
property line of 158 Berkeley Place, the southern property line of 86 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, the southern property line of 87 7th Avenue, the western property

line of 865 Union Street, Union Street, the western and part of the southern prop-
erty lines of 320 Union Street, the western property line of 833 President Street,
President Street, the western property line of 828 President Street, the western
property line of 749 Carroll Street, Carroll Street, the western property line of
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776 Carroll Street, the western property lines of 8 through 22 Polhemus Place,
~part of the northern and the western property lines of 24 Polhemus Place, the
‘western property line of 219 Garfield Place, Garfield Place, the western and part
of the southern property lines of 214 Garfield Place, the western property line of
465 1st Street, 1lst Street, the western property line of 460 1lst Street, part of the
northern and the western property lines of 507 2nd Street, 2nd Street, the western
-property line of 516A-516 2nd Street, the western property line of 509 3rd Street,
- +3rd Street, the western property 11ne of 516 3rd Street, the western property line
. of 465 4th Street, 4th Street,.the western property line of 486 4th Street, the
southern property lines of 486 through 504 4th Street; the eastern property line of
504 4th Street, 4th Street, the eastern and part of the northern property lines of
513 4th Street, the eastern property line of 562 3rd Street, 3rd Street, 8th Avenue,
the southern property line of 225-227 8th Avenue, the western property line of
581 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the western property line of 592 3rd Street, the northern
and western property lines of 539 4th Street, 4th Street, the western property line
of 528 4th Street, the western property line of 557 5th Street, 5th Street, 8th
Avenue, 6th Street the western property line of 590 6th Street part of the north-

. ern property line of 571 7th Street, the northern property lines of 569 through 553

- Seventh Street, the western property line of 553 7th Street, 7th Street, the western
" ‘property line of 550 7th Street, the western property line of 511 8th Street, 8th
Street, the western property line of 502 8th Street, the western property line of
519 9th Street, 9th Street, the western property line of 526 9th Street, part of the
western property line of 643 10th Street, the northern property lines of 641 through
631-633 10th Street, 8th Avenue, 10th Street, the western and part of the southern
property lines of 642 10th Street, the western property line of 583 11th Street,
11th Street, the western property line of 584 1lth Street, part of the northern
property line of 479 12th Street, the northern property line of 1113 8th Avenue, 8th
Avenue, 14th Street, the western property line of 446 14th Street.

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARINGS

On June 23, 1970 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing
on this.area which is now proposed as an Historic District (Item.No. 56). The
hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of .law. Seven
persons spoke in favor of the proposed designation and two individuals;opposed it.
The witnesses favoring designation clearly indicated that there is great support
for this Historic Dlstrlct from the property owners and res1dents of the Historic
Dlstrlct :

On May 26, 1970 (Item No. 29) eleven persons had testified in favor of a
slightly smaller Park Slope Historic District; the District was reheard in June to
permit the addition'of the buildings on Park Place between Sixth and Seventh Avenues.

On Nov. 22, 1966 (Item No. 6), the Landmarks Preservation Commission had
held a public hearing on a proposed Historic District in the Park Slope neighbor-
hood. The Commission was not able to act upon all the proposed Historic Districts
heard during its first series of public hearings in 1965 and 1966, and so several
neighborhoods including the subject of this report, were heard in 1970, involving
areas where there continues to be great interest in preserving the fine buildings
of the community.

ii
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' HISTORICAL INTRODUCTi.ON_ g

: The- hisfory -and developmenf of the Park Slope Hlsforic District as a
resldenfiai area is closely related to that of Prospect Park, which defines
its eastern boundary and glves the Dis+ric+ its name and specual character,

The area now encompassed by Prospec+ Park and +he Historic District was
the scene of a.major part of the action .during the Revolutijonary War, fought
in August 1776. At that time, and indeed until well after the middle of the
19th century,. fhe entire area consisted of farmiand with rolling hills to the
east. . Mount Prospect -- for which the park was named -- was part of a chain
of wooded hills which stretched to Jamaica, identified on Revolutionary War
maps as the "Woody Heights of Guana" or simply as the "Woody Heights," These
hills, cited by an English newspaper on August 17, 1776 as "already by. Nature
very advanfageous & defensible," had been selected by General Washington and
his staff in.early spring of that year for the construction of earth-works and
lookout- posts for the defense of Brooklyn end, ultimately, of New York against
the expected British assault, :

The British, under General William Howe and his brother, -Admiral Richard
Howe, had over 20,000 troops under their command, supported:by hundreds of
ships in New York Bay. On August 22, 1776, the British and the Hessians, under
General de Heister, landed at Gravesend Bay and set up temporary headquarters
at New Utrecht with their encampmen?s stretching in an arc, roughly described
by the present-day Kings Highway, to Flatlands, The American forces under
General John Sullivan, abandoned Flatbush to General de Heister on the same day
and took up positions in the hills overlooking the Flatbush Pass which led
through the Guana Heights to Brooklyn. To impede the expected assault, they
felled trees here -- including the venerable Dongan Oak, which marked ?he
division between the villages of Brooklyn and Ftafbush - whlle fnghflng off
intermittent affacks

A devasf:ng assault came.in mid-morning on August 27, 1776.  Five thousand
Hessians under General de Heister stormed the American positions above the
_Flatbush Pass -- known thereafter as "Battle: Pass" == and in bloody hand to
hand combat were driven from the hills, Sullivan and his men were forced to
beat a hasty retreat westward along the Port (Porte) Road, which ran approximately
parallel fto the north side of the present First Street within the Historic
District, towards the Gowanus Road. In this area, the Gowanus Road roughly
followed the line of the present Fifth Avenue. Farther to the south, between
Eighth Street and the present site of Greenwood Cemetery, General William
Alexander Stirling, also known as Lord Stirling, and Colonel Smallwood's
. Maryland Regiment were attacked before dawn by British forces led by General
M. G. Grant, who had been sent by General Howe along the coast road from the
Narrows. Stirling and his men valiantly held their positions near the Vechte-
Cortelyou house, also known as the "Old Stone House," Greatly outnumbered,
they were eventually forced to retreat through the marches and across the
Gowanus Creek, to the American inner lines in Brooklyn Heights. But by their
stand, they prevented the British pincer from closing and trapping all the
American troops fleeing down the Port Road from the Flatbush Pass.

In the meantime, the major part of the British Army, led by Generals Howe,
Clinton and Cornwallis, had made a wide, sweeping fianking maneuver along
Jamaica Road and was advancing rapidly from the northwest to meet General Grant
and de Heister, Stirling was captured by the Hessians near the 0ld Stone House,
which is located near present-day Fifth Avenue and Third Street, just west of
the Historic District., General Sullivan was also captured by Hessians, but
both men were later exchanged for British prisoners and continued to play
prominenf roles in the war, Sterling Place, within the Historic District and
northeast of Prospect Park, and Sullivan Place, east of the park, were named
in honor of these +wo generals.

b o Thus, the site of Prospect Park and +he Park Slope Historic: Dusfrlcf was
the scene of a part of the first major battle befween the Continental Army under
Washington and the British Army in North America, after the Declaration of
Independence, As a result of this massive amphibious assault upon the American

forces, Long Island, Staten Island and New York were occupied by the British
for the duration of the war,

-iii-
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Until the 1860s, the site of Prospect Park and the area to the west, now
the Park Slope Historic District, remained essentially rural in character, as
is clearly shown by the large farm holdings on the M. Dripps Topographical Map
of the City of Brooklyn of 1855 and by a bucolic photograph of Battle Pass
taken as late as 1865. The Dripps Map, made from actual surveys and original
. ~maps, shows the-boundaries of those farms which originally comprised the Park
Slope Historic District; they are also clearly indicated on later atlases, such
as_the Robinson Atlas of the City of Brooklyn of 1886. The Cortelyous, of
Huguenot extraction == from whom Edwin Clark Litchfield bought his property in
- 1852 ---were only one of several early families which had holdings in the area.
Charles Hoyt, a prominent Brooklyn businessman after whom Hoyt Street is named,
owned property within the District, extending from a point midway between
Lincoln Place and St, John's Place to Grand Army Plaza. Thomas Poole's farm,
Jjust south of the Hoyt land, fanned out from its western end, just north of
Lincoln Place and South of Berkeley, 1o reach Flatbush Avenue at Grand Army
Plaza and President Street at Prospect Park West, Within the District, the
south side of Union Street Marked the beginning of the property owned originally
. by the Pélhemus family., Johannes Thecdorus Polhemus, for whom Polhemus Place is
named, was the minister of the first church in Kings County: the Dutch Reformed
Church of Flatbush, built in 1654 under the auspices of Governor Stuyvesant, on
the site of the present church. The north side of First Street, the location of
the old Port Road =-- along which the American troops retreated during the Battle
of Long Island -- was the southern boundary of the Polhemus land, Adrian and
Jacques Cortelyou owned the land which |ies between the south side of First
Street and the north side of Fifth Street. South of this, the land within the
confines of the District was divided into six smaller parcels of land owned by
Theodorus Polhemus; Thomas G, Talmage; Rem Adriance; Adriance van Brunt; Henry
L. Clark; and Richard Berry, whose property comprlsed the southern boundary of
the District,

Beginning in the late 1850s, the success of Central Park, in New York,
planned by Olmsted & Vaux, spurred interest among prominent citizens of
Brooklyn for a similar facility for their city, which until 1898 remained a
separate entity from New York, By 1855, Brooklyn, with over 200,000 inhabitants,
was the third largest city in:the United States. On April 18, .1859, a commission
was established by the New York State Legislature to study -the feasibility of
creating more public parks, the largest and most important one being "Mount
Prospect Park.," An Act of the Leg|sla+ure on April .17, 1860 included, among
its provisions, funds for laying out the proposed park which was to encompass
350 acres, Egbert L, Viele, the engineer charged originally with the develop-
ment of Central Park, was appointed Chief Engineer by the Commissioners, He
envisaged the park as a "rural resort, where people of all classes, escaping
from the turmoil of the city, might find relief for the mind, and physical
recreation," The outbreak of the Civil War paralyzed implementation of Viele's
1861 "Plan for the Improvement of Prospect Park," Successive Acts of the
Legislature from 1865 on provided funds for the acquisition of additional land,
a revision of the original boundaries and its enlargement to 562 acres == the
result of the replacement of Viele by the firm of Olmsted Vaux & Company,
Landscape Architects,

On May 29, 1866, Frederick Law Olmsted (1822~1903) and Calvert Vaux (1824-
1895) were officially appointed Landscape Architects of Prospect Park by an Act
of the State Legislature, Their "Design for Prospect Park" of 1866-67 differed
not -only in size but in conception from Viele's plan of 1861, In the Viele plan,
the park was to be carried north and east of Flatbush Avenue and only as far
south as Ninth Street, with a jog, from Ninth Avenue (the present Prospect Park
West) to Tenth Avenue, between Third and Ninth Streets, into what is now parkland,
It was not only smaller but -~ far more important -- was bisected by Flatbush
Avenue, James S, T, Stranahan, Fresident of the Park Commission, and some of
the Commissioners were dissatisfied with the Viele plan and, as a consequence,

. Vaux had been called upon to survey the park grounds, early in January 1865 in
the company of Stranahan, He recommended that the eastern section of the land,
included in the Viele plan, be sold and the proceeds used to acquire more land
to the west, between Ninth and Tenth Avenues, As a result of his recommendations,
later concurred in by Olmsted who at the time was in California, the boundaries
of Prospect Park were radically altered and redfined. Prospect Hill, near the
intersection of Flatbush Avenue and the present Eastern Parkway, which had
given its name to the park, was now outside its boundaries., The Olmsted-Vaux
design of the following year made possible the grandiose sweep of parkland we
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know today, with long, uninterrupted vistas along both sides of the park from
the main entrance at Grand Army Plaza: along Prospect Park west to Fifteenth
‘Street and Bartel Pritchard Plaza; thence southeast and south along Prospect
* ' Park’'Southwest; continuing eastward along Parkside Avenue to the easternmost
boundaries, Ocean Avenue and Flatbush Avenue, Olmsted recommended that the
areas to the easf of the old reservoir be utilized for a museum and other
educational buildings, a plan later realized after Eastern Parkway was laid out,
when the library and museum were built there, Residents of Park Slope, Brooklyn
and, indeed, the entire city owe a great debt to Olmsted for his-anticipation

of the need for cultural as well as recreational facilities for the area.
It is now qui?e clear that fhe Vaux-OIms+ed Report on Prospect Park (1868)
was concerned with much more than the creation of a sylvan retreat, with its
artful juxtapostion of three contiguous regions of different character -- a
~grand, rolling meadow, a rugged wooded section and a charming lake area, With
its provisions for a complete parkway system uninterrupted by the park, it
provided the framework for the futrue development of Brooklyn. The work Olmsted
undertook after the Civil War, including the development of Prospect Park,
marked his transformation from landscape architect to city planner, Olmsted,
whose birth: 150 years ago, in 1822, was celebrated last year by a spate of

books and exhibitions, is now recognized as the first and foremost American
exponent of ecological planning and regional design. Steeped in the [8th century
tradition of Jeffersonian democracy, based upon an agrarian economy, and
profoundly influenced by the Transcendentalists' worship of nature, Olmsted was
deeply concerned -- and challenged == by the increasing industrialization and
urbanization of life, particularly after The Civil War, He recognized the

need of providing the working people of the city, with an escape from their
day-to-day working environment., In the report which Olmsted and Vaux submitted,
the point was emphasized that there was, increasingly, a functional and physical
separation between a man's place of work and his residence. When the worker

was not engaged in business and thus had no reason to be near his place of work,
he "demands arrangements of wholly dnfferen+ character . . . air, space,
abundant vegetation ., . ., without the loss of town-privileges" -- a clear
anticipation of the rationale for the development of the suburb, A tranquil
environment and opportunities for recreation were absolutely essential, in his
view, Olmsted and his friend Henry W, Bellows, the influential Unitarian
clergyman, both believed that it was the obligation of a democratic society to
provide such public facilities.,

A rough sketch made by Vaux, at the time of his original survey, clearly
indicates that the main entrance to the park was to be at the intersection of
Flatbush Avenue and the present Prospect Park West. This entrance appears on
the Olmsted~Vaux "Design for Prospect Fark" of 1866-67 as a large elliptical
plaza. The idea of a large plaza at the main entrance, with smaller ones at
-other points of entry, was introduced in this design and was quite different
from the Viele plan, This new idea was enhanced by the provision of private
funds in 1867 for the erection of large statue of Lincoln at the northern end
of the proposed plaza, The statue was dedicated in 1869, and later moved to
Concert Grove, in the park. The "Plaza," with central fountain installed in
1871, became even more imposing in the 1890s, with the erection of the monumental
Memorial Arch crowned by a quadriga and the addition of other decorative
architectural elements, including a pair of great Doric columns. These were
designed by the foremost architects and sculptors of the day in the neo-Classical
spirit of the 1893 Chicago Worlid's Fair -- so much .in evidence in the town
houses in the Park Slope Historic District., This type of formal, turn-of-the-
century design -~ reflecting the influence of the French Beaux Arts tradition
and the "City Beautiful" movement -- stands in sharp contrast to the design of
Prospect Park itself, based upon the romantic naturalism of the English garden,
first popularized in this country by A. J. Downing, under whose auspices Vaux
had come to the United States from England in 185, The "Plaza" was renamed 0
"Grand Army Plaza" in 1926,

In their creation of Prospect Park, Vaux and Olmsted were greatly encouraged
by Brooklyn millionaire James S. T. Stranahan (1808-1898), whose statue stands
at the east side of Main Entrance Drive. He served for twenty-two years, from
1860 to 1882, without remuneration as president of the Park Commission. Known
as "the Father of Prospect Park, " it was he, more than anyone else, who was
credited by his contemporaries with being the real "architect" of Brooklyn.

-V—
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For his espousal of a grand system of boulevards, he was referred to as "the
Baron Haussmann of Brooklyn." In addition, the great Atlantic Docks were
developed under his direction and he was a member of the Board of Directors of
the New York (later Brooklyn) Bridge Company, which was responsible for the
construction of the Brooklyn Bridge, begun in 1869 and complefed in I883, Jus+
. ninety years. -ago.

In sum, the development of Prospec+ Park and fhe consTrucfnon of the
Brooklyn Bridge were the two most important factors in. the development of the
Park Slope Historic District before the. introduction of rapid transit facilities.
The promimity of the park and the opening of the bridge in 1883 encouraged an
influx to The Slope of prosperous merchants, lawyers, physicians, brokers and
other professionals, many of whom commuted to and from their offices in lower
Manhattan, They began to build great mansions and impressive town houses in
the upper tier of the District in the mid-1880s, The desirability of Brooklyn
as a residential area had been clearly foreseen by George Templeton Strong, a
well-known New York attorney and son-in-law of Samuel B. Ruggles, the developer
of Gramercy Park, An abridged version of his diary, published in three volumes
in 1952, provides a fascinating picture of the development of the city from
1835 to 1875, when he died, He provides us with a fine account of the progress
of the Brooklyn Bridge and, especially, of the development of Prospect Park.
Strong had served with Olmsted on the Sanitary Commission during the Civil War
and was quite naturally infterested in seeing the site of the park., In October
1867, he wrote: "Had my first glimpse of the unfinished "Prospect Park" of
Brooklyn, which will soon become a formidable rival of our "Central Park" -- an
unequivoval expression of the rivalry between the two cities. In 1871, he was
one of 250,000 visitors to the park and his entry of July 18, which followed by
two weeks his wife's visit to the park In the company of Stranahan, provides
the following descrupT:on- .

Crossed at Fulton Ferry. Inspected the Brooklyn pier of the future
bridge. It is about thirty feet high and looks |ike business, Then a
long horse railroad car ride up Fulton Street and Flatbush Avenue, and
reached the "Plaza," a large open place with a most lovely fountain and a
tolerable statue of Lincoln, Reservoir on left, with a kind of observatory.
The outlook is panoramic and most striking. It takes in New York, Brooklyn
and its numerous suburbs, the Jersey hills, the Bay, Staten Island, the
Navesink Highlands, an expanse of ocean, Canarsie or Jamaica Bay, and the
great belt of level land that extends eastward from the Narrows to a
latitude south of Jamaica, Then explored the Park, even to "Lookout Hill,"
from which one gets a fine view to the south and west. We almost saw the

< crest of the surf breaking on Coney Island beach ., . .

This Park beats Central Park ten to one in trees, |ts wealth of
forest is most enviable, | think we cannot match its undulating lawns . . .
But we beat it in rocks (and) also in water and bridges . . . But it beats
us in views and is a most lovely pleasance.

‘On his trip back to New York, he expressed d:smay at the dlscomforfs of
commuting:

The ferry boats coming in as we left our car were a phenomenon, Each
(six-fifteen) 'carried just as many men as could stand on her deck, [f |
" wanted to buy a house in Brooklyn . ., . the necessity of using such an
overcrowded conveyance morning and evening would reduce the value of any
piece of Brooklyn real estate , . . at least thirty per cent, The bridge,
if ever completed, will remove this drawback.

As a direcT resuiT of The planning ot Prospect Fark and the proposal for
the bridge, Jand values in the Park Slope Historic District rose precipitously
after the Civil War, The old farm holdings, which had been surveyed in 1854,
began to be sold off for development. One of the most far-sighted of these
early investors in Park Slope real estate was Edwin Clark Litchfield who, in
association with his brother Electus Backus Litchfield, had made a fortune in
railroads. In 1852, he had purchased his first Brooklyn property from the
Cortelyou estate: a large tract of land which, within the Histoirc District,
lay between the south side of First Street and the north side of Fifth Street.
Four years later, his picturesque |tal janate villa designed by A, J. Davis, one
of the foremost architects of the day, was ready for occupancy. This impressive
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mansion, located just within the western confines of Prospect Park between

Fourth and Fifth Streets, is a reminder of the semi-rural atmosphere of the .
area in the mid-1850s, before the park was laid out. Since 1882, the Lifchf!eld
villa has served as the offices of the Park Administration and today it continues
to serve as the Brooklyn headquarters of the Parks, Recreational and Cultural
Affairs Administration of the City of New York. :

The actual development of the Historic District began just before the out-
break of the Civil War. Building operations came to a standstill until the
end of hostilities and then resumed in the late 1860s and early 70s, only to be
severely curtailed once again by the panic of 1873. The New York Stock Efchange
closed on September 20 for ten days. The panic left the country's financial and
commercial structure in ruins. The disastrous effect on the building industry
is vividly illustrated by the effect on Philip |. Cootey, one of the enter-
prising early builders associated with the development of a handsome blockfront
on Seventh Avenue: unable to meet his obligations, he was forced into bank-
ruptcy. Recovery from the panic was slow and it was not until the late 1870s
and early eighties that development on a wide scale was resumed. Then, block
after block of dignified rowhouses sprang up along the side streefts, with lérge.
mansions set in spacious grounds appearing for the most part in the upper Tier
of the District, along Eighth Avenue and Ninth Avenue (Prospect Park West).
The major development of the District proceeded generally from west fo east and:
from north to south and covers the period from the Civil War to World War I.
The large apartment houses of later decades replaced earlier houses on the site.

Demographically, the District provides a sociological and economic cross=
section. The upper tier, and particularly the areas near the park -- Plaza
Street, Eighth Avenue, Prospect Park West and the '"park blocks" -- developed
for the well-to-do middle class, was known as "The Gold Coast." The long block-
fronts of rowhouses and low, walk-up apartment houses, particularly below
Eleventh Street, were built for people of more modest means. The entire District
continues to attract those who appreciate its prime location adjoining Prospect
Park, its substantial, well-built houses and its relative tranquility. A great
many people who are prominent in the political, judicial and cultural life of
the city still reside in the District.
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ARCHITECTURAL INTRODUCTION

- An Historic District should be possessed of such a distinctive quality
that, on entering it from any side, one should at once become aware of a distinct,
separate neighborhood. Park Slope is just such an area. The overall character
' and development of the District was determined by its prime location adjacent
to Prospect Park. The Slope is almost exclusively residential, with minimal in-
roads by commerce. Its pleasant tree-lined streets and wide avenues, with houses
of relatively uniform height, punctuated by church spires, provide a living il-
lustration of the 19th century characterization of Brooklyn as 'a city of homes
and churches." Park Slope retains an aura of the past to an extent which is re-
‘markable in New York. While there are an unusual number of fine townhouses and
,othe? buildings of extraordinary interest, as well as a few imposing free-standing
_mansions--survivors of a greater number which once stood on Eighth Avenue and a-
long Prospect Park West--it is the long blockfronts of two-and three-story row
 houses, set behind deep front yards, which gives the District its unusually har-
monious character. : It is the architectural coherence of these rows and the ex-
ceptional quality of the individual townhouses and other structures, which makes
such an extraordinary impact upon the passerby. ’

- Some of the basic features which contribute to the interest of the block-
fronts are the variations in the depths of the front yards, the variety of stone
or cast iron railings which enclose them, and- most especially-- the general
physiognomy of the buildings, whether sedately flush-fronted or given animation
by bays, oriels, turrets, towers, gables or dormer windows.

The row house, as promulgated by the Park Slope developers, is most in-
teresting as an instance of unconscious town planning, particularly where it fills
an entire block with high end houses, as often on the. avenues, or, on the longer
blocks of the east-west streets, where rows of from four to twenty-six houses
lend interest and variety through their individual architectural characteristics.
Even within the rows, variety is often intentionally achieved through the alter-

. nation of curved with three-sided bays, or through the use of houses of different
“materials or combinations thereof. The wealth of architectural detail found in
this Historic District also plays an important part in enhancing the overall
picture and was used effectively to achieve a distinctive character or variety
within a row. o . ‘T :

In considering the individual townhouse the question of quality is of
foremost importance as it relates to form, materials and architectural details,
as each house must stand on its own merits. Although quality is hard to define,
it is much in evidence within the Historic District due to the thought and care
expended on the design of so many of these houses by their builders and architects.
In some, the.designers have created striking or unusual effects, but what is most
notable here is the remarkable coherence and distinction of the blockfronts
where individual houses, rows and low apartment houses have been so freely combined.

The architectural styles which found expression in the Historic District
are generally representative of those which swept the country between the Civil
War and -World War I.. These styles included a late version of the Italianate,
the French Second Empire, the neo-Grec, the Romanesque Revival and the picturesque
Oueen Anne, or 'Free Classic' style which co-existed with the late Romanesque
Revival. After the World's Columbian Exposition of 1893 at Chicago, a new
eclecticism swept the country opening up to the architect the classical styles,
ranging from the most academically correct Greek and Roman precedents to the widest
range of Renaissance styles and their very free interpretation propounded contemp-
oraneously by the French Ecole des Beaux Arts. Among the architects, indications
of this new Classicism were evident even before 1393, usually used in conjunction
with the more romantic styles creating houses which, in their designs, may be
considered transitional. » :

. In style the early houses at the north end of the Historic District were
late Italianate or French Second Empire. The neo-Grec style generally superceded
the Second Empire due to the greater ease with which its ornament could be cut by
machine, with resultant decrease in cost. It was extremely popular with the
builder-developers of row houses. It is interesting to note that there was a time
lag of as much as a decade, during which this style continued to be used by the
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conservative builders in Park Slope long after the architects and Manhattan builders
had ceased to employ it.

The materlals used in the construction of the houses were closely related

to the various architectural styles. The basic construction of these masonry
houses was brick, with :a representative variety of masonry veneers. The earliest
Italianate houses had face brick veneers, the French Second Empire, neo-Grec and
Romanesque Revival generally favored brownstone, the Queen Anne face brick with
- narrow joints and colored mortars, decorative terra cotta and an array of slate
- shingles, while the Romanesque Rev1va1 in its late phase, introduced the warm-

" colored elongated, Roman brick comb1ned with a wealth of carved and rough-faced
stonework. The neo-Renaissance and neo-Classical styles generally favored the
use of limestone or light shades of brick with limestone trim. The later neo-
‘Georgian and neo-Federal returned to the use of red brick as a veneer material,
with pre-cast limestone trim. Roof cornices with brackets were generally of wood
in the Italianate and French Second Empire houses and in the later styles were
constructed of sheetmetal. The use of cast iron for handrailings and newel posts
at stoops, and for yard railings, was general throughout the area until wrought
iron was reintroduced with the Queen Anne and Romanesque Revival, a material which
was also espoused by the architects of the new Classicism which followed them.

“ARCHITECTURAL STYLES REPRESENTED IN THE DISTRICT
Italianate

This was the style of the earliest Park Slope row houses which persisted
into the mid-1870s, or about a decade beyond the time when it had generally ceased
to be an influence. It was characterized by flush-fronted houses of brick in the
earliest houses, later superceded by brownstone. Round-arched doorways entered
through double doors, generally had low-arched pediments or full entablatures
above them, carried on foliate console brackets. Segmental arches were often
- used over windows and round or segmental arches over basement windows. Windowsills
were .usually supported on small corbel blocks, one at each end. The brownstone
basements and stoop sidewalls were usually rusticated and the cast iron stoop
handrailings and yard railings were “enerally balustered. Roof cornices were
carried on foliate brackets, widely spaced, and often arched to relate to the win-
dows below them, with panels in the fascias between them. The earliest houses in
the District, Nos. 8-16 Seventh Avenue, erected in 1860 by the builder-developer
Charles S. Scrlbner, were Italianate in style, as were row houses by his brother
James H. Scrlbner, Robert S. Bussing, John Magilligan and George White.

French Second Empire

This style came into prominence here in the north with the post Civil War-
prosperity. Although it appeared only briefly in Park Slope, its typical feature
was the slate mansard roof with iron crestings. Other distinguishing character-
istics were the formality evidenced by the enframement of windows by moldings,
often crowned by imposing cornices, and in the enrichment of the double front
doors by the addition of horizontal panels at knob height and kickplates at the
bottom. The arched doorway, however, was often almost indistinguishable from its -
Italianate predecessor and was crowned by a low arched or triangular pediment.
The windows, by this time, were generally of plate glass for both the upper
and lower sash, while the only difference in the balustered handrailings of the
stoop were the more massive newel posts. The most notable example of the French -
Second Empire style on The Slope is the blockfront on the east
side of Seventh Avenue, between St. John's Place and Lincoln Place, developed by
the speculative builders Philip I. Cootey and Robert S. Bussing in 1871-72.

Like Scribmer. 'n~illizan and “hite, rientioned above, Cootey and Bussing were
neighborhood builders. . '
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'This style also’ came’ to:us!via France and was first used hére by some of the
arch1teCts who studiéd’ at’ the Ecole des Beaux Arts in.Paris. Introduced to the
“District by the Parfitt Brothers in the 1870s, it became extremely popular with the
speculative builders of browhstbne row houses who found the stylized incised
ornament cheaper to- reprodUce than the rich foliate forms of the Italianate and
PFrench Second Empire. ‘As a ‘tésult, the style llngered on:into:the late 1880s and
even into the ninéties in the Park’ Slope area.- “The Greek influence is seen in
-“the curvilinear- incised ornament -- a far cry from the original forms: however,
the pedlmented ‘door and window 1intels with "ears“, or acroteria, were greatly
simp11f1ed versions of ‘the’ originals, ‘as were the three parallel’ grooves used on
“brackets (reminiscent of trlglyﬁhs) and on p11asters. “In design this style was

: typ1f1ed by a told angularity, whether in the use of three-sided, full-height bays,
‘échoed in the animated- roof ¢ornices that crowned them, aT in the strikihg, massive
newel pbsts’at the high straight stoops. It was a case where a foreign style found

' such ‘favor with us that it was actually duplicated on-the side’ streets ‘ofNew York
in far'greatér proportion than on the boulevards of Paris.: -Among’ the Park ‘Slope
and' neighborhood bullder-developers and architects whose work best exemplifies the
style are John Gorllon, working with architects Robert Dixoh and M.J.:Morrill;

John Monas and Thomas Fagan, also associated with Dixon; William Gubbins, who worked
with architect Charles Yerner: the prolific John Magilligan: J. Doherty & Sons:

and William Flanagan, whose long career on The Slope, from 1867 to 1906, 111ustrates
the rise of a humble Irish immigrant from carpenter's apprentice to the vice-
presidency of the Speculative Builders Association of Brooklyn.

g

Victorian Gothic =~ = - ~ S A
o < T T e R S £ T T e O
The most: representat1Ve ‘exanples of th1s plcturesque generally polychro-

matic” style, which was very much influenced by British' prototypes are four
churches in the District. -'St. John's (P.E.) :Church; begun in 1869, and its rectory

" are charming examples. Built of rough-faced, random-ashlar sardstone; they have

” pointed-arch windows and doors. The arche¥’ are ‘quite ‘¢haracteristically, composed
of varrcolored stones. ‘The Sixth Avenue Bapt1st "‘Church "(1880), designed by the
““New York ‘architect Lawrence B. Valk. is another example of the- style. "Grace "(M.E.)
 Church (1882) on Severith Avenue; designed by the English-born Brooklyn architects,
_Parfitt Bros.,;, best illustrates the mature Victorian Gothic style. "ith its tall

* " corner ‘tower and picturesque proflle, it is a landmark ‘on’The Slope (together
“with St. Augustine's Church which is outside the Historic¢ D1str1ct), also by the

_ same architectural firm. A late phase of Victorian Gothic is represented by

"Pugln & "alter s Memorial Presbyterian Church, on Gevenﬁh Avenue begun 1n 1882
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“=+" " The ‘Rofanesque Rev1va1 house 'was prrmarlry a masonry structure. ~Its fortress-
“like character was largely the result of the use of rough -faced stone and 'its
" picturesque ‘composition. ‘It was-introduced to -this icountry in the 1870s- by Henry
‘Hobson Richardson, who had studied -at the Ecole des Beaux Arts where the régener-
ated medievalism of Viollet-le-Duc was just as important as classicism. - For wide.
spans, such as main entrances, a low broad arch was characteristic, as were round-
arched window heads. Dwarf columns, used singly or in clusters, usually supported
the great arches. Occasionally bands of windows, separated by stone piers, had
continuous lintels above, and transom bars were used in the upper section of the
windows. Horizontal bandcourses of smooth stone often relieved the expanse of
rough-faced walls of random stonework. Elaborate foliate carvings were used
expressively as capitals and impost blocks to,terminate and.otherwise define ga-
bles and to ornament the w1ng-walls of the character15t1c, massive, L-shaped or
~curved stoops. Although the neo-classicism of the Chicago Fair generally super-
ceded all the romantic styles, including the Oueen Anne, the Romanesque Revival was
" a hardy survivor which lasted to the turn-of-the- -century on The Slope. In its
later phase, it became more refined and sophisticated, with smooth walls of Roman
brick, set off by limestone or terra cotta bandcourses, window enframements and
ornamental trim. Colors changed from sombre earth tones tn li~kt hues,.such as
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ochre, buff, orange and gray. There are a remarkable number of architect-designed
residences in this style on The Slope -- so outstanding in quality that they may
be considered a significant contribution to our national architectural heritage.

The most distinguished example in the District of this rugged and highly
expressive style is the Hulbert mansion (now the Ethical Culture School), designed
by the young Montrose ¥. Morris at the outset of his career. - The essence of the
later phase of the Romanesque Revival is exemplified by C.P.H. Gilbert's Adams
residence, at the corner of Eighth Avenue and Carroll Street, and in the extra-
ordinary array of houses he designed on Montgomery Place, developed entirely by
Harvey Murdock. Other architects who used the Romanesque Revival style with
great success in the District were: Henry O. Avery; the Parfitt Bros.; Laurence
B. Valk, Charles Werner: Frederick B. Langston, George P. Chappell and Magnus
Dahlander all of whom also worked in the Stuyvesant Heights Historic District at .
about the same time. Among the builder-developers who worked in the Romanesque
Revival style were William Gubbins, John Magilligan, Peter Collins, Martin & Lee
and Fred Griswald -- to name only a few. It‘is interesting to note that these
builders often retained elements of a preceding style -- the neo-Grec in this case--
and combined them with the currently popular style. Indeed, for every recogniza-
ble style, there are transitional buildings which bridged the gaps between styles,
borrowing a little from both the preceding and the new. This remained true
of the architectural development of the District through VWorld War I.

~Queen Anne or ‘'Free Classic' :

This picturesque style, which relied on asymmetry and the combination of a
variety of materials, textures and colors to achieve its effect was a great
novelty when it first appeared in this country. It was derived from slightly
earlier British examples typified by architects such as R. Norman Shaw, who wished
to return to an honest, expressive use of materials based on an earlier phase of
brick -architecture from the 18th century Queen Anne perlod The end product was -
quite different from the architecture of the good Queen, combining elements of the
Flemish Renaissance, classic traditions and, in America, Colonial Revival features.
Although it was not as widely used in the Park Slope area as the contemporaneous
late Romanesque Revival, some of the finest examples in the five boroughs exist
in the District. It was a predominantly brick architecture, embellished with
stone and terra cotta. Although the ornament was strongly influenced by classical
traditions, swags, urns, etc., its favorite motif was the sunflower. Green copper
bays, and oriels, shingled red roofs with gables, dormers and chimneys lend a
whimsical cozy quality to the houses in this style. Since it co-existed with
the Romanesque Revival, the arched entranceway was often a prominent and inviting
feature. The windows had, typically, double-hung sash with many small square
panes in the upper half and clear plate glass in the lower. The Colonial tradition
of wrought iron reappeared for the first time since early in the century, al-
though it was twisted and latticed in ways unknown to the early period. Painted
or natural wood doors, varnished or oiled, often with small panels, displayed a
wealth of wrought iron hardware including strap hinges. Although this style was
occasionally used for public buildings, it was in the residential field that it
achieved its greatest popularity, as is well illustrated by 2a number of charming
individual and row houses on The Slope, notably by William B. Tubby, R. L. Daus,
Laurence B. Valk and Charles Werner. In common with the other styles in the Dis-
trict, the Queen Anne or ''Free Classic'' was often used 1n combination with the

 Romanesque Revival. ~

ECLECTICISM: Neo-Renaissance, Néo-Classicism, Frenéh Beaux Arts, etc.

The 1880s had been the heyday of romant1c1sm and the picturesque, with
the Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne styles predomlnatlng The Montauk Club,
designed in 1889 by Francis H. Kimball, a prominent New York architect, is the
culmination of the evocative romanticism of ‘the decade. Combining Venetian Gothic
architectural traditions with American Indian decorative themes, it is the archi-
tectural treasure of The Slope.

Among the knowledgeable architects a new ferment was in the air--a
gradual reawakening interest in a correct classicism. This was already evident
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in ‘certain details which began to appear in late Romanesque Revival work, as,

- for example, in two distinguished residences on Lincoln Place ‘and Berkeley Place’

by the New York firm of Lamb §-Rich, which heralded the new Classicism. The World's
Columbian Exposition of 1893 in Chicago ‘awakened -Americans, notably architects,

to the grandeur of the architecture and‘planning of the-ancient world and of the
Renaissance; which resulted in a return to classicism'dand in the "'City Beautiful”
movement. : ‘The Age of Eclectism was born. : The whole spirit of the times, the Ec-
lectic approach to architecture, was one of borrowing:from any-and all styles. This
was achieved by the wide distribution 'of architectural books and periodicals, study
at architectural schools in the United :States and at the Beaux Arts in Paris and,
still later, at the American Academy in Rome. Banks, railroad stations and commercial
buildings suddenly appeared, adorned with all the typical .classical features.

This influence made itself felt in the nineties in Park Slope and gathered
momentum in the first decade of the 20th century. In the great houses which began
to line the upper part of Eighth Avenue and Prospect Park West, the pervading neo-
Renaissance and neo-Classical spirit achieved a splendor worthy of Manhattan's '
Fifth Avenue. Among the most notable are several by Montrose W. Morris:on Eighth
Avenue and on Prospect. Park West and the Tracy residence by Frank J. Helmle. .
Temple Beth Elohim on Eighth Avenue is a monumental example of the reo-Classicism..
In the individual and row houses of the east-west streets, the Renaissance and
classical influences'are evident in the predominance of limestone or light-colored
brick and in the. replacement of high stoops by the English basement type entrance,
at or near street level. In row houses; the popularity of the masonry. bay, now
gently curved or three-sided and echoed at the roof cornice line, gave an undu-
lating rhythm to the streetscape. Most of the ornament was concentrated . at the
doorways, window enframements and in carved panels. -Sheetmetal.roof cornices, - -
carried on console brackets, were embellished with friezes displaying floral swags -
and wreaths. Porches:'were given distinction by Ionic, Composite or Corinthian " °
columns, pilasters and other classical or Renaissance details. Some of the im-
portant "architects who availed themselves of the neo-Renaissance and neo-Classical
traditions were: Eisenla § Carlson: William Debus; :‘Magnus Dahlander; Peter Delaney:
Axel S. Hedman; Arthur Koch; the Parfitt Bros.; Henry Pohlman; Thomas Bennett; and
Pﬁlllam Flanagan, who was still hard at work...

The architects and builders ofthe numbered streets toward the southern
end of the Historic District adapted the classical formula with avidity and long
rows of small two-and three-story, neo-Classical and neo-Renaissance houses appeared
there, usually retaining the full-height bays which had originated with the much
earlier neo-Grec style. The low, four-story apartment houses of the turn-of-the-
century and its first decade were conceived on-a scale which was completely in
harmony with the general building heights in the District. Among the prominent arch-
iteets & developers in the lower tier were Thomas Brown, Thomas Bennert, Alexander
G. Calder and his son, William Musgrave Calder. The younger Calder started his
- career as a carpenter's apprentice and eventually became Commissioner of Buildings
for the Borough of Brooklyn (1902-03), New York State Representative to Congress
(1905 15) and U. S. Senator (1917-23). He lived in the District on First Street.

e ‘A number of res1dences TOW houses and apartment houses in the entire
Dlstrlct show the influence of the Ecole de Beaux Arts, particularly in the free
interpretation of early French Renalssance and the later .classic traditions: a
handsome town house by J. Garfield Kennedy on Second Street near the park; two houses
on Eighth Avenue by architect Peter Coll1ns which have a .truly Parisian elegance;

and some fine apartment houses qf .the early,20th century, notably one by Montrose

7. Morris on E1ghth Avenue, corner, of Moutgomery Place. Mention should be made

of the Childs mansion on Prospect Park West (now the Meeting House of The Ethical
Culture Society), designed by William B.. Tubby, -an early and extremely fine example
of neo-Jacobean style--yet another manifestation..of the Eclect1c approach

T
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Neo-Georgian and Neo-Federdi"l
/ % .

Another expression of this return to classicism was the renewed interest
in our own architectural heritage, already manifested in the Colonial Revival of
the late 1880s and nineties. After the .turn-of-the-century, a brick architecture
recalling neo-Georgian and neo-Federal precedents was introduced. This was evident
in both resideaces and apartment houses in the District. A part1cu1ar1y fine neo-
Federal town house on Montgomery Place, with brickwork laid up in Flemish bond,
was designed by the New York firm of Mowbray & Uffinger; the introduction of
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certain neo-Georgian decorative motifs here is typical of the architectural freedom
of ‘the architects of the period. A notable example of neo:Georgian, designed by
" “"Daus § Ntto, is the building now ‘occupied by the Unity Club on Eighth Avenue. Both
.row houses and ‘apartment houses, designed : in these styles, are scattered through-
out the District. <In the -effort to conform to the prevailing traditions on The
Slope, a number of early 20th century apartment houses were designed to give the
appearance of individually owned town houses, such as a row by William Debus on
" 'Fifth Street. The neo-Federal style was popular with architects and their clients
for decades, as illustrated ‘by a handsome residence on Carroll Street, designed
in 1922 by the noted. Manhattan architect Mott B. Schmidt, and as.late as 1937,
in an apartment house on L1ncoln Place. ;

Modern

‘One of the most interestxng bu11d1ngs of a later period in the District
is the Temple House, reflecting the influence of the''Art Deco” style of the late
1920s -- a foil for the austere neo-Classical grandeur of Temple Beth Elohim,
erected two decades earlier.’ They are both on opposite corners of Garfield Place
and Eighth Avenue, A seven-story apart—ent house, built in 1923 ~nd desisned by
Slce § Bryson, which occunics nart of th site of the nanificent “'axwell mansion,
is ne>-Tudor in stylc and built of red brick with precast stone trim. Slee §
Bryson followed the example set in 1910 by Mann § MacNeille in their handsome
long row of apartment houses on the south side of Third Street, near the park.

This style was also used for smaller residences, notably a pair at the northernmost
boundary of the District on Prospect Park West, with an arched ‘entranceway leading
to garages at the rear -- testimony to the growing importance and popularity of
the automibile in the early 1920s. The taller apartment houses of later decades,
designed in a variety of styles, reflected the chang1ng taste and modes of living.

Jt is obvious from this styllstxc development that the Park Slope Historic
District was developed largely by local and neighborhood builders and architects,
with a fair representation of well-known Manhattan architects.

LATER DEVELNPMENTS

. World War I was the high point in the development of Park Slope over
five decades or more. It also marked the beginning of the Automobile Age, which
spawned huge suburbs that could compete siccessfully with the city for residential
populations. It marked a time of special vulnerability for brownstones--middle-
aged, but not 'old enough to have acquired an aura of the past. The era brought
an end to the abundant supply of servants necessary to staff them. But, above all,
brownstones were becoming unfashionable and, after "orld War II, a major exodus
to the suburbs began.

In the 1920s builders appeared on the scene and began to raze some
of the gsreat, freestanding mansions, replacing'them with apartment houses. Among
the first to go, in 1923, was the Maxwell mansion on the southwest corner of Union
Street and Eighth Avenue, although its carriage house still stands on Union Street.
Nther mansions along the west side of Eighth Avenue that have given way to apartment
houses were those of the Luckenbach, Hanan and the Feltman families. This stretch
of tall apartment'houses along Eiyhth Avenue represents the only major incursion
along this avenue in recent decades. Prospect Park West, once known as the
the ""Gold Coast,' has also lost several notable mansions to apartment houses.
Although the large houses have disappeared along Plaza Street, an extension of
the Gold Coast, the magnificent Venetiarn Gothic Montauk Club and a short row of
limestone- fronted houses, between Lincoln Place and Flatbush Avenue, remain to
give some idea of the former magnificence of this street.

Fortunately, the basic quality of Park Slope has been largely undisturbed.
. Street after street presents vistas unchanged since the turn-of-the-century.

Nespite social and technological changes, the Historic District has thus far
~largely avoided the rapid pace of rebuilding and alteration so typical of much of
i the City. Many of the fine old houses have been preserved with'little change.

“The fact that the present tall apartment houses have, by and large, not destroyed
‘#he character of the District is responsible for the charming, low-1y1ng quallty
and human scale of this neighborhood.
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Events within the last ten years give hope that these houses will be pre-
served far into the future as a major urban asset. But the real cause for alarm
today is the "modernization' of houses by the application of spurious veneers. The
occasional addition of a roof parapet has almost invariably resulted in the loss
of a fine cornice. Stoops have sometimes been removed to provide basement )
entrances. All these changes and "improvements' create jarring notes in otherwise
harmonious rows of houses. These renovations, intended to increase property values,
have an exactly opposite effect in Historic Districts. The thing that attracts
many buyers to these neighborhoods is the homogeneous integrity of their ?riglnal
architecture. Ill-conceived improvements almost always result in an erosion of
its quality.

Designation of the Park Slope Historic District will strengthen the community
by preventing this needless loss through the review of future alterations and con-
struction. Designation is a major step towards insuring protection and enhancement
of the quality and character of an entire neighborhood.

Like a number of other 19th century communities in the City, Park Slope has
attracted a wave of renovators who have not only restored hundreds of old houses
to their former splendor but, by their presence, create a stable family community
that should insure both the physical and social character of the neighborhood.
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DOCUMENTATION AND ARRANGE!ENT

This report has been written to describe an area of the City that deserves to
be better known and has been compiled with great care. It should prove educational
and informative to architectural historians and property owners. The following
notes cover the sources used to obtain the information for the report.

Historical Documentation. The documentation of the buildings has been based
on primary sources, mainly official records of the City of New York and of Kings
County. These have been supplemented by maps, directories, biographical sources,
newspapers, and published histories of Brooklyn and Kings County, of certain
buildings and of the planning and development of Prospect Park. For these we
have drawn on the collections of such institutions as the Long Island Historical
Society and the New York Public Library. Of primary assistance in establishing
the historical documentation of buildings were:

A. Tax Assessment Records for this ward, recorded under No. 22 (Real Property
Assessment Department, Brooklyn Municipal Building, sub-basement) .

B. New Building and Alteration Plans, starting in 1873 (Department of Buildings,
Borough of Brooklyn, Brooklyn Municipal Building, Tth floor).

C. Conveyances (City Register, Kings County Clerk's office, 2nd floor); Block
Abstracts and old maps (Long Island Historical Society). :

D. Commercial maps such as M. Dripps Map of 1855 and 1869; J.B. Beers Farm
Line Maps of the City of Brooklyn, 187k ; Robinson's Atlas of the City of Brooklyn,
1886; E. Belcher Hyde Atlas of the Borough of Brooklyn, 1912; Sanborn Maps of
1926, updated.

E. Directories of Brooklyn and New York City (available at the New York Public
Libary and the Long Island Historical Society).

F. Recent publications:

Elizabeth Barlow and William Alex, Frederick Law Olmsted's New York
(New York: Braziller, 1972)

Albert Fein, Frederlck Law Olmsted and the American Env1ronmental
Tradition (New York: Braziller, 1972)

Clay Lancaster, Prospect Park Handbook (New York: Rawls, 1967T)

David McCullough, The Great Bridge (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1972)

William Lee Younger, 6 articles in The Gaslight Gazette, 1971-T2.

Intensive staff work on the Park Slope Historic District began in 1972
and was completed in 1973. The documentation is now recorded in ten volumes
with photograrhs and a file containing research notes.

Arrangement. The main text of this report consists of a block-by-block
description. For ease of reference, avenues are arranged in numerical order;
named streets in alphabetical sequence; and numbered streets in numerical order.
Each street and avenue is considered one block at a time— running from the lowest
Lo the highest house numbers. Within each block, each side of a street or avenue is
discussed separately: first south, then north, or east and west, as the case
may be. Houses which are known by a single number but which occupy more than one
lot may show the full range of numbers within parentheses or brackets. Corner
buildings which are known by composite numbers are generally indicated by the
number closest to the corner. Corner houses are cross-referenced under both the
street and the avenue on which they face.
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THE AVENUES

SIXTH AVENUE TO PROSPECT PARK WEST

| SIXTH AVENUE oosE RIE.

Coming east along Flatbush Avenue and turning south into Sixth Avenue,  one
is immediately struck by the homogeneous quality of this street. It still embodies,
today, the distinction that Brooklyn had, in the 19th century, as a city of homes
and churches. The vista along the avenue between Sterling Place and Union Street
has an understated regularity dramatically accented by the spires of two churches,
St. Augustine's at Sterling Place and St. Francis Xavier At Carroll Street, both of
which are just outside the Historic District. There is virtually no change in
elevation in the part of the avenue included in the district: block after block
displays a handsome uniform roof line, which unites the ‘relatively short block-
fronts into a single composition with occasional special treatments, such as man-
sard roofs for the corner houses. Although Sixth Avenue is only now beginning to
recover from a long period of decline, during which houses were converted into
multiple dwellings, most of the exterior detail, including the mansard roofs and
cornices, remains remarkably intact. b -

SiXTH AVENUE Between Sterling Place & St. John's Place

EAST SIDE (Nos. 135-153)

This blockfront of ten three-story brownstone houses between Sterling Place and
St. John's Place is among Park Slope's earliest, erected between 1869 and 1871
in the late Italianate style. Development began at the northern end in 1869-70,
when Daniel M. Wells, a builder and real estate investor, erected Nos. 135-143,
and was completed by builder James H. Scribner with Nos. 145-153 in 1870-T1.
Scribner was a brother of Charles S. Scribner, who had built Nos. 8-16 Seventh
Avenue a decade earlier. Many of these flush-fronted houses have retained their
original details, stoops and rusticated basements. - The original wooden roof
cornice has been preserved intact along the entire blockfront. No. 14T is prac-
tically untouched, and shows what the others were like originally. Above the
windows are prominent stone cornice slabs supported on brackets. The consoles
supporting the triangular doorway pediment have carved acanthus decoration. Ex-
pressive of the substantial quality of these houses are the balustered hand-
railings and newels at the stoop. The brick sides of the end houses have the
broad low, end gables with central arched windows, so typical of this area.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 128-146)

Nos. 128-1L46 is a complete blockfront of houses built in 1876 for the neigh-
borhood owner-builder, John Gordon. They were designed by Brooklyn architect
M. J. Morrill. Mansard roofed houses at the ends of the block emphasize the
Victorian verticality of these brownstone rowhouses. Three stories in height, set
above high basements, the entrance doorways are approached by steep stoops, many
of which retain their original cast iron balustered handrailings. Yard railings
and gatec enclose most of the front yards. These houses present excellent examples
of the neo-Grec style, best seen at No. 132 which has a mansard roof above its
roof cornice. Full height two-sided bays contrast with the flush-fronted houses
across the street. A bracketed roof cornice, which reflects the profiles of the
bays, enlivens the skyline. The brick side walls of the end houses of this row
have two--story bay windows, constructed of wood.
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SIXTH AVENUE Between St. John's Place & Lincoln Place

EAST SIDE (Nos. 155-175)

Nos. 1£5-163. The corner house at St. John's Place, Mo. 155 is
higher than the rest of the row due to its mansard roof. It is part of a
row of five similar three-story brownstones with high basements. Erected
in 1884 by builder John Monas, they are of a type characteristic of the
north portion of Park Slope, with brownstone fronts and two-sided bays
running the full three-story height above high basements. On all five
houses, the incised neo-Grec decoration and the bracketed roof cornice
dramatically accent their angularity. Framing the doorway are balustraded
balconies resting on deep brackets and embellished with urns. The corner
house, with mansard roof and pedimented dormer windows, repeats the angu-
lar profile of the main cornice line at higher level, providing an
effective emphasis at the corner. The end wall, on St. John's Place,
is almost entirely of red brick, virtually uninterrupted except for a
three-sided bay window at the center which is topped with a prominent
cornice above the third floor, identical to the roof cornice.

Nos. 165 and 167, the remaining two houses on the block, were
completed in 1874 by Henry Samuel, builder, and are related to the
adjoining later houses by a uniform roof cornice line. The houses are
enclosed by handsome iron yard railings with gates. High stoops, with
balustered hand railings and heavy newel posts, lead up to the front doors.
These three-story brownstones have flush fronts, rusticated basements
and typically late Italianate detail: prominent cornices over segmental-
arched window heads and strongly modeled arched nediments over deeply
recessed round-arched doorways. The fine detail of the doorway of No.
165 has been retained including the high original doors, now partially
glazed.

The Sixth Avenue Baptist Church. at the corner of Lincoln Place. is
Victorian Gothic in inspiration and is executed in red face brick with
horizontal stone band courses. Tt was designed by Laurence B. Valk, a
New York architect, in 1880. The massing of the main tower -- the
steeple was lost in the hurricane of 1938 -- the small polygonal turret
engaged to the tower on the Sixth Avenue front, and the cupola over the
crossing are picturesque features which contrast with the flatness and
austerity of the similar gabled walls facing the Avenue and the Street.
Horizontal bands of sandstone, perfectly flush with the brickwork, serve
as sills or impost blocks for the arches of the windows. The window
jambs abut the brickwork. - Buttresses with stepred shoulders of sandstone
are interesting components of the construction. Ornament embellishes
the stone arches over the doors and the corbels of the main gables.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 1u8-168)

This blockfront, unlike most others in the area, was develoned from.
south to north and shows an interesting contrast between late Italianate
and neo-Grec styles.

Nos. 1u48-160. Neighborhood builder John Gordon and his wife
Isabella, developed this row of seven in two stages: Nos. 1u8-154 were
built in 1875 and Nos. 158 and 160 in 1880. The houses are very similar
to his row of about the same period at Nos. 128-1U46, in the block to the
north between Sterling Place and St. John's Place. designed hy M. J.
Morrill. Both Morrill and John Dixon, the architect associated with
Nos. 1u8-160, made use of the "French roof" or mansard to give emphasis
to corner buildings. Both architects worked in the neo-Grec style, which
continued to dominate builder-constructed houses in Park Slope well into
the 1880s. No. 152 retains most of the original decorative elements. and
at No. 156 the handsome original doors can still he seen. A notable
feature is the round-arched , two-story hay on the brick end wall on St.
John's Place, similar to the two-story hay on the end wall across the
street, at No. 1lu46. Nos. 158 and 160 although built five years later
than the other houses of the row, are essentially similar to them.
differing only in minor respects. The rectilinear detail displayed here
is typical of Dixon's (cont'd next paae)
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SIXTH AVENUE  “etween St. Jchn's Place & Lincdln Place:

- work in the neo-Grec style elsewhere in the District, as are the billet moldlnos
which appear at the heaJs of all the windows.
) Nos 162 16u were the first houses to go up on this blockfront. No.

165, the residence of Abraham Knox, a cooner, was erected first, in 1869:

Nos. 162-166 were built for him in 1862. They are in the late Italianate style
so popular on .Sixth Avenue at that time. These flush-fronted brownstones provide
a contrast to their more animated neighbors to the north, with their full- :
height, two-sided masonry bays and jagsed rooflines. No. 162 most nearly retains
‘all its original features: the boldly pedimented doorway and window lintels

on carved corbel brackets arc noteworthy. The corner house, No. 168, where
Abraham Knox lived, still displays its cast iron balustered handrailings, complete
with newels, and yard railings which continue arnund to the Lincoln Tlace side.
Here, its brick end wall has the typical low gable with central arched window
~and wood bay windows at the parlor floor with carved cornice brackets.

SIXTH AVENUE ' Between Lincoln Place § [Cerkeley Tlace
EAST SIDE (Nos. 175-191)

Nos. 175-133 provide the only examples of the Romanesque Revival style on
Sixth Avenue within the District. They were built for James A. Bills in 1839
an! were designed by Prooklyn architect F. R. Langston. Langston also worked
in the Stuyvesant Heights area. Stylistically they are similar to Nos. 96-110
Lincoln Place around the corner, designed by Langston at the same time. Like
the houses on Lincoln Place, these rise from rough-faced random.ashlar basements
to the sills of the second floor windows. L.shaped stoops, with risers and
treads defined on rough-faced wing-walls lead up to the douhle doors with
carved lintels. Carved ornament also appears in the front face of the solid
wing walls of the stoops at Nos. 177, 131 and 1283. No. 175 has a straight stoop
with pipe railings terminating in fanciful griffins. Thoush the same height
and style as its neighbors, the corner building, Nc. 175, is treated differently
from the others. It has square-headed oneninss at the first floor, whereas
they have round-arched parlor floor windows and doorways. Contrasts in color of
the brick corner house with the other stone houses give character to the row.
The rough-faced window lintels contrast with the smooth brickwork of the second
and third stories. Crowning these five houses are sheetmetal roof cornices
with vertical shafts on corbels separatineg them. Quoins, in stones of contrasting
colors, separate and definc the houses.

Nos. 185 -127-1"7 1/2-132¢an’ 191. .In contrast ¢~ the ndjacent "omanesque
Revival houses are these five late Italianate style hrownstones which conplete
this blockfront from Lincoln to Terkeley Place. DBuilt in 1574-75 for William
Maguire, of 343 DeKalb Avenue, they were cesigned by a Drooklyn architect-
btuilder, Genrse Vhite. They are quite similar to the other late Italianate
houses of the same perind on the Slohe. 0f these five dirmified rowhouses,
No. 187 best retains its original features including most of its ircnwork.

' The stoop, above a rusticatel basement, leads to a pedimented doorway with

elaborately carved consnle brackets. Unifying the five houses are the roof
cornices with Classical mcldings, dentils and console brackets. The corner
house, No. 191, has twn oriels surported on carved brackets on the Lerkeley

Place side.
WEST SIDE

(The entire hlockfront between Lincoln Place and erkeley Place on Sixth
Avenue is outside the Historic District. It is the site of P.S. No. 282,
the Park Slope School).

-
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- SIXTH AVENUE Between Berkeley Place and Union Street

EAST SIDE (Nos. 193-199)

Nos. 153-195-195A-197. These four brownstone hcouses, built between 1372 -
and 1873 for Abel F. Goodnow were the first houses built on this blockfront, and
‘are typically late Italianate in design. Nos. 195A and 197 preserve characteristic
decorative features: rusticated basements, pedimented doorways, parlor floor
window lintels supported on carved console brackets and windowsills at the
upper stories resting on small corbel blocks. The ironwork which once oraced
all these houses remains intact at the stoop and yard railings »f Mo, 175, The
houses are crowned by dentilled roof cornices with console brackets. No. 195 was
the home of Thomas Green, a prolific builder associatied with the early development
of Park Slope, who may also have erected this row. ' '

. No. 199. This mid-block brownstone of 1886-37, is one of a row of three
neo-Grec houses, of which Nes. 201 and 201A are outside the Historic District,
and reflects the change in architectural fashion of the following decade. The
angularity of the full-height, twco-sided bay is echoed in the roof cornice,
which contrasts in heigh* and nrofile with those of the earlier, flush-fronted
houses of the rest of the blockfrnt. Nos. 199-201/ were ltuilt by the heirs of
Thonas Skelly, a builder. A notable feature of Nn. 199, which is very similar
to the row at Nos. 155-163 Sixth Avenue nearby, is the low balustrade above the
entrance doorway.

WEST SIDE (188-192h)

The five houses from the corner of Derkeley Place to the middle of the
hlock were built as part of a row of six (including No. 194) by owner-builder
Thomas Fagen of 262 Grand Avenue, Drooklyn. The designs were furnished by
Bronklyn architect Robert Dixon in 1877. These dignified flush-fronted brown-
stones have two wide openings per story in their narrow sixteen fcot widths.
Although the overall feeling of the row is late Italianate, neo-Grec details
are evident in the consoles suprorting the triangular ﬁedlments over the doorways
and in the triangular corbel stones under the windowsills. The basement walls are
decorated by horizontal bandine with vertical fluting. The corner house has a
. charming wood bay window carried on carved brackets at the parlor floor on the .
Berkeley Place side. This brick en¢ wall has two tiers of blind windows sym-
-metrically placed at the ends.

(The houses on the south half of the blockfront toward Union Street, on
" both the east and west sides of Sixth Avenue, are outside the Historic¢ District.)

SEVENTH AVENUE

The four tlocks within the Historic District, at the north end of Seventh
Avenue between Park Place and Union Street, provide a dignified appearance and
an interesting cross-scction of architectural styles of the second half of
the 19th century. DBeginning with row houses built in 1861 in the popular
Italianate style, residences built in the decades which followed present fine
examples of the neo-Grec, Victorian Gothic, French Second Empire, Queen Anne and
Romanesque Revival styles.

This section of Seventh Avenue still retains its oripginal residential
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SEVENTH AVENUE

34 Togey 47 cerer T

character with only minor commercial incursions, in contrast to the aspect of the
“"avenue at-its north end -and-below Berkeley -Place -to-thersouth.. The.transition
from residential “to ‘commercial architecture, - which. followed the economlc upturn
of the late 1870s, begins just above Berkeley Place and extends.southward. . .
Prior to that time, the process of residential development had been quite similar
to that of Sixth Avenue. During the 1350s, while handsome residential and
religious structures were still being-built at the northern end of -the avenue,
the tendency was to more modest apartment houses and commercial construction

at the south end.

SEVENTH AVENUE Detween Park Place § Sterling Place

EAST SIDE (Nos 13-19) -

(The northern half of thls blockfront is out51de the Historic D1str1ct )

. Nos. 13-19, a row of three-story neo-Grec houses, was built in 1882 by
owner-builder William Gubbins, according to the designs of Brooklyn architect
Thomas F. Houshton, who also worked in Stuyvesant Heights. Full height, two-
sided bays produce ‘an undulant rhythm at the line of the bracketed cornices.

- These houses are all approached by high stoops which lead up to segmental-arched
doorways. The cornice slahs at three of these houses retain their handsome
original iron crestings -above the doorways The border of palm leaves. in the
cornice above the narlor floor windows is especially -attractive and is dlstantly
related to the Eoyptlan cavetto moldlna.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 8-22]

Nos. 2-16 Seventh Avenue, a row of five houses erected in 1860, are the
earliest in the District. The five lots were bought from the Edmund K. Bussing
. estate in January 1860 by the builder-developer Charles S. Scribner, of 300

.Dean Street in the Boerum Hill section. These modest -housest! are three stories in
height over a high basement and are constructed of brick over\rusticated stocne
basements. They are basically Italianate, as may be seen in the bracketed
roof cornices and the arched stoop and yard railings at Nos. 10 and 12.. No.
12 also retains the bracket-sunported stone slabs beneath the long, well-propor-
tioned parlor floor windows. The house at the corner of Park Place (No. 8)
had a greenhouse added in 1398, at the rear of the lot, when it became the
residence and store of florist, William H. Foddy. The greenhouse was demclished
in 1928 to make way for the present addition. The addition is clearly seen
in the difference between the windows at the rear of the building and those
at the front. The brick lintels echo the Italianate style of the brownstone
originals, which are typically Italianate with shouldered segmental arches and
cap moldings. Although all the houses have been altered in varying degrees,
the row retains a sense of harmonious unity.

Nos. 18-22. The houses in the southern half of this blockfront were not
built until almost twenty years after those to the north, a difference which
is immediately apparent in their greater height. This row of 1879 originally
consisted of five similar houses: No. 24 was demolished in December 1960 as
the result of a plane crash which also destoyed the Pillar of Fire Church to
the west of it, later replaced by a one-stery funeral home.

The original appearance of the row can best be judged by No. 13 which still
retains its stoop, doorway, handsome roof cornice, and neo-Grec details. /n
unusual round-arched doorway, of crisp and elaborate design, is capped by a central
consnle with cornice slab supported on highly stylized, vertical, neo-Grec con-
soles. This slab serves as a support for the two-sided oriel window above it .
that was probably an addition to the iwousc. Similar to the furniture decoration

e
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SEVENTH AVENUE Between Park Place & Sterling Place
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of’ the period are ‘the decorative paneéls beneath each‘parlor floor window and the
brackets which support the windowsills. These brackets, which ‘end in teardrop
) _forms recall the pendants often seen on Victorian furniture. LI -y

i

SEVENTH wvEnE Bety’.y_vé’én» Sterling Place & St. John's Place - -
EAST SIDE (Nos. 21-35)

The east side of this block presents a picturesque appearance. At the north
end, four brick and brownstone houses with a multiplicity of peaked dormers accord
well with the lighter colored brownstone church to the south, with the finials of
its tower silhouetted against the sky. On the west side of the avenue more con-
ventional rows of rowhouses and another brownstone church with high corner tower
occupy the blockfront.

Nos. 21--2T7 Seventh Avenue, an exceptionally handsome row of four Romanesque
Revival residences, were erected for Charles Pied in 1887 according to designs by
architect Laurence B. Valk of New York, who had designed the Sixth Avenue Baptist
Church at the corner of Lincoln Place, nearby. The house at the corner of Sterling
Place (No. 21 Seventh Avenue) was well known as the Lillian Ward mansion, as it
was at one time the home of that famous singer. Dr. Heber H. Ward built a garage
in 1925. The Vard mansion and the three houses to the south (Nos. 23, 25, and 27) .
were all built in the same architectural style, utilizing the same materials. This
gives the row a remarkable unity of effect, despite the diversity of its detail.
In designing these houses, Valk called into play every resource of the Romanesque
Revival style, including contrasts in color, details and materials, making this
one of the most effective rows in the District. Brick, brownstone, slate and terra
cotta were all employed with their wide range of warm muted colors. Signalizing
the corner of the Ward mansion, a turret with curvilinear peaked roof rests on a
corbel at the second floor. On the avenue side, set on ornamented brackets above
a low basement, there is a wide bow window which serves the parlor floor. The
entrance on Sterling Place has a handsome arched porch with dwarf columns shelter-
ing the beautiful original doorway with sidelights and transom embellished with
wrought iron work. An offset stoop enters the side of this porch and has a low
stone wing-wall surmounted by an iron railing terminated by a rampant mythological
animal figure as newel post. Just below the roof, the influence of the Queen Anne
style emerges: an ornamental terra cotta bandcourse forms a frieze and dormer win-
dows of various sizes and shapes enhance the ricturesgme yrofile of the
steeply hipped slate roof. A second floor blind window, between the corner turret
and the entrance porch, displays a richly ornamented terra cotta panel in low
relief. Except for a part of the first floor of the Ward mansion and the entrance
porches of all these houses, which are of rough-faced brownstone, they are con--
structed of brick. Nos. 23, 25 and 27 have arched porches of different designs and
further variety is achieved in the design of their dormer windows which have gables
projecting over the windows. Some of the gables of the narrow dormers display the
Cueen Anne sunburst motif.

No. 29. Making the transition from the Romanesque Revival row to the north,
and the church to the south, this rough-faced stone parsonage was built for Grace
United (M.E.) Church in 1887 and was designed by the prominent Brooklyn architec-
tural firm of Parfitt Brothers, the architects of the adjoining church. An inter-
esting example of late Romanesque Revival architecture, this parsonage has a curve-
ended, two-story bay with stone mullions and transom bars at both floors. The
transéms above the first fléor wihdows are of stathed glass and the original front
door with its small square lights in the upper half is still in place. The third
floor has a double window above the bay surmounted by a stone gable flanked by

pilasters resting on corbels at either side of the window. Echoing the turret of
the Ward mansion, the parsonage has a third floor sheetmetal oriel at its south

corner, thus completing the residential blockfront.
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SEVENTH AVENUE Detween Sterling Place § St. John's Place
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Nos. 31-35. The impressive stone Grace Unite? (M. E.) Church and Sunday
School dominates the northeast corner of St. John's Place and Sixth Avenue.
“1In style‘it’is Victoérian Gothic,: with -vari-colored stone and picturesque profile.
A large window ‘and gable, expressive of the end of the.nave, faces the avenue.
A corner tower makes: the transition to the lonq side on St. John's Place, with
paired side aisle windows separated by buttresses. An exceptionally handsome
diaper patterned terra cotta enframes the circular windows of the nave. The
windows of the side aisle have banded columns with foliate capitals. The Sunday
" School building facing the avenue, 'to the left of the nave, is very picturesque,
" with its gablet flanked by finials. To the left of the entrance there is an
interesting squat, pointed arch:window, which has an inscription in the derth
of its terra cotta voussoirs. The church, like the rectory, was designed by
“ﬂrfltt Brothers but was bu11t five years earlier, in 1832.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 26-44)

The corner lot was originally the site of No. 26, demolished in 1960 as
a result of the airplane catastrophe.. This house was part of a row of five
dwellings erected in 1873 for Edmund Kingsland. They show the transition from
the French Second Empire to the neo-Grec. It may well be that they represent
the introduction of the neo-Grec style in Park Slone. The ornamental detail
of the buildings is neo-Grec, whereas the basic lines of the buildings are
French Second Empire. Typical neo-Grec elements are the treatment of the doorways,
the roof cornices and even such small details as the corbel blocks under the
windowsills and faceted keystones of the basement windows. Three of these
houses retain their stoops. ’

. Nos. 36-44. 1In 1881 when these brownstones were constructed by owner-
builder Thomas Fagan, the DBrooklyn architect, Robert Dixon, made full use of the
neo-Grec style which was still in the ‘ascendance in Park Slope at that time.
Nos. 42 and 44, at the Sterling P'lace-corner, are taller than their neighbors.
since they have a full-height fourth story, whereas the others have low attic
stories. However, all five houses are basically of the same design. Charac-"
teristic of the neo-Grec style are the full-height, two-sided masonry bays,

" which denart from the typically flat plane cof the earlier Italianate period. Each
bay is articulated by a flat pilaster element at its apex. The angular cornice
line reflects the shape of the bays below in a dramatic fashion. In the attic
stories of the three-story houses, the fenestration changes from large single =
to small double windows, - set in the fascia below the roof cornice and
divided by mullions, except at No. 36. The interesting original doorways
retained at four of the houses have segmental arches flanked by grooved pilasters
terminating in bold convex brackets with typical nen-Grec detail. These, in
turn, suprort the cornice slabs crowned by delicate cast iron crestings. The
sills of the parlor floor windows provide examnles of that curious neo-Grec
feature, the slicel-off mnlding, where the cross-section of the molding rather
than the forms of the molding itself become the decorative features. At some

of the houses the oricinal handrailings of the stnops and the yard railings

are retained. The hish corner house, No. 44, was the residence of Wllllan
Engman, Coney Island developcr, and George Enqman, realtor.

SEVENTH AVENUE Retween St. John's Place § Lincoln Place.

EAST SIDE (Nos. 37-57)

The eleven houses between St. John's Place and Lincoln Place present a
dignified blockfront of French Second Empire desien. This is the only complete
blockfront of mansard roofed houses in Park Slore and dates from 1871-72.

The houses were built roughly to-the same basic desipgn by Robert Spier Bussing,
who had purchased the land in 1869, in association with Philip I. Coctey.
Both men were speculative builders and Bussing, clearly overextended, went
bankrupt in 1874. Philip Cootey and other members of his family lived at

-0-
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SEVENTH AVENUE Between St. John's Place § Lincoln Place.
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‘No. 47. These residences were generally built for a prosperous merchant.class,
, best exemplified by Anthony Hodenpyl, a New York Aiamond merchant who lived
at No..43.. This row of brownstone houses is a tall, august one and produces
an imposing vista that is highly visible along the avenue.
v . The houses are unified by the alignment of dcorways and windows and,
"most esnecially, by mansard roofs with pedimented dormers.. The doorways cf the
five northernmost houses, Nos. 37-45, all originally had arched pediments sup-
ported on carved console brackets, now best seen at Nos. 39 and 41. DBy contrast,
Nos. 47-53, four of the row of six to the Lincoln Place corner, still have- .
triancular pedimented doorways flanked by engaged. columns. Nos. 39 and 45
* retain their original balustered cast iron handrailings at the stoop and their
yard railings. The rusticated basements are intact at some of the houses, and
two retain their impressive full-height double doors. The original roof crestings,
which once extended alonz the entire block front, remain at No. 45. At MNe. 55, - .
the parlor floor and basement have been remodeled in neo- Gothic style which
until recently housed a funeral chapel. The corner house (No. 57) has been
remodeled for commercial use at street level, with a second floor additon
above it. ‘

WEST SIDE (Nos. 42-60)

The blockfront between St. John's Place and Lincoln Place begins with
considerable style with the Memorial I'resbyterian Church at Nos. 42-48. Drama-. .~
tizing its corner site at St. John's Place and Seventh Avenue is the imposing
broach spire of stone. The church is a handsome example of late Victorian
Gothic ecclesiastical architecture. Designed by the New York architectural
firm of Pugin § Walter, it was begun in 1882. The church is constructed of
random ashlar Belleville brownstone from its lowliest block to the peak of its
tall spire, in contrast to the polychromy usually associated with Victerian
Gothic. One of the few touches of color in the composition is a cresting of
rust-colored terra cotta tile along the ridges of the slate rngf. : 2r-wnstoné:Finial:
embellish the tops of the buttresses and a bold pararet pierced with quatrefnils,
which runs along both facades at the level of the eaves, is a pronounced decora-
tive feature. The pointed arch windows have narrow drip moldings which, at the
belfry, come to rest on bosses carved with human heads.

In 1833 a chapel and Sunday School was added to the west on the St. John's
Place side. It was designed by Marshall § Walter, using the same materials
as the church. Over the doorway to the chapel is a charming quatrefoil containing
a carving of a winged anpel comforting three children. The chapel is well
inteprated into the design of the earlier church and the two now appear to
be one structure. Both the church and the chapel have some very fine stained
glass windows by Tiffany Studios.

: Nos. 50 and 52 Seventh Avenue were built in 1370 by Robert S. Bussing

and were originally twin brownstones designed in the late Italianate style.
They, like their neighbors, Nos. 54 and 56, are veterans of a long campaign
of renovation and commercial alteration. The original upper floor windows at
No. 52 have typically Italianate segmental-arched lintels supported on console
brackets and the fascia below the handsome roof cornice is arched bhetween
brackets to reflect the arch of the windows. No. 50 retains its stoop and
balustered handrailings.

Nos. 54-56 were built later in the 1870s. They are twin houses and were
both occupied by ministers, Reverend John S. Lott and Reverend Abraham Quick,
respectively. At the upper floors, No. 54 remains close tc its original
appearance, with handsomely enframed windows which reflect French influence.
Both houses retain their roof cornices with dentils and modillions between
the carved brackets.
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_SEVENTH AVENUE Between Sf. John's PlacéFGALincoin Place>

Nos. 58-60. .This imposing corner mansion was built in 1881 for Mr. M. Brasher
by the architect S. F.-Evelette, of 213 Montague Street. - The Brasher Mansicn
‘dater served as the Park Slope Masonic Club and is now the Brooklyn Conservatory
of Music. The building is Victorian Gothic in snirit with elements of the
Queen Anne style. It is constructed of red brick on a low basement of brownstone,
with bandcourses and trim of brownstrne: and terra cotta ornament.- The entrance -
doorway,flanked by paneled pilasters with scrolls supnorting a cornice slab
with low stone parapet, is set in a projecting bay which, at roof level, is-.
accentuated with a gable crowned by a carved finial. A full-height, diagonal
corner- bay surmounted by a pyramidal roof makes the transition from the front
to the Lincoln Place side. Handsome cast iron crestings above the first floor
projection of the bay provide an effective decorative feature. A three-sided
bay rises mid-way along the Lincoln Place side and extends up two.stories
where it is terminated by a handsome corbelled brownstone ~rnament on the blind
front. The gable above it, dormer w1ndows, and the chimney all lend interest
- at the roofline.

SEVENTH AVENUE Between Lincoln Place § Berkeley Place

EAST SIDE (Nos. 59-73)

Nos. 59-71. Of the ten houses, erected in 1880 as a row by owner-arhitect-
builder William Flanagan extending to the Rerkeley Place corner, Nos. 61 and
Nos. 63 to 69 retain their original appearance. The houses are in the neo-

Grec style with shallow, two-sided masonry bays. The lintels over windows

and doors have delicately incised designs of foliage and rosettes. The

charming original roof crestings remain at No. 69. Two buildings at the north
end ( Nos. 59 and G6lA) have new fronts to a height of five stories. Until
recently, No. 61 was partially hidden by a one-story storefront, but this has
now been removed, revealing the original front of the house. At the south

end, Nos. 69A and 71 have also been extended forward for commercial use, but
these additions have only been carried up to a height of two stories. The
southernmost house (No. 73) has been replaced by a two-story commercial building.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 62-72)

No. 62 was originally built as a large deuble townhouse in 1381 with a
second entrance at No. 163 Lincoln Place. Both houses were occupied succes-
51ve1y by Hosmer Buckingham Parsons, general acent and cashier for Yells,
Fargo & Co. and a prominent member of the Montauk Club. It is a three-story
red brick structure with stone trim. A smell square terra cotta decorative panel
of foliate design has been set into the center of the setback portion of the
second story. This substantial building has brickwork of fine quality and
now serves as an apartment house with three commercial enterprises at ground
floor level.

Nos. 64, 66 and 70 (No. €3 has been omitted from the numbering sequence)
were begun in 1859 for F. M. Faircloth, Jr., and were designed by architect
Thomas Stent of New York. These three handscme late Romanesque Revival apart-
ment houses, four stories in height, were all built to the same desirn: a
first story in rough-faced brownstone, still preserved at No. 64, and three
upper stories in red brick. Completely symmetrical in plan, each building -
originally had a round-arched central entrance flanked by two-sided bays
emphasized by interlocking brickwork at the angles. These bays, four stories
in heicht, rise to meet a handsome array of brick corbels surmounted by a continu-
ous sheetmetal roof cornice which is effectively terminated by round bosses.
The original stocp with iron railings remains at No. 64. Do
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SEVENTH AVENUE BetweenvLincoln Place § Berkeley Place

No. 74 (Nos. 77-74) is a four-story apartment house of brownstone designed
in the neo-Grec style. It was built in 1888 by Cevedra B. Sheldon, a local
builder. “The original entranceway and ground floor facade have been replaced
“by a new commercial front. The design of the building is basically symmetrical
with two-sided masonry bay at either side of the facade. The left-hand bay °
has one side advanced to meet the wall plane of the adjoining building, thus
making a smooth transition. The enframed windows are surmounted by pedimental
lintels with "ears" and incised decoration. A handsome roof cornice with
deep stylized brackets completes the elevation. '

No. 76 Seventh Avenue, also built in 1888 by Cevedra B. Sheldon, is a
four-story apartment house with a brownstone facade on Seventh Avenue and a
red brick one on Berkeley Place. At the juncture of these two facades is a
rectangular sheet metal bay, supported on large brackets, which rises three
stories to the top of the building and is crowned by a triangular pediment. The
corner entrance of the ground floor store is under this bay and preserves
most of its original appearance. The Berkeley Place side is described under
No. 161 Berkeley Place.

SEVENTH AVENUE Between Berkeley Place § Union Street

EAST SIDE (Nos. 75-87)

No. 75-77. This four-story stone and brick apartment house is described
under No. 180 Berkeley Place, where the main entrance is located.

Nos. 79-81 are one-story commercial establishments serving the community.

Nos. 83-87. These three brick apartment houses with stone trim and
stores at the first floor were built in 1901 for Leo W. Winkelman and were
designed as a unit in a modified classical style by architect M. J. Morrill.
The entrances to the apartment houses are all set to the left-hand side of
wide store fronts enframed in stonework. The brickwork above is unified by
horizontal bandcourses and bay windows flanking a flat-arched window providing
an interesting off-center symmetry.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 78-86)

Nos. 78-82. No. 78, on the southwest corner of Berkeley Place and Seventh
Avenue, is almost a mirror image of the building across from it on the northwest
corner, No. 76 Seventh Avenue, but the corner sheet metal bay has no pediment.
Colonettes support the roof cornice, whereas across the street it is carried
on brackets. No. 78 displays neo-Grec detail in its '"eared" window lintels.
This building was erected in 1886 as one of a row of three by C. B. Sheldon,
and designed by architect George Buser. Both Sheldon and Buser lived just
west of the Historic District.

Nos. 84 and 86. These two four-story brownstones were erected as a pair
of one-family residences in 1874. They were designed by Lewis § Newton, of
370 Union Street nearby. The window enframements of the upper two stories and
the roof cornices suggest French influence. The first and second floors have
been altered for commercial use serving the neighborhood.

(The houses on the southern half of the blockfront toward Union Street,

on both the east and west sides of Seventh Avenue, are outside the Historic
District.)
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EIGHTH AVENUE

In the last decade.of the 19th century, Eighth Avenue and Prospect Park
West vied with each other in the grandeur of their houses.and in the prestige
of their residents, The importance of Eighth Avenue was reinforced by the-
building of the Montauk Club in the.early 1890s at the corner of Lincoln
Place. Eighth Avenue is a lovely tree-lined thoroughfare running from north
to south, except for.a slight change of direction at Carroll Street. In scale
the buildings are larger than those on the side streets. There is considerable
variety in the residential rows and, most particularly, in the individual town
houses. The northern part of the avenue is still notable for several fine .
old mansions, in spite of the replacement of several with spacious grounds -
by 20th century apartment houses. These large modern apartment houses indicate,
nonetheless, the continued vitality of Rirk Slope as a residential area into the
20th century. Among the outstanding architects whose work is represented -
along Eighth Avenue are C. P. H, Gilbert, Francis H. Kimball, Helmle & Huberty,
Montrose W. Morris and the Parfitt Brothers,

While some regrettable alterations have been made along the avenue, it
still retains to a remarkable degree its late 19th and early 20th century
flavor. Among latter-day changes have been the replacement of stoops by
basement -entrances, the smooth-stuccoing of facades, requiring the removal
of window enframements and decorative ornament, and the replacement of ornamental
roof cornices by plain masonry parapets. A most inappropriate garage has
been constructed, replacing the garden north of a fine neo-Federal corner house,

EIGHTH AVENUE Between St. John's Place & ILincoln Place

EAST SIDE (Nbs. 7-25)

Nos. 7-15. The rear lots of the handsome residences at Nos. 5-11 Plaza
Street are included in the Historic District,

Nos 17. This is an empty lot adjacent to and lying just north of the
Montauk Club.

Nos. 19-25. A truly remarkable expression of the social forces at work at
the end of the 19th century is the Montauk Club, incorporated March 11, 1889,
Ground was broken for the structure on October 2, 1889 and a gala opening
reception was held on May 23, 1891. With its elaborate decoration, it is an
architectural treasure on the Slope. It is one of the few surviving Brooklyn
private clubs, which once abounded. The affluence of its founders and the import-
ance of its members are manifested in the architectural expression of this
Venetian Gothic palazzo.

The Montauk Club was designed by Francis H, Kimball (1845-1919), a prominent
architect of churches, theatres and office buildings in Manhattan and
Emmanuel Baptist Church in the Clinton Hill section of Brooklyn. As a young
man, Kimball had been engaged in 1875 to supervise the construction of Trinity
College in Hartford, Connecticut, designed by the English architect William
Burges. Kimball had spent several months in London, studying noted examples of
Gothic and Victorian Gothic architecture. 1In those days, Ruskin's Stones of
Venice, published in 1851, was still reuad by young architects and interested
laymen, While the Montauk Club was clearly inspired by the late Gothic style
of Venetian palaces built in the early Renaissance period -- notably the
15th century Cafd'Oro on the Grand Canal -- it is not a slavish copy of any
particular one. The architect has endowed it with its own intrinsically bold
character and, in theme and splendor, it is a reflection of the spirit and
pride of its owners, ’ :
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between St. John's Place & Lincoln Place

A wealth of extravagant detail is displayed on three sides of this fine
building. The north side is unadorned, leaving the wall free for future additions.
The sensitive blending of a variety of building materials —- brownstone, a :
tawny-colored brick and a reddish-brown brick -- produces a warm golden color,

The innovative use of terra cotta during the last part of the 19th century

made it both practical and economical to produce the most intricate ornamentation,
its virtue being flexibility in color and form., The mason in charge of this
superbly constructed edifice was Charles T. Wills of New York City.

One of the most striking aspects of the design of the Montauk Club is the
deliberate contrast of solids and voids. The traceried openings are massed
to the right of the entrance on the Eighth Avenue side, where the main entrance
is located, as part of an asymmetrical composition. These openings are an
introduction to the equally elaborate traceried fenestration of the south and
east facades, which are more symmetrical. Many windows on the Eighth Avenue
side are grouped at the third and fourth stories bringing abundant light
into the interior, but they also give an airy effect to the upper portion
of this elevation,

The separate ladies' entrance to the left of the entrance to the left of
the main entrance is an historical curiosity today. The Montauk Club was one
of the first men's clubs to extend the use of its facilities to women. Through
this entrance, ladies could ascend to the dining room floor without traversing
the main lobby. The square-headed main entrance is ornamented at the top
with a carved stone band of American Indian heads. Above this, at the second’
floor, is a round-arched window set in a panel of terra cotta ornement., In the
spandrels classically inspired trophies bear American Indian motifs. Above
this arch and resting on it is a terra cotta frieze representing the founders
and builders laying the cornerstone. lhen installed, this frieze became a
matter of controversy, discussed in Brooklyn Life of September 20, 1890. The
pointed-arch windows are all set in deep reveals with columns between them,
adding an interesting dimension. At the second floor Gothic arches, with
quatrefoils above them, screen leaded-glass windows. The tile roof and dormers
are hipped,

An impressive view of the Montauk Club is from the east side of Plaza
Street, opposite the end of Lincoln Place, where the full impact of its Venetian
Gothic architecture is most apparent. From this point, one can see two superb
facades contrasting in form and arrangement. The projecting rectangular bay
at the first floor of the Lincoln Place facade has a series of windows recessed
behind Gothic arches supported by slender columns, conveying the impression
of a loggia. The shadowy effect of a loggia is created in part by the overhanging
second floor balcony above it supported on handsome lion-head brackets. This
balcony has a true log.ia behind it, enhanced by a screen of ogival Gothic
arches supporting quatrefoils and resting on columns decorated with a basketweave
pattern. The capitals feature American Indian masks on all four sides, and here
and there in the spandrels are charming reliefs of small animals: chickadees,
bats, owls ard other examples of imerican flora and fauna. Above the second
floor balcony is an historical panel illustrating the inscription: "1659
liyandance Sachame of Pamanack, his wife and his son Wiankabone giving a deed
to Lion Gardiner of Saybrook, Easthampton, Long Island, July 14, 1659". The
history of the liontauk Indians is remarkably depicted in the continuous narrative
frieze which runs around the three principal facades above the third story.

Alsc seen from this vantage point is the dramatic curved two-story bay
on the Plaza Street side which creates a balcony for the third story dining
room. The same general pattern is seen here in the fenestration. 0One gets the
full effect of the soaring chimney stacks, copper dormers, and steep tile
roof with American eagles crowning the summit. An important element in the
overall design is the magnificent cast iron railing enclosing the property. It
is stepped on the Lincoln Place side in keeping with the downward slope of the
street. The square posts have American Indian heads in bas-relief and are -
linked by a series of small arches. At the corners are winged lions rampant
holding shields with the cipher of the Montauk Club.

Architecturally the Montauk Club is unique in the City. It is a remarkable
amalgam of European tradition combined with ornament based on American Indian
themes.
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EIGHTH AVENUE DRetwecen St. John's IMlace & Lincoln Place

WEST SIDE (Nos. ©-26)

Necs. 2 end 10 Eichth Avenue at the corner of St. John's Place ars a pair
~f brownstone residences, imressive in their unity and heicht, which Aominates
the neighborins rowhouses. The houses were built in 1891-92 and designed in-
the Nomanesque -Revival style by Crnoklyn architect John Mumford, of 16 Court
Street, for hilin J. Dwyer who lived nearhy in Prosrnect Heirhts. Martin’5 Lee,
the Jdevelnpers of most of Garfield Place between Szvont: and Dichith Avenu:s
were the carpenter-ceontractors. These hcuses have carved stonc gabled dormers
crowned with finials set at the ends of the steer slate ronf, which has screlled
corine stones at each end. The dorrers ® are flanked by encaned shafts carried
on decorative corbels. The colonnaded losria, at the firet floor, connects two
story hay windrws beneath the end gables. 'The rairel central entrances are
just below Sidewalk level. Horizontal brownstone bhandcourses relate the
brick side wall on St. John's Place to the avenue front.

Nos. 12-1C were built in 19590 by cwner-builder William Gubbins, one of
the earliest “evelomers of this section of the Slope. They were designed by
architect J. J. Gilligan, who lived at 92 Park TClace in the District. Gubbins
later moved into No. 16 himself. These three-anl-a-half story houses are
Airnified Romanesque Revival brownstones, nost notable for the unity created
by an interesting treatment of the fascia beneath the ro»f cornice: here,
smatl? ~=Ctanvular wind~ws are set hetween horizontally-erooved panels., All
the houses have three-side?, full-hei-hT mas-oury hays and are approached hy
L-shaped stoops. The dourways of Nos. 12 and 14 arc square-hcaded with full .
entablatures, whereas those at Nos. 16 an? 13 have Romanesque--Revival arches
rasting on pairs of dwarf columns. At Mo. 16 the narlor floor windows have
stone transom bars beneath stained glass trans~ms.

The earliest row houses in this blockfront are the four neo Grec hrownstones
at Mos. 20-26, built in 1803 by owner-architect William Flanagan, an early
developer on the Slope, who lived at 46 Cerkeley Tlace, just west of the
District. These wide hruses, with three-side! tays risin~ four full stories
atrve hish basements, are fine exanmrles of the nen-Grec style. The rrominent
ronf cornices. carried on grooved brackets with a vertically srooved fascia
hetween them provide a picturesque silhouette a-sainst the sky. Wile stoors,
with nen-Grec newel nosts at Mo, 24, lead tr the claborate entrances still
crownel by balconies with balustrzdes and urns at-two of the houses. Alcve
then, the windows of the upper floors arc unified vertically bty the nanels
hencath them. A variecty ~f nen-Grec ornament cmbellishes these fine residences.
Villiar Caynor was Mayor cof New York when he live! 4t Nn. 20. He died in .
office in 1913. No. 22 was the residence of Richard Hyde, a Prnoklyn theatre '
owner an? manaccer, nartner of Louis C. Dehman of Hyde § Behman. Ho. 26 has
stone qu~ins signalizing the Lincoln Tlace corner (see Mms. 241-251 Lincoln
Place).

EIGHTH AVENUE TDetween Linccln Place & Terkeley Ilace
EAST SIDE (Nos 27-49)

Mns. 27-37 (No. 35 has heen -omitted from the strcet numbering system).
These five houses were built in 1278 and desicned by the neishbarhood architect
Charles "Werner, who resided at 50 Sterling I'lace just outsice the District.
"lerner was a versatile architect, ruch in demand in Park Slope. The owner-
tuilder was William: Guhbins, who at that time lived at 20 Seventh Avenue.
Stylistically they are Romanesque Revival and messive in scale. ©On the Lincoln
"lace (Me. 251) side of the corner house, Nn. 27, the simplicity of red
brick provides a pleasant foil for the richly detaile’ facade of the Montauk
- Club ompnsite it. An claborate cahle! ton story on the Ei~th Avenue si‘le
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EIGHTH AVENUE Detween Lincoln Place & Lerkeley T'lace

gives special importance to this corner house. In contrast, the cther houses
in this row have lower horizontal roof cornices with small attic windows set
in the fascia beneath the cornice, except at No. 33, where the attic has been
raised to a full story. The materials, Fuclid stone, brownstone, and red brick
lend considerable variety to the row. Excent for the corner and end houses,
the other threc are basically of the same Zdésiszn. At the head of the L-shaped
stoops are <onrways with arches supportéd by nairs of “warf columms. flanking
handsome double doors. Stone transom bars “ivide the rarlor floor windows.
The arch of the entrance is repeated at the second story window above it.

No. 37, althourh built as part of this group, is quite different. In ccntrast
to the two-story, three-sided bay common tc the other four huildings, it has a
shallow, flush-fronted masonry bay extending full heicht and paired arched
winlows, A broad horizental bandcourse extends across the building, restin~
on a pair of console brackets over the arched doorway. Carved detail with
cherub heads forms a tand of ornament beneath the parlor floor windows.

. The next four houses, Mos. 39-49, were planned late in 1202 by owner-
architect J. Doherty & Son, the ambitious builders of many houses on the
orposite side of the street. Nos. 39 and 43 (No. 41 has been omitted from te
street numbering system ), built in 1586 are cenerally French neo-Grec in
style, with full-height, three-side! bays which are expressed by the jagged
silhouette of the tracketed roof cornices. The wide impnsing stéops are
flared at the bottom to receive striking neo-Grec newel nosts whose anrularity
contrasts with the rounded balusters of the handrailings. The impressive
entrances, best preserved at No. 43, are enhanced by porticoes supported on
banded columns with neo-Grec ornament at their bases. The horizontal ranels
of foliate ornament above the parler floor windows of No. 39 enrich this facade,
as dn the hanlsome entrance docrs. :

Tuilt hetween 1802 and 1886, Nns. 45 and 49 (N~. 47 has been omitted from
the street nunbering system) are distinpuishe® by hich French Second Empire
mensard roofs. Except for the removal of its stoop, No. 45 retains much of
its original appearance. The decorative detail ‘eared” window lintels, incised
carvings and shell ornament,is typically neo-Gréc. An interesting touch is
the use of faceted panels under the parlor floor windows *hich Doherty
also used on No. 44 across the street. No. 49, the corner nouse, retains
a lacy iron crésting which crowns the mansard rcof. Quoins define the corners
of hoth houses, in the French tradition. On the Derkeley Place side (No. 253),
the reld brick facade features a central twn-story, three-siced bay.

WEST SIDE (MNos. 25-50)

This blockfront of 1201-02 was largcly devel-ped by owner-architect-builder
J. Dcherty, of 220 Flattush Avenue. In contrast to the blockfront to the north,
huilt a few years latcr, thesec houses all have flush fronts, except No. 44
which has a charming ¢wo-story sheetmental oriel. Qunins define the ends
nf the blockfront.

Nrs. 23-36., The corner house, Nno. 29, the first house of this fine neo-
Grec row of 1581, retains a handsome rusticatecd basement with arched windows
and its height privides an effective termination for the lower adjoining row.
Nos. 30-33 tNﬁ 36 has been onitted from the street numbering system) are crowned
bty a handsome wroutht iron rcof cresting above the uniform cornice line.
The hnuses are distinouished by a wealth of neo-Grec ornanent and a cadence of
fenestration strikine in its repularity. Heorizontel hands of stylized ornament
at the basement form 2 unifyinc accent. HNn. 32 retains its oricinal stoop with
cast iron halustered handrailings and newel nosts.

No. 40, a dirnified example of the neo Grec, is the werk of Amzi Hill,
an architect who was very active in the development of the Stuyvesant Felﬂhts
Historic District. It was built in 1281 for James Beveridee of Lrooklyn and
is hicher and wider than its neighbors to the north. The front wall is definad
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Lincoln Place & Derkéley Place

on each side by quoins. The roof cornice of this brownstone residence is
exceptionally rich in detail. The wide arched window, retained at the parlor floor,
was originally the entrance. It has an elegant, turn-of-the-century wrought iron
grille in the transom in character with the glass and iron doors installed in the
new basement entrance. The windows above the original entrance are unusually

wide for the period of the 1880s.

Nos. 44-50 (no. 48 has been omitted from the street numbering system). No. 44
preserves best the original appearance of a three-house row (44-50) built by
owner-architect J. Doherty § Son in 1881-82. All the houses rctain their original
slate mansard roofs and dormers. No. 44 has typically neo-Grec ornament at the
door and window enframements with incised decoration, angular brackets, and extensivc
use of the shell motif in the lintels. A two-story oriel of seemingly later date
displays classical detail with swags, dentils, and egg and dart moldings. The
cast iron handrailing of the stoop, with its square sectioned-balusters and newel"
posts, is the same that Doherty used at No. 32. Nos. 46 and 50 now comprise the
Ardwell Apartments.

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Berkeley Place § Union Street

~ EAST SIDE (Nos. 51-71)

Seven of the nine houses on this blcckfront were built by William Gubbins,
with Charles Yerner acting as his architect. The five-house row at Nos. 51-61
" was built in 1886. These tall brownstones with high stoops are basically neo-
Grec with some Romanesque Revival detail. The prominent repetitive feature is the
full-height, three-sided bay forming an angular silhouette against the sky. Below
the roof cornice, set in the fascia, are small attic windows flanked by pilasters.
An unusual feature, similar to the Gubbins-Werner row across the street,is the
rather shallow entrance porch consisting of an extended cornice slab resting on
vertical console brackets which are supported by columns. These columns and the
pilasters of the parlor floor bay windows have crisply carved Romanesque Revival
capitals. Under the windowsills of the bay are varied fnliate decorations.
Originally there were small balconies over the cornice slabs, still retained at

No. 61,

fos. 63 and 85 are a pair of immosing four- story-brownstones, built in 1887,
which are hicher than the aﬂJacent Gubbins-"erner houses. They aro stylistically
similar to Nos. 51-61, althouch considerably more ornate. Basenent entrances
have been nrovide! JUSt below street lecvel.

Hos. 69 and 71 are twn very irmressive lirnestonc townhnuses with brown-
stone basement walls. They are a full four stories abnve hich basements and
were built in 1895-96 hy local owner-builder William Flanasan, They are good
examples of the nen-Classical style of the 1890s, best seen in the foliate
ornament with human masks above the narlor floor windows. The Union Street side
of No. 71 presents an interesting, completely symmetrical face in lioht buff-
colored brick. A shallow central bay has trinle windows, senarated by columns
at the parlor floor and grouned under a comnon enframement at the sccond.

The transition from this frame to the narrower pair of third floor windows is
nade by a carved stonc vancl with scrolled shoulders. Strons horizontal accents
are provided by bands of moldine at each floor.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 52-72)

At the corner of Berkeley Place is an outstanding mansion, Hos. 52- 54, bu11t
in 1886 for licnry E. Beguelin, a Jeweler,'W1th offlces at 24 Maiden Lane in
- New York City. (gontinued on next page)
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EIGHTH AVENUL Between Berkeley Place & Union Street

His New York architect, F. Carles Merry, incorpcrated elements of the Queen
Anne in this mansion which in its massing and form, is basically a Romanesque
Revival building. He was also the architect of No. 240 Berkeley Place adjacent
to the Beguelin house. This mansion was originally No. 52 Eizhth Avenue, but as a
result of a Christmas tree fire which caused serious damage, it was divided in
1914 by William Flanagan into two residences (Nos. 52 and 54), with separate
entrances of classical design at the basement. Originally it had a central
entrance with 2 stoop sweeping up to the front Adoorway. It displays an interes-
ting variety of building materials: Euclid stone at the basement and parlor
floor, red brick at the upper two stories, terra cotta ornament, and red Spanish
tile at the roof. The excellent mascnry was the work of James Ashfield § Son,
Brooklyn. At the corner a curved bay rises from the basement to the roofs. Each
story is defined by a different texture or design: at the basement level the
Euclid stone is laid in rough-faced random ashlar; above the parlor floor
vindows the same stone forms a checkerboard pattern; above the next floor is a
wide brick band of diagonal studding. This corner bay is tonped with a truncated,
cone-shaped tile rnof. In contrast to the treatment of the corner, the Eighth
Avenue sicde is dominated by a multi-sided bay risinc two stories above the
basement. Above the delicately ornamented terra cotta cornice of this bay is a
balustrade of Ionic dwarf columns. The Berkeley Place side of the building is a
well-executed composition, dominated by the greet chimney stack of molded brick
and the curved bay surmounted by a semi-circular, triple window. The curvilinear
wrousht iron work of the window guards at the hasement and of the low yard
railing is of excentional interest. The mansion now serves as a smqll apartment
house.

Nos. 56-62 are three neo-Grec brownstone houses built in 1885 by owner-
builder William Gubbins and desirmed by Charles Werner. They are almost identical
with their houses across the street (described under Nos. 51-61 Eighth Avenue),
except that these houses retain the balustraded balconies above the doorways.

No. 56 retains its original cast iron handrailings at the stcop and its yard rail-
ings.

Nos. 64 and 66. This masnificent pair of late Romanesque Revival townhouses,
built in 1889 for Stephen Underhill, was the work of the Brooklyn ~rchitectural
firm of the Parfitt Brothers. The architects displayed their usual skill in
design and sensitivity in the handling of materials. Although No. 64 is only
19 feet wide and Nn. 66 is 23 fect wide, one is not aware of this differcnce due
to the masterful handlinc of the proportions and fenestration nf each building.
The houses are built of Euclid stone and granite. The facing for the top two
stories and gables is rough-faced random sshlar. The bold character of the stone-
work provides an effective foil for the delicate quality of the beautifully carve?
ornament. Other unusual features are the polished osranite columns with
Romanesque Revival capitals between the windows at the top story, the L- shaped

stonps with their carved posts and the original street numbers hidden in the
crnament above the doorways.

No. 70-72. This large corner mansion at Union Street, built in 1887,
complements the mansion at the Berkeley Place corner of this blockfront. It was
huilt for Mrs. M. V. Phillips, wheo moved tn this address from 251 Washington
Avenue in Clinton Hill. The architect was L. C. Holden of New York City. An
imposing structure, such as this, was often intended to be free-standin~, surrounc-
ed by spac10us sgrounds. The building is interesting from any anrle and furnishes
a study in the massing of the Romanesque Revival style nodified by some pictu-
resque details of the Queen Annc. 7f particular note are the Jacobean gable on the
Union Street side, with the bricxworksi'nwlizin~the chimney flues. The pictu-
resque corner turret has a wide band of studded brick, repeated at the front
on the large gable above the dormer windows. The tower has terra cotta sunflower
nanels and a snub-nosed roof. Terra cotta cresting crowns the ridges of the
slate roof. Thewi'c-arche! stone entrance has now heen filled in to receive a
single door. In the years of the Depression, houses of this size were often
converted to institutional use, and this one became a bridge club and restaurant
in the early 1930s.
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EICGHTH AVENUE Between Union & President Streets

EAST SIDE (Nos. 73-93)

Nos. 73-83 (No. 79 has been omitted from the street numbering system). The
first five houses on this blockfront were designed by the Brooklyn architect
Magnus Dahlander for builder W. L, Dowling who erected them in 1892-93, These
robust brownstones are deeply set back from the street with wide L-shaped stoops
and rough-faced basements, -

The corner house, No. 73, is strongly defined with a curved corner bay
marking the transition from the front to the Union Street side,which is dominated
by a bowed central bay., Contrasting quarry and smooth-faced stone bands give the
side elevation considerable vigor., A great deal of care was also.given to the
design and texture of the corner bay, alternating smooth-faced masonry with the
rusticated base, a wide band of foliate carving with masks, simulated balconies
formed by engaged balusters, and the richly ornamented cornice: In Nos. 75 and 81,
two similar houses, the same contrasts have been worked out in the masonry inclu-
ding the decorated panels at the parlor floor windows. Shallow oriels, three win-
dows wide and extending up through the second and third stories, are supported on
elaborately carved corbels. The center house, No. 77, is handsome in its simpli-
city and has a shallow, three-story curved bay. Refined ornamental moldings en-
frame the windows and door at the parlor floor. Its role as the center house of
the row is emphasized by the use of arched windows at the top story. They are -
served by the top of the bay as a balcony with a low cast iron railing. No. 83,
the end house of the row, makes a successful transition to the earlier row of
houses to the south, It is different in design from the row of which it is a part,
but is skillfully related to it by means of an identical roof cornice. The door-
way has a vertical elegance, with cornice slab resting on elongated brackets sup-
ported on slender columns. Here, the doorway was designed to harmonize with the
adjoining earlier houses, in contrast to Nos. 73-8l, where the doorways are an
unobtrusive part of the facades,

Nos. 85-93 (No. 89 has been omitted from the street numbering system)ﬁ These
four houses, slightly taller than the neighboring row, were built by William
Gubbins in 1883, They were designed by Brooklyn architect Charles Werner and
are French neo-Grec in style with full-height, two-sided bays and stoops. This is
the only place two-sided bays appear on Eighth Avenue within the District, An
unusual feature is the battered wall panel beneath the second and third story
windows of the bays, ' Above the cornice slab of the doorway, Verner originally
used a solid parapet wall with ball finials, preserved at two of the houses,

These houses are crowned by unusua!ly handsome wood roof cornices with vertical
spindles between the panels, producing a staccato effect in contrast to the
smoother classical cornices to the north, (continued on next page)
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Union & President Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 78-90)

The blockfront between Union and President Streets is occupied entirely by
two large apartment houses, Nos. 78 and 90, both built in the 1920s,

No. 78 occupies the site of the imposing mansion built for John Rogers
Maxwell, the senior member of Maxwell & Graves, bankers and brokers, and the
president of the Atlas Portland Cement Company. The house, demolished in 1922,
had its own stable widich still stands at No. 860 Union Street, No., 78, built in
1928, is a six-story apartment house of red tapestry brick with terra cotta
~ornament, The architects, Sugarman & Berger, were inspired by the Tudor tradition.
Typical of this style are the central bay window flanked by knights in armor,

set in niches above the Tudor-style arched doorway, and the crenellations and
gables with finials at the roof, Most of the detail is concentrated in the central
bay over the deeply recessed entrance,

No., 90 was designed in 1927 by the architectural firm of Sugarman & Berger
of New York and construction was begun the following year. The ground floor, or
base, is of limestone ashlar, with buff-colored brick above and terra cotta
ornament. The terra cotta design elements are concentrated at the second and
third floors and at the top two stories. These elements consist of terra cotta
enframements, tying two floors of windows together vertically at both top and
bottom, and the panels and arches which embellish the parapet above the top floor
windows,

EIGHTH AVENUE Between President & Carroll Streets

EAST SIDE (Nos. 97-119)

Fortunately this blockfront remains intact, as it contains some of the most
notable houses on Eighth Avenue,

No. 101 (97-101) was built in 1909 for John W. Weber, President of the Ulmer
Brewing Company, and was designed by the Brooklyn architectural firm of Daus &
Otto., It is a wide rectangular corner house, approached by a low stoop, and is an
interesting example of the neo-Georgian style. There is an imposing quality in
the perfectly symmetrical character of both the avenue and street sides. The low
basement of limestone is crowned by a continuous classical wave motif molding
with bands of fascia below it, A dignified and handsomely detailed entablature
at the roof offers a pleasant contrast to the wide-jointed, Flemish bond brick-
work. Above the roof cornice there is a balustrade with panels. The windowsills
and keystones are all of limestone and the corbel blocks beneath the first floor
windowsills display guttae., The central doorway has fluted Doric columns support-
ing an entablature and is flanked by windows which have blind arches of limestone
with carved swags, The small front and side yards are enclosed by a wrought iron
fence with granite posts, and a wrought iron marquee appears above the front
entrance, The building is now the home of the Unity Club, which moved here in
1944 from the former Union League Club on Grant Square,

No. 105 (103-107), a marble mansion worthy of Fifth Avenue, was built in 1912
for M. and J. Tracy from piaus vy rrank J, Helme, a member of the firm which had
previously designed the Boathouse on the Lullwater and the Tennis Pavillion in
Prospect Park, as well as innumerable banks, The Tracy family was engaged in
lighterage in New York harbor. This building is the most notable example of a
neo-Classical townhouse in the District. It is a wide, symmetrical house with an
imposing, curved central bay resembling a two-story portico. Four fluted, modi-
fied Corinthian columns support the entablature,which has a handsome frieze with
modillions, metopes and triglyphs. The wall plane behind the central bay is
elegantly rusticated at the first two stories, extending up to the intermediate
handsome cornice, which forms the sills of the third story windows,
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Presi-lent & Carroll Streets

Above this the stonework is smooth-faced, contrasting with the rich frieze of
the roof cornice. Completing this elegant cormmosition is a balustrade with panels.
Balancing the central arch of the docrway with its conscle keystone, the flanking
parlor floor windows are recessed in shallow arches and are crowned by triangylar
nediments. The main entrance has a pair of bronze and glass doors, with arched

L]

transon above. They are of exceptionally fine quality. . " wrought iron fence
with sates encleses the front -arlen.

No. 109. This trownstone was built in 1887 for Henry Irwin. It was desicned
by Erooklyn architect J. C. Glover and is an imposinc housc in the Queen Anne
manner. A curved two-story Lay, terminated at the third floor by a triple window,
is crowned by a high sheetmetal peliment carried on brackets. This popular building
material was also use! for the unusual rnef cornice, behind the pecdiment, which
simulates a balustrade. Small lichts in the uprer sash of the windrws, a hallmark
of the Nueen Anne style, are intact at the unper stories. The dncrway and hich
L-shaped stonp are Romanesque Revival in character. Elongated, sweening conscles with
Nueen /Anne sunbursts rest on Romanesque Revival dwarf columns at the doorway, an
interesting example of the mercing of two co-existent styles.

No. 111 was erected in 1892 for F. J. Finch and was desioned hy Breoklyn
architect J. D. Reynolds. Mr. Finch mrved here from 896 Union Street in the
District. This Romanesque Revival limestcone residence, the highest in the block-
front, displays a wealth of decorative detail. It is a study in overwindow treat-
ments, varying from floor to floor. In the full-height nrojecting bay, between
blind, stene-paneled transoms, are grruned dwarf cclurmns at the parlor floer. At
the second floor, a simple egg-and-dart mnldine Jdefines the heads, while the two
top stories have a carved triangular pediment at the thir! floor and, at the
tor fleor, a pair of pilasters supporting a simple entablature. At the second
floor, ahove the basement entrance, a checkerboard pattern surrnunds a striking
arched window. A rich band of carving aprears heneath the second-story windows of
the hay.

Hos. 115-11% This imposing mansiocn at the corner of Carroll Street is very
possibl the finest example of residential architecture in the Romanesque Revival
style within the city. It was built in 1888 and designed as a double house by the
prominent architect C. P. H. Gilbert. Gilbert was the architect of most of the
houses on Montpemery Place and of many Fifth Avenue mansions in Manhattan. The
house was commissioned by Thomas Adams, Jr., the inventor of the Adams Chiclets
automatic venling machine, of nationwide fame. After the Adams Family moved to
Riverside Drive at the turn of the century, the mansion was occupied for many
years by Alvin Edgar Ivie, who married a relative of F. ¥, Wnolworth and served
for many years as a huyer and officer ~f F., . Woolworth Comnany. He was also
a director of the East Brooklyn Savings 2ank.

This truly remarkable mansion has a ricturesque massing and bnld profile,
with its corner tower, dormers and vrejecting sable-roofed bay. In the dynamic
tradition of Richardsnnian Romanesque =architecture, €. P. H. Gilkert rlayed the
elements of one elevation ajyainst the cother. The two cutstanding survivors of this
tradition, in the Pistrict, are this residence 2n? the Hulbert mansinn on Prosnect
Park Hest. The Hulbert house, designe! by Montrose V. Morris, is built of light
grey limestone, whereas the Alams hnuse is dominated by warm earth tones.
Gilkert's haniling of the masonry -- terra crtta, sandstone and salmon-colored
brick -- is masterful. Smocth Roman brick provides an effective textural contrast
to the rusticated brownstone base.

The Eighth Avenue facade, dominated by the corner tower, has 2 two-story
curve’! bay tc the left, crowne!l with an oren-work trick maranet. Set in the rusti-
catel first floor, the entrance has an arch with rouch-faced voussrirs, nerfectly
halance? hy a window to the richt which has the same arch. This Eichth Avenue
entrance to the dnuhle house served the  residence of another merber ~€f the
Adams family. John Dunbar Adams. A hinned dormer with trirle windows ahove the
curved bay nffsets and balances the dominance of the corner tower.
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EIGHTH AVENUE Detwecn President § Carroll Streets

There is near symmetry in the Carroll Street elevation, with encush difference
to make an exciting composition expressed in the subtle Jdifference between the end
towers and the pair of dormers. A dominant central hay crowned by a cable stands
between the towers. Centered in this bay is the main entrance, above a low stoon
with sweering wing-w2lls.The deep Syrian entrance arch, with swirlinc foliate
carviny, rests on clustered dwarf columns and is a masterpiece in itself. Comple-
mentine the dignified entrance is the trinle window above it, enframed hy a wide
band utilizing the same swirling leaf nattern, and supported con unusual columns
with basketwnrk canitals. At the third floor, a pair of bread windows are defined
by arches formed by brick headers and nrofiled in terra cotta. The arches also rest
on clusters of dwarf columns. Foliate carving again annpears at the neak of the
gable, under which a group of four narrow windows llvhts the attic story. The corner
tower, in its rrominent mosition, has an interesting shape --round at the first
f1nror an! nolyocnal above, with a hish octagonal tile roof. The open-work brick
balceny, attached to the east 51de of the tower, creates a dominant horizontal
at the third flcor. The angularity of the polyconal pertion of the tower is
accentuated by ornamental string courses. At the first floor all windows have stone
transom bars, an! the transoms abnve them contain stained glass of exceptional
quality. East of the house, extendins alons Carrnll Street, is a lrvely garden wall

with sandstcne nosts an? square, ~rnamental wrought iron »nanels l:etween -them.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 100-118)

No. 100 is a six-story apartment house in buff-colored brick, built in
1949-50. It replaced the Lewis Luckenbach mansion, designed by Montrose W. Morris,
which once stood here in spacious grrunds. The Luckenbachs were in the shipning
business, with piers in Brocklyn. In contrast tc the tall, ornate apartment
house across the street, this building is severely simple, relying for its
interest on its curved bays with ribbon windows rather than on any applied
architectural detail. It was built for the De Dreis Estates by architect
M. E. Ungarleider.

The elegant pair of limestone townhouses at Nos. 106 and 108 were built in
1909 by cwner-builder Louis Bonert, cf 487 Fourth Street in the District. His
architect was Thomas Eennett of Drooklyn. Like many impressive residences ~n the
Upper East Side of Manhattan at the turn of the century, these houses attest tc
the strength of the French Renaissance traliti~n and Beaux Arts influence in this.
country. A wealth of decoration embellishes the faca'es of the three-story howed
fronts, crowned by handsome balustrades, contrastine with the simnle recesse? rlane
of the fourth story, surmocuntel by copper cornices with conscle brackets.
Festooned garlands flank the carved entab1atures of the central entrances, which
rise a2 few steps above the strect and contnin handsome ¢lass dnors with wrnuqht
iron grilles. The ornate quality of these rarlands is set off by the elerant
simmlicity of the Francnls I lozenres in the pilasters of the rarlor floor.
Panels with richly carved ornament heneath an! hetween the winlews draw the eye tn
the third floor.

No. 118. A red trick apartment house of eleven stories, at the corner of
Carroll Street, towers above the surrounting townhouses Bersun in 1936 for the
Carroll Eighth Hclding Corporation, it was desicned by M, E. Uncarleider, the
same architect as No. 100. It was erccted on the site of the larze, impesing
' Romanesque Revival mansion desipmed by C. P. H. Gilbert for F. ". Hanan, a
althy shoe manufacturer, The present kuwTﬁwﬂn has a <imple stone 4nﬂrw“y with n

IR Lo

“broken’’ nediment and urn in the neo-Genrgian tradltlnn. Steel casenment w1n'ﬂws,
so popular with builders in the 1930s, are used throuchout.
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Carrcll Street § Montgomery Mlace

EAST SIDE (Nos. 123-135)

This is a short blockfront;y little more than half the usual two hundred feet,
because it is interrupted on the east side of Eishth Avenue by Montgonery Place,
which is only cne block long.

¥n. 123, the handsome nen-Classical residence 2t the corner, was huilt in
1894 and desipned by Montrose W. Merris for Mrs. L. K. Greenman. At that time
there was a burgeoning interest in classical forms. and near-monochromatic cnlor
schemes for huildings. This residence, constructed of off-white Rrman brick with
limestone and matching terra cotta trim, has been hanlled with elegant restraint.
Great attention was peid to detail, most effectively concentrated at the cdignified
entrance, crowned Ly an arched tympanum Jisplaying Renaissance motifs and carried
on commosite columns. Bencath it is a frieze with anthemion decoration extending .
acr~ss the Eighth Avenue front and around the corner aleng the Carroll Street
side. At the left of the entrance, a pair of windows at the parlor and second
flocrs are hanlsomely set off by columns and pilasters, giving the composition the
cffect of a shallow bay. The enframements of the attic story windows have classical
“ears’ at all four corners. The roof cornice has a convex (pulvinated) frieze with
1 houn! narland motif, proviling an appropriate crowning member. A handsome, low
wrought iron fence encloses the preoperty and! terminates 2t the low limestone stoop.

The two neipghboring townhouses, Nos. 123A and 125, were built in 1902 by the
local architect-builder Peter Cnllins. These elecant houses are hoth ~f limestcne
and, stylistically, are French Beaux Arts of the Eclectic period. Buildings similar
to these may still be seen in upper Manhattan, but these are among the few of this
style in the District. There is preat verve in.the carved stone ornament, which
seems to literally "orow” nut of the material of the walls and gives these houses
a lively, three-dimensional quality. The:most notable features of No. 123A are its
tall mansard roof and its highly ornamented, c¢entral stone oriel at the secend
fleor. This and the three windows above it are flanked by twe-story rusticated
nilasters at the corners. It is the dominant house of the pair and contrasts with
the quiet elezance of No. 125. Here, the rusticated walls of the first story
“nrovide a foil for the smooth wall surfaces of the two uprer steries. There is a -
Parisian elesance.in the pair of arched windows.at the second story, embellished
with rarlands which cascade down from the projecting sills of the windrws above.
801d roof cornices, ‘suprorted nn Lrackets isplaying ruttae, have parapets of
stonc akove them which are a2 unifyine element for these twn handscme buildinos.

Mo. 135. This ner-Federal brick residence with stone trim was built in 1910
ang is enterel at No. 1 Montrmmery Place, where it is described. 2 two-car rsarage
tetween Nos. 125 and 135 was recently luilt in what was once @ charming garden
encleosed by a hich iren fence.

EIGHT!! AVENUE Betwcen Montoomery Place & Garfield IMlace

EAST SIDE (Nos. 143-165)

No. 143 (143-153) is a larce frur-story apartment house occunyins over half
the blockfront. It was built in 1910-11 for Gecree E. Lovett and was desimned by
Montrese Y. Morris. It has red and cream-colored brick with terra cotta trirm and a
rusticated limestone first story, similar to Nn. 10 Montocmery Place arnund the
corner, alsn built from nlans by the same architect. The first story is very Beaux
Arts in feeling with its central arched entrance and wide-arched louble windows,
which have curved transom bars and circles atove them. The windows at the second
an third stories, serarated by ornamented panels, are unified by common enframe-
ments with console keystones and have wroucht iron balconies at the second story.
Cream-cclnred brick qunins above the first story define the cnds of the bhuildine.
A continucus roof crrnice, with nz2ire’ console brackets and modillions, lends
Aimnity t~ this building.
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Montgomery Place & Garfield Place

A simple classical doorway separates the apartment house from the imposing
Temple Beth Elohim, erected in 1909-10 from plans of 1908 by Simon Eisendrath in
association with B, Horwitz. Because of the diagonal corner entrance of the templs,
the building is pentagonal in plan, perhaps symbolizing the Pentateuch. The corner
is further emphasized by a large dome with lantern set on a polygonal drum above
the entrance., Approached by a three-sided stairway, the entrance is flanked by a
pair of colossal Ionic columns in antis, and surmounted by an arched pediment with
modillions, Subordinate to this, the triple entrance doors have a central double
door with triangular pediment, surmounted by a great stained glass window, similar
to t he round-arched windows in the side facades, The symmetrical side elevations,
radiating from the diagonal corner entrance, are identical with a wide pedimented
central bay crowning an arched stained glass window, flanked by subordinate
windows with arched pediments. The dentiled roof cornice at the sides is modulated
to modillions above the diagonal main entrance to accord with its great scale.

A low stone parapet rises above the roof cornice. On both sides of the temple a

pipe railing features the Menorah, or seven-branched candelabrum, & symbol of
Chanukah,

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Carroll Street & Garfield Place

WEST SIDE (Nos. 130-166)

No. 130, an unadorned brick apartment house, was built in 1950 for the Park
Carroll Corporation and was designed by architect Rollin A. Caughey. The first
floor has smooth white stone facing with brick above. Each end is chamfered and
has corner windows, typical of the period., The palatial Romanesque Revival Feltman
mansion, designed by Montrose W. Morris, was originally located on this corner,
Charles L. Feltman was the inventor of the American "hot-dog-on-a-bun" of Coney
Island fame, and Montrose W, Morris was the most popular architect among the
wealthy residents on The Slope.

No. 140, built by the Garfield Construction Corporation, is located on the
site of the Feltman garden. It was erected in 1935-36 of brick with an Art Deco
entrance in a recessed central section. The architect, Martyn N. Weinstein,
has effectively contrasted the orange-colored brick with the limestone trim. The
smooth vertical of the walls is further contrasted with horizontal brick band-
courses between the steel casements at the corners,

Nos. 152-156 were built in 1889 by owner-architect William Flanagan as three
identical brownstone residences., They are four-story brownstones above a full
basement story. Polygonal masonry bays, with molded cornices at each floor,
extend from the basement to the roof crnices ard the first story windows all
have transom bars. The differences in the style of their basement entrances
are due to later alterations; Nos. 154 and 156 are interesting expressions of the
Art Deco style,

No. 162 (Nos. 162-166), "The Belvedere" is a buff-colored, Roman brick
apartment house with limestone base and trim. It was built in 1903 for Peter Lar-
sen as part of a complex including Nos. 253-261 Garfield Place, all designed by New
York architect Henry Pohlman., The front of the Belevedere shows a well-balanced
four-story building with curved corner bays and a central entrance porch, in the
neco-Classical tradition, approached by a low stoup. & turn-of-the-century classi-
cal roof cornice crowns the entire group of apartment houses,
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EIGHTH AVENUE Betwcen Garfield Place § First Street

EAST SIDE (Nos. 169-193)

The Temple House, No. 175 (Nos. 169-177), was built in 1928 and designed by
architects Mortimer Freechof and David Levy. Constructed of pre-cast stone in a
warm range of buffs and erays, this four-story building is an effective foil for the
stark grandeur of the synagogue across the street. In its fenestration it is neo-
Romanesque. Texture is created through the use of symbolica ornament at the balco-
nies, windows, doors, and roof parapet. The balconies lend added depth to the
recessed entrances beneath them. One of the most interesting features, reflectinc
the Art Deco style cf the period, is the ficure of Moses and the Tahlets of the
Law, emrchasizing the corner of the roof pararet. The detail of the Garfield Place
facade is almost identical to that on Eishth Avenue.

Nos. 181 and 183. Architect Albert E. Parfitt, the youngest partner of the
architectural firm, Parfitt Brothers, designed these two residences for the John
Assip Company. They are three-story limestone houses, built in 1502. No. 181
has a full-height, three-sided mascnry bay offering a contrast to the two-sided
bay at No. 183. The entrancc doorways are paired and are approached by adjoining
low stoops with a common winr-wnll between them. The ornament of these houses
is generally neo-Classical. Sheetmetal roof cornices display a floral motif at
No. 181 and a Greek fret motif at No. 183.

No. 189. "The Astor® is a four-story apartment house built in 1906 for the
Lester Realty Company an! desisned by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. This
building is typical of many apartment houses erected in the District after the turn-
of-the-century. They are well scaled, with a restrained handling of architectural
detail and are harmonious with the adjoinine private resicdences on the side streets.
The entrance of this building is recessed between curved en” bhays. It has a
classical porch with polished, gray granite Ionic cclumns, surmounted by a
balustrale. There is apleasiny contrast between the anothlimestone’faciﬂg of
the cround floor and the banded, salmon-colored Roman brickwrrk nf the upper
stories. Horizontal emphasis is achieved by the use of ‘limestone bandcourses at
‘windowsill level which unify the long facade on First Street with the Eighth
Avenue front. Round-arched windows lend distinction to the fourth story which is.
crowned by a sheetmetal cornice with swags and console brackets.

YIEST SIDE (Nos. 174-190)

Nos. 174 and 176 are nec-Renaissance linestcne residences built in 1909.

. Most »f the handsome carved ornament is concentrated above the entrances and the
sinply enframed windows at the parlor flcors. The center parlor floor window of
No. 176 has a round medallion with a basketweave pattern set off by laurel branches.
Deep cornices, with a series of conscle brackets over dentils and frieze, unify

the two houses. No. 174 has a hedge-enclosed garden on the vacant corner 1ot at
Garfield Place.

Nos. 178-184. The next row of four Nomanesque Revival. brownsteone houses were
built in 1893 by architect-owner Frederick J. Griswold, of 497 First Street in the
Historic District. He also built other hruses in the District, incluling Nos. 238-
294 Garfield Tlace and houses on First Street -- all in the same style. Incised
scrrll desians in wide panels at the top story,. between arched windows, are
reniniscent of the earlier nen-Grec ornament. At ceach house, the low wall of the
balustrade, above the second story bay window, consists of a scries of unusual
Awarf columns with block-like plinths anl ‘capitals. An interesting feature is
the use of carved pilasters at the upper twc stories, defining the 2dges of these
facades. Beneath the ornately carved corbels of the bays are deer brackets, sunrort-
on three-quarter engaged columns at the parlor floor. The arched entrances are
apnrnached by L-shaped stoops.
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Garfield Place § First Street

Nos. 186-190. These three picturesque houses, inspired by the French
Renaissance tradition of Frangois I, were built in 1897-98 for owner-architect
William J. Dilthey, who lived at 315 Jay Street, Brnoklyn, and had offices cn
Union Square, Manhattan. They were designed as a uniform row to which the pic-
turesque gables gave definition. The white Roman brick, echoed by the limestone
houses at the other end of the blnckfront, provide o fine contrast tc the brown-
stone row between them. :Tall doorways, crowned: by cartouches, are aprrrached by
steen stoops above rusticated limestone basements. These doorways and the windows
are enframed by ornamented terra cotta. Crowning the facades are stee» gables with
elaborate finials, containine trirle windows with Renaissance fioures carve’ in the
ranels of the mullions.  Abnve them, a concave oval shell lends dramatic emnhasis.
The corner house. No. 190, is now entered at basement level an! has a vellow brick
thir? story and narapet replacino the slate ronf and gsable.

EIGHTH AVEMUE Letween First § Second Streets

EAST SIDE (Mos. 195-215)

This blockfront presents a unified group of apartment buildings designed in the
.Classical tradition ponular at the turn-of-the-century. The unity is achieved
throuch renetition of the curved bays flanking the central classical porches, the
arched windows at the fourth stories, and roof cornices of identical design.
Full-heicht, multi-side! bays at the end buildings, and their added height,
effectively terminate the blockfront. i

No. 195, with its main cntrance at 530 First Street, was built in 1506 for
Thomas Corrigan and desipgned by George F. Roosen. Nos. 199-211, erected in
1905-06, were cesigned by architect Henry Pohlman for Corrisan & Johnson cf
456 Seventh fAvenue, south of the District. No. 215 , with its main entrance at
573 Second Street, was built in 1905 for Corrigan § Jchnson and also designed by
Henry Pohlman. This building was abandcned for a lono time and, throush neichbor-
hood efforts, was rehatilitatel in 1066G.

WEST SIDE (Mos. 156-216)

The blockfront between First and Second Streets 'is evenly diviled tetwsen
limestone and br~wnstone frrnts.

Mos. 196 an? 198. four stories high above basements, were built in 1899 by
nwner-architect-builder Peter Collins, wh~ lived at 67 Clermont Avenue in nearby
Fort Greene. The dignified limestone fronts with three-story masonry bays, “isplay
an interesting juxtapcsition of classical and Romanesque Revival ornament. Ne. 196
is entirely classical in its detail. Approached by an L-shaped stoop with lions!
heads, it has a2 pedimented doorway with central cartocuche in the entablature,
which is supported on consnle brackets. The roof cornice above the fourth story
windows is unusual in having classical rosettes between the consnle hrackets.

At No. 198 the original deorway, now a window, has a prominent Romanesque arch, carve
with foliate pattern, springing from paire? engaged colunns. The parlor floor bay
windows have stone transcm bars and there are Romanesaue Revival arched windows at
the fourth floor.

Nos. 200-204 were built in 1C22 as a row by owner-architect Jeremiah Gillisan
~f 545 First Strcet in thc Historic District. It is evident in these hnuses that
Gilliran repeated the designs of Collins' a?jrining pair. Nos. 200 and 204 Aisplay
the classical detail of Mo. 196, while No. 202 recalls the Romanesque of No. 198,
The houses are, however, one full story lower than Ccllins' pair. Nos. 200 and 202
have a very low attic flcor, and Mo. 204 has a steep slate roof with trirle, pedi-
mented dormer window added in 1905. An interesting feature at No. 204, now
entered at the basement, is the oval window within a richly decnrate? enframement
at the second story.
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between First & Second Streets

Nos, 206-216 (No. 210 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
Jeremiah Gilligan built this row of neo-Renaissance brownstones in 1894. It has
two-story, curved masonry bays, of which two are constructed of limestone, an
unusual feature. Attenuated, engaged colonettes flank the two story bays. At the
ccrner of Second Street, the row terminates in a full-height bay, with a striking
window enframement at the second story, crowned by a conical roof creating the
effect of a tower. A variety of carved floral and animal themes are interestingly
introduced into the ornament from house to house. There is a delightful squirrel
carved in the band below the sillcourse of the second story at No. 212, The
doorways, -approached by L-shaped stoops, are surmounted by panels flanked by
colonettes with finials. The double doors at No. 206 have beautifully carved
panels with bird motifs. At the second story, above the doorways, are high-silled
windows of a type often introduced at this period. The roof cornices have classi-
cal swags unifying the row. No. 216 serves as the rectory of the Church of the
Virgin Mary across the street, . ; ;

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Second & Third Streets
EAST SIDE (Nos. 217-227)

The corner four-story apartment house, No. 217 Eighth Avenue, is entered at
582 Second Street, and is one of three similar apartment buildings erected in 1909
for Thomas G, -Carlin, Inc., of 297 Garfield Place, and designed by Brooklyn
architect Thomas Bennett. Unlike the mass.produced character of so many of the
multiple dwellings of the period, these three buildings have a distinctly conti-
nental flavor, Built in a pleasing co bination of limestone and cream-colored
brick, they have elegant rusticated walls at the first floor, crowned by a Greek
fret bandcourse, The handsome emtrance porches are likewise classical in
character. A transition to the more Renaissance character of the upper stories is
" provided by the console bracket keystones above the first floor windows. The tall
double windows at the second story have been emphasized with segmental-arched
pediments carried on brackets, with central cartouches, adding dignity to this
floor, The wrought iron balconies at the fourth story and the modillioned and
dentiled roof cornice, carried on end brackets, are further distinctive features,

(The apartment house at the northeast corner of Third Street is outside
the Historic District.)

(The two blockfronts between Third and Fifth Streets are also outside the
Historic District.)

WEST SIDE (Nos. 218-234)

No. 218, The Church of the Virgin Mary, of the Byzantine Melkite Rite,
stands at the southwest corner of Second Street. It was built in 1903-04 and
designed by architects George . Kramer and C. C, Hamilton, of New York, for the
Park Congregational Church. Since 1952 it has served the present congregation.
Completely filling its site, the church has a modified cruciform plan with a
ridged slate roof running the length of the nave, Its powerful asymmetry relies
on volume, massing and the tall corner tower, In its broad treatment, it is neo-
Romanesque, The austere sirplicity of its design is enriched by the texture and
warm color of its granite. Rough-hewn blocks are laid in a random ashlar pattern
and represent a masterful use of materials. The east end of the shallow gabled
transept is dominated by a large arched window with stained glass. Beneath it is
a bank of windows, which together with the larger window above, form a complete
unit of deisgn. Complementing the east transept is a smaller gabled bay at the
south end which repeats its theme. The corner tower, crowned by a pyramidal roof,
has a belfry with large Romanesque arched openings, each with a drip moulding,
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Second & Third Streets

On the Second Street side, the tower has three tall, slender openings, reinforced
by horizontal stonework at the third points, which pierce the stone wall. The
apsidal gable of this facade shelters a large round-arched window with quatrefoil
tracery. ' ' . M

No. 234, the last building in the District on the west side of Eighth Avenue,
occupies the south half of the blockfront below the church.. It was built in 1913
and designed by the well-known ‘architect Aymar Embury, 132 Madison Ave., New York,
as a private residence for Charles F, Neergaard., His grandfather, John W. Neer-

gaard, was a founder of the New York College of Pharmacy. The House is neo-
Federal in style and introduces a notably suburban quality which contrasts with the
very urban character of the rest of the Historic District. Built of dark red
brick, with a slate shingled roof, it has neo-Federal trim, painted white, In
keeping with its character, the central emtrance porch has delicately proportioned
paired columns, and all the windows have shutters. There is a simple fanlight over
the entrance door and this motif is repeated in the three peaked dormer windows,

A high wrought iron railing separates the house and its grounds from the street,

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Fifth & Sixth Streets

EAST SIDE ONLY (Nos. 501-519)

This entire blockfront is an architectural unit, with its four-story apartment
houses arranged with paired doorways and straight stoops. It was built in 1909-10
for Nathan and Leo N. Levy and was designed by Brooklyn architect William Debus,
who also worked in Stuyvesant Heights Historic District. With their flush facades
of Roman brick, they are unified at first floor level by alternating bands of
limestone and buff-colored brick and by modillioned roof cornices. The openings
are all square-headed, except at the third floor, where the windows are surmounted
by curved blind arches of stone set on diminutive corbel blocks. The entrance
porches, carried on columns with low balustrades above the entablatures, give the
buildings a neo-Classical flavor. The end house at the south, No. 519, is slightly
higher than the rest of the row, with a raised stoop and roof cornice. Its facade
on Sixth Street is quite similar to that of No. 501 at the north end of the row
facing Fifth Street.

(The blockfronts between the south side of Sixth Street and a point mid-way
 between Ninth and Tenth Streets are outside the District.)

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Ninth & Tenth Streets

EAST SIDE ONLY (No, 917)

No. 917, 2 fbur-stofy residence at the northeast corner of Tenth Street, has
its principal entrance at Nos, 631-633 Tenth Street, where it is described.

(The blockfronts between the south side of Tenth Street and a point mid-way
between Eleventh and Twelfth Streets are outside the Historic District.)

EIGHTH AVENUE Between Eleventh & Twelfth Streets

EAST SIDE ONLY (Nos. 1113-1123)

(The north half of the blockfront is outside the Historic District.)

Nos. 1113-1123, This row of four apartment houses was built in 1898 for
Thomas Holt, who lived just south of the District, and designed by Brooklyn
architect Thomas Bennett. (continued on next page)
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Eleventh § Twelfth Streets

Although the buildings are only four stories high, the full-height curved bays,
flanking the central .rtroicaes, cive on irmhressi n of sreat verticality. They

are c-nstructels of buff-colored brick (Nos. 1115 and 1117) and red brick (Nos 1121
and 1123). Horizontal stone bandcourses serve as impost blocks for the window
lintels at the upper flcors. The doorways, with their entablatures supported on
brackets above columns, and the bold roof enrnices, supported on console brackets
with ornamental friezes below, give these apartment houses a generally neo-
Classical apnearance, although the curved bays rccall the earlier Romanesque

Revival. The entrances are approached by low stoops with masonry wing-walls. The
buildins at the south end of the row, No. 1123 (No. 471 Twelfth Strcet), is c-nsi’cr-
a-1y narrower than the others and has a round tower which is located at the corner.
These anartment houses are similar to others‘by Bennett on Eleventh ~n’ "walfth
Streets.

EIGHTH AVENUE Retween Twelfth § Thirteenth Strects

EAST SIDE ONLY (Nos. 1201-1215)

. Nos. 1201 and 1203. These two apartment houses are almost identical with

Nos. 1113-1123. They were also built for Thomas Holt, but three years later, in
1901. Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett also designed them, thus accounting for
their similarity. No. 1201 is entered at No. 468 Twelfth Street, where a low
columnar entrance porch is aoprﬂached by steps from both sides whlch are parallel
to the building.

Nos. 1205-1215. With the excention of the s-uthornmost *uillin-, (. 1215),
these anartment houses are quite similar to Nos. 1201 and 1203 in the same
blockfront. They were built in 1900 by owner-architect William Musgrave Calder,
who built s~ =any ~f thc rosi’cnées ~n Thirtconth Stract an' whe was Superin- ..
tendent of the Brooklyn Buildings Department from 1902-03. Although they have
full-height, curved bays flankinog the central entrances and almnst identicnl
classical cornices with swags on the friezes, they differ in that the horizontal
stone bandcourses run straight across the windowheads, serving as lintels, and the
doorways have 'broken' entablatures with the cornices arched at the centers.

These are carried on stone brackets sct in the brickwork which frame the donorways.
The corner anartment house presents 2 flush front to Eighth Avenue but has a
curved corner bay. It is of interest to note that here Calder partially revived
Bennett's schene fron the other end of the blockfront, using bandcourses as imnost
blocks for the windew lintels at the second and fourth floors..The first flocr is
used commercially, serving the adjacent neighborhood.

EIGHTH AVENUE REetween Thirteenth § Fourteenth Streets

EAST SIDE ONLY- (N&éS:-1301-1323)

Nos. 1301-1323. This entire blockfront is nccupied by the John W. Kimball
School (P.S. No. 107) and its grounds. This handsome T-shaped brick schoolhouse
was built by P.J. Carlin & Company in 1894 for the Toard of Education and was
designed, in a basically late Romanesque Revival style, by architect J. M. Naughton.

"The Eighth Avenue elevation is divided intoc five bays: a ceatral prcjecting bay,
containing the arched entrance and crowned by a high brick gable, flanked by bays
in the main wall plane of the building, 2nd terminated at each end by projecting
navillinns. The brick is rusticated at the first story and is carried around the
north end onto Thirteenth Street. Except for the front gable and the rear wing,
the roof is hipped. The top floor windows of the front and ends are arched with
continuous drip moldings crowning the tops of the arches. The front gable is
cnhanced by a Palladian type window, detailed in a Romanesque manner, and is
flanked by small pedimented dormer windows. (continued on next page)
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EIGHTH AVENUE Between Thirteenth & Fourteenth Streets

The cl~sc snaciny ~f the windows at the upper floor gives the necessary light for
the school building. The school has yards on three sides with the principal one,
a playground at the south side, extending through to Fourteenth Street.

PROSPECT PARK WEST

The grand sweep of Prospect Park West, magnificently situated opnosite the
rark, extends from Grand Army Plaza to Bartel Pritchard Square--almnst a mile--and
nrovides one of the most beautiful vistas in the city. This fine examrle of urban
nlanning was a result of the vision of Frederick L7 Olmsted and Calvert Vaux, who
laid out Prospect Park. The substitution nf their 1866-67 nlan for the earlier plan
by Eghert L. Viele led tn the creation of a monumental plaza at the northern end,
now known as Grand Army Plaza, and the exransion of the hounlaries of the park:
westward to Ninth Avenue, now Prospect Park West, and southward to Fifteenth Street,
the present Bartel Pritchard Square an! Prospect Park Southwest. Ninth Avenue was
nfficially renamed Prospect Park West in 1895, when grand resi-lences in the Fifth
‘Avenue tradition were just beginning to spring un along its northern portion. This
section of The flope, including Prosmect Park West, Plaza Street and Ei~hth Avenue,
hecame known as 'The Gold Coast".

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between President & Carrcll Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 13-17)

- (The northern part of this blockfront is outside the Histeric District.)

Nos. 13 ant 15. The first tho houses in the District, on Prosnmect Park Yest,
are examples of the neo-Tudor style which was so popular after World War I. They
were built as a pair in 1919 for Yalter Xraslow and were desiened by Brooklyn
architect William T. McCarthy. A central Tudor archway lea’s t~ the rear courtyard
and carape area. Ahove the archway, a horizontal mini-balustrade of limestone ties
these gabled houses t~rether. Heraldic animals surmount nlinths above the stone
balustrade. Laid in Flemish bond brickwork with limestone trim, No. 13 is
unnltered, with its original doorway and! mullicned windows, unified by continuous
Arip moldings at second and third floors.

Nos. 16 and 17. These two onulent limestcone residences, desisned by the
rrominent Brocklyn architect Montrose . Morris, were built in 1899 for
caruel Goodstein. &Grand residences such as these are fine examnles of the neo-
Classical style that swent the country after the Chicaro Exposition of 1893,
Althoursh rich and elesant in detail, they arc nevertheless subtly discinlined and
serene in their design. The prototypes for these houses also inspired more modest
versions in limestone, which nroliferated along the blecks adjoinins Trosrect Park
West at the turn-of-the-century. NMNo. 16 displays a restrained use of the Ionic
nsrder enframing the doorway and second story windows. The windows with stone
transom bars at all floors are unusual in a classically inspired buildinc such as
this. A graceful, tall wrought iron railing separates the house from the street.
The common pitch of the tile roofs unifies these two houses, as do rcof cornices
and the window alignments at all floors. At the first floor of No. 17 the
architect has masterfully solved the problem of maintaining symmetry by the use of
equal-sized triple arches, which include two windows and the.door. Like No. 16,.
this house has a low stoon, flanked by wing-walls, here embellished with inverse,
carved console brackets. (¢ ntinuc® ~n rext —a~e)
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Detween President § Carroll Streets

At the second floor a shallow swell-front bay with three curved nlate glass windows,
separated by pilasters, is crowned by a low talustraded balcony which serves a '
handsome loogia with Ionic columns at the third floor. The Carroll Strect elevation
echoes many of the same themes, while the bold projection of the roof cornice, which
is returned at the side, recalls an Italian palazzo.

PROSPECT PARK MWEST Detween Carroll Street § Montcomery Place

WEST SIDE (Nos. 18-25)

Nes. 18 and 19. At the southwest corner of Carroll Street and Prospect Park
West are a matching pair of neo-Italian Nenaissance limestone residences, built in 1
1898 for Sylvester Ross and also designed by Montrose W. Morris. They complement
the pair on the northwest corner--providing an imnosing entrance to Carroll Street.
The first floors are emphasize? by rustication. The arch of a fine Palladian
window accords with the arch of the entrance doorway at each house, where the
rustication is carried over to form the voussoirs of the arches. Fluted Ionic
pilasters, set against quoins, extend up throuch the two upper stories. The glass
and bronze canopy with anthemion cresting over the entrance of No. 18 has a
Parisian elegance, with matching handrailino above the flared wing-walls of a gra-
cinus low stoop. The wing-walls are repeated at No. 19. Tnalustraded balconies
above the PMalladian windows serve the second floor windows. An effective unity
~is achieved through the use of a sincle, unbroken tile roof. An extraordinarily
handsome, hich wroucht iron railing, supported by openwork newel-type nosts, coes
from the front of No. 18 around to the Carrcll Street side.

No. 20, a brick and limestone residence, was built in 1900-01 for Jercme
Levine. It was desicned by Alfred Freeman in basically neo-Federal style with
tall French windows at the second fleoor. McKim, Mead and White played a nrominent
rnle in the revival of this style, which they were using in the 1890s. The red
brick is set in Flemish bond with glazed headers. Carved pancls above the second
floor windows have urns and garlands in low relief. The urn motif is repeated in
the ironwork of the balconies and the entrance door with its fanlight. Ahove the
dentiled roof cornice is a steep slate roof with arched copper dormers.

No. 22. This handsome neo-Classical house is the work of Montrose W. Morris
and was commissioned by E. L. Snyder in 1899. 1In this residence of pristine
limestone with a striking red tile roof, the precision of the absolutely symmetrical
Jesign is immediatecly armarent. The only off-set element is the entrance doorway,
vhere the symmetry has aga2in been maintaine? by the use of equal-sized triple arches,
separated by Ionic pilasters at the first flocr level. At the second floor, hand-
somely pedimented windows with shell motifs flank an unusually wide central plate
glass window, enframed by pilasters and an entablature, with balustraded balcony
Leneath it. Wide quoins extend throuph the second and third stories. The small
"eared™ windows of the third story are carefully rclatced to those beneath. The roof
cornice is crowned by a steep tile roof with a »edinented dermer window. '

Nos. 24 and 25. In striking contrast to the adjoining houses is this pair,with
yellow Roman brick, limestone base and trim, and red tile roof. They were built at
the turn-of-the-century, and were first occupied in 1901 by William G. Gilmore at
Mo. 24 and by Desmond Dunne, an advertising executive, at No. 25. 1In their color,
textural contrasts and picturesque massine, they are reminiscent of the Romanesque
Revival. Classical influence may be secn in a Greek fret molding, which ties the
two buildinrs together above the first floor windows, repeated in larcer scale as
the enframement for the seccond floor windows at Ne. 24; a beautiful anthemion and
palmette frieze appears at the second flonor cornice just beneath the pitched tile
roof, Contributing to the picturesque effect of the pair is the polysonal tower
at the left side of No. 25, crowned by a steep tile roof. A balustraded balcony
crowns the curvel cne-stery bay window and there is an elegant wrought iron and
class front door at No. 24,
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PROSPECT PARK WEST RBetween Carrnll Street & Montgomery Place

(The rest of the blockfront to the Montmomery llace corner is not incluted in
the Historic District.)

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Montgomery "lace & fGarfitl' Nlace

"WEST SIDE (Nos. 28-32)

No. 28. At thc socuthwest corner of Prospect Park West and Monteomery Place
stands one of the fine mansions of Park Slope, built in 1901 for Horace Pratt, of
884 Carroll Street. It was designed by Doston architect Charles Dricham, of
Sturpis & DRrigham, a Boston firm best known for their masnificent Albert C. Burrage
mansion on Commonwealth Avenue. The Pratt house, although smaller in scale and less
elaborate than some of the other mansions, has interesting detail and a quiect dirnity
of its own. The picturesque roofline with its steep sables is in striking contrast
to the reposeful quality of the smooth walls. Despite its basically French
Renaissance character and ornamentation, this house displays some arched windows
in the Romanesque Revival tradition. The Indiana limestone walls have a hammered
surface and display some fascinating sculptural inventions: esrotesque animals,
human masks, stone relief panels, and heraldic animels serving as finials. Tell
masonry chimneys, flanking the central gable above the twn-story bay on Montgomery
Place, give dramatic vertical emphasis. Two Flemish dormers at each side of this
gable lend a highly ornamental quality. Crowning the curved two-story bay at the
front is a steep rable with ~ fallalian win'ow. 1\ fancifull tall lormer wintow; to
the left of the gable, has a copper finial. A deeply recessed arched doorway is
surmounted by a balcony with richly ornamented panels and rampant lions. This
residence is best appreciated from across the avenue wherc both elevations may be
seen at once.

Nos. 29 and 31, constructed in 1919, are a pair of tax-exemnt bhuildings,
erected at a time when the City wished to encourase new construction. These red
brick buildings laid up in Flemish bond, built for Walter Kraslow and desipgned by
[ronklyn architect W. J. McCarthy, are neo-Federal. Typical of this style are the
muntined arched windows, stone pancls with swags and the arched dormer windows in
the steeply pitched roof. The splayed flat arches of the secon?d story windows with
keystones recall Georgian Trecedent and arce tynical of the combination of styles
used so freely by architects at this period. Tuilt as a unit, they share a low
arched entrance to garages at the rear, similar to the arrangement at Nos. 13 and
15.

No. 32. This rupced Romanesaue Revival house, Mr. 32 was huilt in 1888 as a
companion to Ne. 33 (since razed) for Frank Squier, a paper merchant in New York
and a Drooklyn Park Commissioner. It was desicned by Creoklyn architect
Genrge . Charnell. The walls are of rough-faced lelleville trownstone combined
with brickwork at the upper floors. The twe materials are harmonious in color.
The house is anprrached by an impressive L-shaped stoon, which leads up to a deenly
recessed arched docrway enframed by a brecad band of carve! ornament carried on
naneled pilasters. Stone transom bars give articulation to the windows at both
stories of the three-siled bay. The steerly nitched brick a2ble, with two arched
windows and an arched slct winlow, is delineatel by a keyed stone coping which is
swent un at the top to form a finial.

(The remainder of this street and the

blockfront between Garfield Place and
First Street arc cutsidc the Historic District.)

q
J.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Detween First § Second Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 48-57)

No. 49 (48-51). The monumental stone mansion at 49 Prospect Park West -- the
Hulbert house, now the Crooklyn Ethical Culture School -- is the most imposing
survivor of the many free-standing mansicons that were once prominently featured
along I'rosnect Park West. It was built for Henry Carlton Hulbert (1831-1912), noted
financier anc¢ industrialist who was in the parer suprly husiness and sat on the
boards of countless prominent companies, including the New York Life Insurance §&
Trust Company and the Pullman Talace Car Company of Chicarn., He called up~n the
nrominent [Erooklyn architect Montrose ¥W. Morris to design a residence which wouldl
fittingly symbolize his successful carcer. The mansion, built in 1892, is an out-
stan'ing examnle of the Romanesque Revival style. Many of its elements were un-
dnubtedly inspired by the work of Henry Hobson Richardson, but were combined in a
quite original way. One cf the most dramatic features »f the mansirn is its
. micturesque castellated profile at the skyline, crecated by the penetration of the
roofline by bays, towers, sables, dnrmer windows, and tall chimneys arrar-ed in the
vertical clusters representincs the flues within. The entire buildins is given
coherence by the use of a whitish--ray 1limestone -- an unusual material for the
Romanesque Revival. The darker sray slate of the tall roofs differ only slichtly
in color. Even the limestone retaining walls along the sidewalk are a carefully
consilered continuation of the monochrcmatic composition.

The balance!, almost symmetrical organizaticon of the Prosnmect Park West front
reflects the fact that the Hulbert mansion was originally two residences joined
together: the larger one con the corner was the home of Henry C. Hulbert, and the
slichtly smaller one to the south was occupied by his daughter Susie and his son-
in-law, Josepn H. Sutphin, a partner in the firm of H. C. Hulbert § Company.

Narely -ras this pirent-offspring arrangement of houses, apparently common in the.
nerind, been handled more skillfully. The duality is quite rlainly expressed in the
two equal, but subtly different, corner towers; in the pairs of dormers a~n’ toys
between them; and in the superb nair of arches over the entrance doors, so beauti-
fully joined by a single robust column that they form a point of focus for the front.
Nther unifying elements are the third flcor leasia and the shared entrance stens,

so ~rand if conception.

The differences between the twe corner towers are subtle. The north tower is
the more strikina, largely hecause of its polygonal shane; however, it is round a
the first floor, with corbels providing the transition to the rolygonal upner
floors and roof. The south tower, by contrast, is nolysonal at street level and
round above, terminating in a steep conical roof. In other details, the towers
are similar, with particularly notable, arcaded wide-arched windows with stone
transmm bars senarated by dwarf columns at the third flcors. Detween the towers
there are two dormer windows with stone transom bars and mullions, crowned by
filials and richly carved rables, which repeat the handsome foliate enframement of
the lopgia below. An interesting feature of the columns in the lecggia is the
‘contrast between the swirled grooving of the unper portion of the shaft and the
smnoth treatment of the longer, lower portion.

The generally rough-face!, random ashlar stonewcrk at the front is given
interest by the use of alternatine bands of broad and narrow stonework in the
-towers and at the side walls. Intricate and beautiful foliate reliefs and bands
of ornament, in flowing patterns, provide a remarkably effective contrast to the
rurged character of the walls. The extraordinary ornament combines Romanesque
and Cyzantine traditions. The band of carved stone at the springline of the
entrance arches has a different pattern in each segment, but all of the patterns
are related to the magnificent carving of the capital on the central column
hetveen the dnors. Another especially striking feature is the carved enframement
~f the third story logria.

The exterior cf the mansion is amazingly well-preserved anl! has been used for
almost half a century as a private school. Comparison with early nuhblished views
indicates virtually no alteration. The house remains one of the outstanding sights
of Prospect Park West and contributes significantly to its imposing character.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Between First § Second Streets

No. 53. This mansion, now the Brooklyn Ethical Culture Society's Meeting
House, is the only other house on the blockfront and is separated from the school
by a yard. It was constructed in 1900-01 for William H. Childs, the originator of
Bon Ami Cleansing powder. This magnificent residence, approached by a broad flight
of steps flanked by heraldic lions, is the work of the well-known architect, William
B. Tubby of Manhattan. It is one of the best examples of the rare neo-Jacobean
style in New York City. The dark red brick, laid up in Flemish bond, and the red
tile roof, contrast effectively with the white limestone bay window enframements and
gargoyles. Architecturalfy the emphasis is concentrated at the symmetrical street
facade which is crowned by a stepped, curved gable. The symmetry is further main-
tained by the equal treatment of the front door and arched window and by the paired
pilasters flanking them. The wide second floor bay is surmounted by a stone bal-
ustrade forming a balcony for the handsomely enframed windows of the third story.
In the upper part of the gable, an interesting window is tied to the top of the
third floor windows below by a panel, a stone drip molding and a carved medallion.
A finial crowns the bold gable and completes this fine composition. The south
wall is dominated by a single steep gable and two tall chimmeys. Projecting out
from this wall, at first floor level, is a low balustraded wing added by Tubby in
1907 to house a sunny morning room with a basement billard room below--all set in
a spacious yard (Nos. 55-57) which extends to Second Street and is enclosed by a
handsome wrought iron railing with brick piers.

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Second & Third Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 61-65)

No. 61, at the southwest corner of Second Street, was also designed by
William B. Tubby and built in 1910 for William H. Childs' married daughter Mary,
Mrs. Ernest G. Draper. This brick residence, with a tile roof and boldly pro-
jecting copper cornice carried on brackets, contrasts stylistically with the
earlier house designed by Tubby across the street. Shallow projecting bays, hor-
izontal stone bandcourses and panels at the top story lend further interest to the
English crossband brick walls. In general, the design is reminiscent of North
Italian provincial architecture which enjoyed a brief vogue in this country. Al-
though the house has a Prospect Park West address, the entrance is on Second Street,
an arrangement which is typical of many corner buildings.

Mos. 63, 64 and 65, the three adjoining houses, were built in 1919-20 for
Walter Kraslow, of Brooklyn Heights, and designed by Brooklyn architect William
T. McCarthy, with City tax abatement privileges. The growing importance of the
automobile is reflected in the driveways between these houses leading to rear
garages, as at Nos. 13 and 15 and at Nos. 29 and 31. Each driveway is entered
beneath a brick archway enclosed by wrought iron gates. These symmetrical houses,
modified Georgian in style, are constructed of brick laid up in Flemish bond with
double stretchers. Interesting features are the loggias at the second stories,
arched at the center house, and the trellised sundecks at the top floors of the
end houses. :

(The remainder of this blockfront to Third Street and the blockfront between
Third and Fourth Streets are outside of the Historic District.)

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Fourth § Fifth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 84-93)

The blockfront between Fourth and Fifth Streets is occupied by four apartment
houses known as Mos. 86, 88, 90 and 92. Each is four stories high, with shallow
curved bays flanking central projecting stairwells. They were built in 1908-09
for the Roundtree Realty Company, the owner-architect. The rusticated first floors
and the stairwell projections are precast stonework, also used as lintels,quoins,
and bandcourses with dark red brick walls at the upper stories.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Fourth & Fifth Streets

‘A deeply embossed sheetmetal architrave is crowned by a well-proportioned classical
roof cornice, carried on console brackets. The style is generally neo-Classical
with some neo-Federal detail, although the central projecting stairwells with their
curved sides and rich detail suggest the influence of the French Beaux Arts style.
Since the windows in the stairwell are at the landings, they do not align with
those on either side. The second story landing windows above the doorways have
miniature balustrades flanked by Ionic columns, carried on lion's head brackets,
which support arched pediments, The bas relief panels in the pediments above the
windows display female figures. The two uppermost stairwell windows share common
enframements with panels between t hem. These are crowned by low parapets with
carved openwork panels. Projecting iron-framed vestibules with Greek details are
connected to the wrought iron fences in front of all the houses. The regular
rhythm of the curved bays, punctuated by richly detailed stairwells, produces a
uniformly dignified blockfront,

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Fifth & Sixth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos, 94-107)

Nos., 94, 99, 100, 101 and 102, (Nos. 95, 96, 97 are omitted from the street

" numbering sequence.) Of this row of five neo-Italian Renaissance apartment houses,
built as townhouses, No. 102 retains still its original L-shaped stoop while the
others have been converted for basement entrances. They were built in 1899 for
Charles Hart. The handsome brownstone facades display a wealth of ornament. They
have three-story curved bays surmounted by balustrades which serve as decks for the
recessed fourth floor loggias behind them, The first floors are rusticated with
arched doorways; the keystones support the fluted corbeled sills of the windows
above them, Crowning these windows, in turn, are oval windows with flowing floral
enframements. The top floors provide a powerful unifying element for the row with
their loggias, horizontally banded stonework, and boldly projected cornices. No.94
has another entrance on Fifth Street, and this elevation continues both the first
floor rustication and banded stonework of the top floor. The tiered windows are
asymmetrically arranged and have "broken" pediments at the third story.

Nos. 103-107. These five handsome buildings were also built in 1899 as one-
family dwellings., Charles G. Peterson, who lived nearby on Seventh Street, com-
missioned Brooklyn architect Axel S. Hedman to design them, All these houses re-
tain their handsome L-shaped stoops, except No. 103, where a basement entrance has
been provided, Like their neighbors to the north, they are neo-Italian Renais-
sance in design, with light-colored sandstone facades above rusticated basements,
They display some fine ornament and have three-story bays, curved alternating with
three-sided. The corner house, No. 107, which is entered on Sixth Street, has a
full-width, swell-front end facing the park., Oval-shaped windows alternate with
square-headed ones at the top floors in this row and the ornament of the walls at
this level and of the roof cornices give these houses a certain feeling of opulence.
The long side of No. 107 on Sixth Street has a columnar entrance porch surmounted
by a low balustrade behind which there is a triple window with a pediment in the
center. A three-story wing at the rear of the building repeats the swell-front
design at its west end,

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Sixth & Seventh Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 108-117)

This blockfront is typical of an architectural scheme used in many Brooklyn
residential areas to unify the street visually: a long row of three-story houses
is enframed by higher four-story residences at the ends. (Continued on next page).
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Sixth & Seventh Streets

It was built in 1896 by owner-builder-architect:Charles G, Peterson, the same

owner who, in 1899, hired architect Axel Hedman to design the row to the north for
him, Functionally this scheme is a good arrangement, with t he row houses facing
the avenue -- in this case, the park -- and the higher terminal houses facing the
side streets, It is interesting to note that the higher four-story end house is

no wider than the three-story row houses between them, What makes this block par-
ticularly fine is its relatively simple treatment, wherein the brick fronts accord
so well with the brick ends while the cornices, supported on evenly spaced console
brackets, are similar throughout and practically continuous but, nonetheless, still
returned in profile at the ends to make clear the individuality of each row house,
While the row houses have alternating curved and three-sided, two-story bays, the
end houses, entered at the side streets, have full-width, swell-front bays facing
the park, further emphasizing the terminal quality of these buildings. Buildings
such as these, taken collectively, were the town-planners dream and, with regard

to unity and coherence, fitted right into the new "City Beautiful" scheme promulga-
ted by the plamners of the Chicago Fair of 1893, Handsome L-shaped stoops lead up
to the entranceways and what little detail there is could best be described as neo-
Renaissance., What is notable here is that the houses have style, but not so much
individually as collectively where the whole blockfront shows us that this owner-
builder-architect was striving for something better than the average -- a solution
for the problem of how to handle the row house and of how to lend it both interest
and distinction. Nos. 108 and 117 have the long sides, from which they are entered,
on the side streets, These facades, though a block apart, are practically identi-
cal, They have low curved porches at the entrances and feature symmetrically
placed chlmney-type projections, which begin at the thlrd floors and are carried on
cornice proaectors at this same level.

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Seventh & Eighth Streets
| WEST SIDE (Nos. 118-130)

~Nos, 118-120., Build in 1899 as private residences, these three neo-Italian
Renaissance buildings are very sinmilar in design to Nos. 94-102, which were built
in the same year, for the same owner Charles Hart. William J. Ryan, of Brooklyn,
was the architect. The houses are of brownstone with rusticated first floors which
are carried around the side elevation, as are the handsome paneled cornices and the
banded stonework of the fourth floor. ILoggia-like wondows at the fourth floor are
set behind Ionic columns and surmount the three-story curved bays. The bay at the
corner house (No. 118) extends the full width of the end and is curve-sided, re-
flecting the fact that this building is entered on Eighth Street at No. 610, Here,
a handsome porch with columns, at first floor level, is approached by an offset
flight of steps parallel to this side of the house.

Nos. 121-122. This pair of houses, built as one-family dwellings, is remark-
ably similar tc the row in the block to the north. The houses were built in 1896
for William Fuller and designed by Brooklyn Heights architect George Miller, With
their curved one-story bays and doorways flanked by columns, they are influenced
in their detail by the Italian Renaissance, despite the rough-faced stonework
of the bays which recalls Romanesque Revival prototypes. The upper floors are of
brick and each house is crowned by individual cornices carried on console brackets
with dentils beneath,

No. 125 (Nos 123-130) "The Hillhurst Apartments" is a large brick corner
building with central entrance court facing the park, built in 1916 for Richard
Bridgette and designed by arciitect Harry Moore. It is dignified in its simplicity,
relying for its effect on a rusticated limestone first floory quoins and a top
story set off by a bandcourse which forms the sills of the sixth floor windows. It
is crowned by a cornice carried on evenly spaced console brackets. The side eleva-
tion on Eighth Street is quite similar, but is completely flush and without entry.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Eighth § Ninth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 131-140)

No. 131 (131-135) and No. 136 (136-137) are two six-story apartment houses
built in 1903 for Ballerson and Wexler and designed by architect-builders Sass §&
Smallheiser. With their two-story, high rusticated hases and elaborate entrance-
ways, they are typical of the Deaux Arts style of the Eclectric period. The pro
jecting two-story high arched entrance of No. 131 has a concave profile thrcugh
which the rustication lines are carried. It is surmounted by a cornice slab carried
on large diagonally placed brackets crowned by urns. Above this, a three-story
tier of windows is enframed by masonry keyed to the brickwork -- a theme which is
repeated at the corners of the building, both at the front and the side. The fifth
story is crowned by a dentiled bandcourse, which serves as sills for the top floor
windows. This building, and presumably No. 136, were both once crowned by the handsori
cornice which remains intact along the north side of No. 131, No. 136 is identical
in treatment except that its front door is surmcunted by a 'broken" pediment, em-
phasized by an arched window above it and a balcony at the third floor.

No. 140 (No. 133-140). This handsome four-story apartment house, ''The
Litchfield," is distinctly neo-Italian Renaissance in stylc. The imposing entrance
is at No. 573 Ninth Street. It was built in 1903 for Theodore Jenkins and Herman
Galitzka and was designed by the Farfitt Drothers. It has a rusticated stone base-
ment and first floor, with Roman brick above. The windows have terra cotta en-
framements those at the top flo-r have ornate pilasters between them. The long
Ninth Street side has an entrance porch supported on Ionic coclumns and crowned by
a heavy arched pediment, decorated by a richly enframed shield. Above this central
doorway, recesses at each floor ingenicusly accommodate the fire escape. The
proportions, quoins, escutcheons ancd ornate roof cornice give this building its
neo-Italian Renaissance character. The chimney at the southcast corner is carried
on an ornate corbel at the second floor.

(The blockfront between Ninth and Tenth Strect is outside the Historic District)

PROSPECT PARK WEST Detween Tenth & Eleventh Strcets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 152-161)

Nos. 152-15€. This uniformly designed row of three apartment houses, design-
ed by Lrooklyn architect Thomas Dennett, was built in 1899 for Peter Larson. In
style, these four-story buildings reflect, classical influence. No. 152, the
corner building, has a smooth-faced limestone first floor with brick above and a »
curved corner bay making the transition to the Tenth Street Side, where the cen-
tral entrance porch is located. The adjoining apartment houses facing the park
(Nos. 154 and 156) are identical, with full-height, curved bays flanking central en-
trances, both of which have porches with Ionic columns sumounted by low balustrades.
Above these porches therc is a single pedimented window. Horizontal stone band-
cocurses at cach floor and arched windows at the top floors lend unity to these
three apartment houses, which are constructed of Roman brick. They are further
linked by a continuous roof cornice carried on ccnsole brackets with classical
swags in the fascia.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Tenth and Eleventh Streets

Nos. 157-161. This group of five four-story apartment houses, built in 1899,
is interesting because they still show traces of Romanesaue Revival stylc,
in spite of their generally classical character. They were built by owner-builder
Christian Doenecke and were designed by Brocklyn architect Frank Holmberg. The
four apartment houses facing the park form a unified group, with full-height,
curved end bays and paired three-story bays at the center. In each case, the bays
flank paired doorways. Thc first floors are of smooth-faced limestone and the
upper floors of Roman brick. All of the windows are square-headed, but those at
the first and second flcors have stone transom bars which are repeated over the
doorways. The classical roof cornices have swags and define each building. The
corner apartment house (No. 161), entered on Eleventh Street, although alicned in
its floor heights with the row facing the park, is treated quite differently, with
a rusticated base of light-colored, molded brick. The Roman brick above this base
is similar to that in the adjoining row, except that it is made to simulate rust-
ication at the first floor, whereas the row -t this lovel is of limestone
In the corner building, the square-headed windows are all enframed in terra cotta
at the upper floors and the prime unifying feature is the similar classical rocf ‘corr
The apartment house is entered on its long side, at No. 649 Eleventh Street. This
facade is completely symmetrical. The doorway, flanked by columns, is set in a
full-height, projecting bay flanked by flush bays, of about the same width. These,
in turn, are enframed by broad projected bays, two windows wide, and flanked by
curved corner bays at the ends. The central bay, above the doorway, has arched
windows crowned at the top by a bull's eye window.

PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Eleventh § Twelfth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 162-169)

No. 162-163 is a large four-story corner apartment house of brick with its
entrance on the side street. It is described under No. 642 Eleventh Street.

Nos. 164 and 165 are two four-story apartment houses built for William Murphy,
according to plans by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. In design they are pract-
ically identical to Nos. 154 and 156 in the block to the north, which were also
designed by Bennett for another owner. Again, they reflect classical influence, the
only noticeable difference being one of detail. The windows above the entrance
porches have ornamented blocks of stone in lieu of pediments
a motif which is repeated above the parlor floor and the third story w1ndows, which
is not the case at Nos. 154 and 156. It is interesting to note how architectural
designs, readily identifieble with certain architects, recur throughout the District,
regardless of their ownership.

No. 166-169. With an unusually long frontage on Prospect Park West, this
four-story apartment house of brick was built in 1900 for Thomas Crawford, and
designed, like the apartment adjoining it tc the north, by Thomas Bennett. This
apartment house is entered both from Prospect Part MYest and from Twelfth Street.

The entire front facing the park has a strong sense of horizontality, produced by
many ornamental bands of terra cotta at each floor. In addition, stone bandcourses
serve as sills for the windows at each floor. All of these horizontal lines are
interrupted by a full-height, vertical bay above the off-center doorway, edged by
similar terra cotta bands and enclosing arched stair landing windows and decorative
terra cotta panels. A handsome entrance porch supported on columns, with two-sided
approaches, shelters the doorway. The top floor is unified by the introduction of
arched windows and by an unusual classical cornice carried on deep brackets with
conventional console brackets in between them. Full-height, curved bays are lo-
cated at each end of the park facade of the building, with shallow curved bays
flanking the main entrance. By comparison, the Twelfth Street side is quite narrow,
and features an entrance at No. 525 with an L-shaped stoop enframed by columns -
surnorting an entablature. Above it, as on the front, are arched stair windows with
ornamental terra cotta panels above and below them. An interesting tier of blind
windows and panels of brick appears just behind the curved corner bay.
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PROSPECT PARK WEST Between Twelfth & Thirteenth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 170-178)

. I12,-170-171. This larfé corner ar-ertnent house of 1903, "The Waldorf', is des-
cribed under No. 524 (No. 520-528) Twelfth Street

Nos. 172-178. These four dignified limestone apartment houses show the in-
fluence of the Ecole des Beaux Arts in the rather free handling of their French
Renaissance design elements. They were built in 1901 for Jacob Livingston and,
like No. 131 to the north, were designed by architect-builders Sass § Smallheiser.
Nos. 172, 174 and 176, the three apartment houses facing the park have a comprehens-
ive symmetry of their own. The center building, Mo. 174, has full-height, shallow
curved bays flanking the central entrance, whereas the two cuter ones, Nos. 172 and
176, have full-height, three-sided bays. The first floors are rusticated and all
three doorways are similar, with pseudo-balconies carried on vertically placed
console brackets. The vertical console bracket theme recurs at the third floor
bay windows. A continuous cornice supported on console brackets has unusual paired
dwarf pilasters set under every fourth or fifth bracket with swags in the fascia
between them. Although it is entered from Thirteenth Street, No. 178, the corner
apartment house, blends with the row facing the park. It has a flush facade,
brcken only by a tower at the corner. The lonz side on Thirteenth Street, is of
brick, except that the rusticated first floor of the adjoining houses is repeated
here. The entrance has a balcony carried on vertical console brackets with paired
windows above, separated by a carved panel {pyrp the windows of the third story.

PROSPECT PARK WEST Retween Thirteenth § Fourteenth Streets

WEST SIDE (Nos. 179-186)

Nos. 179-186. This row, like the one between Sixth and Seventh Streets, is
interesting because it has a similar planning concept. The entire blockfront is
architecturally uniform, with the end apartment houses carried slightly forward,
the diagonal breaks in the front wall linking them to the row facing the park. The
row was built for Louis Beer in 1901, according to plans by Brocklyn architect
William Debus, who also designed some fine houses in the Stuyvesant Heights area.
The Prospect Park West row is desipned in a unifcrm style of architecture, showing
the influence of the French Ecole des Beaux Arts. This is most apparent in the
full-height rustication of the limestone facades and in their arched doorways
which interrupt the line of the cornice at second flcor level. The end apartment
houses, entered from the side streets, are the same height as the row facing the
park, but unlike them have rusticated brickwork above the rusticated limestone
first floors. They have identical arched entrances, flanked by oval windows, and
are crowned by an unusual two-story feature, in which the second and third story
paired windows are joined vertically by carved stone nanels. The third story
paired window is arched, with the lines of the rustications carried in to meet
the arch as stone vousscirs. This entire central section is set off Ly ranelc’
pilasters, set on corbels, extending throush the second and third floors and
surmounted by short fluted ones at the fourth flcor. The pilasters are repeated
at either side of the curved corner bay and near the breaks in the front w2ll facing
the park. The handsome roof cornice, which once crowned all these buildings, may
still be seen at the south facade of the apartment house on Fourteenth Street.

The doorways are approached by two-sided stoops, with handsome wrought iron handrail-
ings running parallel to the fronts of the buildings.
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NAMED STREETS

CERKELEY TLACE TO UNIOH CTIEET

BERKELEY PLACE

Berkeley Place extends from Fifth Avenue east to Plaza Street. West of Fifth
Avenue it becomes Sackett Street, the original name for Berkeley Place. Sackett
Street was changed to Berkeley Place in 1881, in honor of George Berkeley, an
Episcopal Minister and educator who spent the years 1728-31 in the American Colonies.
The curriculum at King's College (Columbia College) was based upon many of his
educational principles. The development of Berkeley Place, within the District,
began in the early 1370s, and was completed by the early nineties. Two frame houses
in the block from Sixth Avenue to Seventh Avenue date back to the early 1860s and
were the only buildings on Sackett Street, east of Fifth Avenue, which appear on
the Dripps Map of 1868. Berkeley Place is one of the handsomest residential streets
in the District.

BERKELEY PLACE Between Fifth § Sixth Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 74-84)

No. 74-84. This corner house is described under No. 188 Sixth Avenue.
The rest of the street to the west is not included in the Historic District.

BERKELEY PLACE DBetween Sixth § Seventh Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 86-168)

No. 86-96. This corner house with garage behind it is described under No.
193 Sixth Avenue.

Nos. 100 (98-100) and 102. These two unusual houses, east of the corner house,
rise three full stories above low basements, have neo-Grec Jeétail and are crowned
with mansard roofs. They were built in 1879-80 for John S. Brooks and were de-
signed by the architectural firm of Parfitt Brothers, architects of the nearby St.
Augustine's Church on Sixth Avenue (outside the Historic District), Grace Methodist -
Church on Seventh Avenue and numerous houses within the District. To the west of
No. 98-100 there is a ten-foot accessway which leads back to a stable at the rear
of the lot. In 1887 a two-story addition for a private school was made at No. 102.
Of this pair of flush-fronted brownstones, No. 100 retains its original doorway and
window trim of Nova Scotia stone, replete with neo-Grec ornament, while No. 102
retains the original handsome detailing of its mansard roof with dormer windows.
Three steps lead up to the main entrance.of No. 100, which is flanked by pilasters
with crisply carved capitals, above which two console brackets support the cornice
slab. At the level of the capitals there is a wide band, of floral design, which
intersects the parlor floor windows at impost block level of this unusual house.
Neo-Grec detail is much in evidence at the window enframements. The third flocor
windows are tied together by floral bandcourses, similar to those at the parlor flocor.

Nos. 104 and 106. This pair of neo-Grec brownstone dwellings, with typical
incised decoration, was begun in 1382 for M. M. Vail from designs by Brnoklyn
architect M. J. Morrill. The fronts have full-height, two-sided bays, the right
side of which at No. 104, advances to meet the end wall of No. 102. The rcof
cornice follows the angular profile of the fronts and is divided by wooden brackets
with panels between them. The windows and doorways are enframed in the neo-Grec
manner with incised ornament. Iron crestings crown the cornice slabs of the en-
trances. The original entrance to No. 106 has been replaced by one at basement level.
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_BERKELEY PLACE Between Sixth & Seventh Avenues

Nos. 108, 110, 112. This row of three neo-Grec brownstones, begun in 1883
by owner-builder-architect Van Voast and Ward, of Brooklyn, is similar to Nos. 104
and 106. They have iicised decoration and acroteria at the window pediments. The
iron cresting over the doorway cornice slabs and the ironwork of the stoops are
preserved at two of the houses. As a row, taken together with Nos. 104 and 106,
the sharp angularity of the bays accented by the roof cornice, makes an interesting
silhouette against the sky. :

Nos. 116 and 118 (No. 114 is onitte! from the street numbering systen).
The next two houses, of frame construction, are the oldest on Berkeley Place and
among the oldest in the Park Slope area. James Brady sold the land on which No.
116 now stands to Brocklyn architect M.J. Morrill in May 1862, and also owned the
adjoining property. In 211 likelihood, Morrill was associated with the construc-
tion of both houses in 1862. Although both of these frame houses have been re-
surfaced, No. 118 retains much of its original appearance, and is approached by a
low wood stoop with wrought iron railings. The doorway is sheltered by a pro-
jecting hood, also of wood, resting on a pair of larce wood brackets. A simple
bracketed wood roof cornice crowns this interesting little house.

Nos. 120, 124, 126 (No. 122 is cmitte! from the street numbering system).
This row of three brownstones was built in 1878 by owner-builder-architect Albert
Wilkinson of DBrooklyn Heights. The stoops have been removed and entrances are now
provided at basement level. The evenly bracketed cornice of No. 126 remains, as
do the wrought iron window guards at the basements of all three. The scale and
proportions of this row are quite harmonious with those of their neighbors to the
east. o

Nos. 128-140. These seven houses, like their neighbors across the street, Nos.
127-135, were planned to accomodate three families each and were built by Thomas A.
Brush of Fort Greene. Drooklyn architect Frederick E. Lockwood designed Nos. 128-
140 in 1882. They are three-story, neo-Grec brownstones with bracketed roof
cornices and high stoops. All the stoops and handrailings are preserved, except at
No. 136 where wing-walls, surmounted by a pair of unusual stone sphinxes, have been
added. The handsome neo-Grec enframements of the broad doorways are repeated on a
smaller scale at the windows. These enframements have been removed at two of the
houses.

(Nos. 142 and 144 have been onitted from the street numbering systen.)

Nos. 146, 148, 15C. These three French Second Empire brownstones are
three stories above high rusticated basements. They were built on lots sold late
in 1875 by Benjamin Estes to builder Samuel Henry, and are remarkably similar to
the row on the east side of Seventh Avenue between St. John's Plaze and Lincoln Place,
lacking only the nansard roofs. Only 16'8'" wide, they have single large parlor floor
windows and segmental-arched windows at basement level. There are two windows at
each of the upper floors; all are square-headed and have handsome enframements. The
entrances, approached by high stoops, are archied and are surmounted by low arched
pediments carried on acanthus leaf console brackets. The original dcuble doors,
two of which remain, are exceptionally tall and have heavy moldings framing the panel:
The curved top panel of each door is glazed to allow light in the vestibule. The
roof cornices rest on a series of closely spaced neo -Grec brackets.

No. 152 is a garage, with chauffeur's quarters above, built in 1925 for ,
Alfred E. Clegg, who then lived at No. 104 Eighth Avenue, the former Luckenbach
mansion, which he had bought in 1920. Clegs was a vice-president of the Kerr
Steamship Company. The garage was designed by the Drooklyn architectural firm of
Murphy § Lehmann. This charming, small two-story building, inspired by Tudor
architecture, is constructed of tapestry brick with limestone trim. The ground
floor contains a wide segmental-arched entrance to the garage, with paneled wood
doors. To the left is the entrance to the upper floors, sheltered by a peaked hood.
The wall above the entrance is recessed a few feet to meet a chimney stack which,
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together with a high peaked gable,.gives a picturesque silhouette to the building.
Set in the gable, above the garage door, is a three-sided oriel with casement windows
crowned by a crenellated parapet.

Nos. 154, 156, 158. DRegun in 1886, this row of three neo-Grec brick houscs
have three-story, two-sided bays rising.full heizht which are crowned, except at
No. 158, by unusually steep slate roofs-of polygonal form giving the effect of towers
The main roof cornices, just below these steep roofs, are supported on colonettes
and crowned by small arched pediments at the apexes of the bays. To the left of
the bays, lower mansard roofs contain single dormer windows. The stone window
lintels display an unusual fan-shaped detail at their upper corners. The front
“entrances, approached by high stoops, are surmounted by lintels carried on brackets.
The balustered handrailings, the newel posts and the yard railing at No. 154 are
the originals.

No. 158A. This building, with a store at street level and apartments above,
was designed by Brooklyn architect J. G. Glover in 1892 for M.H. Kern. The wall
rlane of the building is advanced and then carried back diagonally to meet the
end wall of No. 160, thus effecting a smonth transition between the two. The store
front, with two display windows beneath a bracketed rooflet, preserves its original
appearance. The facade is treated with diamond patterned bands of brickwork be-
low the cornice and third floor windowsills. It occupies the former rear yard of
No. 78 Seventh Avenue.

No. 160-168 has been 'escribed under No. 78 Seventh Avenue. It has a roof
cornice which is very similar to those of Nos. 154-158, thus relating this corner
apartment house to the three neo-Grec residences to the west.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 85-167)

No. 85-95(97). This corner house has been described under No. 191 Sixth
Avenue.

Nos. 99-109. These six Romanesque Revival apartment houses appear from the
street.to be three buildings, since they share entrances under cavernous stone
arches located at the center of each pair. These entrances are flanked by full
height shallow curved bays. The buildings were berun in 1888 for Messrs. Hill §
Sharp of Precklyn and were desicned by the well-known Manhattan architect C.P.H.
Gilbert who was active elsewhere in the District. Each pair of units has a complete-
ly symmetrical four-story brick facade with random ashlar basement. Terra cotta
panels with handsome and unusual floral natterns adorn the walls and the bays
beneath the third floor windows. With the exception of the end bays, all the bays
are crowned by peaked slate gables which are set at cornice level, just above the
actual roofs of the bays. Just belcw the bracketed cornice, between the bays,
there are sections of patterned brickwork. There is a bold sill course with cor-
belled brickwork supporting the rough-faced stone windowsills at the second floor
which runs the entire length of the row.

Nos. 111-117. TGuilt in 1878 by architect-owner-carpenter F. W. Swimm of
Brooklyn, these four brownstone houses 2re each three stories &bcve a hich base-
ment. Less than sixteen feet wide, they have only two windows at each upper floor,
the sincle parlor and basement windows being unusually wide. The original entries
have triangular pediments supported on neo-Grec console brackets enframing arches
which are embellished with faceted keystones. The bracketed roof cornices repeat
the neo-Grec theme, except at No. 117, where the cornice has been removed.

Handscme balustered handrailings remain at the stoops of Nos. 115 and 117. A
basement erntrance has been provicded at No. 113.

=%
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Nos. 119, 123, 125 (No. 121 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)
These three brownstones display certain neo-Grec features. DBuilt in 1874 by the
builder-developer Robert S. Bussing, they rise three stories above high rusticated
basements. Droad stoops, with the original balustered handrailings and newel posts
at Nos. 123 and 125 lead up to arched doorways with pediments carried on brackets
above engaged columns. Reminiscent of the Italianate style, the cornices of the
tall parlor floor windows are carried on carved console brackets. Further em-
bellishing these windows are narrow panels beneath the sills which display circular
matifs at their centers. All three houses retain their uniformly bracketed roof
cornices.

Nos. 127-135. In 1880 these five brownstones were built by owner-architect-
builder T. H. Brush of Brooklyn. They were planned to accomodate three families
each, a radical departure in this area of single family dwellings. With their
full-height, two-sided bays, heavy bracketed cornices and incised ornament, they
are typically neo-Grec. Their agitated cornice line contrasts pleasingly with
the flush fronts of the houses to the west. The low stoops are unusual for neo-
Grec houses in the Park Slope area, and, with their low wing-walls with wrought iron
railings, they are very open in character. ‘

Nos. 137-147. These six brownstones with full-height, two-sided bays were
built by Park Slope architect-carpenter J. J. Gilligan in association with the
developer-builder John Monas. Nos. 143-147 were built in 1885 and Nos. 137-141
were built in 1888. Neo-Grec in style, they have three stories above high basements,
approached by stoops at all the houses. Some of them retain their original balus-
tered cast iron handrailings and their yard railings, best seen at No. 143. The
neo-Grec pediments of the lintels above the entrances are repeated, on a smaller
scale, at all the windows with their characteristic ''ears' and incised decoration.
These two groups of houses differ only in their roof cornices. The earlier group
has heavy brackets beneath which there is a series of closely spaced spindles set
into the fascia. The later group is less elaborate and has brackets with a series
of horizontal moldings btelow them.

Nos. 149-153. These three ''flat houses', for four families each, were begun
in 1893 for owner Delanns of Derkeley Place. The design of the buildings is late
Romanesque Revival with rough-faced limestone at the first floor and light-colored
brick above. Limestone arches crown the windows above the arched entrances, which
are flanked by colonettes with basketwork capitals. The squareheaded triple windows
at the first floor are divided by wood mullions and have transom bars with stained-
glass transoms. Above these triple windows, shallow three-story bay windows, resting
on ornamented corbels, rise up three floors. The roof cornice is supported on even-
ly spaced brackets above a row of dentils.

No. 155-157 is a one-story garage which fills the former rear yard of No. 76
Seventh Avenue.

No. (159-) 167 is the long side of the corner building, which is described
under No. 76 Seventh Avenue.

DERKELEY PLACE Detween Seventh § Eighth Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 170-252)

Y. 130(170-132) is -thz entrance of the apartment house which has a store
at No. 75-77 Seventh Avenue. This symmetrical four-story Romanesque Revival
facade has a series of arches with flush voussoirs set in rough-faced stonework
at the first floor. One of these arches has a small door beneath it and the
easternmost arch serves as the entranceway to the apartments above.

-4’4-
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A display window of the store occupies the westernmost arch. The fenestration is
conventional along the center section of the upper floors, with segmental arches

at the third floor and full arches at the fourth. At the ends of the facade

are three-sided metal bay windows, which extend through the second and third floors,
crowned by triple windows with arches at the fourth. A terra cotta cornice, sur-
mounted by a low parapet, displays an ornamental frieze in low relief. A deep open
lot at the rear, east side, has permitted the inclusion of windows along this side.

Nos. 184-202. These ten neo-Grec brownstones were built during the years
1882-83 by owners Edward S. Sturges and John Magilligan, in association with arch-
itect Amzi Hill. These houses form a unified row although certain variations in
detailing appear. They are three stories high above basements, have full-height,
two-sided bays and all originally had high stoops. At three houses the stoops
have been replaced by basement entrances. The original doorways have segmental
arches, except for those at Nos. 184 -and 136 which are square-headed. All the
doorways are flanked by grooved pilasters and brackets supporting simple ccrnice slabs
which are still crowned by delicate iron crestings with corner finials at many of
the houses. Typical neo-Grec incised ornament adorns the window enframements and
many of the windows are surmounted by 'eared" pedimental lintels. The roof cornices,
which follow the profiles of the bays, have panels between the brackets at Mos.
190-202 and are decorated with low relief ornament at Nos. 184-183.

No. 204, completely different from its angular neighbors, has a flush face
with two-story, three-sided masonry oriel set on a heavy bracketed corbel above the
basement windows. It was published in 1885 in The Architect and Building Weekly,
an architectural magazine, and was described as being owned by D. A. Doodry and
designed by J. W. Walter, architect. Although the house has a rough-faced evenly
coursed front wall, up throush the first floor, with round arched entry, the brick
walls of the upper floors, crowned with a cornice decorated with swags and a Flemish
gable above the dormer, show the influence of the then popular Queen Anne style.
There is a refreshing simplicity in the delicate detail of this house as contrasted
with the scale of the brownstones to the west.

No. 206 is a six-story brick apartment hcuse with limestone facing at the
first flocor. It was built in 1928 for the Neiel Co., Inc.,and was designed by
Brooklyn architect William C. Winter. The brickwork of the upper floors is of
English bond and a brick panel, with vertically placed diamonds, appears on the
front face of the parapet, the top of which forms a low pediment.

Nos. 208-212. These three brownstone houses are designed to form an intcresting.
almost symmetrical, whole. They were begun in 1886. At the end hcuses, full-heirht,
two-sided bays are carried forward to meet their more advanced neighbors, while the
central house, No. 203, has a two-sided bay to the right of the front door. These
houses are very rectilinear, with horizontzl bandcourses interrupted by vertical
pilasters which form panels beneath the windows. The cornices are enlivened by
bas-relief ornament and small panels. That at No. 203 retains its original roof cres*
ing cof cast iron, while No. 210 has been surmounted by a low mansard roof with dormers
The dormer window with broken pediment emphasizes the bay. A basement entrance has
been provided at No. 212.

No. 220 (No. 214-232). This seven-story brick apartment house is symmetrical-
ly designed around a shallow centrai entrance court. It was built in 1955 for the
Pumar Development Corporation and was designed by the architectural firm of Kavy §&
Kavoritt. Flanking the entrance court are two tiers of single double-hung windows,
the stone sills and lintels of which are carried in toward the break in the wall at
the court to give the effect of corner windows. All the other windows are paired
and have horizontal muntins and stone sills. A brick parapet crowns the building.
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Nos. 234-238. These three handsome brownstones were begun in 1887 by owner-
builder William Gubbins, who also erected a number of houses on nearby Eighth
Avenue. They were designed by the well-known Brooklyn architect Charles Werner,
who often worked in association with Gubbins. Although seemingly quite conven-
tional, with full-height, three-sided bays, they have some very unusual detail:
colonettes set in the angles of the bays, vertical grooving in the panels
beneath the second and third floor windows and small squat pilasters between
the attic windows. All retain their original paired doors, approached by high
stoops with low wing-walls surmounted by handrailings terminating in newel
posts. The enframement of the entrance at No. 234 has carved ornament and a
curved molding which harmonizes with the colonettes of the bays.

No. 240 is a fine Romanesque Revival town house built for James Foster in
1187-88 and designed by Manhattan architect F. Carles Merry. It is remarkably
similar stylistically to the corner house, No. 52 Eighth Avenue, also designed
by Merry. The first floor and basement are faced with Euclid stone, set in
random ashlar. The arch of the main entrance is flanked by columns of unusual
design: they seem to grow from the stone. Faces peer from the foliate carving
which surrounds this entrance. A two-story curved bay is crowned by a low wrought
iron railing and by a large triple window set in a terra cotta enframed arch.

In a broad band of brickwork, between the lintels of the first floors windows
and the sills of those at the second, a diamond-shaped overall pattern is
created through the use of molded brick with bosses. ' The wall above this level
is brick and the three second story windows of the bay are set under a contin-
uous drip molding. To the left of these windows, an ornamental colored glass
window with arched top lends a dramatic emphasis to the front door below.

The roof cornice, supported on curved brackets, has three small, square attic
windows set in the band of the frieze below. An L-shaped stoop, with curved
sweep at the bottom, has random ashlar stone wing-walls leading up to the arched
doorway.

No. 242-252 is the long side of the mansion which is described under
No. 52-52 Eighth Avenue. A one-story brick addition now occupies the former
rear yard.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 169-251)

No. 169-179 is the long side of the two-story building, with extension
behind it, described under No. 73 Seventh Avenue.

No. 181, a one-family brownstone, was built in 1881-82 by neighborhood
owner-architect William Flanagan. A two-sided masonry bay rises full-height.
Neo-Grec in style, it has characteristic incised decoration and preserves its orig-
inal cast iron stoop, yard railings and bracketed roof cornice.

Nos. 183-195 (No. 189 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
This row of six French Second Empire dwellings is very similar to the blockfront
of 1871-72 on the east side of Seventh Avenue between St. John's Place and Lincoln
Place, and was erected by the same two speculative builders, Robert S. Bussing
and Philip I. Cootey. No. 193 retains most of its original features and has,
as do the others in this row, three full stories above a high rusticated basement
and a mansard roof with dormers. Originally, each of the arched entranceways,
approached by a high stoop, was fianked by consoles supporting the pediment.

These consoles, carved with acanthus, are repeated on a reduced scale at the

long parlor floor windows where they support cornice slabs. New entrances at
basement level have been provided at some of the houses. At No. 193 the original
cast iron handrailings and yard railings have been retained. Charles Moore,
president of the Montauk Club at the time when it was being built, lived at No. 195.

Nos. 197-221 (Nos. 201 and 209 have been omitted from the street numbering
system). These eleven houses are the first of two long rows of neo-Grec brownstones
begun in 1883 by Brooklyn owner-architect J. Dougherty & Son. They are three
stories above high basements which are distinguished by horizontal grooves just
below the tops of the windows. Horizontal molded bandcourses define and emphasize
the two-sided masonry bays at each floor. Most of the houses retain their original
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high stoops leading up to segmental-arched or square-headed doorways, which are
flanked by grooved pilasters and brackets supporting cornice slabs crowned by

iron crestings. The stone jambs of the windows, above the basement, have unusual
chanfering at the edges. The left side of the bay at No. 197 is carried over

to meet the end wall of No. 195, making a smooth transition from the flush fronts

of the French Second Empire houses to the more agitated neo-Grec row. The wond

roof cornices display an interesting combination of fleurs de 1lis and rosettes and
follow the angular profiles of the bays. The graceful cast iron roof cresting remains
~at No. 211 and the original cast iron handrailings and yard railings are best seen at
No. 217. At No. 221 an entrance has been provided at basement level.

Nos. 223-235, This row of seven neo-Grec brownstones, erected in 1883-84, was
built by the same owner-architect, Dasically, it is very similar to the adjoining
croup. The entrance doorways, however, are different, with concave panels beneath

-the more ornate cornice slabs. Nos. 229, 231 and 235 retain their original cast
iron handrailirfigs, at the stoops and some houses in this row retain their crestings
over the entrance cornice slabs.

(Nos. 237 and 239 have been omitted from the street numbering system).
No. 241-251 is the long side of the mansard-ronfed cornmer building, described

under No. 50 Eighth Avenue.

DERKELEY PLACE DRetween Eighth Avenue § Plaza Street

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 254-276)

No. 254-262 is the long side of the corner house, with rear lot, described
under No. 51 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 264-272. This row of five handsome brownstone residences in the short
rark block presents a distinguished appearance. These three-story houses above hich
basements were all built in 1886-57 by owner-builder William Gubbins, according
tc the plans of architect Charles Werner. The two men were active together else-
where on Derkeley and in the District. The three-sided bays of the houses are full-
height with bold bracketed and paneled cornices which make an interesting profile '
against the sky. Approached by high stoops, with balustered cast iron handrailings
and massive newel posts, the double front doors are flanked by pilasters. Above .
these pilasters, brackets carry stone balconies with ornamental panels. Dasement
entrances have been provided at Nos. 264 and 270. The overall effect of these houses
is severely rectilinear. This is particularly noticeable in the tiered windows
- above the entrance doors, where the enframements are made vertically continucus,
and in the severely simple treatment of the smocth stonework of the bays which
are relieved by horizontal grooving and by eare/ ornamental panels heneath the windows

No. 274-276. This larpge house was built for George I’. Tangeman in 1890-91
and designed by the well-known Manhattan architectural firm of Lamb § Rich.
Tangeman was a Brooklyn capitalist whose fortune was made through the Royal and
Cleveland Daking Powder Company. A son-in-law of the noted Hoagland family, he
served as a trustee of the Hoarland Laboratory in Cobble Hill. The house:was so
much ~ admired by architects that it was illustrated in one of the very few heliochrome
prints of the ''Imperial Edition” of the American Architect § Duilding News. (Plate
No. 844, Feb. 27, 1392). Dasically Romanesque Revival in its picturesque asymmetry,
it nonetheless heralded the new Classicism in many of its details. Two and one-
half stories high, it has a two-story curved bay to the left of the entrance. The
Romznesque Revival features include the massive rough-faced granite wall which en-
frames the open terrace in front, the Roman brick used at the second floor, the
loggia-like window with columns between the windows above the front door and the
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end houses. Another oriel, probably an addition, appears at No. 730 and provides
the only note of asymmetry in the entire composition. The treatment of the door
and window enframements at the end houses integrates the elcments in a manner
akin to the innovative style emerging at the same time in Chicago, with Frank
Lloyd Wright its most notable practitionmer.

No. 734, at the ccrner of Polhemus Place, was begsun in 1889 and designed by
Prooklyn architect Charles Werner for William A. Hall. It is constructed of brick
with rough-faced brownstone trim. Dasically Romanesque Revival in style, it has
an unusual horseshoe-arched entrance porch, surmounted by a deck with an openwork
stone parapet. A striking feature is the nolygonal bay at the corner, now raised
one floor above the original roofline, the diagonal of which may be seen from
Polhemus Place. The side elevation on Polhemus Place has an interesting brick
chimney stack, expressing the flues within, carried on a brick corbel, and arched
windows and recessed bay windows. Romanesque carving apnears in the hlocks at
the ends of the rgking eave lines-znd in.the caritals of thewcolometies at the Tront

entrance porch.

CARROLL STREET DBetween Polhemus Place § Fiske Place

SNOTH STDE (Nos. 736-804)

This row of nine houses occupies this entire blockfront. It was begun in
1889 by builder John Magilligan of Derkeley Place. They are three-story brownstones
above high basements, with full-height, three-sided masonry bays. Moldings provide
horizontal accents and interesting shadows at each floor of the bays. With only one
exception, all have retained their oripginal rough-faced brownstone stoops and alsq
their handsome, original cdouble docrs and doorways. The use of the rough-faced stone
is repeated in broad bands beneath all the windows. These houses are typical Park
Slope brownstones of the late 1829s; with masonry transom bars and stained glass
“transoms at some of the parlor floor windows. In the work that Magilligan did on
this block in the late 13820s, we see a stylistic progression typical of that follow-
ed by so many other builders in the area. Gradually the neo-Grec was superseded
by the increasingly popular, more formal classical styles and by the Queen Anne .
style. No. 802-804 has a long brick facade with full-height bay and corbelled!
chimneys on Fiske Place. No. 786 has an entrance on 'olhemus Flace.

CARROLL STREET Letween Fiskec Place § Eighth Avenue

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 806-824)

Nos. 806-8312. This row of four residences was built in 13891-92 and was de-
signed by architect Jchn C. Durne of Manhattan for William Irvine who lived west
of the District. Romanesque in their overall desicn, they nonetheless herald the
new Classicism in some of their detail. These three-story brownstones are an
interesting contrast to the hcuses built two years earlier on the blockfront to
the west. While the effect of that blockfront was one of sharp amgularity, these
dignified residences have a combination of flush walls with curved two-story bays.
Broad bands of foliate carved ornament, interspersed with human masks and animal
figures, contrast with the otherwise smooth stonework of the bays. The entrance
doorways are approached by L-shaped stoops, except at No. 806, where a basement
entrance has been provided. These dcorways have semi-circular arches with carved
spandrel panels at Nos. 810 and 812. The flanking pilasters, surmounted by carved
capitals and brackets, support unusual stone-roofed entablatures. The windows
above the doorways have arched pediments, with human heads and carving in the
tympana, supported on deep brackets. The sheetmetal roof cornices are classical
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in detail with dentils and brackets. Paneled stone wing-walls are striking features
of the L-shaped stoops, which have arched openings with grilles at sidewalk level.
The brick side of No. 806 is described under No. 1-7 Fiske Place.

The red brick apartment house at the corner, No. 814-824, which closes
the blockfront, is described under No. 130 Eighth Avenue.

CARROLL STREET Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

NORTH SIDE (Nos.749-801)

Two local builders who lived within the District, John Magilligan and
William Flanagan, developed this entire blockfront between 1886 and 1889, with the
exception of only one house.

Nos. 749-763, the first eight houses within the District on this side were
begun in 1886 by the neighborhood architect-builder John Magilligan. These
brownstones with full-height, two-sided bays are typical examples of the French
neo-Grec style more fully described at Nos. 115-137 on the north side of
St. John's Place. Of this three-story row above high basements, only two retain
the cast iron handrailings, balusters, newels and yard railings of their stoops.
It is likely that they all had small balustrades above the cornice slabs of the

entrances, but only one remains, at No. 753. The roof cornices have moldings
and panels. '

Nos. 765-775. 1In-1887 John Magilligan began building these six brownstones,
introducing to the blockfront full-height, three-sided masonry bays. In prac-
tically all respects, these buildings are similar to Nos. 927-941 President
Street and have some neo-Grec detail. Many of the original cast iron balustered
yard railings and handrailings with sturdy newel posts remain at the stoops.. At
No. 765 and No. 769 the charming carved panels, beneath the central parlor
floor windows, and the capitals of the pilasters of the bays are enlivened by
cherub heads depicted in various moods. The roof cornices are similar tc those
of Magilligan's row to the west, with the addition of brackets.

Nos. 777-789. This row of seven brownstones was also built by owner-
architect John Magilligan but was begun a year later, in 1888. Stylistically, the
houses are similar to those he built across the street in 1889 (Nos. 786-794),
with full-height bays with curved sides. These houses are approached by high,
L-shaped stoops with low, rough-faced stone wing-walls. This rough-faced stonework
reappears in bands beneath all the windows.

Nos. 791-797. William Flanagan, one of the principal developers of the
District, was the owner-architect of this masonry row begun in 1902. The orna-
ment of these handsome houses alternates in an ABAB pattern. Nos. 795 and 797 are
of brownstone; the other two are limestone which became more popular after the
turn-of-the-century as the neo-Classical influence increased. These houses have
full-height curved bays, accented by horizontal moldings and panels of ornament.
At Nos. 791 and 795 the piers of the bays and the pilasters flanking the
doorways are rusticated and these entrances are crowned by triangular pediments
enframing cartouches. Nos. 793 and 797 have pilasters with ornate capitals
separating the windows at the parlor floors, Ionic at No. 793 and Corinthian at
No. 797. These orders, repeated at the semi-engaged fluted columns flanking
the entrances, support entablatures crowned by ornate crestings. The L-shaped
stoops of these houses have square, fluted posts at Nos. 793 and 797, carved
panels in bas-relief and small segmental-arched openings with iron-grilles
on the street side.
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No. 799 is the only house on the blockfront not built by either Magilligan
or Flanagan. It was built in 1889 and designed by Brooklyn architect Albert E.
White for James C. Jewett. White also designed Nos. 876 and 878 President Street.
Originally it may have resembled the President Street houses, but in 1918 the house
was altered to its present neo-Federal appearance by architect George Chappell of
Manhattan who had a long and distinguished career in the history of Brooklyn
architecture. It is faced with Flemish bond, buff-colored brick and has an English
basement. The basement (first floor) walls are faced with stone in random ashlar.
The main feature of the facade is the handsome copper-clad oriel, centered at the
parlor floor, with arched central window set in a pediment. The second story
paneled window lintels are also typical of the neo-Federal style. A paneled brick
and stone parapet crowns the stone roof cornice.

No. 801, the red brick apartment building at the end of the blockfront, is
described under No. 118 Eighth Avenue.

CARROLL STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park West

Nos. 115 and 123 Eighth Avenue provide a fine introduction to this handsome
street. The Carroll Street side of No. 123 Eighth Avenue has a refined, urbane
quality when compared with the robust vigor of the great Romanesque Revival house,
No. 115, on the opposite corner. The blockfronts between Eighth Avenue and Pros-
pect Park West contain some of the most notable houses in the District, many de-
signed by prominent Manhattan architects.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 826-898)

Nos. 826-836 is the long side of No. 123 Eighth Avenue. It is crisply
handled in a perfectly symmetrical manner, and is neo-Italian Renaissance in char-
acter. The formal vertical grouping of the windows at the center is enlivened
by the ornate enframements of the oval and square windows which flank it. Tiers
of windows at the ends of this side elevation lend further emphasis to this wall.
The high wrought iron yard railing is open, airy and elegant.

No. 838 (No. 840 has been omitted from the street numbering system). This is
unusually fine Romanesque Revival brownstone residence probably designed by the
noted Manhattan architect Charles P.H. Gilbert at the same time as the neighboring
houses, Nos. 842 and 846. No. 838 was commissioned by James H. Remington, a dis-
tinguished lawyer, a president of the United States Law Association, a member of
the Montauk Club, and a well-known collector of books and pictures. The corner
tower crowned by a conical slate roof is the most striking feature of this pictur-
esque asymmetrical house, providing a dramatic contrast to the lower, symmetrically
organized classical elevation of the house to the west. It is balanced by a strong
vertical composition at the left. The arched doorway, with dwarf columns, is paired
with its adjoining window and forms a frame for the curved corbel of the three-
sided bay window above. This bay window is in turn surmounted by four arched win-
dows in the plane of the wall, the whole being crowned by a triple-window dormer
with richly ornamented peaked gable and finials. Low stone walls enclosing the
areaways sweep up to form the wing-walls of the stoop. The house is surfaced al-
most entirely with rough-faced stone laid up in random ashlar, with smooth-faced
trim at doors and windows.

No. 842. This wide handsome residence, designed in 1887 by C.P.H. Gilbert
in late Romanesque Revival style, was built for George W. Kenyon. Three stories in
height, the house is constructed of buff-colored Roman brick with brownstone trim.
In design, the house echoes the asymmetrical composition of No. 838, with its tier
of square-headed, mullioned windows with masonry transom bars at the right, crowned
by a gable enriched by chevron-patterned brickwork and four slit windows. The
left side of the house is dominated by a curved bay at the second story and the
entrance doorway, which is slightly off center and has unusual V-shaped stonework
in the arch. Like its neighbor, No. 846, the arched entrance is approached
by a low stone stoop.

No. 846 (No. 844 has been omitted from the street numbering system). This
fine residence of 1887 is quite individual in the subtle quality of its design,
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perhaps reflecting the taste of its owner, Charles Robinson Smith. It was also
built according to plans by C.P.H. Gilbert. 1In style, it is transitional from
late Romanesque Revival to neo-Italian Renaissance. The light-colored, rough-
faced stonework at the first floor, typical of the Romanesque Revival, is effec-
tively contrasted with the smooth, deep orange-colored brick used at the upper
floors., It has an unusual asymmetrical arrangement at the parlor floor, with
an exceptionally wide, Romanesque Revival arched docrway balanced by the square-
headed mullioned window at the left. A low stone stoop with curved wing-walls,
similar to No. 838, sweeps up to the entrance. The fenestration of the upper
stories, equally well-handled, and the roof cornice presage the newly awakened
interest in Italian Renaissance architecture. The roof cornice is extremely
unusual, with a deep overhang carried on projecting rafters and carved end brackets
terminating in animal heads. The wall between the brackets displays a modified
fret design beneath dentils, all in brick.

(Continued on the next page)
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No. 848 was built in 1905 and is a narrow four-story house reflecting
the popularity of red brick with limestone trim at the turn-of-the-century. The
architect was William B. Greenman, who lived at No. 9 Prospect Park !West at that
time. It is an interesting example of the free combination of styles of the
Eclectic period. The two-story, central, three-sided bay is carried on fluted
columns set on low steps in front of the first-floor entrance doorway. The stone
bay is emphasized where it is keyed to the brickwork between the wide stone bands
at the second and third story levels, which repeat the material of the smooth wall
below. The windows have muntins terminated by small pointed arches, repeating the
motif found in the ironwork at the first floor.

Mo. 850-52. This residence, built in 1922 for Mrs. Emily Dalzell
whose family was engaged in the lighterage business, was designed by the noted
architect !Mott B. Schmidt, of Manhattan. In style it is neo-Federal, and construct-
ed of buff-colored Flemish bond brickwork. It was one of the last great,
private residences built in the District. The house has an English basement (first
floor) entered just above street level. The arched doorway, with leaded lunette
and fluted columns, is complemented by the two arched windows with muntins at
the left, set in shallow arched recesses with stone rosettes between them. Sepa-
rating the English basement from the floor above is a stone bandcourse providing
a base for the brick quoins. The rectangular upper story windows with muntins
have splayed brick flat arches. A delicate cornice separates the third floor from
the neo-Federal attic story.

(No. 854 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

No. 856 and 858. This exceptionally handsome, unified pair of houses,
three and one-half stories high, was built in 1889 for Ford, Hagen & Grant. UVhile
the arches of the first floor are Romanesque Revival, the houses are basically
neo-Colonial in character. Random, rough-faced brownstone was used for the
basement and for the high, divided stoop, providing an effective contrast in
color and texture to the smooth-faced, orange-colored Roman brick above. The
design of the first floor is skillfully handled, with the paired doorways and
wide flanking windows unified by the rhythm of their arches. The Colonial features
are esnecially evident in the fan design of the arched lunettes above these doors
and windows, although the stained glass is in the Romanesque Revival tradition.
The double-hung windows have twelve lights in the upper sash, with plate glass
below, the muntins GLeing a neo-Colonial Revival feature. The flat arches at the
heads have slender carved keystones. DPedimented dormers and tall corbelled
chimneys are set in the slate roof above the garlanded sheetmetal cornice.

No. 860. The picturesque combination of Pomanesque Revival and Queen
Anne elements is exemplified by this house built at about the same time as the
adjoinine houses. This narrow residence of Roman brick and brownstone has great
charm and suggests the influence of "Wilson Eyre of Philadelphia. This is es-
pecially apnarent in the large arched window next to the doorway and in the steep
agable with its paired arched windows and the delightful hooded dormers set high
in the roof.

No. 362 was built in 1889 for Abby J. Brills, and designed by the
Brooklyn architect F.B. Langston in a style combinin~ Romanesque Revival and
Renaissance elements. DRising from a fluted corbel resting on an ornate console
is a two-story, shallow bay with curved corners. The use of a two-story bay at
the upver floors and of light-colored brick above a rough-faced basement and
limestone trim gives a character to this house which is similar to Langston's work
of the same period on Lincoln Place near Sixth Avenue. An entrance has been
provided at the basement level.

Mos. 864-872. "illiam B. Tubby, a well-known *fanhattan architect, de-
signed this picturesque row of five houses, which was built in 1887. Tubby was
the architect of the later, handsome Jacobean style townhouse at No. 53 Prospect
Park West. Fine examples of the OQueen Anne style, these five houses display
a broad range of contrasts in the materials used: rough-faced brownstone,
brick, tile, wood and sheetmetal. The group has a rambling character with
a picturesque profile above the cornice recalling the work of the English
architect Richard Norman Shaw, with whom the style is generally associated.

The low-lying horizontality is achieved primarily by extending the tile

of the sloping roofs down over the vertical third floor wall to a line just
above the second story windows. This is further emphasized by the continupus
bandcourse above the first story, the shape and pairing of the windows and
bays and the broad low arches of the entrances. Characteristically Queen Anne,
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the upper sash of the windows and bays is divided into many small lights while the
lower half is generally of plate glass. The paired Romanesque Revival arched
entrances are arranged so skillfully that one is unaware that there are five units.
The subtle variations in design are nowhere more apparent than at the red tile
‘roofs: at No. 864 the roof is slightly convex with a broad, low dormer at the
center; at Nos. 868 and 870 pseudo-hipped roofs are set against the incline of

the main roof, flanked by hooded dormers at No. 868 and with a distinctive central
"eyebrow' window at No. 870. The crowning terminal feature of the row is the '
high Flemish gable which rises directly out of the third floor at No. 872. Another
Flemish feature appears in the stepped party walls at the roofs, separating the
houses. The entrances of Nos. 870 and 872 are still set back behind the great
archway. No. 872 retains most of its original features including the fascinating
iron work at the shared stoop with high central wing-wall.

No. 874. The neo-Georgian residence at No. 874, was designed in 1904 by
the firm of Mowbray & Uffinger and was built for the senior partner, Louis M.
Mowbray. Red brick is laid up in Flemish bond with contrasting stone used at the
English basement (first floor) and in the trim. The Palladian window, with blind
arch centered over the columnar entrance porch, is the dominant feature. A brick
parapet with balusters, rising above a classical cornice, gives appropriate
finish to this handsomely proportioned building.

Nos. 876 and 878. This pair of houses designed by the Brooklyn architectural
firm of Chappell & Bosworth in 1911, was built for Arthur and Edward Beggs. They
are alike except for differences between their entrance porches and the two-story
limestone bay at No. 876. The handling of the red brick and stone and the details
is somewhat akin to the neo-Georgian of the period, but more original in concept.
Horizontal bands of stone at the second and fourth story sill levels and a contin-
uous modillioned roof cornice unify the houses. The windows of the second and
third floors have enframements of stone and are linked by brick panels at the
fourth floor. The windows are divided by pointed muntins at the top, similar
to those at No. 848.

Nos. 880-888. 1In 1894, this group of five late Romanesque Revival houses
was built for E. W. Ford. They are very different in style from the later neigh-
boring houses on the block. These houses have high straight stoops, but the roof
cornices are approximately level with those of the houses to the west. A robust
group, with rough-faced limestone and light-colored Roman brick, these five houses
present generally flat, chunky facades with an emphasis on the horizontal. Inter-
rupting their massive walls are two-story rounded bays at Nos. 882 and 888, the
latter defining the eastern end of the group. Within the vocabulary of the
Romanesque Revival there is a great variety of window treatments: round arches,
flat arches, paired and triple windows, some with stone mullions and transom
bars. Nos. 880, 882 and 388 best reflect the qualities of the late Romanesque
Revival, while the cornice of No. 886, with its swags and dentils, illustrates
influence of the new classicism of the World's Fair of 1893.

In contrast to the Romanesque Revival houses to the west, the side of 890-898,
(also described under No. 18 Prospect Park West), has an elegant neo-Italian
Renaissance refinement expressed in the rusticated first floor with smooth-faced
limestone above. Two pairs of fluted Ionic pilasters, one at each end of the
building extend up to the roof cornice from above the rusticated first floor. The
outstanding feature of this perfectly balanced elevation is the handsome Palladian
window at the center of the first floor. Emphasizing this high point of the Park
Slope area are the two great chimney stacks.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 803-873)

Nos. 803-813. This extremely handsome large double Romanesque Revival
house at the corner is described under 115-119 Eighth Avenue.
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Ne. 815 was built in 1888 for the Charles P. Chapin family which moved here
from 44 Second Place in Carroll Gardens. The house was designed in Romanesque
Revival style by Irooklyn architect H. L. Harris. There is an interesting contrast
between the brick upper floors and the brownstone below. Large blocks of rough-fac-
el stone in the basement and lower half of the parlor floor provide a foil for the
small scale random ashlar in the upper half. Two bold arches enframe the wide win-
dows of the parlor floor, one cf which was the original entrance. The arches,
reeting at the center below the second story oriel, have rough-faced voussiors
springing from decorated bandcourses serving as impost blocks. This curved oriel,
with unusually heavy stone mullions between high, narrow windows, rests on a grace-
fully curved corbel which fcllows the line of the arched windows below. A deeply
recessed entrance has been provided at basement level.

Nos. 817-831. This row of eight Romanesque Revival houses was built in 1896
for G. D. Dearing and designed by Crooklyn architect Thomas McMahon, both from the
Ccbble Hill area. The houses are brownstone at the first floors and basements,
with Romen brick above. The end residences of the group, Nos. 817 and 831, have
full-height, shallow bow fronts which provide effective terminations for the row.
The six houses between them, Nos. 819-829, originally had paired stoops giving
emphasis to the entrances. Dasement entrances have been provided at some of the
houses. The repetition of the rcund-arched windows in the top story is an unifying
feature of most of the center houses. At Nos. 819, 821, 827 and 329 there are in-
terestingly enframe! triple windows at the third floor level. There are shallew,
curved, two-story bays in the middle pair contrasting with the polygonal bays of
the pairs flanking them. Carved Romanesque ornament embellishes the parlor flcors
and stoops.

(No. 333 has bcen onmitted from the street numbering system.)

Nos. 835-851. The next nine houses were built by the neighborhocd cwner-
builder-architect, William Flanagan. Nos. 335-845, a row of six, were built in
1896, two years after Nos. 847-851. Their height and nec-Renaissance character,
so typical of the mid-1890s, contrast with the Romanesque Revival houses adjoining
them to the west. They also provide an indication of Flanagan's development, as
seen six years later in his row at Nos. 721-797 Carrcll Street, between Seventh and
Eighth Avenues. Here he has used brownstone and limestone for the houses. In
basic design they are all alike, with three-story elliptical masonry bays, three-
sided at their top floors. Cclcnettes separating the windows of these bays extend
up through two stories. The parlor floor windows have masenry transom bars with
stained glass transoms above them and carved ornament in the wide bands appears
above the parlor floor windows and at the entrances. The entrance at No. 845, re-
placed by a window at No. 847, hasz carved molling enframements in contrast to the
columnar enframements at the other houses. The Jdouble docrs at No. 245 have six
lights deccrated with wrought iron grilles,with a lion mask in thc center of each
licht. Nos. 847-851 have flush walls at the top stories as opposed t~ the wall
breaks above the bays ~f the later houses to the west. The sheetmetal roof cornices
of the entire row have flcral designs in the friezes and continuous deep bracket
surports.

No. 853 was erccted in 1388 by builder Harvey Murdock, the developer cf Mont-
gomery Place. This handsome Remanesque Nevival house was designed by Charles
Werner. It offers a study in the picturesque massing characteristic nf this style.
There is a variety at each floor in texture and coler, provided by brownstone,
brick and the ornamental treatment. The house is approached by an L-shaped stoop
with a gently curved, low stone railing faced with rough-faced random ashlar mas-
onry. The basement wall, extending up to the parlor flcor windowsills, has the
same stonework. A deeply recessed entrance perch is spanned by a wide arch rest-
ing on squat columns with carved capitals. An openwork stone balcony wall sur-
nounts the porch. At the right of this porch, a three-sided bay rises two stories
terminating in a balcony with brick parapet at the third flcor. The main wall
plane of trick is crowned by a peaked gable with stone finial an? coping on either
side of which rises a steep slate roof. The ocable is flanked by pseudo-bartizans,
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linked by a pebble-surfaced horizontal band which serves as a lintel for the fhird
floor band of windows. This treatment is used again in the voussoirs of the three
arched windows in the gable.

Nos. 855-861. This four house row was built in 1892 for Allan Brothers & Com-
pany, Arbuckle Building, Brooklyn, and was designed by Brooklyn architect Stanley
M. Holden. This handsome row is skillfully designed as a unit, in which one is
not so much aware of the individual houses as the group. Although basically
Romanesque Revival in style, the houses display much Italian Renaissance detail.
Interest is achieved by an alternating ABAB pattern, and by a colorful use of
materials: limestone, rough-cast brick, orange Roman brick, copper and dark red
tile. All the residences have straight limestone stoops and rough-cast brickwork
at the basement walls extending up to the limestone belt course at parlor floor
windowsill level. The A" type buildings have pyramidal roofs above deeply pro-
jecting eaves with ornate arching copper brackets and wreaths below. The "B type
houses have similarly placed pseudo-hipped roofs set against the slopes of the main
roofs. The "A" type houses have large triple windows at the third floors, with
columns crowned by Byzantine corbel blocks supporting the lintels, creating the
effect of open loggias and enhancing the apparent width of the buildings. Richly
ornamented copper oriels with tiled hipped roofs, at the second floors, are the
dominant feature of these houses. The arches above the entrance doorways and win-
. dows are unusual in having ribs of molded brick which spring from carved capitals
set above curved limestone jambs. The large window at No. 855 has a graceful
stained glass lunette set in the arch. The 'B" type houses have Renaissance panels
above the doorways and arched windows are similar to those of the "A" type, with
the addition of charming heads in the impost blocks and stained glass at No. 857.

A more conventional fenestration obtains above.

No. 863. This handsome building was designed by the well-known €firm of
MNapoleon LeBrun & Sons, of Manhattan, best remembered for the Metropolitan Life
Insurance Building and Tower on i%adison Square. It was built in 1890 for William
R. lWebster, a civil engineer. This residence has an elegant simplicity and a full-
height curved bay. The materials--brownstone and a reddish Roman brick--produce a
mellow overall effect. A low brownstone stoop with iron handrailings has stone
newel posts with laurel wreaths in the front panels. The basement and first floor
are handsomely rusticated and the rustications are carried into the voussoirs at the
arched doorway. This stonewcrk has a finely hammered textured surface. A Greek
fret in a horizontal bandcourse appcars below the second story windowsills. Brown-
stone enframements enhance the windows in the brick walls of the upper flocrs.

The most unusual features of this fine residence are the frieze of the entablature
with its pierced windows and dentils and the graceful balustrade at roof level.

Nos. 865-873. There is a classic serenity in the broad wall expanses of the
limestone residence at the corner of Carroll Street and Prospect Park llest.. (also
described under No. 17 Prospect Park "est). The dominant features of the Carroll
Street facade are the charming Ionic loggia at the third story and the arched
windows at the first floor level.

FISKE PLACE

This short street provides a great contrast between the east side, with two
modern apartment houses and an earlier one of the early 1900s, and the west side,
which has a single apartment house and a row of townhouses, of the 1880s and 1890s,
on the west side. The generally low character of the row houses is in scale with
this short street. Represented among the styles are some fine examples of late
neo-Grec, Romanesque Revival and neo-Italian Renaissance.
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EAST SIDE ‘(Nos. 1-7)

No. 1-7 is the long side of the corner house described under No. 806 Carroll
Street.

No. 9-17 is the rear portion of the large apartment house described under
No. 140 Eighth Avenue.

No. 19 (No. 19-21) is a five-story, eight-family apartment house, built
in 1923, for the Fiske Realty Corporation, and designed by the architectural
firm of Slee § Boyson. It is built of Flemish bond brickwork and has flat brick
arches, splayed, with keystones. A central doorway with neo-Georgian enframement
has fluted pilasters supporting an entablature surmounted by a dentiled pediment.

No. 23 is a small four-story brick apartment house built in 1904 for owner-
builder Murtagh of 133 Garfield Place. It has a full-height, curved bay to the
right of the doorway and rough-faced stonework at the first floor and window
lintels. Despite these Romanesque Revival survivals at this late date, the roof
cornice with shells and console brackets reflects the influence of the Classicism
of the Eclectic period.

No. (25)-31 is the long side of the corner house described under No. 251-
253 Garfield Place.

WEST SIDE (Nos. 2-30)

No. 2-10 is the long side, and deep rear yard, of the corner house described
under No. 802-804 Carroll Street.

Nos. 12-16. This group of three late Romanesque Revival houses was built
before 1897 for owner-builder Gilford R. Bartaux. The three houses form a
basically uniform symmetrical composition, with the exception of the differing
second floor bay windows of Nos. 12 and 16. At No. 16 the bay is crowned by a
triangular gable and has a single window; No. 12 has a double window divided by
a mullion and a pitched roof resembling stonework. The center house has a
Palladian-type window at the second floor, but executed in the Romanesque Revival
manner, with heavy masonry mullions and an arch of brick headers terminating at
its base in foliate carving. The third floor windows are all arched, with three
at the center residence and two at the flanking houses. The basements are of
rough-faced stonework while the upper floors are of Roman brick trimmed with
stone. The first floor, above the high basements, is treated with narrow bands
of stone alternating with wide bands of brickwork. Above this floor, and serving
as lintels for doors and windows, is a wide unifying band of carved foliate
design, interrupted by the ornate vertical keystone of the arched front door
of the center house. Beneath the eaves of the roof a textured effect is
achieved by a band of Flemish bond brickwork in which the headers are all
recessed. Carved rafter ends support the eaves and small heads punctuate the
cornice line between the houses. The center house has an attic story with three
windows flanked by pilasters. These houses are back-to-back with three houses of
similar design on Polhemus Place (Nos. 11, 15 and 17) and present a remarkably
unified appearance to the street.

No. 18-20. These two handsome but dissimilar townhouses were built in 1889-
90 for J. F. Ranson and were both designed by the well-known Brooklyn architectural
firm of Parfitt Bros. Both houses display Romanesque Revival and neo-Italian
Renaissance features. Although the basements and the roof parapets are aligned,
these houses each have a distinct individuality established by their designs.
No. 18 has a two-story, three-sided bay decorated at mid-height by an ornamental
band. An arched doorway, to the right of the bay, is surmounted by a handsome
carved corbel, which serves as a deep windowsill for the single window above the
door. The third floor wall is flush above the bay and is crowned by a high gable
with a low quadruple attic window along its base, and decorated by evenly spaced
bosses above. MNo. 20, despite its Romanesque Revival arched windows and parapet
above the doorway, has a Renaissance character, with its severely rectilinear
three-sided bay and porch with pilasters framing the paired windows. This bay is
crowned by a triangular pediment with floral ornament.
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Nos. 22 and 24. These two neo-Grec apartment houses were built in 1888 for
J. F. Ransom of 244 13th Street, Brooklyn, and were designed by Brooklyn architect
J. D. Reynolds, who also was active in the Stuyvesant Heights Historic District.
They are four-stories high and are symmetrically composed, as a pair, with their
arched doorways side by side at the center, flanked by full-height, three-sided
bays. The low stoops retain their cast iron hand-railings and newel posts. A
heavy bracketed cornice crowns each building.

No. 26-30 is the long side of the corner house, with rear yard, described
under No. 249 Garfield Place.

% %k %

GARFIELD PLACE

Garfield Place was originally called Macomb Street, but the name was changed
two years after the assassination of President James A. Garfield, in 1881, to honor
him. On the south side, the block between Seventh and Eighth Avenues is a long
‘one with predominantly brownstone-front rows of substantial uniformity with poly-
gonal masonry bays, which give a pleasant rhythmic flow. On the north side, how-
ever, there are pleasant and unexpected interruptions in the length of the block,
where two short but charming Streets, Polhemus Place and Fiske Place, intersect

Garfield Place. At their north ends, they intersect Carroll Street in the same
manner.

GARFIELD PLACE Between Seventh & Eighth Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 214-(266))
(Nos. 204-212 are outside of the Historic District)

Nos. 214-220. These four neo-Grec brownstones with full-height, two-sided
bays were built in 1884 by owner-builders Martin § Lee of 440 Clermont Avenue,
Brooklyn, who were responsible for much of the development of Garfield Place.

They built many houses within the District and Charles lYerner, the Brooklyn
architect, whose office was in the Garfield Building, did much of their architect-
ural work. These houses are all similar and have a full-height pilaster at the
apex of the bay, intercepted at each floor by horizontal moldings. The bracketed
cornices follow the line of the bays and reflect them. Ornament is kept to a
minimum but appears in the brackets above the doorways and in the full-height
pilasters, with the pilasters flanking the windows grooved at the top half. The
original iron handrailings at the stoops may be seen at all of these houses except
Mo. 214.

Nos. 222-228. Six years later, in 1890, the same builders, Martin & Lee,
constructed the next row. These houses reflect a trend on the part of the build-
ers to create variety within the traditional city row in contrast to Nos. 214-
220 adjoining. This is evidenced in the combination of materials, contrasted with
smooth-faced masonry, and in the planning of the facades. The wide rectangular
bay of No. 222 breaks the pattern of angularity between the two-sided bays to the
west and the three-sided bays of these houses to the east. Here one notes subtle
variations in the capitals of the columns flanking the doorways. Surmounting the
columns, elongated consoles support the cornice slabs of the doorways. All retain
their handsome original double doors. There is just a hint of the Romanesque Re-
vival in the rough-faced stone at the basement level, repeated in bands below the
sills of the upper floor windows; in the use of transom bars, with stained glass
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above, at the parlor floor windows of Nos. 222, 224 and 228; and in the door en-
framements. Beginning with No. 222, the heavy L-shaped type of masonry stoop
continues eastward for the rest of the block.

Mos. 230-238. .These five houses were built in 1891 and are essentially
similar to Nos. 224-228, with certain subtle variations. The doorways, for in-
stance, are simply enframed with grooved moldings surmounted by handsome cornices,
An- lieu of the columnar treatment with brackets. -

Mos. 240-246 were built in 1891 by Jeremiah J. Gilligan, a local architect-.
builder of 97 Sterling Place. The four houses are quite similar in appearance to
Nos. 230-238, except that transom bars have been omitted at the parlor floor win-
dows and the rough-faced stonework beneath them has been laid up in courses.
Alfred P. Sloane, of General Motors fame, resided at No. 240 as a young man. His
sister, Mrs. Pratt, also lived in the Park Slope area, at 125 Lincoln Place.

Nos. 248-256. This charming group of twenty-foot wide brownstones is the
creation, basically Romanesque Revival in style, of architect Helmer Westeen.
They were built in 1891 for L. Anderson § Bro., c2rpenters on Dean Street, in an
alternate ABABA pattern. There is an abundant exuberance of detail at the en-
trances and panels beneath the parlor floor windows including human masks, lions,
reptiles and cornucopias with fruit, some hidden in the foliate scrolls which term-
inate the stoop railings. The A" house has a full-height polygonal bay, while
the '"B'" house has a two-story bay forming a balcony for the third story, above which
is a modified Palladian window. Many interesting details are repeated throughout
including triangular pediments above windows and round-arched windows outlined
with rough-faced voussoirs and drip molds. Carved corbels, beneath the second
floor windows of the ""A" houses, offer pleasant contrast to the sharp angularity
of the surrounding windows. The doorways of the "A" and '"'B'" houses are flanked
by columns with basket capitals, crowned by curvilinear crestings of floral design
at the "A" houses and by entablatures with curved brackets and richly carved
convex friezes at the "B houses. The roof cornices with their widely spaced
console brackets and classical detail are typical of the freedom of the Queen
Anne style.

Nos. 258-264. The next group of four hcuses was begun in 1894 by John J.
Magilligan, owner-builder. He lived on Berkeley Place and did a great deal of
building in the north end of the District, originally favoring the neo-Grec style.
Stylistically, these brownstone houses are similar to Nos. 230-238, except for the
galvanized iron cornice with its Classical swag motif. A basement entrance has
been provided at No. 260.

The corner site (No. 266) is occupied by the garden of No. 174 Eighth Avenue-

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 219-269)

GARFIELD PLACE Between Seventh Avenue § Polhemus Place

(The buildings to the west of No. 219 are outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 219 to 229 were designed by Brooklyn architect Charles "erner and built
in 1890. The masons and owners were Martin § Lee. No. 219 and No. 229 have pro-
jecting full-height bays framing this small blockfront, and the rest of the houses,
Nos. 221-227, are flat-fronted. Architecturally these brownstones, with the
exception of No. 229, are quite simple with vestiges of neo-Grec detailing in the
incised motifs on the parlor and second story windows. There is rudimentary
fluting in the pilasters. An attempt at individuality can be noted in the dif-
ferent motifs on the galvanized iron cornices on each house. No. 229 is distinct
from the others in the group, being larger in scale and similar in design to Nos.
222-228 across the street, by the same builders in the same year. A low stone wall
topped with an open wrought iron cresting curves around the corner into Polhemus
Place, providing a pleasant termination to this short blockfront.
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Nos. 231-239 were designed by Brooklyn architect J.D. Arcliffe, again
for Martin & Lee who developed this row in 1892. These simplified Romanesque
Revival buildings ‘alternate curved, full-height bays with flat.fronts, A
definite effort was made here to make each house different yet completely harmonious
as a group: in the two houses with flat fronts, Nos.233 and 237, the parlor floor
windows and main entrances are arched, but at No. 233 the elongated foliated
terra cotta keystones, reaching to sill height of the second story windows, are
a suitable balancing detail and accent for the arches. The same arched openings
at No. 237 are accented with bold voussoirs of rough-faced stonework. The
corner house, No. 231, has an interesting drip molding over its main entrance and
above this, where one might expect to find a balcony in a larger house, it is
merely suggested with a row of dwarf columns, this "railing' being simply the
height of the adjoining string course. The cornices are also individual to
each house. - o -

Nos. 241-249, were built in 1888 for H. Lansdell from designs by
Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon, who had his offices at 219 Montague Street.
It was Dixon, working with builders John and Isabella Gordon, who was responsible
for much of the development in the 1870s of the west side of Sixth Avenue and of
many of the houses on Lincoln Place between Sixth and Seventh Avenues. These five
almost identical brownstone houses with three-sided bays rising full-height are
very restrained neo-Grec in style and serve to illustrate the '"last gasp" of that
style before it gave way to the Romanesque and Classical Revivals which were to
become so popular for this type of row house. A basement entrance has been provided
at No. 247.

GARFIELD PLACE Between Fiske Place § Eighth Avenue

More than a decade later, the ubiquitous eight-family apartment house
which one finds in profusion in the southern part of the District and on Eighth
Avenue, started appearing. Three such buildings are Nos. 251-253, 259 and 261
Garfield Place. Built in 1903 by Henry Pohlmann of 1235 Third Avenue, Manhattan,
they bear such romantic names as ''Serine', "Lillian" and "Ontrinue'. The fronts
are of buff-colored Roman brick with limestone facing at the first floor and
trim. The central entrances, with small porches, rise a few steps above the
street and are flanked by shallow bow fronts. With subtle variations, the three
buildings are more or less identical, designed in the popular turn-of-the-century
neo-Italian Renaissance style. e :

The corner apartment house (Nos. 263-269), '"The Belvedere!, is
described under No. 162 Eighth Avenue.

GARFIELD PLACE Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park West

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 266-316)

No. 276 (266-276). The Temple House at the southeast corner belongs
to Temple Beth Elohim across the street. Begun in 1928, the Temple House
(also described under No. 175 Eighth Avenue) was built to provide space for
the temple school, with recreational facilities which are now shared with
the Ethical Culture School at 49 Prospect Park West. This is one of the
few buildingsfof the late 1920s within the District. However, its height,
the variegated gray and ochre colors in the stone and the restraint in the
overall design do not strike a discordant note with the neighboring
residences on Garfield Place. Compared with the elegant classical lines
of the temple it serves, it affords an excellent study in changing
architectural tastes during the first quarter of the 20th century. Apove a fi?st
'story banding, round arches rise two stories surrounding the windows in a Yert1ca1
run. Decoration is seen in heraldic devices with religious motifs carved in
shields. The entrance doorway and balcony above, at the extreme east end of the
building, have a distinctly Moorish flavor, featuring symbolic ornament: the Star
of David, the Menorah and the Lion of Judah.
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" Nos..- 278 280, 282. These three-story brownstones w1th low basements
and L-shaped stoops were built in 1910 hy Cohen ‘Bros, for the Arwin Realty
Company. The use of hrownstone, as late as 1910. is. anachronlstlc here.
The full-height angled bay and cornice line of No. 278 provides a contrast
“to the bowed forms at Nos. 280 and 282. The center house has unusual
.‘detail: above the parlor windows. vertical panels display floral motifs
and between them are elongated panels carried on carved corhels with female
heads. At No. 282 the windows of the bay are separated by wide fluted
pilasters with low carved capitals. The double doors are indicative of -
the change in taste of the period from wood to iron-and glass.

Nos. 284 and 286. This pair of handsome residences was erected in
1900 and desicned by owner-architect Peter Delaney for Abraham Sterzelbach,
whose son Lester still lives at No. 286. Their high, L-shaped stoops with
lions heads afford impressive approaches to the front doors. The houses
are practically identical except that No. 284 is brownstone and No. 286
is limestone. At both houses, the rough-faced stone at hasement level
gives the impression that the full-height curved hays are solely supported
by stone piers. The curve of the smooth-faced bay is emph331zed by the
quarry-faced stone of the main wall plane and by bands of fine ornament
at each story. Sheetmetal roof cornices with classical swaes crown the
houses.

Nos. 288-294. This row of four brownstones was designed by owner-
architect Fred Griswold and erected in 1891. Stylistically they are
similar to Nos. 477-501 on the north side of First Street between Seventh
and Eighth Avenues by the same architect, who lived at 497 First Street.
These houses on Garfield Place. however, are a full story taller with
high L-shaped, masonry stoops, while those on First Street have iron
railings and newels. The Garfield Place houses have Romanesque Revival
features, including the arched openings, the stone carving and the low
walls pierced by diminutive arches at the stoops and third floor halconies
- above the oriels. Well-proportioned consoles .carried on pilasters
support these oriels. Keystones over arched doorways are carved with a
- variety of animal motifs. No. 290 is a one story higher than the others,
but has the same elaborate cornice.

Nos. 296 and 298 are one story higher than the neighbors to the west
and this increased height continues to the end of the street. They were
built according to designs of owner-architect Peter Delany, No. 296 in
1898 and No. 298 in 1899, at the same time as the row adjoining to the
east. These residences are identical, except that No. 296 has a limestone
front while No. 298 is a brownstone. The interspersins of the limestone
in the brownstone row is a harbhinger of the increased use and predominance
of this material after the turn-of-the-century. Both have three-sided
bays rising three stories, with triple-arched windows above them, set in
the main wall planes which are crowned hy classical cornices. Stylistically
the carved details are Romanesque Revival, hest seen at the doorway of No.
296 with its gracefully elongated leaf forms at the bases of the arch.
High L-shaped stoops with lions' heads lead up to the entrances.

Nos. 300-308. This classically inspired row of five houses, also
designed by owner-architect Peter Delaney, was bhuilt in 1899, alternating
brownstone and limestone, as at Nos. 284 and 286. The end houses terminate
the row with similar curved three-story bays. All the houses retain their
high rusticated basements and stoops at Nos. 302 and 308. C(lassical swags
are the decorative theme at No. 302, where a small. richly enframed window
surmounts the doorway.’ At No. 304 the most notable features are the two-
story pilasters in the upper floors of the curved-sided hay. Engaged Ionic
columns handsomely divide the windows of the first two floors of the bhay at
No. 306. A noteworthy element is the oval window above the entrance of No.
308, well related to the carving of the doorway bhelow.
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Nos. 310-314. These three brownstones were built in 1900 by William
Flanagan, a prolific developer on the Slope for over twenty years. They
are a sedate expression of the Classical and Renaissance traditions.popular
at the turn-of-the-century. Like the adjoining rows to the west. these
houses have three-story masonry bays and high basements. No. 312 retains
its stoop and semi-engaged Corinthian columns flanking the doorway. The
carved ornament is interestingly varied from house to house.

No. 316 is the last residence on this side of Garfield Place. This
striking house has the "new look"™ for 1911, with its large expanses of
Flemish bond brickwork, its tiered windows and its studied use of ornament.
A spacious brickwalled garden adjoins it to the east, overlooked by a
handsome garden facade. The height of this town house harmonizes with the
neighboring brownstones to the west. The flat front, with its champfered
corners crowned by terra cotta cartouches, is surmounted by bholdly over-
hanging pitched copper eaves supported on copper-clad beams suggesting
North Italian prototypes. The Italian influence is also evident in the
loggia beneath the front gable and in the tower-like bay on the garden
side which rises slightly above the tiled roof. It is similar to No. 61
Prospect Park West built by William Tubby a year earlier. The very fine
brickwork is inset with decorative vari-colored glazed tile and colored
brick. The dark red brick is further set off by white marhle trim around
the central entrance and the small windows flanking it. A terra cotta
cornice slab with lions' heads, over the main door., supports a delicate
wrought iron balcony railing, similar to that on the garden side. The
wrought iron work railing above the garden wall and enclosing the front
yard is also a fine example of the type used at this period.

(The apartment house at the corner. No. U0 Prospect Park West, is
outside the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 271-323)

No. 271-281. On the northeast corner of Garfield Place and Eightb
Avenue is one of the monumental edifices in the Historic District, Temple
Beth Elohim (described under No. 165 Eighth Avenue). The Garfield Place
side of this limestone structure is dominated hy the imposing arched
central window, flanked by the high, narrow windows with arched vpediments.
Further emphasis is given to the central bay by the triangular pediment
above it. A classical side door leads into the low section of the temple
at the east, separating the massive temple from the neichboring rowhouses.

Nos. 283-289, a row of four narrow Romanesque Revival houses with
stoops, was erécted in 1829 by builder Augustus C. Walbridge. of Neéw York
City, and designed by George P. Chappell, of 2U State Street, N.Y.C.
compositional symmetry unifies this row of three-story houses, of
variegated Roman brick, brownstone and tile. The end houses have peaked
gables and are flanked by chimneys risinz above the roofline, while the
two center houses are in a slightly recessed plane with a pair of gahled
masonry dormers set in the steep tiled roof. Features of the Romanesque
Revival include windows with stone transom hars, arched windows -with
drip moldings, foliated stonecarving, dwarf columns and quarry faced
rustication. An interesting detail is the use of stoune lnzenges in the
brickwork of the gables which terminate in foliate carving.

Nos. 291-299 are five rowhouses which are a full four stories ahove
high basements. They were built in 1899 by Park Slope builder-architect
William Flanagan, of 69 Seventh Avenue. He was a prolific huilder using
brownstone and neo-Grec ornament for his earlier houses in the northern
part of the District. These houses give evidence that he moved with the
times: they are in the turn-of-the-century neo-Classical style, alternately
faced with brownstone and limestone. The bays also alternate elliptical
with three-sided bays. rising three stories ahove the hasements. The top
stories, like the houses across the street (Nos. 300-308), are in the
main wall plane of the houses, but the height of this row does not over-
whelm the pleasant residential scale of the street. The end house. Mo.291.
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has an entrance porch with round arch surmounted by a two-sided bhay at
the second story, brought forward to meet the plane of the houses at the
west. Carved ornament appears at the first and second floors and at the
stoops, and stained glass at the parlor floor windows.

Nos. 301-311. ‘These six houses were designed by Brooklyn architect
Magnus Dahlander, who designed some of the finest houses in the Stuyvesant
Heights Historic District. Built in 1892 for Wesley C. Bush, who lived in
nearby Prospect Heights, they are Romanesque Revival in style and composed
in a ABCBCD pattern. Nos. 301, 303 and 305 are three stories over high
basements, unified by an ornate sheetmetal cornice and by L-shaped stoops
of rough-faced stonework. Between the two flush-fronted houses, Nos. 301
and 305, is No. 303 with a full-height, rounded hay. At the center, an
engaged, banded stone shaft, set above a handsome circular ornament,
rises two stories and is crowned by a Romanesque capital. The transom
bars at parlor floor level have stone mullions or a capital above them,
set between two small stained glass windows. The transoms above the
richly enframed doorways are separated by dwarf columns. Nos. 307-311 are
a continuation of the same themes, with an additional attic story
suggesting a loggia. The center house, No. 309, has a two-story oriel of
limestone, similar to the one-story oriel at No. 305. The use of lime-
stone, starting at the second floor of Nos. 301 and 309, is another
attempt to create individuality. This group is terminated by No. 311
with its deeper bay, which advances to meet the end wall of the next
house. This bay is topped with a stone parapet of dwarf columns at the
fourth floor. The group is unified by an ornate sheetmetal cornice.

No. 313, built in 1889, is Romanesque Revival in style, with the
walls now smooth-stuccoed and lined to simulate stone. It has a high
gable at the left side and a peaked dormer set in the steep tile roof.

The broken roof line contrasts with the wide smooth curve of the two-story
bay. The parlor floor windows are deeply recessed and divided by stone
mullions. The second story windows in the bay are also divided by
mullions.

No. 315, also bhuilt in 1889, is totally different in style. Tt
recalls many of the London terrace houses of the Regency period, with
rusticated English basement. It has a two-story, three-sided bhay crowned
by a balcony with wrought iron railing. The entrance is approached hy a
wide, low stoop. There is a handsome arched fanlight in the doorway. The
triple-sashed windows, which one expects to find at the parlor floor are
placed at the third floor level, two of which give access to the balcony.
Low windows at the fourth floor are surmounted by a simple dentiled molding
heneath a low parapet.

No. 319 was built in 1889 for Rodney Allen Ward  the brother-in-law
of Timothy L. Woodruff, Lt. Governor of New York State, who also lived in
the District. It was designed by the distincuished architect C. P. H.
Gilbert, whose work in the District is concentrated mainly on Mgntgomery
Place and in the handsome Richardsonian Romanesque house on the northeast
corner of Carroll Street and Eighth Avenue (No. 117 Eishth Avenue). No.
319, a substantial Romanesque Revival house, has smooth wall planes of
orange-colored Ruman brick with roush-faced random stonework at the parlor
floor and basement levels. The arched windows and entranceway are
delineated with rough-faced limestone voussoirs. There is a low, broad
stoop. An elliptical bay extending up three stories is crowned hy a triple
window with colonettes. A handsome classical cornice crowns the huilding.

Nos. 321-323. A charming matching pair are these residences in the
picturesque and romantic Queen Anne style of the late 1880s. They are
beautifully preserved, even to the small lights in the upper sash of the
second and third story windows at No. 323. They have a pair of peaked
shingled gables with oval windows. There is a pleasant rhythm in the
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arches of the windows and deeply recessed paired entranceways, repeated
again in the small windows on the second story, which have fanlights. The
houses are of orange brick with sandstone trim. Rising above the slate
roof are chimneys crowned by charming swirled chimney pots.

No. 35 Prospect Park West, a fifteen-story apartment house which
terminates this side of Garfield Place,is out side of the Historic
District. It occupies the site of the former George C. Tiiyou mansion.
Mr. Tilyou, an entertainment impresario, was the creator of the world
famous Steeplechase Park in Coney Island.

LINCOLN PLACE

The striking feature of this street is the wide variety of building
types and architectural styles to be found here including a club house, a
school, a church and several architect-designed individual houses, two of
which have spacious grounds, set among groups of row houses and apartment
houses. The latter, built after the turn-of-the-century. attest to the
continued popularity of Park Slope as a residential district. The contrast
between the north and south sides of the street is striking: the north
side contains the wide range and variety of building types described ahove,
contrasting with the uniformity of row houses on the south side. The
section of Degraw Street east of Fifth Avenue was renamed Lincoln Place
in 1873, in memory of Abraham Lincoln.

LINCOLN PLACE, Between Sixth & Seventh Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 86-168)

No. 86-94 is the long side of the house described under No. 175 Sixth
Avenue. On this side, it displays a sheetmetal bay window at the parlor
floor crowned by an ornamental arched pediment. A chimney of grooved
brickwork rests on a carved stone corbel hlock. A two-story structure
with garage beneath now fills the rear yard (No. 9u).

Nos. 96-110. This row of eight houses provides a fascinating and
rather romantic combination of the Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne
styles. Designed by Brooklyn architect F. B. Langston for James A. Bills,
they were built in 1888-89, together with the houses around the corner on
Sixth Avenue. The row as a whole has great dignity. With its heavy, L-
shaped stoops and massive, Richardsonian, rough-hewn stonework at the
basement and parlor floors and defining the large round-arched windows.

- An interesting contrast, which is both original and varied, is provided by
the delicate ornament on the lintels above the doors. All but two houses
retain their multi-paneled doors. Elahorate two-story oriels of sheetmetal
- show the Queen Anne influence. 'They are adorned with classical details

and have pilasters supporting arched pediments at the third story portions
of the oriels. The contrast in color and texture of the stone, brickwork
and metal gave each house in this group an element of individuality which
still survives. No. 108 was once the home of Frank Montgomery Avery, a
prominent lawyer and early member of the Montauk Cluh. He housed his
valuable library and art collection here.

(Nos. 112, 120 and 138 have been omitted’ from the street numhering
system) . - .
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Nos. 114-154, This long row of brownstones in the neo-Grec style, of
which all but Nos. 124 and 146 retain their high stoops, is the work of
three enterprising developers and builders of the 1880s: Jchn Gordon and’
his wife Tsabhella, of 2 Willow Street on the Heights, John Monas and J. .J.
Gilligan neighborhood builders who both lived at Gz Park Place.

John and Isabella Gordon, with their architect Robert Dixon, were
responsible for the development of the west end of the block (Nos.1l1lu4-136)
at the end of the 1870s, signalizing recovery from the depression of the
mid-seventies. Plans were filed for the three charming houses at Nos.

114, 116 and 118 in December 1878, and the rest followed in 1879. Neo-Grec
decorative motifs, which are hasically the same throughout the row, are
best studied at these three houses which, after almost a century, retain
all their original features, except for some alterations to the front doors.
Two stories high, they are a full story lower than the houses to the east
and west of them, yet hecause their proportions are so fine they are in

no way dwarfed hy them. Shallow two-sided bays rise the full height of
each house. The delicately incised neo-Grec decorations at the window and
door enframements are still remarkably crisp and the richly detailed
bracketed and paneled roof cornices are typical of the style. These houses
retain their cast iron balustrated handrails terminating in imposing newel
posts and spiky yard railings, as do so many others in this row. Nos. 132
and 134 have fourth story mansard roofs.

. John Monas, owner-mason, built Nos. 1u0-1Ul4 in 1888, assisted hy

architect-carpenter J. J. Gillican. They were among the last houses to go
up on this block, hut are essentially similar to their neighbors to the
west, except for the more elaborate treatment of their doorways: here,
cornice-slabs are supported on deep curvilinear brackets which were
surmounted by low balustrades with finials. No. 142 still retains fine
paneled doors.

The last five houses of this brownstone row, Nos. 1uU6-154, were built
by Monas and Gilligan in 1825, They are also neo-Grec in style, althouch
No. 146 has been altered to provide a basement entrance. While No. 150
has the same two-sided hay as the other houses, it was apparently given a
specially designed front for the original owner, William A. Avis. The
stylized floral bas-relief, employing the popular sunflower motif beneath
the third floor windows, helongs to the new Queen Anne style. Another
noteworthy feature is the foliate decoration at the top and bottom of the
solid masonry wing-walls of the stoop.

No. 158-160 (No. 156 has heen omitted from the street numhering
system). This 1is a four-story brick apartment house built in 1922. The
architect, William C. Winters, adjusted its scale to complement the neich-
boring row houses. Tnterest focuses on the stone doorway with its paneled
pilasters and splayed flat arch with high keystone supporting the cornice
slab. An interesting treatment of the brickwork ornaments the facade.

The corner house, No. 168, is part of a double house described under
No. 62 Seventh Avenue. It was once the home of Hosmer Buckingham Parsons,
general agent and cashier for Wells Fargo & Company and a prominent member
of the Montauk Club.

LINCOLN PLACE Between Fifth & Sixth Avenues.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 73-83)

No. 73-83 is the long side of the house described under No. 168 Sixth
Avenue and its rear lot. ‘
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NORTH SIDE (Nos. 85-167)

Nos. 85-(85-95). The church, at the corner :of Lincoln Place and Sixth
Avenue, 1s the sixth Avenue Baptlst Church of 1880 (described under No. 171-
._,175 Slxth Avenue)

(No. 97 is the empty lot between the church and No. 99.)

Nos. 99-113 (No. 111 has been omitted from the street numhering system)
This row of seven houses was bhuilt in 1879-80 for Isabhella Gordon, the
wife of the builder John Gordon, and was desiened by their favorite
architect, Robert Dixon.  These brownstones are generally two stories high
.and have two-sided bays with delicately incised neo-Grec detail at the
doorways, cornices and window lintels which are "eared" (acroteria at the
ends). The first two houses, Nos. 99 and 101, are distinguished from the
others by their mansard roofs, described on the original building permits
as "French Roofs™. The next two houses, Nos. 103 and 105, had full
shingle-clad third stories added in 1898. The original cornice line has
been continued below these third stories with corbels set beneath bhalconies.
At some of the stoopss the heavy cast iron newel posts have unusual detail.

Nos. 115-119. These three houses with flush brownstone fronts are
two windows wide and have late Italianate detail. These were the
earliest houses built on this blockfront and were constructed by owner-
builder William H. Hoover in 1874-75. Nos. 117 and 119 retain their.
handsome cast iron balustered handrailings and newel posts at the stoops
and their yard railings with gates. The stoops, at these two houses, lead
up to arched doorways crowned by low-arched pediments carrleg on brackets
The long parlor floor windows at all three houses have stene shelves
beneath them carried on corbel blocks and the keystones of the segmental-
arched W1ndows of the rusticated hasements

Nos 121 125 were huilt by Wllllam Gubbins by 1820 on land he purchased
in 1875. These three narrow flush-fronted brownstones were also two
windows wide and more ornate than the three honses to the west. The
influence of the French neo-Grec style is evident in the brackets suoporting
the low-arched pediments over the doors and in the design of their roof
‘cornices. The windows all have molding enframements and the sills are
carried on tapered corbels. The rusticated basements have segmental-arched
windows and the balustered cast iron stoop handrailings are repeated at
the yard railings.. No. 125 was for many years the home of Mrs. A. H. Pratt,
sister of Alfred P. Sloan of the General Motors Company, also a resident
of the neighborhood.

Nos. 127-135. This row of five neo-Grec brownstone houses was built
~in 1885-86 by owner-mason William Gubbins and was designed by Brooklyn
architect Charles Werner. The houses are three stories high with full-
height, two-sided bays displaying that neo-Grec ornament so typical of the
northerly Park Slope area. The incised linear detail. both horizontal and
vertical, diminishes toward the tops of the bays. A bhracketed cornice
with panels crowns the row, reflecting the angularity of the bays against
the skyline. Most of these houses retain their fine cast iron yard
railings with wrought iron gates and their bhalustered handrailincs and
massive newel posts surmounted by urns at the stoops. The halustrade with
arns theme is carried at suwll ‘scaie above the doorways. Three houses
retain their handsome original doors.

(No. 137 has been omitted from the street numhbering system.)

No. 139, This picturesque individual town house stands out conspic-
vously between the uniform row houses which flank it on either side. It
was built in 1881 for John Condon, a florist at 734 Fifth Avenue,
opposite Greenwood Cemetry. At the left, a three-sided hay with a
‘rectangular three-sided window is crowned by a picturesque pyramidal slate
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"roof which gives the bay the appearance of a tower. This is balanced at
the right by a mansard roof at third story level. Although this house was
built before some of its retardataire neo-Grec neighhors, this brick house
with brownstone trim, displays classical elements of de51qn reflecting the
-currently popular Queen Anne style. The small panels, of the entrance
doors and the unusual cut-brick panels with their sunflower motifs below
the second floor windows, are typical Queen Anne features. A leaded glass
transom of intricate design apoears above the entrance doors. The cornice
below the mansard roof has unusual brackets with miniature Ionic capltals
at the top of each one.

Nos. 14l1-1u47., These four neo-Grec houses of 1886, designed by N. H.
Doherty, are quite similar to those west of No. 139, except for the fact
that the apexes of their full-height, two-sided bays have flat pilasters
applied to them, features which are carefully reflected by the breaks in
their roof cornices, displaying single head-on brackets. No. 143 retains
its original balustered cast iron yard and stoop railings with massive
newel posts and all have their fine original doors, except for No. 1U7,
where a bhasement entrance has been provided.

(No. 149 has been omitted from the nresent street numberineg system.,)

No. 153 (151-155) is an exceptionally fine Romanesque Revival town
house with a spacious yard, erected in 1886-87 for the Morris Building
Company, of which William Pheitps was president. In 1896 it was greatly
enlarged to the rear by its owner, Frank L. Babbott, whose wife Lydia was
a Pratt. Tt was designed hy the noted Manhattan architectural firm of
Lamb & Rich, and constructed of brick with brownstone trim by the Brooklyn
builder Thomas B. Rutan. With its deep yard to the east. the handsome
east elevation, as well as the front, may he seen to advantase. The strong
asymmetry of its design may hest be seen at the front, where a three-sided
corner bay with peaked roof dominates the long sweep of the roofline
which comes down to the top of the second floor windows at the entrance
side. This corner hay is further dramatized by the rake of a large gable,
on the east side, which literally sprinss upward from the third floor
windowsill of the bay. To lend further interest, a high chimney, seated
on a lions head corbel at second floor level, extends upward hetween the
corner bay and the large eastern gable. The detail of the house includes
enormous rough-faced lintels ahove the first floor openings, visually
laced together beneath the chimney by stone lozenges. Brick, stone and
terra cotta have all been used to great effect with a fret nattern under
the eaves at the front executed in hrick. It is interesting also to note.
despite its early date +the appearance of classical elements in the design,
which may be noted in the columnar treatment of the third floor of the
corner bay and in the very delicate pnedimented dormer to the west of it.

Nos. 157-167 is the long side of the larce mansion described under
No. 58-60 Seventh Avenue, now the Brooklyn Conservatory of Music.

LINCOLN PLACE Between Seventh & Eighth Avenues.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 170-252)

No. 170-180 is the long side of the corner house with the extensions
front and rear which include shops serving the community. It is described
under No. 59 Seventh. Avenue as the first of a row of ten houses erected in
1880 by architect-builder-owner William Flanazan, of Berkeley Place.

Nos. 182-194. This row of seven neo-Grec brownstones was also
built by William Flanagan. No. 182 was huilt first, in 1881, and the rest
of the row to the east was begun in 18R2. These three-story houses. set
above high basements, have full-heisht, two-sided bays with cornices just
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above the carved lintels of the parlor floor windows. The segmental-arched
doorways have grooved pilasters surmounted by brackets. These brackets
support rectilinear stone slahs crowned with iron crestings, except at

No. 182 where a carved lintel has been introduced. Nos. 192 and 194 retain
their handsome cast iron handrailings and newel posts, while basement
entrances have been provided at Nos. 184 and 186. The animation of the
roof cornices, which follow the profiles of the bays, is enhanced by the
use of closely spaced brackets with panels between.

Nos. 196-206. These six brownstone houses are the work of architect-
builder Thomas Fagan of 256 Grand Avenue, Brooklyn, who was an active
developer ‘in the northern part of the Slope in the 1880s and 1890s. He . -
bought the land in 1883 and erected the houses shortly thereafter. They
make an interesting contrast with the adjoining Flanagan houses.  Nos.
196-206 ‘are much bolder in feeling, an effect created not so much from
their decoration as from the blunt, angular shape of the two-sided bays
with a full-heisht series of pilasters at the apex. The criss-cross motif
and the brackets of the wooden cornices emphasize the angularity of the
bays. The entrances are approached by high stoops all of which have
retained their handsome cast iron handrailings and newel posts, except No.
204 and No. 206 where hasement entrance has heen provided. The square-
headed doorways, with grooved pilasters and bhrackets, support cornice slabs
which originally had delicate iron crestings, which may still he seen at
Nos.196, 20U and 206.

(Nos. 208-212 have been omitted from the street numhering system.)

Nos. 214 is a picturesque Queen Anne house and is a fine example of
an architect-designed house. which may he compared with No. 139 Lincoln
Place. Brooklyn architect Charles Werner desicned No. 214, which was
built for Henry Gaullieur and later hecame the home of George Fletcher.-
President of the Asbury Park Gas Company. Built in 1883, it has happily
escaped any major changes. There is an interesting contrast in the use of
building materials. with a roush-faced hrownstone basement, and face-brick
in the stories ahove. A three-sided bay rises from the basement throuch
the second story. The fine ‘'doorway is crowned by an ornate cornice with
pediment above the central window. It has stained glass transoms above
the windows. An L-shaped stoop with rough-faced stone wing-walls leads
up to the square-headed front doorway. It is flanked by fluted pilasters,
with richly carved rectangular brackets ahove. These hrackets, and the
central keystone above the door, suggest a shallow cornice slah. The
windows have splayed stone lintels with keystones and. at the second
floor have unusual tripartite ornaments beneath the sills, consisting of
three panels., two square with the one at the center a rectangle drovnped
down between them. They originally displayed low relief carved floral
ornament and the long central panel rests on the keystones of the windows
of the bay heneath them. The third floor, above a cornice, has a triple
dormer window above the hay crowned by two low windows and a high ornate
pediment. To the left of this window a double dormer window displays a
low broken pediment. A handsome roof of scalloped slates rises ahove
these windows and hehind the pedimented dormer ahove the bhay.

No. 216, although built in the early 1880s, was bhrought forward to
the lot line when it was altered around 1930 into an apartment house, with
a new Tudor style facade. This four-story buildine of bhrick has a first
floor entrance at the left side enfromed with stone. A high heraldic
emblem centered above the door has a drip molding which is shouldered down
over the stone lintel at either side. The second floor windows have stone
jambs keyed to the brickwork and shallow rectangular lintels above them.
The third and fourth floor windows. at the right side, are amply enframed
with half-timbering infilled with stucco and crowned hy a high gabhle. A
tall chimney to the right of this =able and a receding roof, above the
left-hand window, give the roofline an extremely picturesqne character.
All the windows are multiple steel casements.
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Nos. 218 and 220 were a pair of three-story houses built in 1883 hy
owner-builder E. N. Day, and designed by Brooklyn architect M. .J. Morrill.
- No vestige of No. 218 is visable from the street today as it was completely
‘altered and converted to avartments in 1934. This apratment house is five
stories high with a licht-colored brick front. Tt has paired windows at
the first floor and triple windows above at the right-hand side. Tt is
crowned by a brick parapet. No. 220, although altered, retains its original
bhay, stoop and roof cornice. '

Nos. 222-230. The next five three-story houses were built by Brooklyn
architect-owner E. B. Stinger in 1886. Nos. 222-226 are conventional neo-
Grec brownstones with full-height, three-sided bays, while No. 224 has had
its cornice removed and an extra floor added. The cornices are bracketed,
with small horizontal windows in the fascia, and the entrances have cornice

"slabs carried on brackets with balustrades above. The balustered cast iron
handrailings and newel posts at the stoop of No. 226 remain. Nos. 228 ana
230, although erected by the same builder, are quite different in some of
their details and in the treatment of the top floors. The two-story hays
are crowned by low railings with cast iron finials. Here the introduction
of floral carved ornament in pilasters and panels suggests the influence
of the Renaissance tradition, as 8o the entrance door enframements with
their floral brackets supporting cornice slahs with ornate central motifs.
The elliptical arched windows above the two-story bays, with their formal
spandrel panels meeting at the central keystones, suggest a more purely
classical treatment. The stoops, with low wing-walls, have pipe railings
terminating in upright cast iron griffins used as newel posts.

" No. 232.° This house was built in 1889 for William Svence, a coal
merchant, and was designed by Charles Werner. Originally a three and a
half story buildinz, it has been raised to four. 1In a later alteration,
.the front was smooth-stuccoed and a basement entrance was provided.

No. 234, Althouvgh its ori~inal peaked roof was removed to accomodate
a full top story, this house retains many of its fine Romanesque Revival
features. It was built for S. E. Brchanan in 1829, from designs by the
well known architect, William B. Tubby, who was also architect of the
Charles M. Pratt residence at 2Ul Clinton Avenue, the Library of Pratt
Institute, and the mansion at No. 53 Prospect Park West. There is a
subtle contrast in the color of the brickwork which accents the small
arches of the row of third floor windows. These windows and the front
door are flanked by clusters of dwarf columns. Low-relief foliate carving
decorates the brackets supporting the handsome, centrally located, second-
story oriel as well as the low stone wing-walls at the front steps.

(Nos. 236-240 have been omitted from the street numberinz system.)
No. 2U2 is a one-story garage constructed at the rear of No. 252.

No. 252 is the lon~ side of the house described under No. 28 Eighth
Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 169-251)

Lining this side of Lincoln Place, hetween the row houses facing
Seventh Avenue and those on Eighth Avenue, there originally were seven
semi-detached, villa-style residences which gave a suhurban atmosphere to
this street--now replaced by the Berkeley School complex and three 20th
century apartment houses to the east. Helen Gahagan Douglas lived in one
of these villas in her youth. '

, No. 169-179. No. 169, the mansarded buildinc with stores beneath is
~ described under No. 57 Seventh Avenue. The rear yard has a one-story
addition containing storage space for the Seventh Avenue store and another
unit occupied hy a store at the eastern end of the lot, No. 179,
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No. 181 (181-203), The Berkeley Institute, a private school for girls
established in 1887, retained the architectural firm of Walker S Morris
of Manhattan, to design their main building in 1896. Tt is designed in a
modified version of the neo-Jacobean style of the Eclectic period, which
was in vogue at that time, and is constructed of brick with stone trim.
The building is seven windows wide, with gables at each side which have
stone balls at the shoulders. Stone bandcourses and quoins define
horizontal and vertical divisions. A central doorway surmounted by a hich
window with balcony, all elahorately trimmed with stone, gives importance
to the entrance bay. Handsome wrought iron doors adorn the arched entry.
A high addition fills the lot at the rear, and a new stairtower has been
added at the east end of the main buildinsg. The entrance to the playground
of the school separates the main building from the new gymnasium. located
to the east of it (No. 193-203). The gymnasium was built in 1937-38 and
was designed by Brooklyn architect John Burke. It is a simple functional
structure of brick and has a row of five rectangular windows. set hetween
piers, east of the arched entrance door, which is enframed by pilasters
supporting an entahlature. There is a sincle window located to the west
of the door in this low entrance section.

(No. 205 has been omitted from the street numhering system,)

No. 209 (207-211). This nine-story brick apartment house, which
dominates the north side of the street, was built for the Lobart Realty
Company and begun in 1928, 1t was designed by Manhattan architect Arthur
Lobo. The first two floors of No. 209 are faced with limestone and the
doorway, with fluted pilasters and entablature, reflects Ttalian Renaissance
antecedents. Although the doorway is off center, four tiers of doubhle
windows rise up symmetrically in the upper hrick section and are crowned
by low arched pediments. The two central tiers have handsome, balustered
terra cotta bhalconies at thefourth and eighth floors, creating a sparkle
of light and shadow on this otherwise flush-front wall.

No. 225. Lower in heisht than its neichbhor to the west, this six-
story brick apartment house is a good example of the Federal style so
popular with architects in the 1920s. 7Tt was built in 1923-24 for Gordon &
Berry and was designed by the architectural firm of Caughey & Evans. The
brickwor% is laid up in Flemish hond and extends from a low stone hase to
the underside of the coping at the parapet. All the windows are triple
except at the end bays and at the central tier ahove the entrance door.
The doorway, crowned by a "hroken" pediment supported on columns, is a
neo-Georcian feature which is typical of the liberties taken by architects
when designing "Colonial architecture . Neo-Federal features include the
arches above the second floor windows, with their stone fan motifs, and
the stone roundels set between the windows at the top floor. Brick quoins
define the ends of the main front wall.

No. 235 is also of brick and six stories hish. It was built in 1937
for Lincoln Plaza Apartments. Inc., and was desicned by Bronx architect,
Charles Xreymborg. The first floor is of rusticated bricwork surmounted
by a narrow stone bandcourse. An arched doorway is flanked by arched
windows set off by columns and crowned by a paneled entahlature, all of
wood. This feature gives a neo-Federal character to this building in
which the steel window sash indicates more nearly the actual date of its
construction.

Nos. 2u41-251 is the long side of the houvse described under No. 26
Eighth Avenue. A one-story garage and a narrow access passacde occupy the
rear lot of this property.
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SOUTH SIDE (No. 25W)
No. 254 is the long side of the house described under No. 27 Eighth
Avenue.

, (The narrow end of the corner apartment house, No. 25 Plaza Street,
is outside the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 253-265)

No. 253-265 is the long side of the Montauk Club, which is described
under No. 19-25 Eighth Avenue.

MONTGOMERY PLACE

Montgomery Street, named after General Richard Montgomery, the hero
of the Battle of Quebec (1775), was renamed Montgomery Place in 1889. It
exemplies the original meaning of the word "place” as used in London, and
in a few instrnces in Brooklyn Heights, as Montgomery Place is oniy one
block long, begiming at Eighth Avenue and ending at the Park. The vista
- is closed at Eighth Avenue by an amber brick six-story "Moderne" apartment

house of the 19u40s, "a very successful termination in a totally different
style", according to the AIA Guide to New York City. On this street it
is relatively close from housfront to housefront, with minimal setbhacks to
allow for low stoops. The fronts are generally low, with eave or cornice
lines above the third story surmounted in some cases hy low attics, gables
or large dormer windows. The entire street is said to have been built up
as a single real estate venture by Harvey Murdock hetween 1887 and 1892.
C. P. H. Gilbert, an outstanding Manhattan architect of the veriod, designed
twenty of the forty-six houses on this street. The wide variety among
them was intentional and counteracts the uniformity generally associated
with developers' rows.

MONTGOMERY PLACE Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park West

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 2-72)

No. 2-6 is the short side of the corner apartment house described
under No. 1lu43 Eighth Avenue.

No. 10 (8-12) is a four-story brick apartment house with stone trim,
identical to its neighbor, the corner apartment house of 1910.

Nos. 14, 16, 18. These three residences are very picturesque and
bold in character. Visually unified in materials, color and composition,
they have rouch-faced random ashlar brownstone on the first story with
brick above arched entrances, second story oriels and steep roof gahles
silhouetted at the skyline. Nonetheless, there is considerable variation
in design giving individuality to each of these basically Romanesque
Revival houses. These three, and the three houses directly across the
street, Nos. 11, 17 and 19, are the earliest on the block. They were all
designed by C. P. H. Gilbert and built in 18R7-88. Nos. 14, 16 and 18 were
built for Messrs. Thomas Van Loan, R. Starr and G. A. Price respectively.
Similar in character, it would seem they were intended to set the standard
for this street.
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No. 14 is of dark red brick with a very broad low stoop, which leads
up to the doorway, one of two arched openings, the other being a window
with stone mullions, transom bars and tiny leaded lights. The brownstone

"arches have a distinct stepped profile keyed to the brickwork. ‘Above these
arches there is a shallow howed oriel surmounted by a symmetrical ‘group

of arched windows with terra cotta dripmolds. A rich foliate band in

terra cotta runs across heneath the sill of the four little windows in

the gable. ' :

No. 16 is of lichter red brick with a narrower arched entrance. The
rough-faced brownstone rises to a point helow the ornamental impost blocks
of the arch. The oriel at the second story, above the parlor floor windows,
is carried on rough-faced corbel blocks. It is surmounted by a roof deck
with briclt parapet serving a triple 'window set in a brick-arched recess
with scalloped shingles. The gable crowninz this hay is detailed in the
Queen Anne manner.

No. 18, of light orange brick, is exceptionally handsome. It has a
broad arched doorway, approached by a wide stoop. At this house, the
brownstone of the lower floor encompasses the broad smooth corhel supporting
the three-sided central bay window. The third floor windows have a triple
central unit with low segmental arch, flanked by single windows, all
united beneath a continuous dripmolding. At the base of the roof gable
three windows arched with headers share a richly ornamented corhel-sill.
This stepped gable, has three slit windows, with corbeling helow and
recalls Dutch precedent. :

Nos. 20-28. These five houses form a related group bhut variations
in the material, rooflines and decorative detail make each one distinct.
They were constructed by neighhorhood owner-huilders Delaney & Collins in
1897-98. All of them have two-story bays, alternating three-sided and
bowed, in an ABABA sequence, and all but one retain their L-shaped stoops.
Materials--limestone and brownstone--change in an irregular pattern. Nos.
24 and 26 have gables and scalloped tile roofs above the third floor
cornice line. The implication:is that prospective owners were given a
choice of options for each house, except for the predetermined shane of
the bays. In ageneral these five houses are much more like conventional
row houses of the period than any other houses on this side of the street.
There seems to he no commitment to one particular style: some entrance
doors and windows have round arches of Romanesque Revival style over
columns, while others are neo-Renaissance in design. Rather fine relief
decoration varies from house:;to house:; at No. 26,there is a has-relief of
musical symhbols ahove the parlor floor windows. A basement entrance has
been provided at No. 22.

Nos. 30-34 of limestone, terra cotta and off-white Roman brick, are a
study in crisp neo-Italian Renaissance design and a decided contrast to
their dark-hued Romanesque neishbors. They were huilt in 1896 for George
R. Bartraux, who lived on Fourth Street, just west of the District. and
were designed by Brooklyn architect, Robert Dixon. They introduce the
theme, repeated eastward down the streets of a flush-fronted central house
flanked by those with full-width, three-sided bays. The relatively small
areas of brickwork contrast with the large proportion of delicately detailed
terra cotta trim enframing the many rectangular opmenings. A semi-cirvcular
bas-relief panel abhove the front door of the central house, the arched
~windows to the left of it and the ornate 1ittle window above the doorway
are the only details which break the rectilinear uniformity. Straight
stoops with solid wing-walls and columnar newels lead to the doorways.

Nos. 36-u0 forms a visuvally unified, roughly symmetrical, monumental
composition: a flush-fronted central house with two-story oriel is flanked
by two full-width, bow-fronted houses. These houses were all desizned by
C. P. H. Gilbhert and built in 1888-89 for Messrs.Chauncey Tves, C. A.
Murphy and Enoch Rutzler respectively. A single steep roof plane runs
across the central house linking it with the cone-shaped roofs of the
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bow—fronted end. houses whlan give the effect of:towers. The picturesque
red. slate roofs, with shingled central dormer’ window and copper’ dormers

'in the tower roofs at No. 36 are the most remarkable features of these
houses. Two battered brick chlmneys surmount the ridge of the main roof.
The houses have certain Romanesque Revival details, esoec1ally on the first
story, where the rough-faced random ashlar hrownstone ‘of the hasements
runs up to varying heights hetween the first floor windows. The upper
walls are of orange-colored hrick trimmed with rovgh brownstone, except for
the two-story oriel of the central house, No. 38. Here, the thlrd floor
has red slate cladding to =zo with its distinctly Queen Anne windows, which
have thirty lights in the upper sash above plate glass below. Despite
differences in massinz from the adjoiming pair of houses to the east fNos.
U2 and ul4), this group of three maintains some of the alignments of windows &
bandcourses. The intaglio band of brickwork above the third story windows,
runs unchanged from the bowed" front of No. u0’ across thé flush front of No
42 at this level.

Nos. 42 and 44, This handsome douhle house with paired doorways and
stoops was built for S. S. Hannah in 1888-89 and designed by C. P. H.
Gilbert. Like the adjoining residences to the west, they are striking in
color, with variesated oranie-colored brick and roush-faced stone work at
the first floor and basement. The style is modified Romanesque Revival.
Two-story curved bays flankinm the doorways lend interest to the otherwise
flat facade. The severity of the wall surfaces is relieved by the intaglio
lines of hrickwor'< at the flat arches of the second and third floor windows,
which recall the Georgian splayed lintel and by the panel in the high blank
attic wall. This panel of ornamental brickwork extends the full-W1dth30f
both houses and, with the deep Italian Renaissance overhang of the roof
carried on beam' ends, unifies the pair.

No. U6 was built for A. S. Locke in 1888-89 and was designed by C. P. H.
Gilbert. It is an unusual three-story house of variesated orance-colored
Roman brick. Unlike its neighbors, it has a paravet in lieu of an attic
story. The basement is very low, and the window and door openings are
unusually small, in keeping with the smaller scale of this house. The wide
low door is of sturdy oak. . Deep. splayed, segmental arches of bhrick
contrast with the relatively small size of the openings they span. The
projecting second story bay window has two casements set above a hroad
deep band of corbeled brickwork. The only decoration is the foliate relief
of the stones flanking the splayed arches of the top floor windows, and
the terra cotta cornice ahove them. A tall brick parapet above this
cornice has a horizontal row of small square openincs and is crowned by
a coping swept up at the ends to meet square éend hlocks. '

~ No. U8 was built for C. L. Rossiter in 1889-90 and was desicned by
'C. P. H. Gilbert. Of colored red brick similar to that of No. 50, it is

a three and one-half story Romanesque Revival house with rough-faced stone
basement extending up to include the sills at the parlor floor windows.
These windows and the doorway are sgnare-headed, with slender brownstone
transom bars and heavy rough-faced lintels. There is a handsome wrought
iron erille in the transom ahove the doorway, which is avproached by a
narrow brownstone stoon. The windows of the upper floors are all round-
arched with longated keystones at the second floor and stained glass in
the third floor transoms. A two-story, three-sided bay,-at the right of the
doorway, has a solid bhrick parapet defining the halcony, which serves two
of the third story. round-arched windows. Vertical ribs of brick, set on
corbels, enliven the top of the wall and those in the parapet of the
balcony rise directly from the elon7ated keystones of the arched windows
of the second floor. An unusual roof with Spanish-type tiles of conper,
has two dormer windows with triangular pediments.

No. 50 is a fine three and one-half story Romanesque Revival house
with random, rough-faced limestone at the basement which extends up to the
parlor floor windowsill. *t was built for J. Herward in 1889-90 and was

desisned by C. P. H. Gilbert. The lLouse is of yellow bhrick, with red
"~ brick quoining and trim surronnding the arched openines, keyed to the
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yellow brick of the walls. The doorway is arched and is complemented
arched window of equal width beside it. The window displays a handsome
leaded glass fanlight and the front door, approached by a wide low stoop,
is neo-Colonial. A large three-centered brick arch extends up through the
second and third floors, enframing a brick oriel window at the second
floor which is carried on a wide stone corbel centered between the arches
of the first floor. At the third floor a broad window, with French doors
at the center, fills the arch and opens on a balcony with brick parapet
which, in turn, forms the top of the oriel. A steep roof rises up behind
two dormer windows with high gablets.

No. 52 was built in 1889-90 for C. C. Cummings, who lived on Union
Street, west of the District, and designed by Brooklyn architect T.
Williams. This Romanesque Revival house is quite different from its
neighbors, as the front is entirely of brownstone. It is dominated by a
two-story, shallow curved bay with rough-faced stone, somewhat similar in
size and form to the bay at No. 60, although it is not as prominent and
has a stone parapet with small square openings. Here, the lower two
floors are entirely rough-faced, as are the lintels at the third story.
All openings are rectangular. except for a small window above. the entrance
which has corbels cutting into the upper corners, a popular Romanesque
Revival device. Crowning the facade is a bold classical cornice, above
which two pedimented dormers peek out, the tops of their windows barely
visible from the opposite sidewalk.

Nos. 54 and 56 were designed as a symmetrical pair by C. P. H. Gilbert.
They were built in 1889-90 for Mssrs. Horatio Adams and G. Zollner,
respectively. Set between large three-sided bays extending up two stories,
the houses have paired entrances and stoops. Smooth amber-colored brick
and shallow terra cotta trim give the houses a thin-walled appearance. All
openings--doors and windows--are rectangular, and the rectangularity is
further emphasized by the enframements of terra cotta in foliate pattern.
Above the parlor floor windows the transoms are of stained glass at No. 56.
The lines of the balustrades at the tops of the bays are carried across
the main wall plane, forming a pseudo-parapet pierced by brick arches.
At the third floor, each house has a wide tripartite window, with a
shallow arch above the center sash, and delicate stained glass at No. 56,
and rectangular flanking trahsoms. Above the high eaves, supported on
slender vertical brackets, the roofs have wide central dormers.

No. 58 was built for Herbert Cockshaw in 1889-90 and was designed by
C. P. H. Gilbert. It has fine amber-colored Roman brick with rough-faced
brownstone confined to the low basement. The very sparing use of stone
and terra cotta trim in this house accentuates the fine quality of the
brickwork. The front has a uniform wall plane and is almost perfectly
symmetrical. The entrance door is under one of three identical round
arches, which also define the two parlor floor windows. They have round-
nosed bricks at the jambs emphasizing their simple refinement. At the
peak of each arch is an attenuated keystone carried up to a prominent
second floor windowsill where two broad second floor windows are enframed
by a single band of molded brick. Supporting the third floor windowsill is
an unusual, strongly projecting shelf of corbeled brickwork.above which
are two windows under round arches. Beneath the roof cornice a broad
foliate band of terra cotta flanks a central human mask. The sheetmetal
cornice is neo-Classical in style, with closely spaced console brackets
beneath the steeply pitched roof with central dommer.

No. 60 was built in 1889-90 for Thomas Van Loan, a Manhattan merchant,
as his residence and designed by C. P. H. Gilbert. A striking Romanesque
Revival residence, this house makes a strong ending for this row of houses.
The third floor eave-line interrupted by a steep gable at the front with
a two-story-high, round-arch that reproduces in elevation the curve of
the two-story bay below it, increasing the feeling of verticality. A
handsome carved panel separates the two tiers of windows in the arch. The
rough-faced brownstone of the first floor and basement are separated by a
deep, battered stone course below the first floor windowsills. The first
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floor windows are deep set,with stone transom bars and stone mullions
dividing the transoms into thirds. The small front doorway is enhanced by
a heavy round arch springing from clusters of dwarf columns on either side.
The upper stories are faced with the same amber-colorad Roman brick as the
adjoining row, but the curved bay terminates at mid-height at the second
floor. The foliate relief pattern in the brownstone triangle at the apex
of the front gable is echoed in sheetmetal on the small dormer window next
to it. A steep slate roof rises up behind them with high corbel-topped
chimney at the apex.

No. 62-72 is the long side of the handsome mansion W1th rear yard,
described under No. 28 Prospect Park West.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 1-59)

No. 1. This imposing, free-standing, neo-Federal brick mansion and
its garden are separated from: the street by a tall iron fence with red
brick piers. The house of Flemish bond brickwork was built in 1910 for
Mrs. Audley Clarke and was designed by the architectural firm of Mowbray &
Uffinger. It stands above a low marble basement and has an off~center
entrance, enframed by columns supporting a full entablature and approached
by a low flight of marble steps. The first floor windows have brick arches
with blind lunettes :beneath marble keystones. An interesting feature of
the windows at the second floor is the introduction of neo-Georgian, splayed
flat arches. A continuous marble bandcourse serves as a sill for third
floor windows, which have diagonally-set marble inserts in the wall
between them. A modillioned sheetmetal cornice, with balustrade above,
crowns the residence (the balusters have been removed). The west
elevation, described under No. 135 Eighth Avenue, has a full-height, swell-
front centered between the end windows of the main wall.

Nos. 11, 17 and 19 (Nos. 13 and 15 have been omitted from the present
street numbering system). These brick and brownstone houses are unusually
wide and were all designed by C. P. H. Gilbert for Caroline Murdock,
William F. Brown and Thomas L. Gill, respectively. Erected in 1887-8f,
they are among the earliest on this street. Rough-faced brownstone extends
up to the sill of the secnnd story windows at all three houses, which are
approached by broad low stoops.

No. 11, with its striking Dutch stepped-gable, is the most picturesque
of the three and is basically a handsome example of the late Romanesque
Revival style. It was the residence of Harvey Murdock, the developer of
Montgomery Place. It has a very wide, bow-shaped, two-story bay, with
a parapet and stone transom bars at all the windows with stained glass
transoms. The wide, rectangular double door has a transom with a heavy
iron screen. The upper floors, in contrast to the base, are of an amber-
colored, speckled Roman brick. The third floor windows have the small-
paned upper sash so typical of the period. The three windows over the bay
are set beneath deep arches of headers which are linked by a continuous
drip molding. At the eave-line is a massive cornice of rough-faced
brownstone, just below the red tile roof and the stepped gable with modified
Palladian window. A tiled dormer window with hipped roof is set in the
roof to the left of it. The two side walls at roof level also have stepped
gables. Brownstone coping finishes oif the steps which lead up to the
chimneys at the apex of the roof.

Nos. 17 and 19, basically Romanesque Revival in style, are more
conventional versions of the style. They have a strong architectural
kinship, seen in the use of similar materials and details: both are
constructed of red brick over brownstone bases and are approached by
gracious stoops with curved wing-walls. No. 17 has a polygonal, two-
story bay, while No. 19 has a second story oriel; both are surmounted by
solid brick parapets. The top story of No. 17 has segmental arched -
windows with terra cotta drip moldings. By contrast, No. 19 has round-
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arched third floor windows and the interest is focused on a large elliptical

arch enframing a’ three-sided shingled recess. A striking feature of No. 17 is the
steep pediment- centered above the bay, with an elaborate Greek fret terra cotta
panel set in the brickwork at its base. A decorative block set into the molding,
which forms the sills of the second floor windows between Nos. 17 and 11, makes
the step down from one house to the other following the slope of the street.

A low parapet extends across the width of Nos. 17 and 19 above their dentiled
roof cornices. ' '

Nos. 21 and 25 (No. 23 has been omitted from the street numbering sys-
tem). This monumental pair of light-colored brownstone was built in 1892. They
were designed in a very original, late version of the Romanesque Revival style by
C.P.H. Gilbert for Charles M. Reed. Treated as a single architectural entity,
the two houses are beautifully unified by their steep tile roof, projecting end
bays, horizontal strip of windows in the wall plane between the bays and by the
wing-walls of low, L-shaped stoops which face each other. The red Spanish tile
roof, with picturesque gables and dormers, swoops down to third floor windowsill
level. Two-tiered dormers, treated in an unusual manner, have balconies at the
top tier, which rest on the roofs of the lower tiers of. the dormer windows below.
The unusual strip of six windows, with wide piers between them, suggests the early
work of'Frank Lloyd "right, while the low-relief ornament and its treatment call
to mind the work of Wright's master Louis Sullivan. The steep gable at No. 25
displays a bull's eye window with square foliate enframement, another unusual
feature. The three-story bay at the other end, at No. 21, is crowned by a small
porch with conical roof. An iron-railed balcony encloses a deck in front of
the porch and the bay beneath, on the side of the bay facing the entrance, has
two charming oval windows one above the other. The linear ornament of this
bay, defining the windows and creating panels, is used in a completely architec-
tonic way. There is an interesting row of animal heads under the eaves at No. 21.

Nos. 27-31. These three houses are four stories high with large dormers and

have facades of yellow brick. No. 29 was built in 1904 for James Shaw and as

No. 27 is its twin, it seems probable that it was also built for Shaw in the same
year. No. 31 was built much earlier, in 1889, for M.M. Canda and was designed by
Hornium Bros, yet all three houses are very similar, displaying detail drawn
largely from Renaissance sources. The first floor wall is of rusticated limestone,
smooth and continuous, joining all three houses to form a handscme front to the
street. At the top of the rusticated base, Nos. 29 and 31 have foliate moldings,
while No. 27 has the Greek fret design. The entranceways are recessed, except

at No. 27 which has its left side exposed and has Ionic columns. They are all ap-
proached by low stoops. Above the first floor, each house is quite different,

with interesting variations: a three-sided rectangular bay at No. 27; a wide bow
at No. 29; and a slightly projecting flush bay at No. 31. Another variation is the
use of three different copper pediments at the dormer windows: triangular at

the wide dormer of No. 27, “broken' scrolls at the individual dormers of No. 29

and an arch at No. 31, centered above the central double window of its wide dormer.
Narrow courses of cream-colored brick alternate with the yellow brick of the walls
‘' giving the effect of quoins between bays. The windowframes and lintels are of
limestone. B ' W AP Ly

‘No. 33 (No. 35 has. been omitted from the street numbering system), is a three-
story late Romanesque Revival house of limestone and red brick. It has a rough-
faced stone base with smooth stones keyed to it around the window and door. openings.
The keystone over the window represents a girl enframed by a scallop-shell and a
bearded mask appears in the keystone over the door. Rough-faced limestone is keyed
to the brickwork surrounding a two-story arch, which contains an oriel at the sec-
ond story and an arched window at the third. A bracketed and paneled cornice
with dentils crowns.the house. '

Nos. 37-43. Another prominent architect of the day,; George P. Chappell,
designed the next four houses. They were built in 1890-91 for Messrs. Ford and
Hagen and are of limestone at the first floor with tan-colored brick and terra
cotta above. A steep roof comes down to mid-third story level. The houses are
similar, but the end units project slightly and have high peaked roofs and L-shaped
stoops. No. 37 has a pink-.colored slate roof. A textural contrast is achieved
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at the upper floors where split brick adjoins the smooth, richly ornamented central
bays of terra cotta. A delicate band with swags in low relief appears below the
pointed gables crowning the bays. :

No. 45 is a wide’ three-story limestone and red brick building which was-
designed by the important Manhattan architectural firm of Babb, Cook & "Willard,
and built for Theodore M. Towl in 1898-99. This fine example of later (Henri IV)
French Renaissance has a rusticated granite base up to the first floor windowsills,
including a large L-shaped stoop. The limestone at the first floor has crisp,
hard-edged rustication keyed into the door and windowframes, and prominent voussoirs
over flat-arched windows. Elaborate consoles support a shallow cornice slab over
the entrance. The windows of the second and third floors are linked by panels
closed at the ends by vertical stone blocks above console-supported cornice slabs
over the second floor windows. Low guard rails are set in the frames of the second
and third floor windows. A well-proportioned classical limestone cornice and
balustrade crown this handsome building.

No. 47 was designed by architect R.L. Daus. It was constructed in 1890 for
V. ¥Xoechel. This very distinctive neo-French Renaissance house, veneered in red
sandstone, has a strong verticality throughout leading up to a high pyramidal
roof with handsome gabled dormer. There is a two-story polygonal bay with a
low narapet on top. All the openings are rectangular, with curved corners at the
top and stone transom bars. The transom above the entrance door displays some
fine wrought-iron work. The window above it is related to it visually by the high
fininls flanking thc <oor. which lead up the fluted corbel beneath the window.
This, in turn, is crowned by a shell-form arch. The central pair of windows at
the third floor is tied vertically to a tall central gabled dormer, with a studding
of fleur-de-lis set in front of the steep pyramidal roof.

Nos. 49, 51, 53, a row of three-story brownstones with rough-faced stone base-
ments, were erected in 1892-93 by the prolific reighborhood builder, William
Gubbins. They have two-story masonry bays with curved sides and richly ornamented
bandcourses between the windows. All the windows, except those in the bays, are
arched with drip molds. The detail and arched doorways with colonnettes are Roman-
esque Revival in character although the metal roof cornices are more nearly classi-
cal with console brackets, and small panels in the frieze, set one above each
window below. Mo. 53 has a curved two-story bay and has had its cornice removed
where a fourth floor was added at a later date. All the houses are approached by
L-shaped stoops.

Nos. 55-59. These three houses were also built in 1892-93 by William Gubbins.
Nf these three houses, No. 57 best indicates the original appearance of the row,
with its small central gable and flanking windows at the fourth floor. Shallow,
curved two-story masonry bays have large window openings separated by pilasters
at the first floor. Rough-faced stone appears at basement level, reapnearing
again above the bay windows. The arched doorway with colonnettes, and the arch
in the gable at No. 57, are clearly Romanesque Revival in style. Carved foliate
details appear beneath the windows of all the bays. Nos. 55 and 59 have had full-
height fourth floors added at a later date.

(The long side of the corner apartment house, Mo. 27 Prospect Park West,
is outside the Pistoric District.)

- PARK PLACE

‘Park Place, west of Flatbush Avenue, was one of the earliest streets in the
Historic District to be developed. PRuilding began in 1869 at the eastern end of
the south side of the street. The last houses to be built, in 1881, were at the
western end of the north side. Park Place was originally called Baltic Street and
renamed in 1873, when Prospect Park was largely completed.
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Sweeping gently down to Sixth Avenue, where the street is enhancéd” by newly
planted trees and the majestic spire of St. Augustine's Church rises to the south-
west, this block, with its rows of three-story brownstones above high stoops,
retains its late 19th century appearance. Excellent examples of the late Italia-
nate style may be seen on both the north and south sides of the street. The smooth-
fronted brownstones at Nos. 122-142 and 115-123 are very impressive in appearance,
with high basement walls which retain their elegant rustication and, for the most
part, their exceedingly fine, arched doorways. Contrasting with the flat facades
of the Italianate style residences, a mode which persisted in the outlying bor-
oughs or the city until well into the 1870s, are the angular bays of the sllghtly
later neo-Grec houses at the western end of the street, reflecting the change in
architectural taste within the short span of a decade. Some houses along the street
have, unfortunately, been altered and two, one on each side, have had their stoops
and ornament removed and have been smooth-stuccoed.

PARK PLACE Between Sixth & Seventh Avenues
SNUTH SIDE (Nos. 90-156)

(The corner hoﬁse, No. 117 Sixth Avenue, is outside the Historic District.)

No. 90 is the handsome little Italianate stable built for the corner house,
Mo. 117 Sixth Avenue. It has round-arched windows and an entrance door flanking
the central two-story arch for the combination carriage door and hay loft door.
The paneled hay loft door is the original, while the carriage doors have been re-
placed by an overhead-type door of a later date. A neat but attractive cornice,
with widely spaced foliate brackets, has a paneled fascia. This is one of the
few stables in the area which retains much of its original appearance.

Nos. 92-98 are good examples of brownstones in ths full-blown, nec-Grec style:
they have shallow ,full-height, two-sided bays: well defined ‘'ears' (or acroteria)
at the lintels of the upper floor windows and front door; and incised ornament in
- the lintels above all the windows. All retain their balustered cast iron hand-
railings and massive newel posts at the stoops. This row was erected in 1881 by
owner-builder John Monas who lived at No. 92.

Nos. 100-110. Designed by the well-known Brooklyn architectural firm of
Parfitt Bros, these six houses may well have been the first fully developed ex-
amples of the neo-Grec style in the area. They were constructed in 1377 of Nova
Scotia stone, by builder Philip J. Cooty for G.!}. Chapman of Manhattan. With full-
height, two-sided bays and bracketed cornices, they established the animated sky-
line followed by their neighbors to the west. Simple pedimented lintels, with
incised ornament, adorn the windows and the sesmental-arched doorways have cornice
slabs carried on brackets with iron crestings above them.

Nos. 112-116. These three brownstones, so similar to Nos. 92-98, were built
in 1880 for Mary Magilligan by her husband, architect-builder John Magilligan.
Even the roof cornices repeat the high, narrow, evenly spaced brackets of the
adjacent houses at the west.

Nos. 118 and 120. These flush-fronted brownstones,with their window frames
surmounted by cornices and handsome, arched double doors crowned by segmental
arches, carried on brackets above keystones, reflect the new formality of the French
influence in architecture. They retain their stoopn and yard railings. Despite
the difference of their appearance from Nos. 112-116, they were also constructed

by John Ma~illi~an in 1873-80 for 'lary ''acillican.

Nos. 122-130 have a late Italianate character which is belied by the date,
1871-72. Again they were built by John Magilligan. Most notable are their arched
doorways, similar to those at Mos. 118 and 120: their rusticated basements with
segmental-arched windows; the shouldered cornices over their segmental-arched
windows, which are carried on brackets; the deep parlor floor windowsills carried
on console brackets and the arched profiles of the fascias between the brackets
of their roof cornices. No. 122 best retains its original appearance, with its
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balustered cast ironfhahdrailings and newel posts.- No. 128 has had a fourth floor
added retaining its original cornice at a higher level.

Nos. 132-142. This row of six late Italianate brownstones was built on land
purchased in April 1868 by real estate developer Daniel M. Wells, who lived on
Baltic Street near Seventh Avenue, from builder Robert S. Bussing. They were
erected in the years immediately following by Flatbush Avenue builder William V.
illiamson, who often worked with Wells. These three-story, flush-fronted
brownstones above high basements -- so definitely It=linrate in their design --
are an indication of how retardataire residential architecture was in the
Park Slope area. Characteristic of the style are the rusticated basements with
arched windows and metal grilles; the arched doorways surmounted by segmental-
arched pediments carried on foliate brackets: the windows with their '‘eyebrow"
or shouldered cornices, also carried on brackets, and their ornate cornices with
widely spaced foliate brackets. Nos. 140 and 142, withk their arched fascias
echoing the segmental-arched windows below, are very similar to Nos. 118 and 120.

No. 144, which stands well in front of the row to the west, was built right
up to the lot line. It is a three-story house for which a basement entrance has
been provided. The front has been smooth-stuccoed. It was built in 1874 by
neighborhood architect-builder S.J. Cootey.

No. 146-156 is the long side of the corner house, with a one-story shop occupy-
ing the rear yard, described under No. & Seventh Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 95-133)

(The corner building, No. 115 Sixth Avenue, is outside the Historic District.)
No. 95 is a vacant lot.

Nos. 97 and 99 are the only houses on this side of the street to have full-
height, two-sided bays, similar to those across the street. They are also the only
French neo-Grec brownstones on this side and were built in 1882-83 for John Monas,
who lived at No. 92, across the street, by architect-mason J.J. Gilligan, of the
same address. They differ from the houses opposite in having a full-height pilaster
at the apex of each bay and display the characteristic lintels with "ears' (or
acroteria) at the doorway and upper floor windows, which are decorated with
incised carving, as are the flush lintels of the parlor floor windows. The use of
~ incised decoration, introduced with the neo-Grec style, proved much more economi-

cal for the speculative builder than the rich foliate carvings characteristic of
the Italianate ornament.

Mos. 101-113. This row of seven flush-fronted brownstones was begun in
1872 by neighborhood builder John Gordon in association with Brooklyn builder
Owen Nolan. Gordon had purchased the land for development from two large property
owners on this strecet, Joseph Chamberlain and Elias J. Beach. These houses are
quite similar to Nos. 118 and 120 across the street. ith their windowframes,
crowned by cornices, and their handsome arched doorways, surmounted by segmental-
arched pediments, they show the influence of French formality. Nos. 101 and 103,
like the adjoining pair to the west, retain their cast iron balustered handrailings
and elaborate newel posts, indicative of the eriginal appearance of the row.
Basement entrances have been provided at MNos. 105 and 109. The basement walls are
rusticated and the segmental-arched windows in these walls have splayed arches with
faceted keystones. The roof cornices, carried on widely spaced console brackets,
have paneled fascias with diamond-shaped panels at the centers. No. 105 has had
a fourth story added.

Nos. 115-123. These five flush-fronted brownstones were late Italianate in
style. They were erected in 1870-72 by architect-builder John Magilligan in
association with Thomas Lowther, the owner of a neighborhood stoneyard. These
houses are quite similar to Nos. 122-130, built at the same time by Magilligan on
the south side of the street. They have the same features of design and detall.
All but No. 121 retain their-original balustered cast iron handrailings at their
stoops.
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Nos. 125-133. Like Nos. 118 and 120, across the street, these five flush-
fronted brownstones reflect the same French influence. No. 131 has a two-sided
bay carried on a pointed cornice slab with brackets above the doorway. Nos.

127 and 133 retain their yard railings with handsome cast iron crestings on top.
They were built in 1874-75 by the neighborhood builder John Gordon.

(The buildings to the east, including the Carlton Theatre, are all outside
the Historic District.)

PLAZA STREET

Looking out over the earth berm, or artificially created mound of earth,
provided by Olmstead § Vaux to shield residential Plaza Street from the noise
of traffic crossing the Grand Army Plaza, is a row of four residences on the
short blockfront from Flatbush Avenue to Lincoln Place. The other portion of
the blockfront within the District is occupied by the east side of the exception-
ally handsome Montauk Club, at the corner of Lincoln Place.

PLAZA STREET Between Flatbush Avenue § Lincoln Place

YEST SIDE (Nos. 5-19)

(The corner building is outside the Historic District.)

Nos. 5-11. These four limestone residences were constructed in 1901 by
neighborhood builder Charles G. Peterson, of 603 Seventh Street, with
Frederick Tyrrell of Brooklyn as architect. Good examples of the neo-Classical
style, which was at its height at the turn-of-the-century, they are narrow houses,
under nineteen feet wide. They have alternating three-sided and curved full-
height bays, giving a strong effect of verticality to the group. All have rust-
icated basements and parlor floor walls, and three retain their dignified L-
shaped stoops of varied design. No. 11 has a fine doorway with rusticated
voussoirs delineating the semicircular arch, and a console-type keystone sur-
mounted by a 'broken'' pediment, similar to the one over the parlor floor
window of the bay. Handsomely carved panels appear beneath the windows of all
four houses. Three retain their roof cornices, carried on console brackets,
with a variety of classical motifs in the friezes.

No. 13 is a vacant lot.

No. 15-19 is the east side of the Montauk Club, described under No. 19-25
Eighth Avenuc.
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This short tree-lined street, named for Johannes Theodorus Polhemus, first
ninister of the Dutch Reformed Church on Long Island, is one of the most attractive
in the Historic District. Developed in the 1890s, the houses provide fine examples
of the late Romanesque Revival and the neo-French Renaissance styles, as well as
three very interesting houscs which were quite oripginal in thelr conblnatlons
Gf stylistic elenents -

POLHEMUS PLACE Between Carroll Street & Garfield Place

EAST SIDE (Nos. 1-29 and the side of No. 231 Garfield Place)

Ho. 1 is the long side of the corner house described under No. 786 Carroll
Street.

. Nos. 11-17 (No. 13 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
This fine, remarkably unified group of three late Romanesque Revival houses was
erected in the mid-1890s by owner-builder Gilford R. Bartaux, back-to-back with
Nos. 12-16 Fiske Place, built by him at about the same time. The upper stories
are constructed of smooth Roman brick, handled in an exceptionally sophisticated
manner, above rough-faced stone basements. Stone banding and foliate carving is
used as an expressive contrast at the upper stories. The three-story residences
are symmetrically disposed around the center house, with a varied treatment of
the second story bay windows at the end houses: No. 11 has a triangular gable
and single window, whereas No. 17 has a double window divided by a mullion and a
pitched roof resembling stonework. At the parlor floor, horizontal bands form
transom bars, some of which retain their leaded transoms. The center house has
a Palladian-type window at the second floor, but carried out in the Romanesque
manner, with heavy masonry mullions and an arch of brick headers terminating in
foliate carving at its base. The third floor windows are all arched, with three
at the center house and two at the end houses. The first floors, above the high
basements, are treated with narrow bands of stone alternating with wide bands of
brickwork. Above this floor, and serving as lintels for doors and windows, is a
wide unifying band of carved foliate design, interrupted by the ornate, vertical
keystone of the arched front doorway of No. 15. Beneath the eaves of the roof a
textured effect is achieved in a band of Flemish bond brickwork in which the
headers are all recessed. Carved rafter ends support the eaves and small heads
punctuate the cornice line between houses. No. 15 still retains its handsome
ironwork handrailings at the stoop.

Mos. 19-29. This row of six houses was built in 1897-8 for Bessie Martin and
designed by Brooklyn architect Axel Hedman, who also worked in the Stuyvesant
Heights area. Above the rough-faced high basements, these houses are faced with
smooth-faced stonework, alternating three-sided with curved bays. They are
approached by straight stoops with solid masonry wing-walls surmounted by metal
handrailings. These stoops lead up to doorways which are the principal decorative
features of the row. The ornament is concentrated over the doorways and the parlor
floor windows. Inspired by French Renaissance design, it relies for effect on drip
moldings of various shapes enframing armorial shields and floral ornament, sur-
mounted by arched pediments or scrolls. The houses are all crowned by a continuous
classical sheetmetal . cornice with swags.

The corner house is described under No. 231 Garfield Place.
WEST SIDE (Nos. 2-28)

MNo. 2-6 is the side of the corner house described under No. 784 Carroll Street.

Nos. 8-12 are three elegant town houses, quite unusual in their use of
architectural elements and in their originality. They were in the vanguard of
design for 1896, the year they were planned, and were constructed by owner-archi-
tect Edward Betts of Brooklyn. Generally symmetrical on either side of the
center house, these three-story houses give the visual impression of being a single
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unit, except for the treatment of the roofs which are differentiated. Built of
limestone, they are unified by rustication at the basements and first floors, in
contrast. to the smooth ashlar of the upper walls. ‘It would be impossible to assign
a definite architectural style to these houses, as it is the original handling of
various otherwise conventional design elements which gives them the great ''style"
they possess. All the first floor window and door lintels are flat with small
arches at the ends. At the two end houses, the very original parlor floor
windows are actually two-sided bays with stained glass transoms above. They are
carried on projecting stone sills set on single console brackets. At the upper
floors, central elements dominate the elevations of the end houses, which have
three-sided bays at the second floors and triple windows with balconies at the
third. They are crowned by.overhanging roofs with exposed beam ends, whereas

the center house, with a shallow curved bay at the second floor, has a hipped
roof sheltering the three windows of the third floor. These windows have a deck
with railing above the curved bay. The fact that the front doorways are simply
enframed by rustication and lintels is an elegant refinement, enhancing the
delicate detail of the bays and balconies above themn.

Nos. 14-24. These six houses are late, rather restrained examples of the
Romanesque Revival style. They were built for B.L. Martin and were designed by
Brooklyn architect J. D. McAuliffe: No. 24 in 1893-94 and Nos. 14-22 in 1894-95.
Flush-fronted and approached by straight stoops, these houses are varied in their
use of round, segmental and flat-arched openings in an ABCABC pattern and in the
use of rough-faced as opposed to smooth-faced stonework. The individual sheetmetal
cornices with their swags and wreaths show the oncoming influence of the new
Classicism.

Mo. 28 is the long side of the corner house described under No. 229 Garfield
Place.

PRESIDENT STREET

President Street is a nleasant residential street. Practically all the
houses are brownstone with many full-height, two and three-sided bays. These
bays, crowned by bracketed cornices, create an ainteresting and animated profile
against the sky, which is seen on both sides of the street. The predominating
styles are the neo-Grec and a modified classicism, while certain Romanesque Re-
vival details persist in many of the houses. The "Nueen Anne style makes its
appearance in brick houses here and there. Nonetheless, the overall color derives
from the long rows of brownstones.

PREFSINENT STREET ° Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

SOUTI! SIDE (Nos. 828-888)

(lo. 818-820, "The Verona ' apartment house, Iio. 822, a four-story multiple
dwelling and two small Queen Anne town houses, lNos. 824 and 826, are all outside
the Ilistoric District.)

Nos. 828-844. This row of nine brownstones was built in 1887 and desiened
by architect S. Harbison for Patrick Sheridan, who was active in the development
of the Stuyvesant Heights area. Late neo-Grec in style, they are nearly identical,
having full-height, three-sided bays, high stoops with balustered handrailings and
small balconies avove the doorways. The bold roof cornices, carried on elongated
brackets, are typical of the style, but the Renaissance ornament in the pancls
beneath the second story windows of the bays indicates the lateness of the
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design. No. 844 was designed as a terminus to the row, with its two-sided bay
making the transition to the houses adjoining to the east. Basement entrances have
been provided at No. 834 and 844.. Fa

_ No. 846, built in 1832, and No. 848, built four years earlier, were both

- constructed by architect-builder C.F. Burckett, of 812 President Street just west
of the Historic District. The different styles of these two houses represent an
interesting indication of his architectural development. No. 846, the later
house, has a brownstone basement and trim, setting off the red brick wall. The
trim includes bandcourses and colonettes flanking the windows. It has a basement
entrance with cornice slab carried on console brackets. No. 8483, which is neo-
Grec in style, also has a basement entrance replacing its stoop. Charmingly sim-
plified, neo-Grec incised decorative detail appears over the basement windows and
in the grooves of the window enframements at the upper floors. The mansard roof
has a pair of interesting double dormers above the old cornice line.

. Mos. 850-868. In 1838 owner-architect William Flanagan, of 69 Seventh Avenue,
planned this group of ten three-story houses, with curve-sided bays rising two
stories above high basements. On some of the houses there are rough-faced blocks
under the second story windows of the bays, while in others he has used decorated
pancls at the same location. Flanagan added a note of special interest at MNos.
356-866 by crowning some of the neo-Grec roof cornices with triangular pediments
and with low attic windows taking the place of wood panels between the brackets.
The two-sided, full-height bay of the westernmost house is carried forward to meet
the advanced wall plane of the adjoining house. Basement entrances have been
provided at three houses; the other houses still have their L-shaped stoops of
rough-faced brownstone.

No. 870 (No. 872 has becen omitted from the street numbering system). Thirty
feet wide, this handsome private dwelling, entered just above street level, was
erected by architect-builder C.F. Burckett before 1388, when it became the residence
of Charles C. Knowlton. Custom-built, this Romanesque Revival residence is asym-
metrical and very substantial looking. It has a three-sided, three-story bay
above a low basement; the third story of this bay is made of sheetmetal and possibly
added, concealing a large arched opening in the wall plane. At the first floor,

a round-arched doorway is enhanced by the surrounding rough-faced stonework, while
a checkerboard band of stone enlivens the broad bandcourse separating the first
and second stories of the bay. At the upper stories, the windows have keyed stone
enframements. An unusual, small stained glass window, at the front of the second
floor bay, has a triangular pediment on brackets.

No. 874 was the residence of Charles H. Burckett; it was built at approxi-
mately the same time as No. 870. In its present form, as remodeled in the first
half of the 20th century, it was inspired by Tudor architecture, making use of a
wide range of materials: random brickwork, stone and stucco. A nicely proportioned
segmental-arched doorway, at street level, is of stone and has a drip molding en-
framing an heraldic emblem centered above it.

Nos. 876 and 878. This pair of orange-colored, Roman brick residences was
erected in 1889 for James C. Jewett, with Brooklyn architect Albert E. White
as designer. These two also built an eight-house row on Union Street in the sanme
year. Basically late Romanesque Revival in style, these houses have round and
elliptical-arched openings and random ashlar stone walls at the basement and at the
wing-walls of the high L-shaped stoops. A combination of different textures ap-
pears in the stonework. The sheetmetal pedimented cornices and the second story
oriels display a wealth of OQueen Anne detail. The double entrance doors, set in low
arches, are surrounded by enframements of bull's-eye glass lights.

No. 880-888. A brick apartment house, built in 1949, stands on the site of the
former Luckenbach mansion. The light color brick of this building, which is
described under No. 100 Eighth Avenue, harmonizes with the brick of Nos. 876-878

to the west.
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NORTH SIDE (Nos. 833-895)

(The five houses to the west of No. 833 are outside the Historic District.)

Nos. 833-839. 1In 1884-85 William Flanagan, a prolific Park Slope builder,
erected these four houses after purchasing the land from the Methodist Episcopal
Hospital early in 1884. The property had originally belonged to the Polhemus
family. These brownstones are part of a row of nine extending to the Seventh
Avenue corner. They are late examples of neo-Grec style, similar to houses on the
north side of Carroll Street between Seventh and Eighth Avenues built by John
Magilligan a year or two later. The Flanagan houses also have full-height, two-
sided bays, with pilasters at the apex of the bays:; many retain balustered hand-
railings and newels at their stoops. Small balustered balconies, set on cornice
slabs resting on corbels, give character to the doorways.

Nos. 841-849., 1In 1886-87 "Wesley C. Bush, who lived just west of the District
on St. Mark's Avenue, built these five handsome brownstones. Breaking with the
uniformity of the neighboring neo-Grec row, the architect designed these houses
in an interestingly varied combination of Romanesque Revival for the lower floors,
with Oueen Anne above. The rough-faced stonework of the basements and parlor
floors contrasts with the smooth walls above and with the bays. The unusual
treatment of the foliate ornament at the doorways is interestingly reflected in
the corbel blocks of the windows above,which seem literally to grow out of the
wall itself. These houses express their individuality in the varied treatment
of their sheetmetal roof cornices, with three designs in an ABCBA sequence.

The two "A" houses have richly ornamented triangular pediments signalizing the
bays below; friezes with bosses embellish the metopes. The "'B'' houses have straight
cornices and small arched niches with shell motifs beneath the low parapets,
which have small square panels. The center house, "“C', has the most elaborate
roofline, with a '"broken' scroll pediment and center torch finial above the bay:
the cornice has = frieze with swags. 2 low naranet with diminutive équare
panels crowns all the roof cornices. Other unusual features inciude the straight
stoops with wide landings at the third step. The iron handrailings at the stoops
and the yard railings are light and open, in contrast to the balustered neo-Grec
yard railing at the neighboring house to the west. A basement entrance has been
provided at No. 845.

MNo. 851 was built before 1388 and was designed by architect-builder Edward
B. Sturges, who also built Nos. 853-857. In spite of its narrow fifteen-foot
width, No. 851 has architectural distinction. PRasically Romanesque Revival
in style, it has neo-Classical overtones. The full-height, flush-fronted bay
has excentionally wide single windows at the parlor and second floors, with paired
arched ones at the top story. Bandcourses create a strong horizontal definition
at each floor: the one above the parlor floor window is most unusual, with an
over-all pattern of shadow-producing circular motifs cut into the stone. The
doorway has a semi-circular arch with brackets supporting a cornice slab which is
extended horizontally as a cornice across the adjoining bay. The arched transom
of the entrance door displays interesting stained glass. The roof cornice has
low attic windows, flanked by pilasters, set in the fascia board.

Nos. 853-857 were also designed by Sturges and built in 1888. Of the three
houses, MNo. 857 best retains its original appearance. It has a full-height,
polygonal masonry bay crowned by a cornice in which the small windows of the attic
story have been incorporated in the fascia board. Althoush the house has certain
decorative neo-Grec details, the arched entrance, enriched by handsome stone vous-
soirs and the enframing cornice slab on foliate brackets reflect classical in-
fluence. Cast iron newels with griffons terminate the handrailings at the stoop.
At Hos. 353 and 855 basement entrances have been provided: they have been smooth-
stuccoed and fourth floors with metal window sash and a high parapet have been

added.

Nos. 859 and 861. In 1888 local builder "illiam L. Dowling erected these two
dwellings. Ready for occupancy by April 1889, these houses are completely dis-
similar, although both are of brownstone. No. 859 has had a basement entrance
provided. ‘The ornamental detail -- especially at the full-height, polygonal bay,
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including the pilasters and the triangular pediment over the parlor floor window --
gives the house a neo-Italian Renaissance flavor. No. 861, Dowling's own residence,
has a’'dignity enhanced by its L-shaped stoop and prominent curved bay, which at

the top story becomes polygonal in shape. The basement, parlor floor walls, stoop
and yard wall are all rough-faced. These elements, together with the carved orna-
ment above the parlor floor window and the blind lunette above the doorway, provide
this residence with its basically Romanesque Revival character.

Nos. 863-867 were erected by builder Edward A. Nlds in 1888-89. They are
three identical brownstones with full-height, three-sided bays. Retardataire
in style, their cornices show the lingering influence of the neo-Grec style on the
Slope. The pedimented windows with pilasters at the center parlor floor windows
of the bays are neo-Italian Renaissance in character. The roof cornice follows
the profile of the bays, producing an interesting silhouette against the sky.
Two of these houses preserve their original double doors and at No. 867, the small
cast iron balustrade above the doorway. The heavy cast iron handrailings of the
stoop, the newel posts and the yard railings are of unusual design and best
preserved at the same house.

No. 869 (No. 871 has been omitted from the street numbering system). This
striking residence -- unique in the District -- was built in 1885. It was designed
in a highly individual version of the Romanesque Revival style by the distinguished
architect, Henry Ogden Avery, for Stewart L. Yoodford. WWoodford was a prominent
member of the Montauk Club and at one time ambassador to Spain, and moved to
President Street from No. 67 Cambridge Place in the Clinton Hill section of
Brooklyn. It is an unusually wide house (36'-0"), with a doorway approached by
a low stoop. Striking in its simplicity, its broad brick wall surfaces and
symmetrical composition are unusual for this style of architecture. The building
materials have been handled with imagination and sensitivity. The facade, with
its varied ovenings and two oriels, is beautifully composed. The three wide arches
above the entrance, and the flanking windows, are constructed with radial masonry
units. The brick door and window jambs are given sparkle through the use of square
edged alternating with chamfered brick. The window lintels have brick relieving
arches above all the upper floor openings, including the oriels. The broad expanse
of brickwork is an effective foil for the pair of striking oriels at the second
floor. These two-sided wood oriels are bracketed out from the wall on struts and
have ornamental studding at the uprights. Continuous horizontal lintels and sills
of stone unify the three paired windows at third floor level. A structurally
expressive wooden roof cornice has outlookers carried on brick corbels, supporting
a continuous horizontal front member. A sophisticated wrought iron grille and
glass front door has a pair of peacocks in the Art Deco manner and a simple wrought
iron fence encloses the front yard. Since 1964 this house has served as the
residence of the Missionary Servants of the Most Holy Trinity, a Roman Catholic
order devoted to work among the poor, with headquarters in Washington, D.C.

Ho. 873 (Mo. 875 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
This residence and Mo. 348 across the street are the oldest houses on President
Street between Seventh and Lighth Avenues. Both were erected in 1878. No. 873
was designed by Stachlin § Steiger for Francis 0. Affeld. His daughter, Miss
Louise Affeld, a well-known resident of Park Clope, lived here for over ninety
years and was less than three years of age when the family moved to this house.
This Victorian brick residence is reminiscent of a small suburban villa, desnite
the removal in 1971 of a wood porch on the east side. It has a "'stick style”
overhang at the front cable with supporting struts and elonsated wood brackets.
At the apex of the gable there is a decorative jigsaw grille. The small square
windows under the deep overhanging eaves all originally had exterior wood blinds.
The two-story, three-sided bay has a prominent cornice at mid-height and at the
ton. Peneath the sills of the parlor floor windows and above those of the second
story are decorative panels of 'toothed’ brickwork.

MNo. 877-895, at the east end of this blockfront, is described under No. 90
Eighth Avenue.
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The imposing neo-Georgian mansion, The Unity Club, at the southeast corner,
offers a dignified introduction to this fine, tree- 11ned residential street. An
occasional brick building lends contrast to the predoninating rows of brownstones.

SOUTi! SIDE  (Nos. 890-946)

No. 890-900 is the long side of the mansion described under No. 101 Eighth
Avenue. '

Nos. 902-906. These tall, stately four-story houses, built in the mid-1880s,
are typical of the Queen Anne style. Built of brick, with brownstone at the
basements and parlor floors, their severity is relieved by the use of ornamental
terra cotta at the upper stories. Their verticality is emphasized by three-
sided bays extending up to the third stories, surmounted in turn by flush bays
with terra cotta pedlments at the scalloped tile roofs. These triangular pediments
have central details representing the head of Triton above a scallop shell.

Pleasant foils to the austerity of thesc houses are the delicately ornamented
terra cotta and brownstone panels and the bandcourses which embellish the bays.
A basement entrance has been provided at No. 904.

Nos. 908-934. This row of fourteen houses with rough-faced brownstone base-
ments was begun in 1899 by Brooklyn architect-owner Patrick Sheridan. The houses
are three and a half stories above high basements with L-shaped stoops, in a style
similar to houses on the south side of Carroll Street between Seventh and Fighth
Avenues. Full-height, three-sided masonry bays are interestingly varied through
the alternating use of convex and flat sides. The roof cornices reflect the
angularity of the bays below and have a series of low rectangular attic windows
cut in the fascia boards, flanked by bold neo-Grec brackets. Though not visible
from the street, the roof sweeps ur, behind the cornice, creating a full story
behind these windows. More or less uniform, they share certain Romanesque Re-
vival features, notably the L-shaped stoops leading up to identical entrances
flanked by slender columns with sweeping consoles above them supporting cornice
slabs. Some of the walls are rough-faced and some have rough-faced stonework
under the windows, but most have smooth-faced trim around the windows. At several
houses, basement entrances have been provided. Laura Jean Libbey (Mrs. Van “ater
Stilwell) lived at No. 916. She was the popular author of some eighty novels
with such titles as The Price of a Kiss, Lovers Then But Strangers Now and A
Fatal "ooing. Her books sold millions of copies. She died in 1924 and is buried
in Greenwood Cemetery.

Mos. 936 and 938. These two houses were probably built in the late 1880s
or early nineties, judging from their style. They are similar in width to the ad-
joining pairs to the east. The roof cornices display a wealth of ornament, in-
cluding brackets, dentils, bead and reel moldings and a frieze enriched by vertical
ornament. The stoops have been removed to provide basement entrances.

Mos. 940-942., These two wide Nueen Anne houses, with surviving traces of
Romanesque detail, may havc been designed by architect Charles T. Mott, who in
1890 did an alteration for owner E.M. Collignon. Although they have been altered,
details remain that relate them to the adjoining houses, Nos. 944-946, built in
1886: this is corrcborated by the Robinson Atlas of 1886, these houses and MNos.
944-946 formed a part of a larger ensemble which was to have included the site
of Nos. 936 and 938 At Nos. 940 and 942, the pair of rusticated stone arches of
the parlor floor windows repeat the theme of No. 944. These arches spring from
toothed brickwork bandcourses supported on brick corbels. The paired windows on
the second floors with terra cotta panels beneath are repeated at No. 944. [In-
trances at street level replace the original stoops.

Nos. 944-946. These two Queen Anne houses, a part of the adjoining group, en-
joy a subtle asymmetry in their massing. Peaked gables of unequal size crown the
houses and flank a central, recessed courtyard from which the houses were original-
ly entered, as were Nos. 940-42. Uithin the gables are terra cotta shields bearing
the date of construction of this pair, "1886'. A pair of wood balconies with
paired end brackets at the third floors have handsorme wrought iron railings,
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identical in design to that of the central roof deck in the courtyard. Wide

paired stoops have iron handrailings. Outstanding decorative features are in-
tricately patterned, terra cotta panels between parlor floor and second story .
windows and the toothed brickwork window surrounds. Most notable is the battered
brickwork flanking the parlor floor windows and their stained glass. Rising at

the left corner of No. 946, in the plane of the gable, is a tall chimney, carrying
up to the line of rough-faced stone quoins. MNo. 946 was the home of Carl Tollefson,
a well-known music teacher, famous for his collection of antique musical instru-
ments. It is now the Tollefson School of Music.

(The fifteen-story apartment house at the corner of Prospect Park lest is
outside the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (MNos. 897-953)

Nos. 897-905. The long side of this house, also described under No. 93 Eighth
Avenue, has a handsome two-story polygonal bay with iron crestings. Unlike most
of the side walls of other similar houses, the windows here are grouped close to
the central bay, and above it, leaving large unbroken expanses of brick on either
side.

(Mo. 907 is an open accessway.)

Nos. 909-913. These three houses, built by 1886, are dignified three-story
brownstones with simple wall surfaces. Their interest depends on the wide angular
bays with large window openings. Above these two-story polygonal bays are low
iron crestings serving as balcony railings. Complementing these balconies are the
pilasters flanking the windows of the top stories set above the bays. The
modillioned cornices have a dignified simplicity. A basement entrance has been
provided at No. 913.

Nos. 915 and 917. These two houses were built for Patrick Sheridan, owner-
architect, of 836 Myrtle Avenue, Brooklyn, in 1890. Rising above their neighbors
on either side, these two houses are four stories above high basements. Their
verticality is strongly emphasized by full-height bays. The smooth blocks of the
wall veneer are clearly defined. These houses are forthright and robust in ap-
pearance. Imposingly enframed doorways and windows in the wall planes balance the
vigorous upward thrust of the bays. The doorway at No. 917 is flanked by columns,
above which brackets support a thin cornice slab. The low rough-faced stone yard
walls and the stoop wingwalls are similar to those on the other side of the street.
A basement entrance has been provided at No. 915.

(No. 919 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Mos. 921-941. This long row of eleven three-story brownstone houses is prac-
tically uniform in appearance. They were built by 1886 in a simplified version of
the neo-Grec style, which enjoyed great popularity in the Park Slope area until well
into the 1380s. They are similar to rows of the same period on President Street
between Seventh and Eighth Avenues, notably MNos. 828-948. los. 921-941 have tall,
full-height, three-sided masonry bays, triangular pediments over the center parlor
floor windows of most of the bays, high straight stoops and heavily bracketed roof
cornices. Handsome cast iron balustered handrailings at the stoops and yard
railings, many of which remain complete with their massive newel posts, are typi-
cally neo-Grec. Basement entrances have been provided at MNos. 937 and 941.

No. 943 was designed by the architectural firm of Slee § Bryson. It was built
in 1912 by the Gustof A. Johnson Building Company and is a four-story yellow
brick apartment house, entered at street level, with stone trim and classical de-
tail at the entrance. A large central window, to the left of the entrance, has a
stone enframement keyed to the brickwork.

Nos. 945-953. Begun in 1900, these five apartment houses of limestone have

paired entrances and stoops excent at No. 945. They are four stories high and
have full-height, bow-fronted bays. Designed with a simplified neo-Classical de-
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tail, they lend a quiet dignity in this block of one-family residences.

(No. 955 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

(The building at the corner of Prospect Park West, ‘"The Madonna Residence',
is outside the Historic District.)

* * % %

ST. JOHM'S PLACE

St. John's Place was originally named Douglass Street. In 1870 the section
east of F1fth Avenue was renamed St. Johﬂs Place.

ST. JOHN'S PLACE Between Fifth § Sixth Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Mos. 76-86)

Nos. 76-86 are a one-story garage and the long side of the house described
under No. 148 Sixth Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Mos. 71-81)
No. 71-81 is the long side of the house described under No. 146 Sixth Avenue.

ST. JOHN'S'PLACEV Between Sixth & Seventh Avenues

This street is remarkable for its quality of uniformity, with three-story
brownstones with full-height bays facing each other down both sides of the street.
Nn the north side the rows are terminated, at the east end, by the charming little
St. John's (P.E.) Church and Rectory, with the church set well back from the
street. The equally long rows of brownstones on the south side are terminated by
five town houses of unusual design and the impressive Memorial Presbyterian Church
with its Chapel and Sunday School which has a frontage of about 135 feet to the
corner of Seventh Avenue. 1/ith its steeple, gables and high finials, it provides
a nicturesque termination to the south side of the street.

SNUTH SIDE (Nos. 88-184, including No. 42-48 Seventh Avenue)

No. 88-98 is the corner house with deep back yard, whlch is described under
No. 155 Sixth Avenue.

(Nos. 100-136 have been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Nos. 138-162. This long row of thirteen brownstones was built in 1891-92
by veteran Park Slope owner-builder, William Flanagan. The houses, with their
full-height, three-sided bays and jagged rooflines, still reflect the lingering
influence of the neo-Grec style, although the smooth walls, rectangular doorways
and certain decorative motifs are inspired by the classical tradition. The houses
are all identical, except for a variation in the parlor floor windows: windows
with transom bars and stained glass transoms alternate with windows having none,
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in a generally ABBAA pattern. Basement walls and stoops are rough-faced. A few
have added unusual wrought iron handrailings and yard railings, complete at No. 156,
reflecting the revival of wrought iron at the end of the 19th century. This row

is characterized by an absence of decorative detail, except for a -carved molding

in the entablature over the entrance and for the frieze of the bracketed cornice.
An emphasis on horizontality derives from the moldings above the lintels of each
story,giving these houses a feeling of comfortable solidity.

 N6s. 164-174. These six brownstones are neo-Grec in style with two-sided
masonry bays extending to.the roof cornices, with full-height pilasters at the apex
of each bay. The row was erected in 1886-87 by builder Thomas F. Green. The houses
have simple paneled wooden roof cornices with dentils. The cornice slabs above
the doorways, carried on grooved pilasters and brackets, support miniature balus-
teredbalconies with typical neo-Grec urn finials which complement the large cast
iron newels of the handrailings at the stoops. These have survived intact at Nos.
166 and 168. Typical incised decorations are found in the second and third
story window lintels of the bays, with carved recessed panels under the parlor
floor windows. In contrast to the row at the west, with its flush-fronted three-
sided bays, the apex of these two-sided bays is further emphasized by the roof
cornice which follows the profiles of the pilasters as well as creating an angular
profile at the roof line.

Nos. 176 and 178. This remarkable pair of Nueen Anne style houses was designed
by Brooklyn architect R.L. Daus. The houses were built in 1887-88 for two phy-
sicians, "illiam 1. Thallon and Edward Bunker, whose professional emblem, the cadu-
seus, appears in the richly ornamented gable of No. 178. They are of red brick
above brownstone first floors and basements. Smooth and ‘rough-faced stonework
has been used for contrast and to accent the details. Being wider, No. 178
dominates this.pair but they share a slate roof with a picturesquely arrayed
variety of gables, dormer windows and a tower crowned by a conical roof. The cusped
arch enframement of the dormer window at No. 176 is sheltered beneath a steep gable,
supported by a pair of interesting caryatid brackets. The doorway, crowned by a
foliate lintel stone, and the parlor floor window, with its wide Gothic arch, are
reminiscent of the work of Wilson Eyre of Philadelphia. The two sides of this
trinle window are divided into many small lights contrasting with the plate glass
central unit. At No. 178, a bold asymmetrical elevation displays a tower at the
right-hand side interlocked, at its base, with a wide-arched entrance porch at the
left side. The house is approached by a low stoop, The upper halves of the parlor
floor and third floor windows are divided into many small lights, typical of the
Nueen Anne style. The whole treatment of the tiered windows, and the gable flanked

by finials crowned by a conical roof, was ins-irei *v French lenaissance rrototypes.

_ Nos. 180-184 were built after 1891 by Brooklyn builder "illiam L. Dowling,

who lived at 361 President. Street, in the District. They are brownstone buildings
with full-height, three-sided masonry bays, similar window alignments and classical
cornices with triglyphs and bosses. The low basement walls at all three are
rough-faced and smooth-faced battered stonework. (ertain details, however, are
quite different. At Nos. 180-132 the entrance doors are paired above short stoops
with low stone balustrades. The steeply-pitched drin moldings above these doors are
flanked by vertical ribs set on foliate corbels. The symmetry of this pair gives
almost the impression of a single house. Although Romanesaue Revival details
appear in each house, they are distinctly different, notably in the treatment of
the small second story windows above the doorways. No. 184 has arched windows
at the parlor floor bay supported on boldly carved capitals. Smooth, alternating
with rough-faced, stone blocks form an interesting checkerboard pattern above the
Romanesque arches of parlor floor windows and the front doorway. These arches are
supnorted by engaged columns with robustly carved capitals. The doors of all three
houses ‘are a fine example of the multipaneled doors of the Romanesque Revival

period.

The building east of Mo. 184 is one side of the Memorial Presbyterian Church,
Chapel and Sunday School, described under No. 42-48 Seventh Avenue.
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NORTH SIDE ‘(Nos. 83-165)

No. 83-91 is the long side of the gabled house, with garage in the rear yard,
described under No. 153 Sixth Avenue.

Nos. 93 and 95. These two brownstones were built by Brooklyn owner-architect
J.H. Doherty in 1887-88. They are later in date and larger than their neighbors
to the east but are nevertheless harmonious in scale and articulation with them.
"ith smooth surfaces, pilasters and the ornamented pediment at the parlor floor
window of No. 95, they show the influence of the neo-Italian Renaissance despite
their bracketed cornice,typical of an earlier period. A basement entrance has been
provided at No. 93. .

(No. 97 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Nos. 99-109. These six houses were built by Brooklyn owner-builder Thomas
Green in 1831-82. They are narrow houses of brownstone, not exceeding 16 feet 8
inches in width, with flush fronts and large single parlor floor windows. They are
neo-Grec in style with low pediments over arched doorways carried on strapwork
brackets. MNarrow bands alternatc with wider stonc courses at the basement. The
builder, reflecting the slope of the street, dropned thc elevation at cvery other
building so that the roof cornices arc aligned in nairs. The original neo-Grec
balustered handrailings and square-sectioned newel posts of cast iron remain at
Nos. 101, 103 and 107.

Mos. 111 and 113 are full-blown examples of the neo-Grec style built by owner-
builder Thomas Green in 1832. In contrast to the adjoining row to the west, both
houses feature the typical, full-height, two-sided masonry bay with pilaster
at the apex. No. 113 best retains its original appearance with its handsome arched
entrance crowned by a restrained pediment with “‘ears’ or acroteria and deep reveal.
Grooved frames surround all of the windows which are crowned by incised lintels
and V-shaped corbels supporting the sills of the parlor floor windows.

Nos. 115-137. This row of twelve brownstones was begun in 1887 by George
1. Engeman, who was a hotcl manager and a Coney Island developer-builder. FHe lived
at 44 Seventh Avenue. Although these neo-Grec houses are only slightly wider than
Nos. 99-109, the design, with a two-sided full-height bay with pilaster at the
apex, gives the illusion of a larger house. The original doors remain unaltered
at No. 115. Flanked by pilasters supporting brackets, the doorways have small
balustraded balconies with end posts displaying urns. The roof cornices arc nost
tvpically neco-Grec. Many fine balustered handrailings at the stoons and yard
railings remain. Among the noted residents of this row were Alfred P. Sloan,
Sr., tea merchant, whose son Alfred P. Sloan, Jr., spent his youth at No. 117 and
went on to become Chairman of the Board of General ‘otors.

The end house in this row, No. 137, presents an extremely interesting facade,
in spite of its narrow frontase. It has the usual full-height, two-sided bay and

a rectancular bay rising up two stories above the cornice slab crowning the door-
way alongside of it. Small lights across the top and at the sides of the window

facing the street in the rectangular bay are of a type generally associated with
Nueen Anne, although the other design clements are all neo-Grec. In the carved
panels inset below the parlor floor windows, faces represent ‘‘laughter'’ and
"tears' -- the delightful work of an anonymous 19th century stone carver. The
nrojecting rectangular bay serves the purpose of terminating the row in the same
plane with the rectory.

Mo. 139, the Rectory of St. John's (P.E.) Church, forms an effective ter-
mination for the rows of houscs to the west but, most important, it is part of an
exceptionally attractive ensemble which includes the church, set well back from the
street in a grassy churchyard. It has the character of an English country parish
church. The first Church of St. John's was built at the corner of Washington and
Johnson Streets in 1826. The land for the present church complex was deeded to it
by the noted philanthropist "William E. Dodge and the cornerstone was laid on
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June 15‘ 1869. The Followlng year, on April 18, 1870, the street. name was changed
from Douglass to St. John s in honor of. the church <ot ?

Based on stylistic evidence, the rectory appears to have been built at about
the same time as the church. Both are Victorian Gothic in style and are built
of rough-faced, random ashlar sandstone with pointed-arch windows and doors. These
arches are, characteristically, composed of varicolored ‘stone voussoirs. The wide
main gable of the church, facing St. John's Place, -includes in its spread seven
slender lancet windows, stepped upwards over a central pointed-arch doorway The
gable is crowned by a ‘bell-cote. Despite its mansard roof, the rectory is archi-
tecturally quite .similar to 'the church. It has a handsome Gothic porch of
cast iron, facing the yard, and an unusual colonette set in a chamfered recess
between paired windows at the southeast corner. pcspite its small size, this
charmine complex of buildings creates a memorable and lasting impression.

No. 155-165 is the long side of the corner house, with rear yard, adjoining
the church, which is described under No. 40 Seventh Avenue.

ST. JOIH'S PLACE Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

This street sweeps up from Seventh Avenue toward the Grand Army Plaza with
Grace (M.E.) Church on the left. The houses on both sides are predominantly
neo-Grec in style, with full-height, two-sided bays, and are set back to provide
spaces for small front yards along this tree-lined street.

SOUTH SIDE  (Nos. 172-252)

No. 172 is the long side of the corner house, with rear yard, which is de-
scribed under MNo. 37 Seventh Avenue.

Nos. 188-196. This row of five brownstones was erected before 1883 by owner
Thomas Fagan, a neighborhood builder who was active in the development of the Dis-
trict. MNeo-Grec in style, these three-story houses, with their two-sided full-
heicht bays, have pilasters at the apex of each bay, reflected in the profiles of
the bracketed roof cornices. The cornice slabs over the doors are carried on
grooved brackets and are surmounted by criss-cross patterned crestings with orb-
like finials at some of the houses. The fine balustered cast iron handrailings at
the stoops and yard railings remain at most of the houses.

Nos. 198-202 are among the earliest neo-Grec brownstones in the area, dating
from 1876. They were erected by Brooklyn owner-builder, Samuel Henry. Three-
stories high, they have full-height, two-sided bays, like the row to the west.
Ilere, however, the second floor segmental-arched windows have individual frames
crowned by "'eared' pedimented lintels decorated with incised ornament and there are
no pilasters at the apexes of the bays. The parlor floor windows of the bays have
corbeled lintels decorated with incised ornament. The segmental-arched doorways
have deep corbels supporting 'eared’ pedimented lintels and the original cast iron
balustered handrailings at the stoops remain at Nos. 198 and 200.

Nos. 204-212. This row of five brownstones was heunn in 1822 by the rrelific
Park Slope developer and builder, !"illiam Flanagan. nu1te 51m11ar to the three
earlier houses adjoining, they differ principally in the elaboration of their
doorways where cornice slabs on brackets are crowned by iron crestings. Mos. 204
and 212 retain the handsome balustered cast iron handrailings and newel posts at
the stoops. No. 204 has a dormer window at the attic floor. A basement entrance
has been provided at MNo. 208 which has been raised one story and has had its front
smooth-stuccoed. Mayor Gaynor lived at No. 212 in 1890 before moving to No. 20

Eieshth Avenue.

Mos. 214-218 were designed in 1839 by the prolific Brooklyn Heights architect
Robert Dixon for owner-builder Thomas Fagan. These Victorian brownstones are

impressive in scale, being somewhat wider an! tsoller than their neichbors
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They have full-height, curve-sided bays which become three-sided at the top floor.
Rough-faced stonework at the basement floors and panels under the windows at all
floors contrasts with the smooth wall surfaces. Heavy consoles surmount short
squat columns with transitional capitals at the entrances. The house which best
preserves its original appearance is No. 218. Basement entrances have been pro-
vided at Nos. 214 and 216.

(Nos. 220 and 222 have been omitted from the street numbering systenm.)

Nos. 224 and 226 were built in 1883 by owner-builder Milliam Johnston, who
lived at No. 224. They are almost identical to Nos. 188-196, to the west, with the
exception of the design of the iron crestings on the cornice slabs above the door-
ways. Both houses retain their original cast iron handrailings at the stoops
and their yard railings.

Nos. 228-240. These seven neo-Grec brownstones were built in 1884 for devel-
oper Menry Lansdell. They are exceptionally fine, late examples of this style,
well expressed in the incised decoration and in the unusual carved panels beneath
the windows. The shallow full-height, two-sided bays have grooved pilasters
flanking the windows at every floor. The entrance doorways, with thick cornice
slabs carried on bold brackets are embellished by iron crestings. The most un-
usual features of these houses, however, are their roof cornices, which r2st only on
end brackets, with heavy concave moldings mt the top of plain friezes, runc-
tunted by a series ofsmall ornamental motifs beneath them. The balustered hand-
railings and ornate newel posts remain at No. 240. No. 240 also retains its
original balustered yard railing.

No. 252 is the long side of the corner house, with low addition at the
rear, described under No. 8 Eighth Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 167-217)

No. 167-177 is the side of Grace (M.E.) Church, at the corner of Seventh
Avenue, described under No. 31-35 Seventh Avenue. This handsome church originally
had a brownstone snire crowning the corner tower, which was damaged and removed
after the hurricane of 1944,

Nos. 179-193 (No. 183 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
These seven houses, superficially so much alike, were built in 1880-81 by two
Park Slope builders: John Gordon (Nos. 179-185) and William Gubbins (Nos. 187-193).
5Subbins had purchased the land for development in April 1880. "ith their shallow
full-height, two-sided bays, these three-story brownstone houses produce a gentle
undulation at the cornice line, broken only by No. 179 where a fourth floor with
a mansard roof has been added. The chief difference between the work of the two
builders is one of detail: Gordon's window enframements at the upper floors are
individual, crowned with low pediments, whereas those at the Gubbins'houses are
vertically connected by pilasters creating panels with incised ornament beneath
the windows. Gordon's doors are surmounted by carved pedimented lintels, while
Gubbins' have cornice slabs with iron crestings; cornice slabs also appear over the
second floor windows above the doors. The handsome paneled doors, at No. 187,
are the originals. The cast iron handrailings at the stoops remain at all but two
of the houses.

(flo. 195 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Mos. 197-217 (Mo. 207 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
This row of ten brownstone houses was also built in 1881 by Brooklyn owner-builder
William Gubbins. They are similar to Nos. 179-193, retaining Gubbins' cornice
slabs with iron cresting above the doors, while using the individual upper floor
window enframements, with low pediments, characteristic of Gordon's houses. It
is interesting, in cases such as these, to note how freely local builders combined
design elements from different buildings to achieve new results. Basement
entrances have been provided at Nos. 201, 211, 215 and 217.

(The buildings to the east of No. 217, extending to the Flatbush Avenue corner,
are outside the Historic District.)
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In 1873, just three years before the nation's Centennial, the section
of Butler Street east of Fifth Avenue was renamed Sterling Place. It was
named after General William Alexander Stirling, born-in New York in 1723.
Although he was the titular Earl of Stirling, he allied himself with the
colonials against the RBritish and, in 1775, was charged with the supervision
of the fortification of New York and the harbor. e was one of the valiant
commanders of the American troops during the British attack on the Park
Slope area and Brooklyn Heights in August ®1776, during the Revolutionary
Ylar "Battle of Long Island.” Although taken prisoner, he was later
exchanged and distinguished himself in subsequent battles during the war,
enjoying the confidence of Yashington to an unusual degree.

STERLING PLACE Between Fifth & Sixth Avenues

SYWTH SIDE  (Mos. 66-70)

Nos. 66-70 is the long side of the corner house, with garages behind
it, described under No. 128 Sixth Avenue.

STERLING PLACE Between Sixth § Seventh Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Mo. 135 Sixth Avenue and Nos. 130-138 Sterling Place)

The house at the westernmost end of this street is described under
No. 135 Sixth Avenue.

(Mos. 80-128 are outside the Historic District.)

No. 130 is a handsome three-story town house which, with its formal
window enframements and pedimented arched’doorway, displays the characteris-
tics of the French Second Empire style, also reflected in the elaborate
paneling of the frcat doors and in the segmental arches of the basement
windows with keystones. A high stoop with solid masonry wing-walls
approaches the entrance directly. The roof cornice is supported on deep end
brackets and on smaller evenly spaced intermediate brackets.

No. 132-138 is a vacant corner lot, No. 26 Seventh Avenue--the site of
a house destroyed by an airplane crash in 1960.

MORTH EIDE (Nos. 133-139)

No. 133-139 is the long side of a one-story building, described under
Mo. 24 Seventh Avenue.

STERLIMNG PLACE Between Seventh § Flatbush Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 140-146)

Mo. 140-144 is the exceptionally handsome corner house with garage
behind it, described under No. 21 Seventh Avenue.

0%~
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No. 146. This charming Queen Anne ‘house of 1887 was built for Charles
M..Pled, Esq. - The architect was L. B. Vaulk, who also designed the '
neighboring row around the corner at Nos. 21-27 Seventh Avenue, built at
tpe same time. Asymmetrically composed, No. 146 is two and one-half stories -
high with a steep slate roof. The narrow arched doorway is complemented by
a wide-arched, tripartite parlor floor window, which is quite Romanesque
Revival in character.f The second story sheetmetal bay window, with -
pgdimented arched central window, is surmounted at the third story by a
wide dormer with two windows, terminating in a gable with terra cotta tile
ayd central floral panel. Above the doorway, a single window and a dormer
with hipped roof enhance the asymmetry. The west side of this house,
facing the rear yard of No. 140-144, has three handsome chimneys with
brickwork expressing the flues within. The front doorway is approached
by a low stoop with wins-walls which have unusual wrousht iron handrailings.

(The buildings to the east of No. 146, extending to the intersection
of Flatbush Avenue nre outsile the "istoric “istrict.)

NORTH SIDE -

The only building within the Historic District, on this side of the
street, is the corner house, described under No. 19 Seventh Avenue.

UNION STREET

Union Street, like its neighbor President Street, reflects in its name a
national theme and the sentiment of the nation following the Civil War. It is
a broad street, a main artery leading up to Grand Army Plaza. At the end of the
street, a pair of tall Doric shafts marks the entrance to Prospect Park. They
- are the work of the architect John H. Duncan and sculptor Frederick . MacMonnies.
Row houses, set well back, line the blockfronts between Seventh andEighth Avenues.
On the south side of the street, just west of Eighth Avenue and in the park block,
there is a combination of brownstone row houses and apartment houses of the
early 20th century.

UNION STREET Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 820-870)

(The five houses at the western end of the -street, west of No. 820 are
outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 820-836 are nine similar brownstones built in 1884-85 as part of
a row which extends to the Sfeventh Avenue corner.The developer was Park
Slope architect-builder William Flanagan. Though using the same basic
architectural detail on all the houses, Flanagan introduced a flush front
at No. 830, contrasting it with the full-height, two-sided bays of all the
other houses. These houses are designed in the neo-Grec style which he
used so abundantly in his other work. Nos. 828, 830 and 832, although
basically similar to the other houses, show traces of the Queen Anne style:
panels and bosses of floral ornament contrast with the simpler incised
designs of the neo-Grec. The Union Street houses, like those behind them
on President Street, were constructed on land which Flanagan purchased
for development from the Methodist Episcopal Hospital. The shape of these
houses varies slightly in detail from the neo-Grec row which John
Magilligan built at the same time across the street at Nos. 865-887.
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Where the roof cornices are silhouetted against the sky, a strong staccato
rhythm is most apparent. Several original cast iron balustered stoop and

yard railings remain as well as balustrades of the same material above

the cornice slabs at some of the entrances. Basement entrances have been

provided at Nos. 822 and 836. :

Nos. 838-844. Built in 1884-85 by architect-builder Edward B.
Sturges, these four brownstones have many of the same neo-Grec design
elements used in the adjoining Flanagan houses. A distinguishing feature,
at Nos. 838 and 840, is the Queen Anne sunburst motif, which appears at
the top of the pilasters separating the long parlor floor windows and in
the ‘brackets supporting the cornice slabs above the doorways. Although a
basement entrance has been provided at No. 842, the houses all retain the
low cast iron balustrades above the doorways.

Nos. 846-854. These five one-family dwellings were built in 1902
for owner Bessie L. lMartin; who lived at 24 Polhemus Place in the District,
and were designed by Brooklyn architect Axel Hedman. With fronts of light-
colored stone,  they represent the taste for the new Classicism at this
period. Only two stories above high brownstone basements and approached
by stoops, they are a full story lower than their neighbors to the west.
They have full-height, curved and polygonal bays in an ABBA sequence, with
a rectangular bay at No. 854 Broad ornamental bandcourses run horizon-
tally beneath the windows, and there is a great variety in the carved
detail on each building. . The deep sheetmetal cornices, carried on brackets,
display classical motifs. No. 854, a brownstone, is quite similar in
detail to the rest of the row. It terminates the group with its advancing
rectangular flush-fronted bay. When built in 1902, the four windows in
its eastern brick sidewall looked out on the extensive grounds of the
Maxwell mansion which stood at the southwest corner of Union Street and
Eighth Avenue until 1923.

Between Nos. 854 and 860 are two vacant lots separated from the
street by a gate and iron fence.. .

- No. 860 was .originally the Victorian Gothic carriage house of the
Maxwell mansion, built of brick and trimmed with stone. It is one of the
few carriage houses in Park Slope. The facade of this two-story building
was altered: to its present handsome appearance, in 1923, by architects
Caughey § Evans, of Manhattan, in a style much in character with -the
building. A large four-part, leaded window, with transom bar and mullions,
is an attractive feature of this building at the ground floor. The
projecting central bay has a gambrel roof gable, flanked by chimmeys
supported on elaborate corbels.

No. 862 is a seven-story apartment house built in 1923, similar to
the adjoining apartment house at No. 78 Eighth Avenue. It was designed
by the architectural firm of Slee § Bryson and occupies a part of the
site of the Maxwell mansion on Eighth Avenue. Built of red brick, with
precast stone trim, it is Tudor in inspiration Enphasis is on the impressive
central arched entranceway, surmounted by an elaborate heraldic device
set in a panel. At the third floor, a statue of a knight in armor stands
guard in a stone niche above the panel.

No. 870 is thelarge corner apartment house described under No.
78 Eighth Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 865-917)

(The corner building and adjoining vacant lot, west of No. 865, are
outside the Ilistoric District.)
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Nos. 865-887. These twelve residences were built in 1884-85 by Park
Slope builder-architect John Magilligan, who lived at that time just west
of the District on St. Mark's Avenue. The brownstone row is quite uniform
and straightforward in its neo-Grec design--typical of Magilligan's work
e;sewhere in the District. All have full-height, two-sided bays accented
with horizontal bandcourses. The bays have full-height pilasters at their
apexes, incised with conventional neo-Grec ornament. The deep, paneled
roof cornices reflect the profiles of -the bays and pilasters at the
skyline. The cornice slabs over most of the main:entrances-are surmounted
by.low cast iron balustrades, in character with the. heavy stoop hand-
railings. ~ Basement entrances have been provided at Nos. 869, 873 and 885.

Nos. 889-903. Built in 1889, these eight brick houses were constructed
for owner James C. Jewett of 42 Seventh Avenue, and were designed by
neighborhood architect Albert E. White, who also did work for Jewett at
Nos. 876 and 878 President Street. These fanciful houses, combining
elements of the Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne styles, are in sharp
contrast to the rather sedate and conventional neo-Grec houses to the west.
In this highly picturesque octet, the architect used various types of
stone trim and sheetmetal cornices and oriels in an alternating design
pattern. As was the case with his President Street houses, which these
with the oriels resemble, he made these houses symmetrical at the upper
floors, instead of following the more typical asymmetry generally associated
with the Queen Anne. The flush-fronted houses, best preserved at Nos. 893
and 897, retain the small enframing lights of the center tripartite
windows at the third floors. The high basement walls have an interesting
combination of smooth and rough-faced stonework. The entrances beneath
round arches are accented by drip moldings and are complemented by the
arches of equal size at the adjoining parlor floor windows. The effect
of so many arches at this level provides a continous horizontal rhythm
across the fronts, belying the narrowness of the individual houses. At
the third story windowsill level, the stone string course rests on brick
corbels. A crested effect is achieved by slightly advancing the wall
plane surrounding the central window, above which an ornate sheetmetal
cornice is crowned by a crenellated roof cresting with ball-topped spikes
against the skyline. This bit of medieval whimsy is dainty when compared
with the high pediments which crown the houses with oriels -- Queen Anne
in inspiration. The central oriels at the second floors are supported
on central brackets which are carried down between the broad arches at
the parlor floors. The doors are surrounded by small bull's-eye glass
lights, an unusual feature of this style. The entrances of all eight
houses are approached by L-shaped stoops with random ashlar wing-walls.

Nos. 905-913. Finished in 1895, these five houses are basically
Romanesque Revival in style displaying certain Queen Anne features. They
were built for owner G.B. Dearing, and designed by Brooklyn architect
Thomas McMahon, who both lived in the Cobble Hill area. They are built
in an ABCBA pattern with flush fronts alternating with those which have
shallow curved bays. Romanesque influence is especially apparent in the
two-story curved bays, the arched windows, in the rough-faced masonry at
the basement, and in the wing-walls of the stoops. Fine brick corbelling
beneath the second floor sill-courses of Nos. 907 and 911 and their arched
entranceways with drip moldings are also Romanesque. Another interesting
element has been incorporated in the steep tile roof of No. 907, where
delightful little lunette-shaped dormers, high up on the roof, flank the
large central one. The dormers at the other houses, with their high ornate
pediments, are decidedly Queen Anne. The Romanesque theme is carried up
to roof level at No. 909, with its large round archad window and carved
stone ornament beneath a masonry gable. These houses are especially
picturesque above the cornice line.

No. 917 is the Union Street side of the prominent corner mansion at
Eighth Avenue. It continues the character of the row houses to the west:
here the architect has also combined Romanesque and Queen Anne elements.
The house is also described under No. 70-72 Eighth Avenue.
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SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 872-902)

This section of Union Street is divided almost evenly between three
apartment houses and- six adjoining brownstones to the east. The apartment
houses harmonize remarkably well in height with the brownstones. There is,
however, an interesting contrast between the relatively flush facades of
the apartment houses with horizontal roof cornices and the vertical masonry
bays of the houses which produce an animated effect at the skyline.

No. 872-880 is the long side of the corner house described under No.
73 Eighth Avenue.

No. 882 (882-884), 'The Gwendolyn', a four-story apartment house of
Roman brick with rusticated limestone base, was built in 1901 for Newman
H. Raymond and designed by architect George E. Roosen. The symmetrical
facade, flanked by sheetmetal bay windows above the first story, has
a central columnar entrance porch. Classical features include console
bracket keystones above the first floor windows and the bold roof cornice
with swags which are tastefully incorporated in this structure.

Mo. 886 is a small apartment house of four stories built by S. B.
Ogden & Co. in 1905-07 for George Eswein. Like its neighbor to the west,
it has a rusticated base, with Roman brick above, and a bold roof cornice
carried on brackets. It is a restrained example of classical design, with
brick quoins delineating the sides and neo-Georgian double keystones at
the window lintels.

No. 888 (888-890), "The Park View, is an apartment house erected
for the Kraslow Building Company and designed in 1922 by Y. T. McCarthy.
It has a well-ordered brick front of English bond with limestone accents.
A cornice slab on horizontally placed console brackets juts out over the
door to form a small canopy.

Nos. 892-902. This dignified row of six brownstones with high stoops
was built in 1887 by Park Slope developer William Flanagan. Nearly identi-
cal with full-height, three-sided bays, they are transitional in design,
illustrating how the neo-Grec gave way to neo-Renaissance influence. Neo-
Grec details are still apparent in the bracketed roof cornices and in the
partially fluted pilasters flanking the windows of the bays, but the
triangular pediments above the central window of the bays and the flanking
panels beneath the second floor windows are neo-Renaissance.

(The six buildings extending to the corner of Prospect Park West are
outside the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 919-927)

No. 919-927 is the long side of the corner house described under No.
71 Eighth Avenue.

(The three buildings and two vacant lots extending to the corner of
Plaza Street are outside the Historic District.)

Q7






"PS-HD
NUMBERED STREETS

FIRST TO FOURTEENTH STREETS

FIRST STREET

FIRST STREET Between Seventh & Eighth Avenues

First Street between Seventh and Eighth Avenues differs in certain respects
from that portion of the street between Eighth Avenue and Prospect Park West. Most
of the houses are relatively more modest than the generally taller, more richly
ornamented residences of the park block. They display a variety of architectural
styles: the neo-Grec, Romanesque Revival and neo-Renaissance all being represented.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 460-520)

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenue to the west of No. 460, is
outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 460-468. These five houses were built for owner William Martin and de-
signed by Brooklyn architect Arthur Koch in 1910-11. They are three stories high.
Ne. 460, planned as a two-family residence, is only two stories, with a high base-
ment and with ornament similar to that of the neighboring houses. It differs from
the other houses in having a prominent, full-height, square bay with side windows
facing the row. The house’projects farther toward the street than this row, thus
acting as a visual termination to the group. The limestone faced houses, Nos. 462-
468, form a totally unified row with identical ornamental detail. At the doors,
simple drip moldings, like those which enframe the windows, alternate with elabo-
rately carved crowning motifs consisting of garlands and cartouches. The houses
are three-storied with low stoops, which are unusual in this blockfront. The
facades have full-height curved bays and are crowned by sheet metal cornices with
classical swags. The ornament was inspired by French Renaissance prototypes.

Nos. 470-478. This row of five brick houses, built for owner Cornelius
Donnellow in 1895-96 and designed by Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon, is typical of
the late Romanesque Revival. The materials of the houses alternate--white Roman
brick with limestone trim and orange Roman brick with brownstone trim--according to
an ABABA pattern. Like the row to the west, these houses have full-height, curved
bays. The brownstone and limestone at the basements, the L-shaped stoops, and the
window and doorway lintels are rough-faced. The brickwork begins above the parlor
floors and continues to the sheet metal roof cornices, the fascias of which are or-
namented with rows of large scale rosettes. The simple, narrow doorways enframe un-
usually handsome paneled doors with or1g1na1 hardware and metal grilles, unique in
the District. ;

Nos. 480-498. This long row of ten brownstones helps to unify this side of the
street. Nos. 480-486 are known to have been erected by Brooklyn owner-architect
John Magilligan in 1891-92. The rest of the row was probably also the work of .
Magilligan. They are very similar to the houses across the street, Nos. 503-509.
Like so many houses in Park Slope, they have full-height, three-sided masonry bays,
which extend from the basement floor to the roof cornice, and L-shaped stoops.
Rough-faced stonework appears at the basements and stoops and in the band courses
beneath the windows of the bays. Stained glass transoms ornament the parlor floor
windows, and some of the stoops retain their original delicate wrought ironwork.
Yooden roof cornices with neo-Grec detailing crown these severely rectangular
buildings.

Nos. 500-506. Built by Brooklyn owner-architect Fred Griswold in 1890, this
dignified group of Romanesque Revival brownstones consists of four houses which
are very similar, with only minor variations in the decorative detail. Rough-
faced stone appears at the basement floors and is used again at the second-story -
level and for the voussoirs of the arched windows. The tall, arched windows of
the parlor floors have stained glass transoms, while the second floors are domin-
ated by three-sided oriel windows supported on massive brackets, which rest on
pilasters with foliate capitals. The arched windows of the top stories echo the
disposition of arches at the parlor stories. The bracketed wooden roof cornices
are retardataire in style; neo-Grec motifs linger on in the incised decoration of
the second story end pilasters and in the band courses beneath the oriel windows.
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. No. 508. This house of tan Roman brick with limestone basement, stoop and
ornament was built by Brooklyn owner-architect Charles Peterson in 1895 and is
unique among the houses of the block. It has an almost semi-circular masonry

bay wblch extends to the second story and is crowned by a balustrade. The glass in
the windows of this bay conforms to its curvature. The parlor floor windows are
enframed by a delicate egg and dart molding and surmounted by carved blocks with
cartouches. The egg and dart molding is repeated at the base of the balustrade

and at the roof cornice, which is supported on carved console brackets. The
entrance doorway is flanked by engaged columns and accords with the over-all neo-
Renaissance theme. '

‘No. 510 is a lot with a garage located halfway back.

\ No. 520 is the long side of the corner house, described under MNo. 196 Eighth
venue.

NORTH SIDE (Mos. 465-513)

.(The houses to the west of No. 465, originally built atithe same_time, are
outside of the Historic District.) e : v '

Nos. 465-469A. These four brownstone houses were built in 1884-85 by Brooklyn
owner-architects ™artin and Lee. All four houses are raised on high basement
floors and retain their straight, steep entrance stairways, which are ornamented
with handsome iron railings and newel posts of the neo-Grec style.

No. 465, like its three neighbors to the east, disvlays typically neo-Grec
fluting and delicately incised linear detail, although in a somewhat more restrained
manner. The facade of No. 465 is enlivened by a projecting two-sided bay, which
runs through all three stories of the house. This vertical accent is balanced by
broad, horizontal band courses, which define the floor levels of the house. The
imposing doorway is surmounted by a cornice slab on carved brackets and is enframed
by grooved pilasters. A simple, bracketed wooden cornice of the same design as
those at Nos. 467-469A crowns the facade. No. 467, although three-storied,
is visually linked to the two-storied houses, MNos. 469-469A, by the repetition of
identical ornamental detail. ‘Eared”’ pedimental lintels with incised floral ~rna-
ment appear at the windows and doors of these houses and are very characteristic
of the neo-Grec style, as are the corbels beneath the window frames.

Nos. 471-475A. PBRuilt in 1877 for Brooklyn owner George "W. Richards and de-
signed by another Brooklynite, architect-carpenter Wiiliam YWright, these six rather
modest two-story brownstones continue the series of French neo-Grec houses which
becins at the west end of the street. The segmental arches of the doorways and
windows differentiate this row from its neighbors. '"hile the stoops are straight,
like those of nearly all the houses on this side of the street, they are distinc-
tive in having heavy balustered cast iron handrailings and newel posts, which
are fully preserved at Nos. 475 and 475A. Arched cornice slabs project above the
doorways; and the lintels have very simple incised linear decoration. Three of the
houses (Mos. 471, 473, 475) retain their neo-Grec entrance doors, and all six
facades are topped by paneled wooden roof cornices supported by foliate brackets.

_ Nos. 477-501. These fourteen brownstones were the first of a series of stylis-
tically similar houses built at various locations within the Historic District by
the Brooklyn owner-architect Fred J. Griswold. Built between 1387 and 1889,

they are two and one-half stories in height, while the related houses at Nos.
500-506 First Street of 1890, Nos. 283-294 Garfield Place of 1891, and Nos. 178-184
Eighth Avenue of 1893 are three-storied. All the First Street houses by Griswold
display a clear amalgam of Romanesque Revival forms with those of the earlier
French neo-Grec style, while in the later buildings Griswold employed a purer
version of the Romanesque Revival style. The basement floors and straight stoops
of these houses are of rough-faced stonework. The arched parlor floor windows

with stained glass lunettes are enframed by large scale voussoirs, and prominent
keystones have been let down into the arches of the doorways. At each
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house, pilasters with simple foliate capitals are surmounted by a pair of large
brackets supporting a three-sjded oriel, the dominant feature of the upper floors.
Below the roof cornices, which continue the shape of the oriels, small rectangular
windows punctuate the fascia, thus providing an attic story. The handrailings,
newel posts,; and yard railings are of cast and wrought iron, rather than stone,

and thus they harmonize nicely with the small scale of these charming houses and
with the delicate incised neo-Grec detail of the enframing pilasters of the

second floor. No. 485A is unusual; since it is only two bays wide, it has an oriel
with only two sides. '

Nos. 503-567(509). Toward the northeast end of the street, Nos. 503-509 form
a row of four brownstones basically similar in design to the houses across the
street, Nos. 480-498. Like them, they are three stories in height with full-
height ,three-sided bays. These houses were begun in 1890 for owner John Monas
and were designed by Brooklyn srchitect J.J. Gilligan.

No. 513 is the long side of the corner house, described under No. 190 Eighth
Avenue.

FIRST STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park "est

First Street between Eighth Avenue and Prospect Park llest, contains many fine
examples of the neo-Renaissance mode, which was one of the popular classical styles
inspired by the highly influential Chicago Exposition of 1893. Each house or
group of houses represents individual variations of this mode. All the original
stoops, most of which are L-shaped, have been preserved, as have the cornices which
are treated in a variety of ways.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 522-584)

No. 522 is the long side of the corner building, described under MNo. 195
Eighth Avenue.

This entire blockfront was developed by Louis Bonert during the years 1909-10
in accord with designs by architects Eisenla and Carlson.

No. 534 is a limestone-faced house, three stories high, with a full-height
square bay and a straight stoop. It was begun in 1909. High relief decoration is
set in panels below the parlor and third floor windows and in semi-circular blind
arches above the parlor floor windows and entrance. The house projects forward
toward the street, and, like many houses in the District, is intended to create a
formal beginning to the adjacent row of houses.

Nos. 536-542. These four houses, begun in 1909, are of limestone with three-
story, full-height curved bays and L-shaped stoops. Although the doorways are
quite similar, displaying arched pediments with ornately carved panels, certain
variations in decoration appear in alternation. Simply enframed parlor floor win-
dows alternate with those having paneled pilasters; the windows above the entrances
are enframed by broken pediments with fluted Ionic pilasters, or by dentiled cor-
nices with smooth pilasters. Panels and bands of carved ornament adorn the bays.
The roof cornices are beautifully handled, with foliate brackets, dentils and
bands of floral decoration.

MNos. 544-558. In this row of eight houses begun in 1209, the end houses are
faced with brownstone. The rest of the row is faced with limestone, a more typical
material for neo-Renaissance facades of this period. All the houses have L-shaped
stoops and are three stories high with full-height bays, the sides of which are
curved. The doorways are flanked by engaged columns supporting entablatures with
alternating detail. These entablatures are either surmounted by curvilinear
ornament or have carved panels. 9ther details include diamond-shaped incisions at
parlor floor level, “luting at the second floor and foliate decoration in spandrel
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Panels between Fhe floors. Pediments surmount the windows above the doorways. The
~-bold, neo-Classical sheetmetal roof cornices follow the profiles of the bays.

Nos. 560-566. These four limestone houses, begun in 1909, have full-height
bays, which are rounded at the sides. The parlor floors are rusticated, and
rusticated pilasters, flanking the doorways, support foliate friezes and pediments
with central cartouches. . This ornament is combined with glass and wrought iron
doors to create imposingly elaborate entrances. Prominent carved keystones appear
at the third floor level of each house, and segmental pediments surmount the windows
above the doorways. Tall, slender pilasters in the bays extend from the second
to third floors and unify them, and decorative low relief panels appear beneath
all.the windows of the bays. As in the neighboring houses, bold classical roof
cornices conform to the profile of the bays. '

No. 568 was begun in 1910, also for owner Louis Bonert, and was designed by
his architects Eisenla and Carlson. It is nearly identical with No. 565 on the
opposite side of. the street. Four stories high, it has a three-story bay with
curved sides and two-story pilasters extending up through the second and third
stories. Ornamental panels adorn the spaces between the second and third story
windows of the bay. Pilasters also appear at the entrance and at the parlor floor
windows, which have stained glass transoms. The neo-Italian Renaissance ornament
and the limestone facing of this house help to integrate it harmoniously with the
four houses to the west, although it is one story taller.

Nos. 570 and 572. At the east end of First Street are ‘two four-story neo-
Itdlian 'Renaissance brownstones which were also built for owner Bonert in 1910
- and designed by Eisenla and Carlson. They are built in mirror symmetry. The paired
‘entrance‘doors are approached by L-shaped stoops and are flanked by three-story
curved bays, which are ornamented by pilasters and foliate bandcourses. Stained
glass transoms enrich the parlor floor windows. The entablatures above the arched
doorways are supported by grooved pilasters and crowned by curvilinear ornament;
they have end blocks which display carved heads. At the second and third floors,
triangular and scroll pediments surmount the windows above the doorways, while at
the top floor simple segmental-arched windows appear beneath the classical roof
cornices. s = : : '

No. 584 is the long side of the stone mansion with yard at the end of the
street, described under No. 49 Prospect Park West.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 515-567)

No. 515-525 is the long side of the apartment hoﬁse described under No. 193
Eighth Avenue. '

Nos. 527-535. This group of five limestone houses, on the north side,
is unique in Park Slope. No. 527, which is two windows wide, was built in 1910
for owner Louis Bonert. The other four houses, which have three windows, were
begun five years later for the same owner and were designed by architect Fred V.
Eisenla. These unusual houses have the formal elegance of British Regency archi-
tecture, with details reminiscent of our Federal style. !thile the other houses
on this block and in this area have projecting bays, these houses have handsome,
shallow swell-fronts above first floor level, spanning almost the entire width
of each house. The flush ground floors are rusticated. Low granite stoops lead
directly up to the main entrance of the English basements (first floors), and
separate, smaller stoops at the sides lead to the service doors. At the central
entrances are porches, each with two pairs of free-standing columns. These porches
are surmounted by low balustrades extending across the facades of the houses,
following the curves of the swell-fronts. The balustrades, carried on brackets,
and columns are ornamented at their bases by foliate bands and at their ends by
stone urns. The swell-fronts of the upper three stories of these houses are rather
simple and make a pleasant contrast with the ornate English basements. The repi-
tition of round-arched Federal windows with interlacing muntins at the top floor
helps to unify the facades. The modillioned roof cornices conform to the curves of
the swell-fronts, thus creating a pleasing undulation. The front yards of these
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houses are enclosed by high wrought iron fences, which are very simple, and light
in character. .

Nes. 537-545. These five houses are a series of brownstones of a type seen
elsewhere in the District. Their basements and L-shaped stoops are rusticated,
and they have full-height three-sided bays. Of severely simple design, with no
carved decoration, the facades are articulated by plain horizontal moldings which
emphasize the divisions of the floors and the forms of the bays. Handscme stained
glass transoms appear at the windows at parlor floor level.

Nos. 547-553. This row of severely classical limestone houses was. built for
owner William Flanagan according to 1901 designs by architect P.J. Cullen. The
three-story facades of the row alternate in an ABAB pattern; the type "B' houses,
No. 549 and No. 553, are identical, with full-height, three-sided projecting bays
and simple detailing. Carved decoration embellishes the wall surfaces of 'the bays
between the second and third floors, and engaged Ionic columns flank the entrances
and support simple entablatures. No. 547 and No. 551, type 'A'', have elliptical,
full-height projecting bays and are somewhat more richly ornamented than the type
"B'" houses. Broad, fluted, engaged Ionic columns appear at the parlor level of
the bay of No. 547, and a scroll pediment surmounts the entablature of the entrance.
No. 551, once the residence of U.S. Senator William M. Calder, a builder in Park
Slope, has a rusticated first floor with cartouches. A pediment, with central
cartouche, and rusticated pilasters enframe the doorway. In this row there is an
elegant simplicity and a feeling for unity, which is enhanced by the identical
L-shaped stoops and classical cornices with dentils.,

Nos. 555 and 557. Owner Irving Levy commissioned architect George Miller
to design this pair of identical three-story limestone houses in 1909. They
have several dramatic and distinguishing features. Engaged columns at the entrances
support elaborate ‘‘broken' arch pediments with bold cartouches inspired by the
- Italian Renaissance. Fluted pilasters on each side of the central parlor floor
windows support foliate console brackets, which, in turn, support balustraded

. balconies set in front of the central second floor windows. Bold keystones flanked

by foliate forms are an unusual feature at the principal second floor windows.
Classical cornices crown these houses, and carved ornament, similar to that under
the parlor floor windows, adorns the wing walls of the L-shaped stoops.

No. 559. This brownstone is three stories with a high basement. Along with
the three-story house,No. 567, it enframes the taller houses which stand between
them. It was built for owner Mary Conlon and was designed in 1902 by architect
E.D. Earl. The shallow curved bay extends full-height and is reflected in the
classical roof cornice, which conforms to its profile. The L-shaped stoop - and
basement are rough-faced. Small panels of ornament are set under the windows
of the bay at the parlor floor, and above these windows a broad band of foliate
ornament appears. A carved, scrolled pediment surmounts the entablature of the
main entrance. The second and third stories have fluted pilasters between the
windows of the bay, while the pilasters at the third floor are paired and smaller
in scale, contrasting with the rather heavy classical cornice which crowns the
house.

No. 561. This four-story limestone house was built by owner-builder Peter
Delaney in 1900. It has a curved three-story bay, with handsome engaged columns
separating the windows at both the parlor and second floors. Pilasters appear
between the windows of the bay at the third floor. The low stone balustrade
surmounting the bay displays an unusual series of pierced circles, which recur
at the front of the L-shaped stoop. The entrance door is set between two engaged
Ionic columns, which support an attractive arched pediment enframing a large
scalloped shell. The second and third floor windows above the entrance are also
handsomely enframed.

Nos. 563 and 565. These two houses were built for owner-builder Peter
Delaney in 1901. No. 563, a brownstone, and No. 565, a limestone house, are four
stories in height and have similar cornices. No. 563 has fluted pilasters at the
first and second floors of its three-story elliptical bay and smooth pilasters
at the. third floor. The entrance door is set in an arch at No. 563 and is square-
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headed at No. 565, but both doors are crowned by entablatures with surmounting
s?rolled ornament. The three-story bay with curved sides at No. 565 has fluted
pilasters extending from the second to third story.

No. 567. This three-story brownstone, built by owner-builder Peter Delaney
in 1902, is quite similar to No. 565, although it is only three stories in
height. An ornately enframed window, a richly carved scrolled pediment above the
entablature of the doorway, handsome floral panels in the bay, and the L-shaped
stoop with inverted console-type terminations are the principal decorative features
of this facade.

(The large corner apartnent house with yard and courtyard to the east of No.
567, 1s out51de of the Hlstorlc District.)

SECOND STREET

SECOMND STREET Between Seventh & Eighth Avenues

This street includes some of Park Slope's most interesting houses, as well
as some inharmonious elements. On the north side, a row of ten unusual houses--
similar to Nos. 485-501 Fourth Street-- more than compensates for an ill-conceived
group of post-llorld lar II houses at the east.. On the.south side, Victorian row-
houses are interrupted by an harmonious six- story apartment house. Some of the
houses have been painted in various colors obscuring their masonry walls and the
harmony of the row. . Arranged in related groups of four and five, all of the row
houses on this side of the street are three stories above hipgh basements except
the easternmost house, which has a mansard roof, making it one story higher.
Stylistically the facades present an interesting variety--ranging from simple and
severe to robust and imaginative. To attempt to place them in precise stylistic
categories would be difficult, however. Except for two houses which are clearly
Romanesque Revival, the houses take elements from the styles current at the time.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 516-576)

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenue, west of No. 516, is outside
of the Historic District.)

Nos. 516 and 516A are a pair of one-story buildings used for commercial
purposes.

Nos. 518-524 were built for owner Henry R. Donnellon in 1898 from designs
by Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon. They are basically Romanesque Revival in style
and are similar to No, 513 and Nos. 537-541 on the opposite side of the street.
They-follow an ABBA pattern, with the end houses of tan colored brick and brownst®ne.
The center pair are of ivory colored brick and limestone. These houses:are only
eighteen feet wide, two feet narrower than the similar ones across the street. The
narrowness of the fronts and of some of the windows, combined with the verticality
of the bays, give this group a severe look. No. 518 retains its small window
over the entrance doorway, the others having been enlarged to the same height as
. the other windows. All the houses retain their original detail. Neo-Classical
roof cornices, with swags set in panels, crown the houses. Fine, twisted iron
grilles guard the basement windows. The strength of the whole composition tends
.to conceal the careful conversion of No. 520's stoop from L-shaped to straight.

A six- story apartment house, built in 1927 28, (No. 526-534) interrupts the
essentially uniform building he1ght on this side, but it does so in an inoffensive
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fashion, since it has been designed with thoughtful attention to detail. The walls
- are a tapestry brick in a rich range of colors, laid up in Flemish bond. Details

- are of Southern French and Spanish Romanesque origin, and include some harmonious
buff-colored precast stonework in versions of medieval bas-reliefs and colonnettes.
At the roof, there is sparing use of green Spanish tile. Perhaps the most thought-
ful element of this design is the placing of the fire escapes back in the recess

of the entrance court, instead of on the street fronts.

The next group, a quintet, Nos. 536-544, was built in 1892-93 and designed by
architect John '. Bailey for owner Matilda Nilsson. The facades have bold, full-
height three-sided bays, and are constructed of rough-faced brick between rough-
faced brownstone bandcourses, which serve as lintels on the upper floors. The
range of rough brickwork and stone, the heavy roof cornices and an over-all brown-
orange tone give the group a rather tweedy texture, not unlike much row housing
in Victorian England. The handsome L-shaped stoops and the basements, both of
rough-faced brownstone, add to the bold effect. A basement entrance has been
provided at No. 542.

Nos. 546-554, a group of five, was built in 1891 for owner Catherine Hill
from designs by Manhattan architect John E. Dwyer. lhile the groups to each side
of this one are vigorous in form or texture, this Romanesque Revival row has a
highly disciplined flat quality, relieved through the manipulation of shapes,
brick colors , roof silhouettes and fenestration. The fronts of these three-story
houses are arranged in an ABABA pattern. Straight stoops above high basements lead
up to arched doorways. All the houses have very shallow partially rusticated two-
_story bays with rounded corners, which are treated almost as appliques on otherwise
- flat walls. The projections of the roof cornices are also quite shallow; they gain
interest through the contrast of triangular gables on the "A" units with horizontal
roof-lines on the "B units.

The last row of five houses, Nos. 556-564, also designed by John E. Dwyer for
. Catherine Hill, was built in 1891. The houses have vigorous facades, set slightly
back from the prevailirg line of fronts on the street; No. 556 makes the transition
for this setback with a projected rectangular bay on its west side. High stoops
approach the ample doorways, and, where L-shaped, have handsome carved ornament on
the wing-walls facing the street. The houses were all originally of orange-colored
Roman brick, trimmed with brownstone. The three central houses in the group,

Nos. 558-562, are in an ABA pattern: the "A' units are identical in design and above
the rooflines have steep triangular gables, which have flat sheet-metal fronts
embossed in foliate patterns and are flanked by swirl-shaped stub terminals. The
windows and doors of all the houses are full-flowered Romanesque Revival, some
round-arched, some square-headed and some grouped with continuous transom bars.

At the second floors of Nos. 558 and 562 triple windows are handsomely enframed by
beautifully carved foliate borders. The rough stone mullions between the windows
are surmounted by three dwarf pilasters separating the transoms of the windows.

The end houses of the group have cornices which are highly unusual and imaginative,
with friezes consisting of tight-packed ranks of miniature Ionic balusters, sup-
ported on rounded corbels. On'No. 564, this cornice is surmounted by a fourth-
story, tiled mansard roof with dormer windows crowned by segmental-arched pediments.

Terminating this block is the Church of the Virgin Mary, No. 568-576, which is
described under No. 218 Eighth Avenue.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 507-563)

(The corner apartment house west of No. 507 is outside of the Historic Dis-
trict.)

Nos. 507 and 509 are identical, symmetrically composed four-story apartment
houses with full-height curved bays flanking central entrances. They are faced
with medium-brown speckled brick above smooth stone first floors and are liberally
trimmed with limestone window lintels and sills. Their basic style is neo-Georgian,
with splayed flat arches at the second story, and swagged classical roof cornices,
while the front doors are more reminiscent of Italian Renaissance prototypes.
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.Notable in these buildings are the small pairs of stained-glass w1ndows, in the
flush wall plane, centered at each floor above the entrance doors.

No. 511 is a single house, three stories high, with a three-s1ded bay extending
up two stories and crowned by a decorative, low wrought iron railing. It displays
the classicism of the Queen Anne style. The front door, approached by a high

- straight stoop, has a deep cornice slab carried on brackets, surmounted by an iron
railing. The basement is faced with smooth stonework alternating with narrow bands
of rough-faced stone. The bold roof cornice is carried on brackets and has . a ‘dom-
inant central panel with swag.

o No. 513 is a late Romanesque Revival house with curved fullhheight bay, -
similar to Nos. 537-541, as well as to Nos. 518-524 across the street, which were
designed by Brookiyn architect Robert Dixon.

The impressive row of late Romanesque Revival houses, Nos. 515-533, is one of
the most picturesque and unusual in the Historic District. The houses were built
in 1894-98 and were the work of several architects, working in the same style,
including Robert Dixon, James Nelson and J.L. Allan. All are two and one-half
stories high, except No. 529, which has an extra story. They all have high L-
shaped. stoops leading up to their round-arched doorways. The walls of smooth Roman
brick, in differing earth colors, afford an interesting contrast to the walls of the
rough-faced stone stoops and to the Spanish tile roofs which remain at two of
the houses. At Nos. 517 and 521 the roofs sweep out to form deep eaves supported
on end brackets and rafters. At the other houses, the tops of the walls are
crowned by brick corbeling. Triple windows ofialternating designs, are centered
on the steep roofs. Over the first and second story windows are a variety of brick
arches, some round, some segmental, and others three-centered. Many of these
windows retain their stained glass in the arches. Four courses of headers form
and.emphasize the arches, and all the openings are trimmed with curved molded
brick. Flanking the arched doorways of Nos. 525 and 527 are carved pilasters with
cornice slabs carried on brackets.

No. 535 is a single brownstone house of significantly more monumental scale
than its neighbors to the west. Three-storied, with a full-height, curved bay,
it is neo-Classical in style, with engaged Ionic columns at the entrance, and is
a carefully proportioned exercise in town house design.

The three houses at Nos. 537-541 are similar to the houses on the other side
of the,street, Nos. 518-524, which were designed by Robert Dixon in 1898. 1In
color they are arranged in an ABA pattern, the end houses faced with light-colored
~ Roman .brick and limestone, the center one of orange-colored Roman brick and brown-
stone.. They have full- ‘height curved bays, topped with neo-Classical, sheetmetal
cornices. Above the entrance doors, small decorative windows with stained glass
provide graceful accents, -

NOS..543-549s The sequence of three and four- story houses on thls s1de of
the street is interrupted at this point by a row of four two-story red brick apart-
ments-of post-llorld Yar II vintage, each with a sunken garage and drlveway They
have fifteen-foot setbacks and low rooflines and are entirely different in

character from the neighboring houses, introducing a semi-suburban air to this
part of the street.

No. 551 was begun in 1888, making it the oldest house on the block. The
architect was H.S. Thnen of lManhattan, and the owner was Henry Thomas. The three-
story brick front with brownstone trim and base has a2 masonry parapet in lieu of
a roof cornice. At the center of the second story is a three-sided oriel set
on a corbeled brownstone sill under a brownstone segmental arch. A basement
entrance has been provided beneath the parlor floor, which is graced by a small
flower-patterned stained-glass window. Stylistically, the house has suggestlons of
the Romanesque Revival and the Queen Anme.

The easternmost house, No. 553, a brownstone begun in 1894 by owner-architect
Jeremiah Gilligan, is dlstlngulshed by a full-height semicircular bay that makes
a strong termination to the street. A garlanded roof cornice and a foliate relief
frieze at second-story level run around the full curve of the bay. Subtle carving
around the entrance doorway and second-story windows adds relief to otherwise plain
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walls. The entrance doors are approached by an L-shaved stoop above a rusticated
basement .

‘No. 555-563, described under No. 216 Eighth Avenue, presents a long brick

sidewall to the street, with rectangular central bay extending full height. It
has a garage at the rear surmounted by a solarium with Ionic columns.

SECOND STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park !est

"ost of this street is lined by two consistent rows of houses. At the south
is a row of variegated materials and colors, with bays of different shapes, and at
the north is a uniform row of limestone houses with curved bays. The general
impression is one- of harmony, dignity and un1Form character, on the north side,
facing variety on the south.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 578-660)

_ No. 582(578-588), the corner apartment house, is ‘described under No. 217
Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 590-648. (Nos. 602, 618, 630 and 644 have been omitted from the street
numbering system.) This long row of twenty-six houses was begun in 1903 for
William H. Reynolds, representing the First Construction Company of Brooklyn, and
was designed by Benjamin Driesler, a Brooklyn architect. It is an interesting ex-
anple of the quest for variety, while at the same time utilizing certain standards
of form, materials and architectural detail. Although at first the row has the ap-
nearance of a series of individually designed townhouses, a second glance reveals
certain underlying similarities, with minor variations of detail intended to
differentiate the houses. First, with regard to form, there is an alternating se-
quence of curved and three-sided bays; in addition, the end houses terminate the
row with projecting square bays. Second, with regard to materials, there are three
basic house types, all built upon brownstone basements: an all brownstone house, a
brick above brownstone house and an all limestone house. Third, there is the con-
sideration of architectural style and details and how they are used relative to
the houses of varying materials. The basic similarities of these houses are
found in the uniform use of brownstone basements, Romanesque Revival L-shaped stoops,
and neo-Classical sheetmetal cornices with small round bosses evenly spaced
throughout. The houses are all slightly stepped down as is noticeable at the
cornices, to follow the slope of the street.

The brownstone end houses, Nos. 590 and 648, have doorways and windows with
blind arches, at the first floor. The tympana of the arches are arnamented with
foliat~ carving. At the first and second floors of No. 648, the two windows in
the wall of the bay facing the street are crowned by an unusual drip molding em-
bracing both windows. In both houses the sides of ‘the square bays facing the
doorway have windows. The top floor windows at No. 648 repeat the round-arched
theme of the first floor, whereas, in contrast, the windows of the intervening
floors are square-headed. '

The principal windows of the intervening houses, Nos. 592-646, are all square-
headed in the floors. between the parlor floor and top floor, .except for No. 624,
where there is an arched window above the entrance. Variety is introduced through
the use of round-arched windows and doors at parlor and top floors in no predict-
able pattern. The houses generally have three stories above high basements, but
there are four stories at Nos. 622- 628 -and at Nos. 642 643,

The materlals are used ‘at randor and the limestone bouses stand out quite
boldly against their more sombre-hued neighbors. The brick above brownstone houses
lend a note of warmth with their orange-colored brick at the upper floors. The
remaining houses, of brownstone 1npart a dignified character to the row.

Architecturally, these housesxall.belong to the Eclectic period, when a wide
range of styles was in use. The distinctive styles are generally identifiable at
the first two floors, since the character of the upper floors, with their neo-
Classical cornices, is generally consistent, except in those few cases where arched
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Romanesque Revival windows have been introduced. These styles appear at random
throgghout the row. The predominating stylistic influence is that of the Italian
Renaissance, which may be seen at Nos. 590, 608, 616, 628 and 632; the next in order
of predominance is the Victorian Gothic at Nos. 596, and 638, followed by the

French Renaissance at Nos. 594, 626,636 and 646 and by the Romanesque Revival at Nos.
598, 620 and 640. The remaining houses handsomely combine elements from several
different styles. ' o

No. 650-660 is the large corner townhouse with rear yard, and is described
under No. 61 Prospect Park West.

NORTH SIPE (Mos. 565-649)

The corner apartment house, No. 573(565), is described under No. 215 Eighth
Avenue.

Nos. 589-627 were built as a row for Louis Bonert and were designed by
Eisenla and Carlson. The portion of the row nearest the Park, Nos. 605-627, was
begun first, in 1908, and the rest of the row, Nos. 589-603, was begun in 1909.

No. 6271is5 feet wider than the twenty-foot width which prevails for the rest of the
row but is stylistically a part of it. By contrast with the houses across the
street, this neo-Italian Renaissance row presents a remarkably uniform appearance.
The houses are all three stories high, with full-height bays set to the left of
the doorways above relatively low basements. They are all approached by L-shaped
stoops, with the exception of the end house, No. 589, which has a straight stoop
and a square bay brought forward to meet the building line of the apartment house
to the west. The roof cornices, which follow the profiles of the bays, are carried
on console brackets, with dentils, and have sheetmetal friezes of embossed ornament
below them. At the left side of the bays there are brackets, which make the slight
roofline transition from higher to lower, following the downward slope of the street
away from the Ppark. ,

A subtle variety has been introduced into the western half of the row,
Nos. 589-603: MNo. 589, with a limestone front, has a square bay: Nos. 591, 593, 599
and 601 have limestone fronts with curved bays:; and Nos. 595-597 and 603 have
brownstone fronts with three-sided bays. The eastern half of the row, Nos.
605-627, is impressive in its uniformity, for all the houses are of limestone with
curved bays. In Nos. 605-625, the only variation occurs in the enframements of the
doorways, where a low-arched pediment, above the molding of the door frame, is
alternated with an Italian Renaissance entablature carried on pilasters. Handsome
bands of floral ornament appear in the bays between the first and second floor
windows and individual ornamental panels are set below the three windows at first
and third floors. The large house at the east end of the row, No. 627, has a
wider bay with curved corners and is rusticated at the first floor. The doorway
repeats the theme, with rusticated pilasters supporting the only triangular pedi-
ment in the row. The same pattern of ornament is followed in Nos. 591-603, but
No. 589 has blind arches filled with ornament above the first floor windows and
door.

(Mo. 629 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Three handsome individually designed townhouses adjoin the row to the east.
No. 631 is brought forward and provides an effective termination for the long
row to the west. This remarkably handsome French Reaux Arts residence was begun
for Charles Meads in 1909 and was designed by Brooklyn architect J. Garfield
Kennedy. It has quoins and a low rusticated basement, and, like the row it adjoins,
is of limestone. At the first floor, three arches separated by Ionic columns
provide openings for the front door at the left and for two casement windows. Glass
transoms fill the arches set above arched transom bars. Under the windows are low
balustrades. The columns between the windows are crowned by a low entablature,
from the center of which springs a richly carved corbel block that receives the
amplitude of a curved central oriel at the second floor. This oriel is crowned by
a low balustrade set in front of a glazed loggia, which has two Ionic columns and
a crossetted enframement., The wide eaves, carried on three brackets, display a
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series of evenly spaced beam ends. Refreshing in this design is the use of windows
as a central motif, leaving wide expanses of wall on either side and above them.
The projecting west wall has two small arched windows, which face down the block
overlooking the front yards of the row to the west. A high wrought iron yard rail-
ing, with openwork posts, encloses the areaway.

No. 633 is a handsome neo-Federal townhouse altered in the 1920s. Symmetry
prevails in this red brick building, with white accents of stone provided by
horizontal band courses, window sills, keystones and the columns of a central porch.
This porch shelters the entry and is surmounted by a wrought iron railing, at
second floor level, where three full-height arched windows signalize the parlor
floor. -Above these by contrast, are three small double-hung windows, set just
below a brick parap~t. Entered a little above street level, the porch is flanked,
on either side, by a high wrought iron fence enclosing the areaways.

No. 635, a four-story residence built in 1908-09, repeats the central window-
scheme of No. 631 but has an individual style, while using conventional ornament.
Again it is symmetrical; the limestone first floor and its cornice form a basically
horizontal accent, which contrasts with the upsweep of the freestanding columns
flanking the central entrance and supporting a wide,shallow bay window above. The
windows above the oriel are carried up in the same material and are also enframed
by brick walls on either side. Three individual windows at the top floor are
crowned by a cornice and a low sheetmetal balustrade at the roof. A blank sidewall
adjoins the spacious yard of the house next door and forms the visual termination
of the blockfront, since the corner house is set well back from Second Street.

No. 649 is the yard side of the mansion described under No. 53 Prospect Park
Yest.

THIRD STREET

THIRD STREET Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

This wide, tree-lined street has a row of ornate limestone houses with
curved bays on the south side, while the north side is dominated by high-stooped
brownstones. An unusual feature here is the long sequence of brownstone retain-
ing wa'lls surmounted by low wrought iron fences. A long Tudor style row on the
south side and a trio of neo-Federal houses on the north are absorbed into the dom-
inant rows of houses. This combination of styles creates an atmosphere of dignified
diversity. ' :

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 516-562)

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenue, and the three houses adjoiningijt,
to the west of No. 516, are all outside of the Historic District.)

(Nos. 512-514 have been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Nos. 516-522 consist of four Tudor style houses of Flemish bond brickwork
built in 1929 for owner J.M. Infanger. The architects were Slee § Bryson of
Brooklyn. The center houses have paired arched doors in deep reveals, accented with
limestone trim, and the windows of the first two floors all have limestone enframe-
ments keyed to the brickwork. Elliptically arched driveway entrances, with white
keystones and impost blocks, are closed with ornamental wrought iron gates and lead
to garages behind. Pointed gables with limestone copings rise in front of a steep
slate roof, with the taller end gables emphasizing the unity of this row.

-109-



PS-HD

THIRD STREET Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

. The next eleven houses, Nos. 524-544, are of limestone and generally alternate
in an ABAB pattern. They were designed in the neo-Italian Renaissance style by .
Brooklyn architect Axel S. ledman and were begun in 1909 by the Morgan Construction
Company. All have curved masonry bays running the full three-story height above

’ 1low ‘basements, with square-headed windows' throughout. The swell of the bays is
:echoed in the roof cornices, imparting a gentle rhythm to the group. Type "A"

has a square headed door flanked by engaged columns or pilasters supporting an
entablature. Type "B'' is more ornate, with a blind arch over the door supported

on pilasters and a cartouche in the tympanum. They are all approached by L-shaped
stoops with carved wing-walls and inverted console brackets. The sheetmetal friezes
of the roof cornices, decorated with swags and foliate ornament at alternate houses,
carry out the stylistic theme.

e ,Nos, 546f560 ' This.row of elght elegant three story llmestone residences was
begun in 1909. Nos. 546-552 were designed by E. Carlson for owner Henry A.. Bade,
and Nos. 554-560 were built by owner-architects Eisenla and Carlson. They are in-
teresting examples of an amalgam of styles, derived principally from Italian
Renaissance forms. The majority of the basements are of brownstone, and all the
doorways are approached by low, L-shaped 11mestone stoops w1th carved ornament.
Nos. 546, 550, and 554 have two-story projecting bays No. 558 has a shallow bay
, beglnnlng at the second. story, while No. 560 has an oriel.at the second story.

The variety in treatment is seen principally in“the handsome individually designed
doorways and at the roofs. Theée doorways are square-headed ‘round or ogee-arched.
Some are very simply handled, while others are enriched w1th decorative carved
enframements or engaged columns. Crenelation appears at Nos. 554 and 560; mini-
roofs with tiles, carried on brackets dre at Nos. 546 and 55Q: and simple bracketed
cornices surmount Nos. 548, 552, 556, and 558. . : -

‘The south rows of houses end with a single, high, angular brownstone, No. 562,
which is approached by a straight stoop. It 'has a three-sided bay extending full
‘height. The house is basically classical in character, with some Romanesque
Revival detail.

(The apartment house at the corner of Eighth Avenue, to the east of No. 562,
is outside of the Historic District.)

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 509-571)

(The corner apartment house and the three houses adjoining it, to the west of
No. 509, are all outside of the Historic District.)

No. 509 was built in 1892 by owner-builder Julius Anderson and designed by
architzct Lewis Anderson, as part of a four-house row, of which No. 509 is the
only one within the boundaries of the Historic District. It is basically late

. Romanesque Revival, with retardataire ornamental details from the neo-Grec. The
L-shaped stoop rises to a rectangular doorway crowned by a cornice slab carried on
stone brackets. Square-headed windows are set flat in the flush brownstone wall,
which is varied by rough-faced stone band and sill courses. This house is crowned
by a bracketed, neo-Grec wood cornice.

The next group of five three-story brownstone houses, Nos. 511-519, was begun
by Brooklyn owner-architect E.H. Mowbrey in 1889 and displays an interesting
combination of neo-Grec and Queen Anne detail. The shallow rectangular bays, begin-
ning at the second story, are reflected in the profile of the Queen Anne sheetmetal
roof cornices. The bays are carried on foliate brackets. The deeply recessed
doorways and the arched parlor floor windows, with stained glass fanlights, lend
dignity to these houses. Several of the upper floor windows still retain their
borders of small square lights, so typical of the Queen Anne style. An unusual
feature is the tooling at the joints of the basement stonework.

Nos. 521-529 have the same bay scheme at the upper two floors as the houses to
the west. The windows of the first and second stories and the doorways are seg-
mental-arched, with graceful stained glass transoms above the doors. Massive
L-shaped stoops sweop up to the doorways, gnarded by extraordinary stone griffons.
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The brackets above the parlor floor windows, supporting the bays, are carved with
fantastic and varied heads. A band of neo-Grec ornament appears beneath the sills
of the third floor windows, and the cornice is detailed with arches supported on
brackets, typical of the Queen Anne style. '

Nos. 531-539 are similar to the houses to the west. Slightly projecting bays
appear at the upper two stories. There is carved neo-Grec stonework on the bays and
on the stone corbels which support them. The windows of the first and second
stories and the doorways are segmental-arched. The doorways, which retain their
- stained glass transoms, are flanked by Romanesque Revival columns, which support
elongated brackets beneath the cornice slabs. The L-shaped stoops are massive with
solid wing-walls and stone newels with tapered tops. A basement entrance has been
provided at No. 533. Beginning with this row, low stone walls topped by wrought
ironwork enclose the front yards through No. 539.

Nos. 541-559, begun in 1892 by Brooklyn owner-architect William Flanagan,
consists of ten angular neo-classical houses, with three-sided masonry bays running
full height. The basements and L-shaped stoops are of rough-faced brownstone with
Romanesque Revival carving. The facades are of smooth ashlar with horizontal
moldings above the windows. The main decorative elements are the stained glass
transoms above the parlor floor windows in the bays, the carved cornices above
the door frames and the boldly profiled roof cornices. ' "

(No. 561 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

At the eastern end of the street, Nos. 563-567 comprise a trio of red brick
and stucco duplexes in an ABA arrangement and may be characterized as neo-Federal
in style. They were begun in 1913 for Brooklyn owner Charles Neergasrd and were
designed by the well-known Manhattan architect, Aymar Embury II. They have arched
doors and windows with leaded fanlights at the stuccoed first floors. The upper
floors are of red brick, with three-sided sheetmetal oriels at the second floors
of the end buildings. Triple windows are the principal features at the third floors.
A fourth story attic rises above a sheetmetal cornice, and a balustraded parapet
crowns the buildings. Low, straight stoops with wrought iron handrailings lead
up to the entrance doors. '

No. 569-571, the corner house, is described under No. 234 Eighth Avenue.

THIRD STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park 'est

The character of this spacious tree-lined street, leading up to the Lion Gate
entrance to Prospect Park, is unique in the Historic District. On both sides of
the street, residential rows with deep front yards are further set back from the
street by exceptionally wide sidewalks. The north side displays an interesting
combination of late 19th century houses, mostly of limestone, in contrast to the
long 20th century brick row on the south side. The street slopes gently downward
from the Park entrance, and the roof cornices are stepped down to accord with it.
The houses present generally flush facades to the street, with only minor projections,
producing an overall effect of serenity.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 592-634A)

(The corner apartment house, to the west of No. 592, is outside of the Historic
District.) .

(Nos. 586-590 have been omitted from the street numbering system.)

Nos. 592-596. These three houses were built as one-family dwellings in
contrast to the prevailing four-story duplexes of the rest of this blockfront. The

houses are arranged in an ABA pattern, with projecting two-story bays enframing the
group. The brickwork is handled masterfully, with Flemish bond at the first floors,
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~and, at the upper floors, dark.headers which forn an over-all diamond pattern in the
walls. ‘Recessed pointed arches surmount the doors and windows at the first floor,
while the roof gables are derived from the Jacobean.

Nos. 598-634A is a long row of remarkably uniform two-family duplexes, built
in 1910 by the Kings and Westchester Land Company of Brooklyn. It was designed
by the architectural firm of Mann § MacNeille, which accounts for its unity of ap-
pearance, as does the uniform use of light brown brick. Variety is introduced
through the use of ornamental patterns in darker brick, shallow sheetmetal bay
windows, and the treatment of the roofs. Many of the windows are grouped in mul-
tiples of three or four, and are varied by small leaded panes in the transoms.

The simple entrances are approached by low concrete steps flanked by brick wing-
walls with limestone caps. Stylistically, this row is a reflection of the best
English work of the period. : ‘

Nos. 598-600 and Nos. 608-610 are identical units, which, like Nos. 592-596,
are crisscrossed by diamond patterns of dark brown projecting brick headers. Both
units were begun in 1910. The first floor door and window openings are made
visually uniform by the 'surmounting row 'of blind pointed arches inlaid with blue
tile lozenges. Central yellow tile crosses enliven the facades, which are topped
by simple brick parapets. '

Nos. 602-606. These brick houses, also begun in 1910, are very simply de-
tailed and have projecting oriels at the third floor level. Their steep red tile
roofs each have two dormer windows.

Nos. 612-634A. This long portion.of the row, begun in 1909, is also of pat-
terned brick. It gains individualitv through the introduction of steep mansard
gables, pierced by dormers and crowne? by finials, at ‘Nos. 616/616A, 622/622A,
and '630/630A. Ornamental sheetmetal parapets unify these dwellings, as do the stone
sills at the first floor windows, and the continuous horizontal stone band courses
above the -first floors. Rectilinear bay windows .appear at the third floors of
many -of these houses replacing conventional triple or quadruple windows.

(The corner apartment building on Prospect Park West, to- the east of No. 634A,
is outside of the Historic District.)

MORTH SIDE (Nos. 581-631)

(The corner apartment house, to the west of No. 581, is outside of the Historic
District.) - :

Nos. 581-601. This impressive row of eleven neo-Italian Renaissance limestone
residences was begun in 1911 for the Prosar Realty Co. and was designed by the
architectural firm of Eisenla § Carlsor, vhich was active on other streets within
the District. The low brownstone retaining walls with low wrought iron railings
separating the front yards from the street lend unity to this row. The houses
are symmetrically arranged, making an alternating ABAB sequence. Type "A'", the
more severe of the two designs, has a rectangular doorway flanked by unfluted Ionic
pilasters supporting an entablature, the cornice of which is extended over the ad-
joining triple window. The type "A'" houses have asymmetrically placed windows at
the second and third stories and are crowned by a modillioned sheetmetal cornice.
Type "'B", which is more ornate, features a richly enframed arched doorway, echoed
by three arched windows at the top floor; a small oval stained glass window with

" four keystones, at the second floor, draws attention to the doorway below. Crown-
ing the type "B" houses is a short but steep red tile roof-front, carried on brack-
ets; the ornament consists of heraldic emblems and floral arabesques in panels and
at the window enframements.:

Nos. 603-607 is an interesting group of three brick dwellings. It is
basically late Romanesque Revival in stvle with some neo-Renaissance details. The
Romanesque Revival features are concentrated at the first and third floors and the
neo-Renaissance detail at the second story. Characteristic of the Romanesque Re-
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vival is the varied color scheme: all the houses have gray rough-faced brick at
basement level, and limestone stoops and trim; Nos. 603 and 607 have gray rough-
faced brick banded horizontally through orange brick at the first floor and have
white terra cotta ornament. No. 605 has a green copper oriel at the second floor.
The deeply revealed arched second story windows of Nos. 603 and 607 are crowned
by an entablature with ornate cornice. No. 605 repeats the Romanesque theme

in its arched doorway and also at the top floor glazed loggia, where slender
columns with broad corbels support the lintel. At this house, a bold copper roof
cornice carried on console brackets complements the richly ornamented copper oriel,
which is topped with a red tile hipped roof at the second floor. All three houses
have stained glass in the transoms of the second story windows, and all have
straight stoops with carved Romanesque detail.

(No. 609 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

No. 611 was begun in 1889 and designed by Horace G. Knapp for Jose Maseras.
It is a fine Queen Anne townhouse, with smooth walls at the parlor floor and brick
at the upper stories. Asymmetrical in design, it is replete with terra cotta
panels, classical heads, arch spandrels and keystones. Especially interesting
are the arched loggia at the second floor and the small central pediment carried
on pilasters in front of the ornamented roof parapet. In keeping with the style,
all the decorative motifs are derived from a Renaissance vocabulary.

(No. 613 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

One of the most imposing houses on the block is No. 615, a carefully scaled.
neo-Georgian residence of beige Roman brick accented with limestone; it was begun
by Brooklyn owner-architect Peter J. Collins in 1900. A striking feature of this
residence is the second floor Pzlladianwindow, with shell motif in the blind arch.
This window opens upon a stone balcony with balustrade, supported on deep horizon-
tal foliate console brackets. Above the first floor, the ends of the facade are
defined by Ionic pilasters rising two stories from a Greek fret bandcourse to a
roof cornice studded with lions' heads. An L-shaped stoop leads up to the simple
rectangular doorway, with a handsome Federal style inner doorway.

Nos. 617-631. The street terminates at the east end with a splendid row of
eight neo-Renaissance houses, with L-shaped carved brownstone stoops and low rus-
ticated basements. It was designed by Axel S. Hedman in an ABCACDAB sequence for
the Prospect Park West Realty Co. and built in 1910. Type "A' has a rope molding
around the first floor openings and paired three-sided oriels set into segmental
arches at the second floor. Type '"B' has low-arched openings at the first floor
topped by a cornice supporting a shallow three-sided bay at the second story,
which, in turn, supports the engaged columns flanking the central third-story
window. One of the most charming features of the row appears here in the arched
Beaux Arts windows and door of the first floor. The type ‘'C'" facade has rectangu-
lar doors and windows and a rusticated parlor floor, from which four fluted Cor-
inthian columns rise two stories to a modillioned metal cornice. Type 'D", the
only one of its kind in the row, is French Renaissance in inspiration. Above the
segmental-arched doorway is a foliate panel, which is carried over as a bandcourse
separating the two floors of a shallow curved bay. The roof cornice is carried on
console brackets profiled by dentils, an unusual feature.

(The corner apartment house with deep rear lot, to the east of No. 631, is
outside of the Historic District.)
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» ‘In contrast to the unified facades ‘and straight cornice lines of the park
block, the houses on this street are of various materials and display a wide
variety of features, 1nc1ud1ng picturesque roofs, dormer windows and a fine circular
tower crowned by a tall octagonal roof terminating the eastern end of the north

side. This variety is 1nd1cat1ve of turn-of-the- century efforts to humanize the
urban scene.

SNUTH SIPE (Nos. 486-504)

(The Johp Jay High School with its playground at the eastAend; adjoining
No. 486 to the west, is outside of the Historic District.)

No. 486 is a four-story limestone apartment house which is neo-Classical in
style. It has an Ionic entrance porch surmounted by a low balustrade, full-
height swell-front bays at either side, and a sheetmetal cornice carried on.console
brackets, with swags decorating the fascia below it.

Nos. 488-492 consist of three houses designed as a group. They were begun

in 1892 for Thomas L. Leeming and were designed by the noted architectural firm of
Heins & LaFarge, which won the competition for the Cathedral of St. John the Divine

n Manhattan. The design represents. the renewed -interest in our Colonial heritage
which occurred in the 1890s. The bu11d1ngs are Georgian in style and have somewhat
_more robust detail than was to be found in the earlier Queen Anne style. Nonethe-
less, there are features reminiscent of the.Romanesque Revival: the two-story
bays, the use of Roman br1ck and the horizontal stone band course above the first
- floor windows and doors. The Georgian features are the small dormers with "broken"
pediments, the larger gabled dormers, featuring Palladian windows, a large central
Palladian window at the second story of MNo. 490, and the arched doorways with fan
lights. Two small oval windows, each with four keystones (at top, botton, and
sides), are placed above the arched doorways and lend emphasis to them. The low
basement:is of llnestone and the doors are approached by straight stoops w1th
stone wing-walls. “A minor note of asymmetry is achieved by the bays at the ends,
curved .at Mo. 488 and three sided at No. 492. :

Nos. 494-504 is a row of six severely neo-Cla551ca1 townhouses whlch are of
brick with limestone trim. The off-center entrance doors are enframed by pilasters
suprortine ornamented entablatures, and all are approached by straicht stoons with

- stone wing-walls. The triple w1ndows 0 the second and third floors have comron
stone chframements, with stone spandrel. panels between -them. The roof cornices
with dentils are stepped down at each house and are supported on end brackets.
Variety is achieved through the use of gray brick at the two center houses and red
brick at the flanking ones. . :

(The corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, to the east of Mo. 504, is out-

side of the Historic District.) :

NORTH SIDE  (Nos. 465-513)

(The corner apartment house on Seventh Avenue, to the west of No. 465, is out-
side of the Historic District.)

Nos. 465-473 at the west end of the block are three wide walk-up apartment
houses of limestone, begun in 1904 for Thomas Corrigan and “Willianm i, Johnston anc
designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. These four-story houses are of neo-
flassical design and have Ionic porches crowned by balustrades. The fascias of the
sheetmetal roof cornices are decorated with swags. "ith their full-heicht swell-
front bays, these houses provide an undulating rhythm in contrast to the flush
faced rows to the east.
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Nos. 475-483 is a row of five houses which have a sober character in contrast
to the more picturesque houses in the eastern half of the block. They were begun
in 1895 by the owner E.H. !Mowbray, a Brooklyn mason, and were designed by Brooklyn
architect Walter M. Coats. They have flush, basically neo-Italian Renaissance
facades, with small-scale moldings enfraning the triple windows of the first and
second floors. By contrast, the three third floor windows at each house are round-
arched and set beneath sheetmetal roof cornices with wreaths and swags. The door-
ways are richly enframed at their upper portions and are approached by high stoops
with monolithic pierced stone wing-walls. In this row the two end houses, faced
with brownstone, contrast with the center houses, faced with a light-colored stone.

Nos. 485-493. This row of five houses, Romanesque Revival in character, is of
an unusual design, so simplified as to represent a kind of proto-llodern style.
Similarly designed houses appear on the north side of Second Street between Seventh
and Eighth Avenues. The row was begun in 1891 by owner-architect R. von Graff of
Brooklyn. These houses are all of an orange-colored Roman brick, similar to that
used on many other houses in the District. The facades are pared down to barest
essentials, without applied ornament, and have brick arches, which are round,
segmental or elliptical and are formed by concentric rows of brick headers. The
steep roofs, with wide dormer windows, end alternately with shallow corbel tables
and with outswept eaves carried on end brackets. The original Spanish tile roof
survives at No. 485. The tall straight stoops with masonry wing-walls have been
replaced by basement entrances at Nos. 491 and 493.

Nos. 495-503. This row of five houses was built in 1891 for Allan Bros.,
Brooklyn owner-architects. These houses are also of orange-colored brick and have
a pattern of gables alternating with broad shed-roofed dormers, a scheme which was
continued in the row adjoining them to the east. "ere the gables, with stepped
sides, are truncated and are surmounted by sheetmetal roofs crowned by ornamental
friezes. The oriels beneath them have hipped roofs and are carried on corbels.
The details are generally Romanesque Revival in style, with brownstone lintels,
corbels and transom bars extending the width of Mos. 497 and 501. The handsomre
original sincle doors, approached by high stoops, remain at MNos. 495 and 503.

Nos. 505-511. These four basically Romanesque Revival houses, which form a
short but very coherent row, were built in 1892, also for owner-architects Allan
Bros. of Brooklyn. They offer an interesting contrast in both design and materials
to the row to the west and to No. 513, the single townhouse with tower, to the east.
Mide dormers alternate with gables, one of which still displays its original triple
window, with an arch above the mullions of the central window. No. 507 retains its
original tile roof. All the houses are of gray-colored brick with alternating
narrow stone bands of smooth texture and wide bands of rough-faced brick. I7oplded
brick lends textural interest at the basements and at the gables, where it is laid
in chevron pattern. The first floor windows are square-headed in the houses with
dornmers and arched in the gabled houses; several of the windows retain their origi-
nal stained glass transoms. The entrance doors are directly approached by lime-
stone stoops with solid wino-walls.

Mo. 513. The last building in the blockfront is a single town house of dis-
tinctive design, a type which often terminates rows. Despite its individuality,
No. 513 was actually built in 1892 by Allan Bros., as a part of the neighboring
row to the west. Almost the entire front of this Romanesque Revival house is com-
posed of one large full-height tower, constructed entirely of brick headers. The
entrance norch and a balcony above are tucked back into the space between the tower
and a projecting wing-wall at the west side. The main roof sweeps down past the
tower to shelter the secend flecor balcony and has a delightful little semicircular
dormer set at mid-height. The brick walls are of a soft orange color, with brown-
stone trim that is quite close in color to the brickwork. I!Handsomely carved bands
of stone form lintels for the first and second story windows of the tower and are
carried out over the entrance porch and the balcony above it. A similar band of
stone at the top of the tower is corbelled in such a manner as to make the tran-
sition from its cylindrical shape to the polygonal shape of the high tower roof.
This roof is of tile and is canped by a low finial. This house is an excellent
examnle of the freedom of Romanesque Revival architecture, a striking asymmetrical
composition on a relatively narrow lot.
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FOURTH STREET Between Seventh § Eighth Avenues

(The corner apartment house on Elghth Avenue, to the east of No. 513, is out-
side of the Historic District.)

FOURTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect ?ark Vest

The unique and effective comp051t10n of the park block of Fourth Street Te-
sults from the careful handling of the rows lining both sides of the street. These
two opposing rows of three-story residences were designed by the same architect
over a two year period in the ‘early 1900s. They vary subtly in detail but were sub-
ject to a definite set of design controls. ‘ These controls and the amenities they
produce include: setting the houses back fifteen feet from the sidewalk and en-
framing the rows by projecting the end houses, thereby making a smooth transition to
the neighboring building lines; raising the front yards with limestone retaining
walls, thus minimizing the apparent height of the basements; grouping the houses in-
to units of three with regard to yard and cornice levels, thereby producing an ef-
fect of restful serenity, as opposed to thosSe rows where breaks in height occur at
every house. The generally ‘flush faCades of limestone, in the north row, are only
interrupted by a few rectangular oriels- and two- -story bays and by:the curved bay
of the end house as an enframlng elemenit. ' The ornament on both:sides of the street,
borrowed from Classical, Romanesque and French Rehaissance sources, “has a generally
consistent character, and the variéd shapes of the openings are: repeated in such a
manner as to deempha51ze the individual house while lending interest to the rows.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 528-598)

(The corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, just west of No. 528, is outside
of the Historic District. ) v

Nos. 528-534 are, except for a garage at the back, empty lots. The four town-
houses which stood here were demolished by 1939. To date there are no plans for
these sites, which present a challenge to the area and are a potential asset if
properly developed.

Nos. 536-584. (Nos. 542 and 570 are missing from the street numbering sys-
tem.) This row of twenty-three houses once included the four houses which were de-
molished to the west (Nos. 528-534). They were begun in 1907 by owner-builder
Arthur Singer and were designed by Brooklyn archltect Arthur R. Koch. The archi-
tectural design treats the row in groups of three with the design control advantages
mentioned-above. The symmetry of the block front revolves about No. 556 which was
the center house when the row consisted of twenty-seven houses. - Two characteris-
tics distinguish this long row from the otherwise similar one facing it. Hori-
zontally banded stonework and rustication extend across the first floor fronts of
several of the houses giving them a bolder relief, and, presumably because of 1ts
length, this row was varied throuoh the use of brownstone, as contrasted with
11mestone for the n1ne central houses of the or1g1na1 twenty- seven.

The fronts share some interesting features with the houses opposite, such as -
copper-clad second floor oriels, bay leaf garlanded arches above some of the. first
floor windows and doors, and two-story three-sided bays d15p1ay1ng -unusual foliate
ornament set vertically above dwarf pilasters at the second floor. - A special
feature, to be found only at the south side of the street, is a series of glazed
third floor loggias consisting of three windows separated by Byzantine ‘columns :
at Nos. 548, 556, 564 and 578. Another special feature is the small Pdlladian
window set in a handsome rusticated wall at the first floor of No. 556, which was
formerly the center of the row. On this side-of the street, the survival of
Romanesque Revival features is indicated by the use of brownstone, the triple -
window loggias at the third floors and the more general use of stone transom
bars at the first floor windows.

No. 586 was begun in 1909 for owner Otto Singer, and was designed by Arthur
R. Koch, also the architect of the long row built two years earlier to the west of
this house. This imposing limestone faced residence harmonizes with the neigh-
boring row, despite its more elaborate ornamentation. A wealth of French Renais-
sance deta11 at doorway, roof cornice and ‘bay enllvens the facade, while the two-
story bay effectively terminates the row.
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FOURTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park Yest

The corner apartment house is described under No. 86 Prospect Park West.
NORTH SIDE (Nos. 539-597)

) (The corner apartment house, to the west of No. 539, is outside of the
Historic District.)

Nos. 539-561 is a row of six four-story neo-Georgian apartment houses,
built in a uniform style from plans of 1905 by Brooklyn architect, Thomas Bennett;
Nos. 539-551 were built for H.B. May and Nos. 557-561 were built for Albert C.
Hessel. They are all approached by low stoops and have porches supported on columns,
some of which are crowned by low balustrades. Sheetmetal cornices carried on con-
sole brackets, with friezes ornamented by swags, are the same for all six apart-
ments. The facades are enlivened and given rhythmical cadence through the use of
full-height swell-front bays, one on each side of the central entrance porch.
These bays are Federal style in origin, although the buildings are basically
Georgian in their detail. Variety is achieved by treating the four end buildings
with quoins and splayed lintels with keystones; the two central buildings have
simple rectangular lintels except at the top floors. Changes in materials, and
brick colors introduced at random, lend further interest to this otherwise uniform
row. Basically, the houses are of brick, with the exception of No. 547, which is
all of limestone, and the first floor of No. 551, which is also of limestone.

Nos. 565-597. (No. 581 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)
This handsome row of sixteen townhouses was begun in 1908 by owner-builder Otto
Singer and was designed by Brooklyn architect Arthur R. Koch, who designed the sim-
ilar row on the opposite side of the street. Like those houses on the south side,
this row also enjoyed the design controls outlined in the introduction. Several
different types of facades are distributed more or less symmetrically about the
center house, No. 583, with the houses to the east having the front doors on the
left side and those to thé west having them on the right. Variations in the de-
sign of the roof cornices lend interest to the row, as do the two-story bays,
oriels and round arches of some of the doors and windows at the first floors,
similar to those across the street. The glazed loggia theme recurs at the second
floors of Nos. 573 and 591, but is executed here in the neo-Classical style, with
columns between the windows displaying Composite capitals. The basement walls
are of rough-faced masonry: like those across the street, some of them have smooth-
faced flat arches, with splayed stones stepped up at their tops to meet the high
foliate keystones at the center, some of which are crowned by fanciful masques. At
both ends of the row, the last two houses are projected forward, with diagonal
walls, to make the transition to the building lines of the adjoining apartment
houses. This design makes possible deep yards in front of the row of houses. The
end house to the west, No. 565, is exceptionally narrow (14'-0" wide), but, with
its round-arched door and window at the first floor, makes an effective terminal
feature despite its small size.

(The corner apartment house, east of No. 597, is outside of the Historic
District.) ' s
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FIFTH STREET

FIFTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park West

Here the street presents a remarkably uniform quality, despite minor vari-
ations of detail. The north side reflects the enthusiasm for all-white neo-
Classical buildings that was inspired by the Chicago Fair of 1893. The south side
of the street is made up of two rows, with neo-Georgian apartment houses to the
west and Romanesque Revival houses to the east. They display an interesting
range of colors and materials. The two easternmost houses in the TOWS, on opposite
sides of the street, form a visual link with their similar tower-like bays and pro-
vide effective terminations to the handsome rows.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 550-612)

No. 550. This is the ‘long side of the corner apartment house, which is de-
scribed under No. 501 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 564-580 is a row of nine four-family apartments designed to resemble
individually owned town houses. It was built in 1910 for owners Nathan and Leon
N. Levy and was designed by William Debus. The houses are treated in groups of
threes, with the outer two buildings having full-height bays, while the central
“building is flush-fronted. The style is basically neo-Georgian, with certain minor
modifications of detail lending interest and coherence to the basic scheme, an
ABC, ABC, ABC pattern. All of the houses are brick above limestone basements and
first floors, with low straight stoops approaching the doorways. Type "A'* has a
full-height, three-sided bay. There are arched windows in the rusticated first
floor; garlanded pediments surmount those of the second floor; and the windows of
the upper stories have keystones. Type 'B" is flush-faced and has arched pediments
- above the doorways and ‘blind-arched windows at the third floor. This is the only
type in the row which has a deeply projecting cornice carried on console brackets.
Type '"C'" has a rusticated first floor and a full-height.curved bay with handsomely
enframed and pedimented windows at the second floor. The brickwork is varied from
red at type 'C' to buff colored at types “'A" and "B", : '

No. 582 (No. 582-584) is a four-story apartment house standing on the site of
a two-story brick stable, which belonged to thé Litchfield estate and was demolished
in 1904. The building has limestone quoins and a limestone rusticated first floor,
with brick above. A swell-front bay extends full-height. e

Nos. 586-608. This row of twelve three-story Romanesque Revival townhouses
was begun in 1892 for John A. Bliss and was-designed by Brooklyn architect Magnus
Dahlander, who also worked in the-Stuyvesant Heights area. The.design pattern is
quite subtle. : Full-height curved bays flank the two central flush-fronted houses
and also. terminate the ends of the row. All the intermediate houses are flush-
fronted. This establishes a symmetry, within which the fenestration and details
are varied at random, with each house having its own clearly defined cornice of
individual design. Nos. 586, 594 and 600, with curved full-height bays, are quite
similar to each other in design, as are Nos. 588 and 592, with their flush fronts
and regular fenestration. Kos. 590 and 604 are notable for their two very large
arched windows at the top floors, while Nos. 602 and 606 are the antithesis in
design, with four high, narrow windows at their top floors and arches at the first.
Horizontal bandcourses, rough-faced stone basements, stone transom bars, and arched
and corbelled windows are among the many Romanesque Revival characteristics of
this row. The masonry includes coumvinatiions of rough-faced limestone, brownstone
and Roman brick. Of particular interest is the convex rustication used at the
parlor floors of Nos. 588 and 592, splayed in form at the segmental arches above
the parlor floor windows. No. 608, the end house, although built with the row,
is a variant in design from the other townhouses. At the east wall there is a
handsome shallow bay window crowned by a conical roof. A small garage is located
on the lot adjoining the stoop to the east.

No. 612, the corner house, is described under No. 94 Prospect Park West. It
has a large open yard behind it, adjoining No. 608.
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FIFTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park West
NORTH SIDE (Nos. 557-607)

(The corner property; to the west of No. 557, is outside of the Historic
District; it was the site of a six- story elevator apartment house, which was recent-
ly razed.)

Nos. 557-579. This row of twelve interesting townhouses was built in 1903-04
by owner-tuilder Lane § Yeandle and was designed by Manhattan architect Woodruff
Luning. The houses were all designed with tile roofs, some of which have been
replaced by other roofing materials, and high rusticated basements. There is a
wide range of design in this row. Nos. 567, 569 and 579 are quite different from
the rest of the row. These three have English basements, entered at street level,
in contrast to most of the other houses, which have stoops. At Nos. 567, 569
and 579, an arched doorway is emphasized by rusticated stonework and forms a visual
part of the wide three-sided bay which extends upward to provide a balustraded
deck for the fourth story. The bay windows with stone mullions at each floor are
reminiscent of Tudor architecture. The fourth story has a triple window behind the
balustrade placed on the bay. These houses are crowned by low parapets in lieu
of cornices. Flanking the pair of central houses, Mos. 567 and 569, are two neo-
Classical houses, Nos. 565 and 571. They are flush-fronted, with the exception of
centrally placed curve-sided oriels. This house type appears again next to the end
houses, at Nos. 577 and 559, of ‘which No. 559 gives the best idea of their original
appearance. Set between these neo-Classical houses are two pairs of handsome
brownstones: Nos. 561 and 563; 573 and 575. With their high L-shaped stoops and
bracketed cornices, they seem to belong to an earlier period than this turn-of-the-
century row. However, "broken’” pediments above the doorways, and classical swags
under the second floor windows provide the clue to their actual dates. They have
full-height, three-sided bays, reflected at the cornice line. The house at the
western end of the row, No. 557, has a rectangular prOJect1ng bay interlocked with
an arched entrance porch Handsome triple windows in the front of the bay lend
dignity to this neo-Classical house.

Nos. 581-607 is a severely neo-Classical row of fourteen three-story townhouses
built in 1907-08 by owner-builder Eli Bishop of 20 Halsey Street and designed by
Axel Hedman, a Brooklyn architect who also did work in the Stuyvesant Heights
area. An undulating classical cornice with swags is the reflection of the full-
height bays which appear at every house. Half of the bays are three-sided, the
other half curved, as at Nos. 583, 589, 593, 595, 599, 605 and 607, in a more or
less symmetrical arrangement. A rusticated first floor extends the length of this
limestone row, and all the houses are approached by straight flights of steps
leading into small front terraces, which extend the width of the houses. These
terraces are all surrounded by low walls and are a most inviting feature. The
houses are stepped down at the cornice-line in pairs, and this system of levels
is also carried out at the terraces. Ornament has been used sparingly: it is most
to be noted above the first floor door and window heads and in small panels at the
front face of the three-sided bays, between the second and third floor windows.
The end house, No. 607, has a conical roof surmounting the bay. This tower-1like
element provides a visual termination for the row.

- No. 607A, on the corner, is one of a row of apartment houses and is described
under No. 92 Prospect Park West.
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SIXTH STREET

SIXTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park 'lest

The general uniformity of this pleasant residential street, with its one-
family dwellings and small apartment houses, is given interest by round and three-
sided bays and by many high L-shaped stoops. The overall effect is one of bright-
ness, due to the general use of limestone and light-colored brick. The classicism
of these limestone houses is indicative of the influence exerted by the "Great
"hite City'', the Chicago Exposition of 1893.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 590-638)

(The lots occupied by St. Saviour's (R.C.) Church, which is located on the
corner of Eighth Avenue, and by the adjoining St. Saviour's School, west of No.
590, are outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 590-593. These four-story eight family apartment houses were built in
1904-05 for J. Eugene Ryerson; they were designed by Rooklyn architect Thomas
Bennett. The original plans for No. 598 called for gas lighting--surprising at
this late date. Converted to a convent for St. Saviour's in 1928, No. 590 now re-
veals the pleasant rhythm of its swell-front bays. The norches at the centers of
these buildings have Ionic columns and are surmounted by wrought iron railings.
Cheetmetal roof cornices, with console brackets and swags in the friezes, continue
the neo-Classical theme. No. 598, on a narrower lot, has a different plan. Small
paired windows are placed above the doorway at each of the upper floors.

Nos. 600-608 are five neo-Classical three-story residences which were built
for the Prospect Park West Realty Company from 1909 designs by Brooklyn architect
Axel Hedman. The verticality of the full-height curved bays at Nos. 600, 602 and
606 is accented by two-story grooved pilasters; Nos. 604 and 608 have only two-
story bays. No. 600, the end house, has a boldly projected bay, which is flush
with the line of the 23partment house to the west. It curves in to meet the line of
the row, which is set back to provide front yards. These houses are unified by
a continuous classical cornice, supported on console brackets, and by their brown-
stone basements and L-shaped stoops. The carved ornament of the limestone walls
varies from house to house. Of particular note are the bas-relief panels over the
doors and central parlor floor windows and the scallop-shell motif over the entrance
of No. 600.

Nos. 610-620 (No. 612 has been omitted from the street numbering system).
This group of five three-story neo-Classical houses was built at the turn of the
century. They are of limestone, with alternating rounded and three-sided full-
height bays. The deep cornices are striking and make a bold profile against the
sky as they follow the lines of the bays. There are carved classical panels set
in wide bandcourses above the doors and windows of the first floors.

Nos. 624 and 626 (MNos. 622 and 628 have been omitted from the street numbering
system). These houses were built in 1898-99 for Charles G. Peterson. They have
two-story curved bays and basically stem from the Ponanesque Revival tradition.
However, they display an array of neo-Renaissance details in the stone trim set in
light-colored brickwork at the first floor doors and windows, in the balusters
above the bay at No. 626, and in the sheetmetal cornices supported on console
brackets. The basements and the wing-walls of the L-shaped stoops are rusticated.

No. 630-633 is the large corner house described under No. 108 Prospect Park
West.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 543-627)

No. 543, the corner apartment house, is described under No. 519 Eighth Avenue.
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SIXTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park West.

Nos. 567 and 573 are two substantial apartment houses built in 1911 for
Nathan Levy and designed by Brooklyn architect Jacob Debus. The limestone trim and
red brick used here form a pleasing combination of materials. Noteworthy features
at these two buildings are the large,scrolled, iron brackets supporting the cor-
nices and the decorative iron railings on the fire escapes. Triple windows are
set on either side of the central entrances at the limestone first floors. Similar
windows are tied together vertically by a common limestone enframement at the second
and third floors. '

Nos. 575-575A to 583-583A were built in 1910-1911 for two-family occupancy.
This group of five duplexes was built for Nathan and Leo Levy and designed by
architect William Debus, except for Nos. 583-583A, which were built for Cyrus
Rheims and were designed by Brooklyn architect !i.L. Reiser. The row is given
definition by the two end houses, with classical pilasters at the first floor
and quoins at the second floor. At each of the five duplexes, separate street
entrances have been. provided at either side, to serve five two family units;
the stoops are low and approach the entrances directly. Though severely simple
in style, these houses show evidence of the Georgian tradition in the quoins, the
brickwork, and the splayed flat arches above some of the windows. It is also ap-
parent in the dormer windows at Nos. 577 and 581.

No. 585 is an eight-family brick apartment house dating from 1914. It was
built for Isaac Seid and was designed by S. Millman § Son of Brooklyn. With its
Spanish tile rooflet and stone insets in the paramet, it typifies much of the new
domestic architecture of the turn of the century.

Nos. 587-593. These four houses were built in 1895-96 by owner-builder
Augustus Hurd: two brownstones alternate with two limestone houses. They have
high rusticated basements and L-shaped stoops of brownstone, which, with their
rough-faced stone wing-walls, are derived from the Romanesque Revival style. The
severe full-height, three-sided bays, and the swags in the friezes of the dentiled
sheetmetal roof cornices, are the neo-Classical elements of these transitional
houses. '

Nos. 595-609. This row of eight houses, begsun in 1900, was built by owner-
builder John A. Bliss from designs of architect A.E. "hite: the houses are late
Romanesque Revival in style. They have alternating curved and three-sided two-
story bays, and the limestone trim offers a subtle contrast to the yellow brick,
giving the row a mellow effect. The houses with three-sided bays have stone tran-
som bars at the first floor windows and splayed rock-faced flat arches at those on
the second floors; small elaborately enframed windows are placed above the doorways.
There are arched windows with stone transom bars at the top floors of alternating
houses, and the roof cornices are varied in an alternating pattern. The entrance-
ways have columns at each side supporting vertically placed console brackets,
which, in turn, support the entablatures -- an unusual feature.

No. 627, the corner house, repeatine the basic design of the one opposite it
on the south side, has a swell-front bay at the back end of a wing which is one
story lower than the rest of the house and faces the rear yard. These houses
produce a handsome gateway effect as one enters the street from the Park. This
house is described under No. 107 Prospect Park llest.

-121-



PS-HD

SEVENTH STREET

SEVENTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park West

The park block of Seventh Street contains variously designed houses, which
create a successful ensemble. The south side is remarkable for its groups of hand-
some Flemish Renaissance houses, with striking color variations and picturesque
gables, which create bold profiles against the sky. The north side of the street,
while less flamboyant, is nevertheless interesting. It has rows of sedate brown-
stones with bays, which contrast with a flush-faced row having considerable variety
in its fenestration and detail.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 550-610)

(St. Saviour's (R C.) School at the corner of Elghth Avenue, west of No.
550, is outside of the Historic District. )

Nos. 550-570 is a group of six eight-family neo-Georgian apartment houses.
No. 550 was built for Jacob Friedman and Nos. 554 and 558 for the H.B. Hill Con-
tracting Co. These three were designed by Brooklyn architect Frank S. Lowe and
beggn in 1905. Mos. 562, 566 and 570 were built at about the same time and were
undoubtedly designed by the sane architect. All the buildings are four stories
high and are of brick, above rusticated limestone first floors. They are directly
approached by low stoops set between wing-walls. Full-height swell-front bays
produce an undulating rhythm at the cornice line.

No. 574 is "The Brunswick'', an apartment house which was built at the turn
of the century. It is neo-Renaissance in style, executed in cream-colored brick
with stone trim. A stylish iron marquee shelters the central entranceway at
street level and a two-sided bay, beginning at the second floor, rests on a broad
corbel of carved stone. The limestone enframements of the second story windows

have traditional classical ‘'ears’” and are surmounted by arched pediments. The
~ copper roof cornice is quite deep and has-an exquisite patina.

Nos. 576-598 is an interesting row of twelve three-story townhouses arranged
in groups. This row was begun in 1903 for !7illiam B. Greenman and designed by the
Manhattan architectural firm of Chappell § Bosworth, agents for architect R. Clarence
Rupp. The end houses, two at the west and three at the east, have a sober dignity
that contrasts well with the two elaborately designed central groups of gabled houses,
which, in turn, flank a very simple single house. All the houses in the row are ap-
proached directly, except Nos. 594 and 598, which have L-shaped stoops. Nos. 576
and 578, the flat-roofed houses at the west end, have arched doors; No. 578 has
an arched window and doorway at the first floor, with square-headed windows above.
No. 57% has a full-height, three-sided bay alongside of an arched doorway, while
No. 573 is flush-fronted: both are rusticated full-height, with brick above lime-
stone. They share a simple classical cornice. - The two groups of gabled houses,
Nos. 580-584 to the west and Nos. 588-592 to the east, are identical in their
basic elevations, with variations only in the detailing. In these groups of three,
the outer houses have three-sided bays, with parapets at the third floor levels.

The center house of each group has a handsome central oriel at the second floor.
Their style is proclaimed by the elaborate Flemish Renaissance gables, which

crown the fronts of the three houses. A strong pattern of horizontal stone band-
courses sets off the Roman brick to advantage. No. 586, the center house set be-
tween these two Flemish groups, makes a strong contrast, with its flat roof and
straightforward neo-Georgian detaii. ©f ihe tiree hiouses at the eastern end of this
row, Nos. 594 and 598 have three-sided stone bays with broad front faces. These
bays are further emphasized by the pediments which crown them. The central house,
No. 596, has a high stepped gable behind a two-story oriel, topmost section of
which frames a handsome classical scallop shell.

(No. 600 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

No. 602 is a deep narrow lot, and No. 610 is the corner apartment house with
rear yard, which is described under No. 118 Prospect Park "est.
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NORTH SIDE (Nos. 553-627)

(The corner lot at Eighth Avenue, contalnlng a house with garage, to the west
of No. 553, is outside of the Hlstorlc District.)

Nos. 553-581. This long row of fifteen flush-fronted townhouses incorporates
designs popular at the turn of the century. It is particularly noteworthy as an
example of how architects, using a few house types and a variety of materials, lent
interest to the cityscape. There are basically four different house designs,
which appear at first glance to be intermingled quite at random. Upon closer
inspection, a completely symmetrical central core may be discerned, centering
around a pair of houses, Nos. 563 and 565, and extending out at e1ther side to
No. 557 on the west and No. 571 on the east. Outside of this core, except in the
case of the two easternmost houses, which are completely different, some of the
four basic house types appear quite at random. Although the basic house designs
are quite distinct, the architect has varied the materials used for them, lending
further interest; limestone and light and dark colored brick have been used for
contrast. The houses are approached by high, straight stoops with limestone
wing-walls, some of which are surmounted by iron handrailings. All of these houses
have limestone basements.

Nos. 563 and 565, the two houses which form the center of the symmetrical
core, have square-headed windows and, at the second floor, two small three-sided
bay windows set in conventional window openings on corbeled sills. The roofs
display gambrel roof lines with wide hin-roofed dormers, each of which has two
windows. No. 565 retains its handsome original tile roof. On either side of these,
appears a house type which has a strikingly large plate glass, arched window set
next to an arched doorway at the first floor. These Romanesque Revival arches are
ribbed and rest on carved impost blocks. At the second and third floors, triple
windows are crowned by rooflets; the upper one is carried on beam-end outlookers.
Flanking these, in turn, are houses of a’'severely rectilinear scheme, of brick
above limestone first floors. At No. 559, paired windows are placed next to a door-
way framed by pilasters and an entablature The centrally located upper floor
windows of Nos. 559 and 569 are triple and share a common limestone enframement;
they have limestone panels between them. Overhanging roof cornices, with long
panels beneath, are carried on end brackets. The two outermost houses of the sym-
metrical inner core, Nos. 557 and 571, are neo-Renaissance in style and have
double windows set under elliptical arches beside arched doorways. These windows
and doorways are set in rusticated limestone walls up to impost block level and
have handsome stone voussoirs with keystones forming the arches, interlocked with
the brickwork above them. The windows of the upper floors are enframed by lime-
stone moldings, and the houses are crowned by dentilled roof cornices carried on
end brackets. The two easternmost houses, Nos. 579 and 581, which differ in design
from all the others, are very similar to each other at the upper floors:; they have
three-sided bays carried on corbels at the second floors and triple windows at the
third. Their end-bracketed roof cornices are also quite similar. It is at the first
floors that they differ. No. 579 is especially handsome, with a richly ornamented
neo-Renaissance mask set in thetympanur of the broad window arch. This arch is
enframed by evenly spaced blocks set in a molding. The same enframement appears
at the arched doorway, which also has an ornate tympanum. The adjoining house,

No. 581, has a double window, with small arched pediment centered above the lintcl.
The window is set to the left of a very ornately enframed doorway. The houses to
the west of the inner core belong to the basic house types described above but are
placed at random.

Nos. 583-603 is a long row of neo-Grec brownstone houses, with three-sided
bays, built in 1888-89 for owner-architect Charles G. Peterson. The houses are
all approached by high, straight stoops with wrought iron hand-railings and slender
cast iron newel posts. In their ornamental roof cornices and door enframements,
they show the influence of the neo-Grec style, even though they belong to a later
period. As compared with their neighbors to the west, they have the appearance
of dignified disapproving ancestors. Nos. 583-593, with full-height bays, are two
and one-half stories high. At Nos. 589-593 there are fenestrated attics, where the
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windows are set in the fascia boards beneath the roof cornices. The engaged columns
at the doorways support lintels with cornices. Above these, the panels beneath the
second-floor windows form a visual continuity with the wide band courses above the
parlor floor windows. Nos. 595-599 are quite similar but are three stories high,
with three-sided bays which extend up to the third stories, at which level they are
crowned with low cast iron crestings.

Nos. 605 and 607 were also built for owner-architect Charles G. Peterson,
but in 1893. In their combination of gray-colored Roman brick and limestone,
smooth and rough-faced, these houses herald the architectural character which the
street was to assume at the turn of the century. The materials, the arched windows,
the stone transom bars and the detail make these bold houses unmistakably Romanesque
Revival in style. : : -

No. 627 is a four-story corner house, described under No. 117 Prospect Park
West. : :

EIGHTH STREET

EIGHTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park lWest

This street has an airy open character due to .the low houses on the south
side. These row houses are, in their details, expressions of the wave of classi-
cism and interest in the Renaissance which swept the country after the Chicago
World's Fair of 1893. They are modest versions of this style, designed to fit
the needs of the aspiring middle-class owner. With only one exception, the houses
on-the south side are of limestone. The north side, by contrast, presents and al-
most solid wall of four-story apartment houses. Their materials consist of light-
colored shades of brick, with limestone trim, which harmonizes with.the houses
- across the street. Their height is visually minimized by the concentrati¢n of
architectural elements and details at ground floor level, while their full-height
bays create a wavy undulation at the skyline. Strangely out of place are a pair
of low brick houses of the nineteen twenties, which are lacking in urban elegance
and give the blockfront a toothless character. One dark, handsome, brownstone
apartment house stands proudly among its neighbors. One feels it might have be-
longed on Boston's Commonwealth Avenue.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 502-564)

(The corner apartment house, on Eighth Avenue, west of No. 502, is outside
of the Historic District.)

Nos. 502-524. This row of twelve identical neo-Italian Renaissance houses
was built in 1908-09 for Louis Levy and was designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas
Bennett. It is only two stories high, with full-height curved bays. The smooth
limestone is enriched by fluted pilasters between the square-headed windows of the
bays, by the doorways with their engaged columns supporting ornate entablatures,
and by the carved panels beneath the windows in the bays. High L-shaped stoops
approach the handsome doorways with wrought iron grilles in the doors. The
houses are crowned by individual sheetmetal roof cornices, which have console
brackets, and a frieze with swags.

No. 526 is a two-story red brick townhouse with a three-sided bay. It was

built in 1904-05 for Alexander Lyons and Charles Block and was designed by
architect Simeon Eisendrath. It is unique in this row. The limestone quoins give
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the facade a banded appearance The richly enframed bull's-eye window over the
'hdoorway, the ped1mented window ‘above it, the sidelights and transom at the door
and 'the elegant wrought iron railings at the stoop and yard produce a cosy neo-
Georgian character, which contrasts with the formal limestone rows on either side
of the house. :

Nos. 528-550.  This row of twelve two-story townhouses was built in 1902
for William H. Reynolds and was designed by Brooklyn architect Benjamin Driesler.
Full-height curved bays alternate with three-sided ones, a device which lends
variety and creates a certain rather attractive agitation at the skyline. There
is a pronounced cleavage in this blockfront where No. 526, the darker-colored neo-
Georgian house, separates the two long rows of houses, and it is interesting to
note the subtle differences in these two rows. This row, although neo-Classical
- in style, retains in an occasional arched doorway or arched window at the second
floor, a vestigial reminder of the earlier Romanesque Revival style, an interesting
fact when we consider that it is only three years older than the Renaissance
row to the west.. Otherwise it is quite similar to that row, with its ornate
cornices and carved panels beneath the windows. An exception is No. 540, which dis-
plays neo-French Renaissance-ogival: arches at the parlor floor windows.. The end
house, No. 550, exhibits a terminal feature found in many other rows in the Park
Slope area: a square bay carried forward to meet the line of the corner apartment

house. ; :

Nos. 552-564 is a large six story corner apartment house described under No.
131 Prospect Park Vest.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 511-583)

(The corner apartment house, on Eighth Avenue, just west of No. 511, is
outside of the Historic District.)

Mos. 511-537. These eight apartment houses, which were designed for eight-
family occupancy, were begun in 1904 for John Wilson and were designed by Brooklyn
architect Henry Pohlman. They are four stories high and have full-height swell-
fronts on either side of the entranceways. ' They have Flemish bond buff-colored
brickwork trimmed with limestone above smooth limestone first floors, and their
detail accords well with that of the houses across the street. Ba51ca11y neo-
Georgian in style, they have splayed window lintels with ‘keystones and typical
- modillioned cornices at the second floors. The arched windows. with keystones at
the top floors, and the curved cornices above the swcll-fronts give the buildings an
undulating rhythm. Straight low stoops approach the doorways, which are enframed
- by pilasters supporting carved entablatures.

MNo. 541 is an impressive and dignified brownstone apartment house begun in
1905 for J.B. Hoecker and also designed by Brooklyn architect Henry Pohlman. It is
also four stories high with swell-fronts on either side of the entranceway, but
it is quite different in character from the row to the west. Here, the first floor
is rusticated and the central second floor windows of the swell-fronts display
handsome triangular pediments with carved tympana. The central windows above these
have arched pediments with carving, and the top floor has arched windows with carved
keystones. The wide central doorway is flanked by Ionic columns supporting a
simple entablature, which, in turn, supports a series of small richly-enframed
stair windows at the floors above it. These windows are set at different levels
from those at the sides. All of these elements give the building an air of elegance
and a sense of verticality, enhanced by a raised section of cornice above the cen-
tral entrance.

Nos. 545 and 547 are two small brick houses linked across a central access-
way by an arch, with wrought iron gates, leading to garages. They were built in
1922 for Adele Hoecker and were designed by the Manhattan architectural firm of
Scott & Prescott. They have Flemish bond brick walls, one-story bays, and low
stoops with stepped brick wing-walls. The second floors have triple windows with
rooflets above them,
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Nos. 553-571 is a row of five apartment houses remarkably similar to the row
to.the west, although somewhat more ornate. They were built in 1909 for George
F. Heim and were designed by Brooklyn architect Arthur Koch. All but one have full-
height, swell-fronts on either side of the doorways, echoed by the undulating
rhythm at the skyline. These apartment houses are -wider than thosw in the row to
the west, with the exception of No. 571, which was built on the narrower end lot.
;t has only one swell-front bay, set to the left of the doorway. All these build-
ings are constructed of the same material and are executed in the same neo-Georgian
style. They were built five years later than the row to the west and have square-
headed windows, instead of round-arched ones, at the top floors. They all have
splayed flat arches with keystones, with swags adorning the keystones at the first
floors. The doorways are arched and have carved ornament in the tympana. They
are flanked by tall, fluted colurmns, which extend above the arches to meet the
lines of the cornices crowning the rusticated first floors. These cornices are
carried out over the columns and support a finial centered above each column. The
handsome wrought iron and glass double doors and the door enframements, including
the ornamental tympana in the arches and the rusticated voussoirs enframing them,
all show the influence of French Beaux Arts design, so prevalent at the turn-of-
the-century. The windows of the stairways, above the doorways, do not align with
the windows on either side of them and have been vertically enframed in pairs.
The low bottom window, above the doorway, has been enhanced by flanking scrolls,
which, behind the finials above the columns, create a visual ensemble. Flemish
bond brickwork and a handsome modillioned roof cornice, lend further distinction
to this fine row.

No. 573-583 is a large corner apartment house, described under No. 125
Prospect Park Yest.

NINTH STREET

NINTH STREET Retween Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park Uest

This wide street, the equal in width of the north-south avenues, has a re-
markable quality of openness, not only due to its breadth, but also to the low
row houses on either side of it. After one passes the line of high apartment
houses fronting on the Park, a quality of repose and serenity, enhanced by a gentle
undulation at the cornice line, becomes evident on this almost purely neo-Classical
street. The light color of the limestone and the uniformity of the facades give a
new turn-of-the-century aspect to this sunny street; a comprehensive feeling of
town-planning is becoming evident here, in contrast to the charming picturesqueness
of some of the streets developed in the 1830s and 1890s, in which diversity was
considered the most desirable quality. Another factor contributing to this uni-
formity was the development of longer and longer rows, as it became evident that
greater economy was achieved in building them. Like those on Eighth Street, these
neo-Classical rows reflect the influence of the Chicago Fair of 1893. This street
is unusual in having a terminal feature at the point where it dead ends at the Park.
Centered at the end of the street, in the Park, is a monument to General Lafayette
by Daniel Chester French, with aichitectural enframemeunt Ly Henry Bacon. It was
unveiled in 1917.

SOUTH SIDE (MNos. 526-572)
(The six two-story houses west of No. 526 are outside of the Historic Dis-

trict.)

Nos. 526-538. This row of seven houses was built in 1894-95 for T. Kilty and
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was designed by architect George W. Oelkus. These three-story, brownstone-fronted
houses have a severely rectilinear quality, with their flush fronts, square-
headed windows and doors and horizontal bandcourses under the windows at each floor.
This dignified severity is relieved by the round-arched openings which occur at

the first floors of Nos. 526 and 534 only, and by the bracketed roof cornices with
paneled fascias of all the houses. High stoops, with wrought iron handrailings,
lead directly to the double entrance doors with

transoms. This is the only row in this blockfront which has fiush facades.

Nos. 540-552. These three-story, multi-family, brownstone buildings give the
appearance of single-family townhouses. They were built in 1896 for Charles Hart
and were designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas F. Carroll. Their high, straight
stoops lead up to glazed double doors. Here, we again find the alternating curved
and three-sided full-height bays that are so prevalent in this area of the Historic
District. The theme of wide horizontal bands between the windows is continued
here, with carved panels set in the width of the band beneath the second-floor bay
windows. . The most notable ornament is to be found at the doorways, where engaged
columns support dentiled entablatures. The roof cornices with modillions and the
richly ornamented friezes are surmounted by very low paneled parapets, an unusual
feature. Many of the elegant iron handrailings and newel posts remain at the
stoops.

Nos. 554-572 is a row of ten houses built in 1902 for Philip Jung and de-
signed by Brooklyn architect Thomas Engelhardt. They are two stories high and
make a break at roofline with the three-story buildings to the west. Meo-Classical
_in design, they are remarkably similar to the houses across the street, which were
designed by another architect. The pattern of alternately curved and three-sided
bays is interrupted only at the west end, where the bay is two-sided, with its
wide front carried over to meet the line of the row to the west. The ‘windows are
all square-headed, with the exception of a few which are arched, above the doorways.
Most of the arched windows are simply set in the smooth front walls, but those at
Nos. 554 and 568 have delicate drip moldings carried around the outer profile of
the voussoirs, a reminiscence of the Romanesque Revival. Richly ornamented bas-
relief panels are introduced in the wide bandcourse beneath the second-floor win-
dows of some of the houses. The individual roof cornices are supported by widely-
spaced modillions and have ornamental friezes beneath them. High stoops, alter-
natingly straight or L-shaped, have solid masonry wing-walls.

(The corner buildings at Prospect Park llest, just east of No. 572, are out-
- side of the Historic District.) :

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 519-577)

(The corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, just west of No. 519, is outside
of the Historic District.)

Nos. 519-543. This row of thirteen identical neo-Italian Renaissance houses
was built in 1908-09 for Louis Levy and was designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas
Bennett. These houses are only two stories high, with full-height curved bays.
The smooth limestone is enriched by fluted pilasters between the square-headed
windows of the bays, by the doorways with their engaged columns supporting ornate
entablatures, and by the carved panels beneath the windows in the bays. High L-
shaped stoops approach the doorways, and the houses are crowned by individual sheet-
metal roof cornices, with swags in the frieze and console brackets for support.
These houses are practically identical to those back-to-back to them, Nos. 502-524
Eighth Street, which were built by the same owner and designed by the same archi-
tect. ’

Nos. 545-567. This row of twelve two-story limestone townhouses was built
in 1902-03 for William H. Reynolds and was designed by Brooklyn architect Benjamin
Driesler. Full-height, curved bays alternate with three-sided ones, a device
which lends variety and produces a rather attractive agitation at the skyline.
This row, although neo-Italian Renaissance in style, retains vestigial reminders of
the earlier Romanesque Revival style in its occasional arched doorways and arched
second floor windows. The houses have ornate cornices and display carved panels
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and bandcourses beneath some of the windows. No. 553 displays neo-French Renais-
sance ogival arches at the parlor floor windows. These houses were built for the
same owner and designed by the same architect as the ones back-to-back with them,
Nos. 528-550 8th Street. Like them, they were begun in 1902, and only minor dif-
ferences in the ornament prevent their being described as identical.

No. 569-577, the four-story corner apartment house, is described under No.
140 Prospect Park West.

TENTH STREET

TENTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park lWest

This almost unaltered residential block presents an interesting variety
and has its own distinctive character, derived from the overall aspect of many
short rows with flush fronts, punctuated only here and there by rows or houses with
two-story bays. High basements and L-shaped stoops characterize many of the houses.
Some extraordinary yard railings on the south side of the street lend interest
as does the wide variety of architectural detail. Certain of these houses retain
their original paving blocks in the sidewalk, adding character to the street.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 642-708)

(The three residences and the corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, to the
west of No. 642, are all outside of the Historic District.)

No. 642. This distinctive two-story brownstone house, approached by an L-
shaped stoop, was built by owner-builder Thomas Brown in 1895 and was designed by
Manhattan architect Paul F. Higgs. It is a bold statement of the Romanesque Re-
vival. 'ith its full-height, three-sided bay, it displays a combination of stone
textures: rough-faced verticals between the windows and smooth-faced horizontals
above and below them. The doorway with its three-light transom has some interest-
ing carved detail, and the three bands of billet molding at the roof cornice are
unusual, but most expressive of the style. The L-shaped stoop of brownstonec, with
its smooth-faced perforated wing-walls, displays some handsome foliate ornament.

Mos. 644-652. These five houses were built in 1887-88 by owner-builder
Thomas Brown. Brooklyn architect Charles llerner designed them. Here, varying
design features are evident above the rather uniform first and second floors:
No. 644 has a mansard roof with pedimented dormer windows; No. 646 has always
had a full third story, quite similar to the floors below; No. 648 has a full third
floor with arched windows and a stepped gable, seemingly of later date; Nos. 650-
652 are twins, with dentiled cornices and dentiled triangular pediments set above the
two right-hand windows, and with low rectangular windows cut in the fascia boards.
The handsome cast iron railings display a wealth of foliate forms set in gothic
arches, and this design continues east to No. 672.

Nos. 654-664 is a row of six brownstone houses, built by owner-builder
"illiam Brown, and designed by Brooklyn architect W. M. Coots in 1887. These two
and one-half story houses are unified in design and are treated in an unusual man-
ner at the top floor level. The rough-faced stonework of the basement and of the
window lintels, contrasting with the smooth walls, is somewhat similar to that of
the houses to the west. The cornice slab over the doorway, with simulated balcony
above it, is supported on high grooved brackets. The unusual feature of this row
is the most unconventional top half-story, where a mini-balustrade takes the place
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of a cornice, while low attic windows piercing the fascia have striking sunburst
panels between them. A higher window at the center is crowned by a dentiled
pediment, the ends of which meet the top of the balustrade. The pediment is crowned
by ;n acroteria motif. A full top story, with stepped parapet, was a later addition
at No. 654.

__Nos. 666-672. These .four brownstone houses were also designed by Brooklyn
architect M. M. Coots for owner-builder Villiam Brown, but 'one year later, .in 1888.
They differ from his row to. the west only in being three stories high and in
having full top stories which are quite similar to the floors below. Their
dignified rectangularity is enhanced principally. by the foliate yard railings and by
the bracketed roof cornices which are broken slightly forward on the left side to

signalize the doorways below them. Basement entrances have been provided at Nos.
666 and 670. o '

Mo. 674, located almost.at the center of the blockfront, is a three-story
individual townhouse built in 1894 .for John Thatcher and designed for him by the
well-known Manhattan architect William B. Tubby. With its two-story, three-sided
bay, it interrupts and contrasts with the flush-faced fronts of the rows on either
side of it. A rather severe example of neo-French Renaissance architecture, it
represents a great contrast to Tubby's rather picturesque Romanesque Revival work
on Lincoln Place off Eighth Avenue. Limestone extends to the second story window-
sill, and brick is used for the top two floors. The high, narrow windows of the two-
story bay accent its verticality. The stone transom bars of the parlor floor win-
dows and doorway, the paneled pilasters flanking the main entrance, and the second
floor arched window keyed to the brickwork, are indicative of the style, although
the roof ccrnice with its dentils and console brackets is more nearly classical in
character. A high L-shaped stoop, with stone scrolls at the bottom, further
enhances the 1nd1v1dua1 character of this house. :

Nos, 676-682. These four houses, built in 1888, are perfect examples of the
neo-Grec style. They were designed by Brooklyn architect J.D. Reynolds and were
built by owner-builders J. F. Ransom and P. S. Stevens. The heavy stone lintels
with incised ornament over the main doorways, and the similar but smaller ones
over the windows at first and second floors, are designed in pedimental form and
all have the characteristic Greek "ears'. Crowning these two and one-half story
houses are bold cornices with low windows just beneath them between the deep,
paired brackets. No. 676 has had the attic floor raised to create a full third
story. The overall effect of the houses is complemented by their original wrought
iron yard railings, with curvilinear and foliate forms.

Nos. 684-690. These four houses, built before 1890, form an effective group.
The two center houses display high triangular pediments, while the eastern house,
with pedimented dormer, has a subordinate character. The westernmost house, which
has had a full-height top floor added, was presumably once similar to the eastern-
most creating a symmetrical group. These brownstones are Romanesque Revival in
style, with rough-faced lintels and impost blocks at the first floors. They have
corbel blocks supporting the window sills at the second floors. The original
stained glass transoms over door and window remain at No. 686. High stoops with
wrought iron railings approach the front doors in one straight run, and the hand-
some yard railings repeat the pointed arch pattern found in the western half of
the blockfront.

Nos. 692-696. These three brownstone hcuses are perfect examples of a
transitional style. Neo-Classical in their smooth-faced stonework, they are never-
theless replete with Romanesque Revival carved ornament, done in a restrained manner
and indicative of their date, 1888. They were built for Thomas Brown, the prin-
cipal developer of this street, and were designed by the noted. Brooklyn architec-
tural firm of Parfitt Brothers. Three stories high, they form a fine terminal ac-
cent for this blockfront; their three-sided, two-story bays contrast with the
flush-faced rows of houses to the west. The sheetmetal roof cornices, with their
garlands and tassels, are neo-Classical in detail, while the yard railings,
handrailings and newel posts at the stoops continue the pointed arch foliate pattern
of the houses to the west.
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No. 698-708. This large four-story brick apartment house, with towers at

the corners and an entrance on 10th Street, is described under No. 152 Prospect
Park lest.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 631-693)

= Nos. 631-641. The four low Romanesque Revival townhouses and the high ad-
Joining neo-Classical corner house, although different in appearance, were all
begun in 1894 by owner-builder Thomas Brown, the principal developer of this street.
These houses were designed by architect Paul Higgs. No. 631-633, the three-story
corner house on Eighth Avenue, has a smooth stone facade with a full-height, three-
S}ded bay facing Tenth Street; an L-shaped stoop leads up to the front door. The
Eighth Avenue side is of brick and has another full-height three-sided bay at the
rear. The heavy roof cornice, carried on console brackets, extends along both of
these sides. The only notable ornament is to be found in the carved blocks support-
ing a small horizontal cornice at the head of the parlor floor windows facing

Tenth Street. The four Romanesque Revival houses adjoining No. 631-633 to the east
are two and one-half stories high. They have arched openings at the first floors
and, in alternate houses, also at the second floors. The low attic floors have
small square windows set in the fascias of the roof cornices. For variety, Nos.

635 and 639 each have a pair of tiny arched windows in the fascia. Handsome

ornamental panels, above dentiled string courses, separate the attic windows at
Nos. 637 and 641.

Nos. 643-649 is a row of four late Romanesque Revival houses, built in the
early 1890s. They are all approached by L-shaped stoops with solid masonry wing-
walls and have an alternating ABAB design pattern. The "A" houses, Nos. 643 and
647, have square -headed windows at the top floors: the "B'' houses have arched
windows at the top floors and low arches above paired windows to the left of the
first floor arched entrances: semi-engaged colonettes fill the wall spaces beneath
the springs of the arches. All the houses have separate but similar cornices,
with small closely spaced corbels. The principal ornament is to be found in panels
under the first floor windows and in the checkerboard bandcourses beneath the windows
of the upper floors.

Nos. 651-661. These six houses were built in 1890 by owner-builder Thomas
Brown, with Rrooklyn architect .M. Coots as designer. They use the same cornices
as the houses to the west, and, like them, are late Romanesque Revival in style.
There is an underlying symmetry in this row of three-story brownstones, which,
except for detail, follows a basically ABAATA pattern. The "A" houses have square-
headed openings and smooth-faced walls. The "B’ houses have arched parlor floor
windows and also have arched doorways with deep keystones, which support corbeled
shelves serving as extensions to the sills of the second floor windows. Above
the spring of the first floor arched openings at the "B houses, a system of
narrow, rough-faced bandcourses alternates with the smooth stonework and lends
considerable texture and interest to these openings. The houses are all approached
by high L-shaped stoops with low wrought iron handrailings.

Nos. 663-667. These three brownstone houses were also built by owner-
builder Thomas Brown, but in 1889. Very similar to the rows to the east, they are
three stories high and introduce two-story three-sided bays which contrast with the
flush-fronted rows to the west. They are transitional in style, displaying Roman-
esque Revival elements of design, such as checkerboard panels beneath the parlor
£loor windows, rough-faced voussoirs above them and iron crestings at the tops of
the bays. Classical elements include the pediments over the doorways, which are
linked visually with the fluted corbels at the sills of the windows above them,
and the swags and dentils at the friezes of the roof cornices.

Nos. 669-681. These seven three-story houses are quite similar to lNos.
663-667, with the exception of certain minor details. They were also begun in 1889
and were constructed by owner-builder Thomas Brown, who retained the Manhattan
architectural firm of Higgs § Rooke to design this row. Here, the two-story, three-
sided bays are also crowned by iron crestings, but the doorways have rough-faced
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stone voussoirs with keystones in lieu of low pediments.

No. 683 is an individual three-story brownstone townhouse built by owner-
builder James McLaren in 1896. Like the rows to the west, it has a classical roof
cornice with swags and a two-story, three-sided bay surmounted by iron crestings.
The ornamented horizontal chamfers at the heads of the first and second floor
windows are reminiscent of the rapidly fading Romanesque Revival, but the dentiled
entablature of the doorway, supported on columns, is classical. An interesting
feature above this entablature is the small panel flanked by scrolls, which is
surmounted by a cornice-slab serving as a sill for the window above. An L-shaped
stoop with stone newel posts approaches this handsome dcorway.

No. 685 is a vacant lot.

Nos. 687-693. This row of four three-story houses was built in 1888 by
owner-builders Assip and Buckley and was designed by Brooklyn architect W.M. Coots.
All four of these modified Romanesque Revival houses have two-story, three-sided
bays, which terminate in metal cornices that extend across the width of each facade.
Above this level, a picturesque roofline is created by mansard roofs, large double
dormer windows crowned by peaked roofs, and small single dormer windows above the
doorways. The main entrances to these houses are flanked by delicate colonettes
crowned by segmental arches above the doorways. The graceful curve of these arches
is repeated above the central parlor floor windows of the bays, where arched drip
moldings create a rhythmic pattern. The original double doors, with small square
nanels in the lower half and stained glass transoms above, are still intact at
three of the houses. Handsome L-shaped stoops, with striking lunettes in the walls
facing the street, lend character to these fine houses.

(The apartment house to the east of No. 693 is outside of the Historic
District.)

ELEVENTH STREET

ELEVENTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue & Prospect Park- lest

The overall appearance of this attractive street is one of small-scaled
residential buildings well balanced on both sides. There is an interesting con-
trast between rows with flush-fronts and rows with bays. The north side displays
a variety of styles, whereas the south side houses, so similar to those on Ninth
Street, are singularly uniform with the exception of the four-story brick apartment
houses at the eastern end of the block. The houses were built to provide dignified
dwellings for persons of moderate means, and the overall effect they produce is
that of an extremely cohesive neighborhood.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 584-646)

(The corner apartment house on Eighth Avenue, and the five houses to the west
of No. 584, are all outside of the Historic District.)

Nos. 584-614. This long twu-story row of fifteen neo-Italian Renaissance
brownstone houses was begun by owner-builder Thomas F. Martin in 1897, with the ex-
ception of the end houses, Nos. 610 and 612-614, which were begun by him in 1898.
The designer has varied the full-height bays from round to three-sided, but they
do not alternate, as was so often the case. Here, three pairs of three-sided
bay houses appear near the center of the row, alternating with single curved-bay
houses. No. 534, has a two-sided bay extended forward to meet the row of five
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houses to the west of it, as was so often done in the Park Slope area. L-shaped
stoops with low wing-walls, arched at the battom, lead up to the doorways. Some
have low iron railings on top of the wing-walls, while others do not. The doorways
have ornamented pilasters supporting deep brackets, which carry the cornice slabs
above carved panels. Carved panels appear beneath all the windows in the bays,
and- the sheetmetal roof cornices have dentils above their ornamental friezes.
-Aside from these ornamental features, the front walls are all of smooth-faced

- stonework. The only vestigial remains of the Romanesque Revival style may be
~'seen ‘in the rough-faced lintels dbove the windows. No. 612-614 has an alleyway,
east of the house, leading to a garage at the back of the property.

Nos. 618 (616-620) and 624 (622-626) are two similar four-story brick apart-
ment houses of yellowish brick. They were built in 1912 for the Kessan Realty
Company and were designed by Brooklyn architect Axel S. Hedman. At the upper floors,
they have central bays, four windows wide, flanked by end bays with single triply-
divided windows. The arched entranceways have fluted pilasters on either side, and
the buildings are crowned by parapets stepped up above the central bays. The re-
moval of what were probably pitched rooflets, in front of the central parapets,
may still be discerned in the smooth stucco covering at No. 624.

(Nos. 628 and 630 have been omitted from the street numbering S&stem.)

Nos. 632 and 634 are a pair of very similar apartment houses. No. 632 was
built in 1903 for William H. Johnson and designed by Brooklyn architect George
F. Roosen. Although they are only four stories high, full-height curved bays,
flanking the central entrances, give the facades a pronounced sense of verticality
and height. They have stone-faced first floors, rusticated at No. 632, and are
“brick above, with horizontal stone bandcourses above the windows serving as lintels
-at No. 634. Their boldly projected cornices supported on console brackets, with
dentils and ornamental friezes below, and the pedimented doorway at No. 632,
are neo-Classical features. The entrances are approached directly by low stoops.

No. 636. Built as a three-story neo-Federal two-family dwelling in 1920 for
Louis A. Rosenstein, this building was designed by Brooklyn architect M.A. Cantor.
At the right of this all-brick building is an entrance doorway with vertical con-
sole brackets supporting a cornice slab. In the center is a paired window, and to
the left is a driveway entrance closed by a wrought iron gate. Above the first
floor, two tiers of shallow three-sided bay windows occupy most of the front;
they are recessed in openings in the wall and are surmounted by panels with
escutcheons draped with swags. These panels break the top line of the brick
parapet. Interesting brickwork panels between the bays and blind arches above
them enliven this facade.

No. 642-646. This is the entrance side of the four-story corner apartment
house, No. 162-163 Prospect Park West. This brick building was erected for -
William Murphy in 1903 and was designed by the architectural firm of Pohlmann §
Patrick. It is remarkable in that the brickwork is laid up through all four
floors in a simulated rustication above a rough-faced stone basement. Horizontal
stone bandcourses are carried through at every floor at windowsill level, and
broader bandcourses at the third and fourth floors serve as impost blocks, for
the window lintels at the third floor and for the arches at the top floor. A
modest cornice, carried on closely-spaced console brackets, crowns the building.
The entrance on Eleventh Street has a shallow porch, supported by columns and
surmounted by a low balustrade with urns at the corners. An angular corner bay
is complemented by very shallow swell-front bays set near the ends of the two fa-
cades. The narrower Prospect Park VWest facade is similar in all details to the
one on Eleventh Street, except for having a rusticated limestone facing at the first
floor in lieu of brickwork. '

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 583-653)

(The four-story brick apartment house on the corner, to the west of No. 583,
is outside of the Historic District.)
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(No. 581 has been omitted from the street numbering systen.)

Nos. 583-591, a row of five two-story Romanesque Revival houses, was built
before 1898. They form an ABABA pattern. The "B'" houses have arched doorways, with
the carved arch supported on triple colonettes at each side. To the left of this
doorway, an unusually wide plate glass arched window with keystone provides a
dramatic accent. At the second floor, above the doorway, a small pseudo-balcony,
flanked by scrolls, is set directly beneath a single second-story window. The roof
cornice, typical of all those in the row, is supported on closely-spaced console
brackets, with foliate ornament in the frieze below it. An unusual feature of the
cornice is the end bracket separating each house, as it is carried up well above
the cornice line and capped with a small arched section. The "A" houses have
square-headed windows. The mullions and jambs of those at the first floor display
carved Ionic scroll motifs at top and bottom. As at the '"B' houses, the doorways
have small balconies above them; here they rest on heavy lintel blocks, which, in
turn, are supported by narrow end brackets. There is also an interesting frond-
like carving at each end of the rough-faced second-floor window lintels. High
stoops with rough-faced stone sidewalls are surmounted by low iron railings,
except at No. 587.

Nos. 593-603. Contrasting with the flush-fronted row to the west, this two-
story row, with full-height, shallow, three-sided bays, was erected in 1889. It
was built by owner-builder illiam Brown, the developer of some of Tenth Street,
including the houses directly behind these, which were designed for him by Brooklyn
architect ¥. M. Coots, also the designer of this row. These six houses, with square-
headed openings, have original details, which do not specifically relate to any one
style: the stilted, rough-faced stone work, which includes the flat arches of first
and second floor windows; the triangular pediments above the doorways, carried on
shallow brackets; and the unusual bracketed cornice with fan-shaped and diagonal
ornament in its panels. This row again repeats the handsome iron yard railings with
Gothic arch and floral design so conspicuous onthe. south side of Tenth Street.
High straight stoops, with wrought iron handrailings, lead up to the doorways of
this interesting row.

Nos. 605-611. These four rectilinear flush-fronted brownstone houses,
reminiscent of the neo-Grec style, were built in 1891 by owner-builder F. O.
Peterson. The heavy enframements of the windows to the left of the front doors
are two stories in height, giving the suggestion of bays. Straight stoops with
iron handrailings lead up to double doors, which are sheltered by thin cornice
slabs carried on pilasters with brackets. Small incised rosettes and other
carvings appear at the window lintels. No. 607 retains its original paneled wood
doors, glazed at the top. The delicate roof cornices of these houses are most un-
usual, and although the detail is actually neo-Grec, it lacks the bold quality we
generally associate with that style. The yard railings at these houses have close-
ly spaced fleur de lys finials.

Nos. 613-623. Although these brownstone houses are only two stories high,
like their flush-fronted neighbors to the west, they appear higher, due to the
verticality of their three-sided, full-height bays. (No. 621, with a curved bay, is
the only exception.) They were built in 1892-93 for Charles G. Peterson. Their
bold, dentiled cornices, supported on closely-spaced brackets, and their smooth-
faced stonework are neo-Classical in character. However, as is often the case in
the Park Slope area, the lower portions of the houses display lingering traces of
the Romanesque Revival. Here, these include the rough-faced masonry stoops and
bands of stonework beneath the parlor floor windows. Nos. 621 and 623 have
handsome stained glass transoms above the parlor floor windows.

No. 625. This three-story, Romanesque Revival housc of linestone Was built in
the late 1890s and was occupied by John D. Datherdato. Except for the fact that it
has an L-shaped stoop, its basement and first two floors are almost exactly similar
to those at No. 621 in the row to the west. The curved bay is only two stories
high, but this house is surmounted by a handsome third floor with arched windows.

It is crowned by a classical roof cornice, which is also remarkably similar to
those in the row to the west.

(No. 627 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)

-133-



PS-HD

ELEVENTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park Vest

Nos. 629-639. This row of six Romanesque Revival houses was begun in 1901

for Thomas C. Van Pelt and was designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. The
houses are set above terraces with L-shaped stoops, and a rhythmical continuity
is achieved by the series of arched openings,separated by pilasters, at the first

floor. A projecting stone transom bar runs continuously through all the arches
' and provides a cap for the intermediate p11asters. Rough-faced stone bandcourses
~serve as lintels for the second floor windows, giving further unity to the row.
~ The classical cornice, not unlike those of the houses to the west, persists here.
The first floor is of rough -faced stonework, laid up in narrow bands ‘above the arches
of the w1ndows the upper floors are of Roman brick.

* . '(No. 641 has been omltted from the street numbering system.)

No. 643-653 is a four-story corner apartment house of brick, with an entrance
on Eleventh Street, described under 161 Prospect Park West.

TYELFTH STREET

_TWELFTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue.& Prospect Park lWest

lee Eleventh Street, th1s street is almost level: between Prospect Park West
_and Eighth Avenue, startlng its westward slope on the far side of the Avenue. It
is primarily a street of three-and four-story ‘apartment houses, except on the
'south-side, which has a long row of two-story family res1dences. ‘Many of the
'streets -in the southern part of Park Slope have apartment houses at the eastern or
Park end of the street. Some of these are quite interesting architecturally,
having a distinctly European character. A good example here is '"The "aldorf', a
the southwest corner of Prospect Park West and Twelfth Street. Since William
Musgrave Calder (1869-1945) was the designer.and developer of so many of the
houses on this street, it is interesting to note that he started his career as
a carpenter's apprentice, studying nights at Cooper Union, and that he became
Commissioner of Buildings for the Borough of Brooklyn (1902-03), the New York
State Representative to Congress (1905-15) and U.S. Senator (1917-23). His
father, Alexander G. Calder, developed pract1ca11y all of the major residential
TOWS on Th1rteenth Street.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 464-528)

No. 468 (464-472) is a four-story brick apartment house, entered on Twelfth
Street, which is described under No. 1201 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 474-482 are a row of five apartment houses, built in 1899-1900 for
James Jack, and designed by Brooklyn architect Thomas Bennett. Although they are
only four stories high, their full-height curved bays, flanking the central entrances,
give the appearance of great verticality and height. The facades of Nos. 478-482
are of buff-colored brick, with horizontal stone bandcourses serving as impost
blocks for all the window lintels, while Nos. 474 and 476 are of gray brick. The
boldly projecting, curved roof cornices supported on console brackets, with dentils
and ornamental friezes below, echo the curved bays and thus enhance the undulating
rhythm which characterizes these facades. The entrances are all approached by low
stoops with masonry wing-walls. The building at the eastern end of the row, No.
482, is considerably narrower than the others and has only one curved bay, wh1ch is
located to the right of the entrance. These apartment houses are remarkably
similar to Nos. 632 and 634 on Eleventh Street.
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Nos. 484-514. This long row of sixteen family residences was built for

~ James Jack. It was constructed by Brooklyn architect-builder William M. Calder.
Nos. 494-514, nearest the park, were begun in 1898, while Nos. 484-492, to the

west of them, were begun the following year. These small but dignified stone-faced
houses are all two stories high and have three-sided and curved full-height bays,
which are varied in no particular pattern. They are basically neo-Italian
Renaissance in style, distinguished by the stone-carving of the pilasters and en-
tablatures of their entrance doorways and by the ornamental panels under the windows.
The parlor floor windows of the bays, a few of which are round-arched, are divided
by pilasters, which represent a wide range of orders, at many of the houses. There
is variety, but no discernable pattern, in the facing materials: brownstone, lime-
stone and greenstone. Reminders of the rapidly fading Romanesque Revival style

are still to be found in the arched second floor windows above the doorways of

some of the houses, as well as in the arched doorways and those converted to
windows at Nos. 496, 500, 506 and 510. Those flanked by slender colonettes, Nos.
486 and 502, and that at No. 494, with stilted top enframement carried on an orna-
mental bandcourse, are also reminders. The roof cornices are non-continuous and
are expressive of the individual houses, with frieze designs of swags at the
three-sided bays and foliate ornament at the curved bays. The 1898 houses are
approached by L-shaped stoops, whereas those built in 1899 have straight stoops.
Basement entrances have been provided at Nos. 500, 504 and 506.

Nos. 516 and 518 are two brick apartment houses which are quite similar to
Nos. 474-482, at the western end of the street, except that they are three stories
high and have slightly different doorways. They were begun in 1902 for John Wilson
and were designed by the architectural firm of Pohlman § Partrich.

No. 524 (520-528), "The Waldorf', is a four-story apartment house with
rusticated limestone first floor and basement. It was built in 1903 for J. Niebel
and was designed by architect-builder M. Pasquale Forte. It is neo-Italian
Renaissance in style and has quite a continental flavor. Its handsome entrance
porch with paired columns and its frieze at the roof cornice, interrupted by terra
cotta cartouches, are manifestations of the style. It also bears the numbers
170-171 Prospect Park West.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 467-527)

No. 467-471 is a four-story brick apartment house with corner tower and with
store at ground floor, described under No. 1123 Eighth Avenue.

No. 473-477. (No. 475 has been omitted from the street numbering system.)
This is a one-story store occupying the former rear yard of No. 1123 Eighth
Avenue.

Nos. 479-485 is a row of four brick apartment houses built by owner-builder
William M. Calder in 1901 and designed for him by architect Thomas Bennett. These
four-story brick buildings, with full-height curved bays, are quite similar to the
apartment houses on the south side, Nos. 474-482, built for James Jack and also
designed by Bennett. They differ principally in that the stone bandcourses are
aligned with the window lintels and that the top floor windows have stilted seg-
mental arches of rough-faced stone with the impost blocks forming a bandcourse.
The frieze of the roof cornice displays curvilinear ornament.

Nos. 487-491. These three two-family brick apartment houses were built for
E. J. Norris in 1892 and were designed by Brooklyn architect A. V. B. Norris.
Nnly three stories high, they are conspicuously low in this blockfront and are
approached by low stoops. The arched entranceways, with rough-faced stonework
crowned by drip moldings and keystones, are reminiscent of Romanesque Revival
prototypes: the splayed flat arches of the windows, also with keystones, and the
dentiled roof cornices are more nearly derived from Georgian prototypes. The blind
single windows above the entrances are unusual but maintain the symmetry of these
facades.
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Nos. 493-501. These five eight-fanily apartment houses, like Nos. 479-485,
were built in 1901 by owner-builder William /M. Calder with Brooklyn architect
Thomas Bennett. - They are strikingly similar to them, with the exception that,
heref the windows at the top floor have a simple horizontal stone bandcourse serving
as window lintels. The boldly projecting neo-Classical cornices have been removed

at Nos. 497, 499 and 501, exposing the underlying brickwork, which has been capped
by a thin';ine of coping.

Nos. 503-505 and 507-509 are two broad-fronted yellowish brick apartment
houses, fcur stories high. They are the newest buildings in the blockfront, having
been built in 1915-16 for the Alivon Realty Company, and were designed by Brooklyn
architect W. T. McCarthy. Each building has sixteen apartments. The ground floors,
with their broad arched doorways, limestone bases, and balusters beneath the windows,
have an air of conservatism. They contrast with the merely playful character of the
upper floors, where tiers of triple windows, at each side, are flanked by brick
pilasters and crowned by gables, in a manner generally reminiscent of French
Contemporary work. Since these two buildings sit right up to the front lot line,
they have a very prominent position as seen along the blockfront.

‘ Nos. 511 and 513 are a pair of four-story apartment houses which are
remarkably similar to Nos. 474-482, on the south side, the first of this
type to be built on this street. One of them, No. 513, was built in 1900-01 by
the same architect, Thomas Bennett, for a different owner, Thomas Van Pelt;
No. 511 was begun in 1903 for William H. Johnson and was designed by George Roosen
of Brooklyn. It is interesting to note how certain building types, such as this
one, with its full-height pair of curved bays, became so popular with owners and
architects that they did not hesitate to make almost literal copies from the origi-
nals., Here, ‘the only major differences from those originals are in the limestone
first floors and in the details of the doprways. The difference in appearance
between these two buildings is primarily due to the use of light, orange colored
‘brick at No. 511 and brown brick at No. 513, the introduction of rustication at the
first floor of No. 511, and certain minor differences at the window lintels.

Nos. 515-519.  These three two-story townhouses are conspicuously the lowest
buildings on this blockfront but correspond in height to the long row across the
street. Despite the remarkable similarity of these three houses, the two nearest
the Park, Nos. 517 and 519, were built first, in 1898-99, for George F. Cranford.
They were designed, like so many of the apartment houses on this street, by Thomas
Bennett. No. 515 was not built until 1910, for owner James Mason, and was designed
by Brooklyn architect Benjamin F. Hudson. Nos. 517 and 519 have full-height,
three-sided bays; there is a curved bay at No. 515. In spirit they are neo-

" Classica2l, with roof cornices carried on console brackets, and with pedimented
doorways at two of the houses. They are all approached by L-shaped stoops with
masonry wing-walls. The arched windows in the parlor floor bay at No. 517 and the
square-headed doorway with engaged columns at No. 519 are design elements seen in
earlier houses built in the District.

No. 521-523 is a four-story brick apartment house, with limestone enframe-
ments at the first floor. It projects further toward the street than Nos. 515-519
and has two full-height, three-sided bays set on either side of a central doorway.
The easternmost bay is further advanced to make the transition to the line of the
corner apartment house, which stands up to the lot line on 12th Street. In its
severe rectangularity and in the detail at the cornice, this building is generally
neo-Classical, with the exception of the stilted segmental-arched window lintels
at the top floor.

No. 525-527, a four-story brick apartment house, has an entrance at No. 525
but is also entered at No. 166 Prospect Park "West. It is described under No.
166-169 Prospect Park lest.
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This block is remarkable for its feeling of openness and for its character
as a distinct neighborhood:; it is one of the few streets in the area which is lined
on both sides by low, two-story houses, most of which retain their original
function as one-family residences. All the houses on both sides of the street have
curved or three-sided full-height bays, in varying arrangements, giving them a
rhythmical undulation at the cornice line. With a few exceptions at the ends of the
street, these rows of late 19th century neo-Classical and neo-Renaissance residences
were developed by Alexander G. Calder, father of Brooklyn architect-builder William
Musgrave Calder, who had developed so much of Twelfth Street and MNos. 490-502 on
this street.

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 450-512)

These rows of basically neo-Classical houses have many features in common
and extend along the entire length of the block. Survivals from the Romanesque
Revival are the bands of rough-faced stonework beneath the parlor floor windows.

By contrast, all the houses have classical cornices, carried on console brackets,
and many have swags in their friezes. All of the houses but Nos. 504-506 have
straight stoops, and all retain their fine original iron handrailings and yard
railings. Three types of stone facing are used in these rows, including limestone,
brownstone and redstone; however, except in one of the rows, their use is quite at
random.

No. 450-458 is the site occupied by the John W. Kimball School (P.S. No. 107).
This three-story, brick building, with playgrounds on both sides and to the east,
is described under No. 1301-1323 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 460 and 462. These brownstones were built as a pair in 1897-98 by owner-
carpenter Alexander G. Calder and were designed by architect William M. Calder..
No. 460 has a full-height, terminal, two-sided bay, typical of the end buildings
of the rows in the Park Slope area. It is neo-Italian Renaissance in certain of
its details; its mate, No. 462, with full-height, curved bay, is more nearly uneo-
Classical in its simplicity.

Nos. 464-482 form a row of ten houses with smooth wall surfaces and simply
enframed doorways; the houses are very similar to Nos. 460 and 462. They were
built for Alexander G. Calder in 1896 and were designed by his son, Park Slope
architect-builder tilliam M. Calder. The only exceptions to the rather severe
neo-Classicism of this row are the doorways of Nos. 464, 470 and 478, which have
Frencn Renaissance ornament at their upper halves. If house No. 464 were omitted
from this row, an interesting symmetry would appear in an AABAAABAA pattern, in
which the '"A" houses have three-sided bays and the "B'" houses have curved bays.
There is also a pattern of symmetry in the facing stone used, whether brownstone,
redstone or limestone.

Nos, 484-488. This little group of three brownstone houses has a three-sided
bay house flanked by curved bay houses. They were begun in 1897 for Alexander G.
Calder, with his son, William M. Calder, as architect-builder. The flanking houses
are basically neo-Classical in style, while the center house, No. 486, echoes the
neo-Italian Renaissance design to be found across the street at Nos. 461-475.

Nos. 490-502 is a row of seven neo-Classical townhouses with alternating
curved and three-sided bays. They were built in 1896-97 by owner-architect-
builder William M. Calder. Here he has repeated the French Renaissance theme in
the detail of the doorways of the curved bay houses. The house types are in regu-
lar alternation.

Nos. 504 and 506 are a symmetrical pair of houses with full-height, curved
bays; the entrances are paired together. Built in the 1890s, they are neo-Italian
Renaissance in detail. At their arched doorways are bold console bracket keystones
supporting the corbels beneath the windows of the second floor. There are pilasters
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at the parlor floor windows, beneath which are handsome bands of foliate ornament.

No. 508-512 is the large four-story corner apartment house, which has an
entrance on Thirteenth Street and is described under MNo. 179 Prospect Park lest.

NORTH SIDE (Nos. 449-511)

All these houses are two stories high, with full-height bays, and are crowned
by uniform cornices with varying details. The stoops are straight or L-shaped and
many have their original handrailings. As on the south side of the street, the
facing materials include brownstone, redstone and limestone. Members of the Calder

family are again prominent as the developers, as they were on the south side of the
street. ' '

No. 451 (449-453) is a four-story brick apartment house, entered on 13th
Street. It is described under No. 1215 Eighth Avenue.

Nos. 455-459. These three houses may have been built a few years later than
the rest of the rows on this street, as the easternmost of the three has a bay
which has been swept forward in a curve to meet the two-sided terminal bay of the
westernmost house of the adjoining row. All the bays are full-height. The curved
one at No. 455 and the three-sided one at No. 457 are both set to the left of the
doorways, leaving the doorways of Nos. 457 and 459 paired. In their overall detail,
these three houses are basically neo-Italian Renaissance, while their rough-faced
stone window arches and L-shaped stoops hark back to Romanesque Revival precedent.

Nos. 461-475. This row of eioht neo-Italian Renaissance houses was begun in
June, 1897 for Alexander G. Calder by his son, architect-builder William M. Calder.
No. 461 was treated as a typical Park Slope end-type house with two-sided bay. If
we disregard No. 461 in this row, an interesting symmetry appears with an ABAAABA
pattern, in which the “A" house has a three-sided bay and the 'B'' house a curved
bay. The two end houses, Nos. 461 and 475, are of brownstone, and the intervening
houses are of limestone. At the richly enframed doorways of the houses with
threce-sided bays, are pilasters, supporting entablatures with cornices crowned by
small arches at their centers. This arch theme is repeated, at even smaller scale,
above the central parlor floor windows of these houses. The curved bay houses,
although simpler, have the door heads carried up to meet carved corbels, which
support the sills of the windows above the doorways. The carved panels beneath the
second floor windows of all these houses are further evidence of the Renaissance
character of the ornament. On both types of houses, the roof cornices are supported
on console brackets; the friezes of the A" houses have foliate ornament and those
at the ‘"B houses have swags, further emphasizing the underlying symmetry of the
TOW.

Nos. 477-491. Like the adjoining row to the west, this row of eight houses
was begun in March, 1897, for Alexander Calder by his son, architect-builder William
M. Calder. An alternating pattern of curved and three-sided full-height bays :
creates a flowing rhythm at the cornice line, but here swags appear on the friezes
of the houses with three-sided bays and foliate ornament on those with curved bays.
The Italian Renaissance influence is again evident in the detail of the doorways,
the more elaborate ones appearing at the houses with three-sided bays. Carved
panels again appear beneath the second floor windows. It is of interest to note
that, although only two months intervened between the time of construction of this
row and the row to the west, a small increase was reflected in the cost per house
in the later ones to the west.

Nos. 493-503. Different in appearance from the rows to the west, princi-
pally due to deep brackets at the roof cornices, these six houses were built in
1895-96 for K. M. Hallum and were designed by Brooklyn architect Robert Dixon.
All of them have three-sided bays and an alternating use of materials, limestone
and brownstone, to lend interest. Engaged Corinthian columns of the entranceways
support vertical console brackets, which, in turn, carry the cornice-slabs above
carved lintels--neo-Italian Renaissance in style. Basement entrances have been
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provided at Nos. 493 and 497. There are carved panels beneath the first floor
windows, and beneath the second floor windows are delicately incised panels, which
are neo-Grec in style. The roof cornices display neo-Classical swags. The rough-
faced stone voussoirs of the flat arches above the second floor windows, and the
rough-faced stone basement and stoop walls are surviving elements from the Roman-
esque Revival.

No. 505-511 is the four-story corner apartment house, entered from Thirteenth
Street and described under 178 Prospect Park West.

FOURTEENTH STREET

FOURTEENTH STREET Between Eighth Avenue § Prospect Park Yest

Fourteenth Street is the southernmost east-west street in the Historic Dis-
trict. Like Thirteenth Street, it has a neighborhood character due to the long
rows of two-story dwellings facing each other. It is only at the eastern end of
this street that three and four-story multiple dwellings make their appearance, and
these have a character which enhances the blockfronts. It differs from Thirteenth
Street in that all the one-family residences are flush-fronted. This produces a
reposeful, uniform cornice line against the sky. Stylistically, there is consider-
able variation, ranging from the Romanesque Revival to the neo-Classical and neo-
Renaissance. It is also interesting to note that,in general, this street was built
up several years before Twelfth and Thirteenth Streets, a fact which may be attri-
buted to its proximity to the more commercial circle at the southwest corner of
the park, where Prospect Park West and Fifteenth Street intersect, (now Bartel
Pritchard Square).

SOUTH SIDE (Nos. 446-494)

Most of the one-family houses on this side of the street have high, straight
stoops and retain their original metal handrailings and yard railings. Brown-
stone, brick and limestone fronts appear quite at random except in the row at
the western end, where the materials are symmetrically arranged, and in the two-
family houses at the eastern end, which have bays and are all of limestone.

Except for the eastern row, the cornices are the same height but have different
ornament in accordance with the varying styles of the rows.

(The four apartment houses, west of No. 446, are outside of the Historic
District.)

Nos. 446-454 is a row of five late Romanesque Revival style houses built in
1394-95 for Christopher C. Firth. Although they belong basically to the same
style, each has a distinguishable modifying characteristic: No. 446 has a handsome
two-story oriel of sheetmetal, with an intricate design embossed in its panels
and in the pseudo-corbel beneath it; No. 448, although influenced basically by the
Romanesque Revival, displays the influence of the neo-Italian Renaissance in the
enframement of its paired parlor floor windows: No. 450 also shows Romanesque in-
fluence and has a strikingly broad parlor floor window, with heavy lintel carried
on paired colonettes: No. 452 has the conventional Romanesque arched openings at
the first floor, complemented by a checkerboard pattern in the stonework above the
front door: and No. 454 has, at the second floor, an interesting modified Palladian
window, which is Romanesque in its heavy treatment. A symmetry of materials
is introduced here, with one central limestone house flanked on either side by
brownstones.
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No. 456 is a brownstone house which was built in 1893 by George Morgan for
Agnes Morgan and was designed by architect Albert Ullrich. This example of late
Romanesque Revival architecture is quite striking when we consider that this was
the very year of the classicizing Yorld's Fair in Chicago. It should also be noted
that, except for its cornice, it is practically identical to Nos. 475 and 485 on
the north side of the street.. Here, at the first floor, the stonework between
the ?egmental-arched windows and doorway consists of long narrow stones of convex
profile. The stones between the deep voussoirs are all carried up to a thin
horizontal bandcourse, which forms the sills for the second-floor windows. By
contrast, the second floor stonework is smooth ashlar,  except for the common drip
molding which crowns all three windows. The unusual cornice has deep brackets,
with evenly spaced small squares between them.

No. 458 was begun in 1892 for F. Klug and was designed by Brooklyn architect
John Koller. It is even more retardataire than No. 456, and, except for its
dentiled and foliate cornice, is a neo-Grec design, with incised linear ornament
at the window lintels and at the “eared" door lintel carried on grooved brackets.

Nos. 460-464. These three houses, having bracketed cornices in common,
were built in the 1890s, like their neighbors on either side. They all display
characteristics of the late Romanesque Revival, and, except for their door enframe-
-ments, are extremely simple in design. They achieve ‘variety principally through
their use of materials, with a dark colored brick at No. 460, brownstone at No.
462" and a-molded brick at No. 464.

_ Nos..466 and 468. This pair of houses was built in 1892 by Brooklyn owner-

' carpenter-architect illiam Hawkins. These houses are of brownstone and have
'similar roof cornices, with paired sunbursts in the fascias between brackets.

Some of the houses in the longer row to the east, built by the same.owner, are
quite similar .and have identical cornices. ' In their use of materials, they reflect
the late Romanesque Revival tradition. : : e '

Nos. 470-480. These six houses, of late Romanesque Revival design, are of
alternating brick and brownstone, and; ‘to further emphasize this difference in
materials, the brownstone houses have sunburst cornices similar to those at Nos.
466 and 468. They were bezun in 1892 by owner-carpenter -architect "Milliam Hawkins,
who lived across the street at No. 449. At most of the doorways, cornice-slabs are
carried on brackets above pilasters. That of MNo. 472 is an exception, as it is
carried on paired colonettes, which, in turn, are supported on corbels set at
mid-height of the doorway: llo. 430 has an entablature carried on pilasters. The
molded brick used at lo. 470 represents an atternt to introduce a new material and
~ texture. No. 470 is narrower than the other houses in this row and, consequently,
has paired windows to the right of the doorway.

Mos. 482-494. The most striking features to be noted in this row of seven
two-family dwellings are the alternatinc curved and three-sided bays, the low
L-shaped stoops and the limestone fronts. These houses were begun in 1908 for the
Prosvect Park ''est Realty Company (Morris Levy, President) and were desieoned by
Brooklyn architect Axel iledman, who also designed buildings in the Stuyvesant
Meishts area. - In style, the details show the influence of the French Renaissance.
The alternating bays and corresponding cornice lines of these three-story buildings
introduce the only rhythmical flow in this otherwise straight-lined blockfront.

- (The Sanders '‘oving Picture Theatre, east of No. 494, is outside of the Mis-
toric District.) '

NORTH SIDE (Mos. 437-495)

. This blockfront, except for the two apartment houses at the eastern end,
has a low-lying character due to the nreponderance of two-story houses. Except
" for the gabled Nueen Anne row near the center, the houses belong basically to the
Pomanesque Revival tradition and again have a remarkably uniform cornice .line.
All but one of these houses have straight stoops, and most of them retain their
fine original iron handrailings, at the stoops, and their yard railings. The ma-
terials are basically brick and brownstone.
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No. 437 is a playground south of the John ". Kimball School (P.S. 107).

Nos. 441-449. This row was built in 1890 by Brooklyn owner-carpenter- -
architect William 'awkins, who lived at Ho. 449.  These five houses, and Nos.
467-471, were the first to go up on this street. They are of brick and have

i brownstone trim, consisting of rough-faced flat 'arches at the first floor and base-

ment, and lintels at the second. 'ith their bracketed cornices, they were built
very much in the local vernacular, with a sugsestion of Romanesque Revival influence
in the rough-faced character of the brownstone trim.

No. 451 was built in 1891 by owner-carpenter "illiam llawkins, with H.B
Hawkins as architect. This house is quite similar to the row to the west, but has,
above the doorway, a neo-Grec lintel carried on small grooved brackets. It also
has a different roof cornice, with more widely spaced brackets, and the whole
house is slightly taller than the row it resembles.

Nos. 453-461. These f1ve houses were built in 1891 for 'rs. G. F. Beatty
and were designed by Brooklyn architect G. F. Beatty They are quite interesting
archltecturally, having only one large window opening alongside each doorway;
these window openings are subdivided with various arrangements of mullions and, in
most cases, transom bars. The cornice, with frankly projecting rafter ends, is
set above an unusual frieze, which is formed by a pattern of alternating light
and dark brick headers. In style, they are a very free version of late Romanesque
Revival. A slender cornice crowns the roush-faced brownstone first floor;
it becomes the cornice slab at the doorways, where it is carried on shallow orna-
mented stone brackets. The upper floors, by contrast, are of molded brick, with
horizontal bands of smooth brick set between every third course. The carved stone
lintels above the parlor floor windows provide further ornamentation. There is an
interesting range of brick colors, with orange at Nos. 453, 455 and 461, and gray
at Nos. 457 and 459.

Nos. 463-471. Creating the one picturesque note in this otherwise severely
horizontal blockfront, these five houses were designed in the Nueen Anne style.
The row was built for Christopher C. Firth in 1890-91 and was designed by
Prooklyn architect ''. N, Tait. These brick houses are symmetrically arranged,
making an ABABA pattern. High gables face the street at Nos. 465 and 469, the
"B" houses, while the 'A” houses are kept lower with parapets, seen in original
form at No. 471. The gabled ‘B houses have round-arched entranceways and wide
segmental-arched parlor windows, with central mullions and stained glass above
the transom bars. The designs of the cables reflect the Flemish Renaissance in-
fluence. Ho. 465 has its original sea-wave cresting above the scalloped slate roof
behind the gable and has diminutive quoins of molded brick defining its width. The
arches of all the windows in the row have rough-faced stone voussoirs. The curvi-
linear ironwork of the handrailings at the stoops and the latticework of the yard
railings are notable.

No. 473 was begun for owner Christopher C. Firth in 1892. It is the only
house on this side of the street with an L-shaped stoop and three stories. The
third story is an addition the house was probably once crowned by a cornice
at the termination of the rough-faced stonework of the wall. In style, this painted
brownstone is a modified version of French Renaissance design, as may be seen at
the doorway and in the richly carved band of stonework above it, extending the width
of the house. Drip moldings crown the wide frames of smooth stonework at the
second floor windows.

Nos. 475-487. This row of seven houses is the longest on the blockfront.
It has two and one-half story, stone-faced houses. They were built in the early
1390s, and Nos. 475 and 485 in this row are almost identical to MNo. 456 across the
street, which was built in 1893. They are retardataire in retaining many elements
of Romanesque Revival design at this date. The most striking feature of these
houses is to be found in the fascia boards below the roof cornices: each of these
has three small rectansular windows, separated by short stubby piers which are
carried on corbels and appear to support the cornice. Nos. 475 and 485 have de-
tails which are fully described under No. 456 and include segmental-arched openings
at the first floors, and bold voussoirs. Iio. 477 has arched openings at the first
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floor and, at the second floor, a remarkable triple window, set under an arch with
a flat top. Capping the wide enframement of this window, is a drip molding,

which ends, at its base, in impost blocks of unusual design. Beside the arched
doorway of No. 479 is an arched double window with flattened top section: the two
square-headed windows at the second floor are embraced by a wide drip molding
terminated on carved bosses. No. 481 has arched openings at first and second
floors, and Nos. 483 and 487 have square-headed windows and doorways.

No. 489 is a four-story neo-Classical apartment house of brick, with lime-
stone at the first floor. It was built in 1904 by William !f{, Calder, who had
developed so much of Twelfth Street. and it was designed by Brooklyn architect
Thomas Bennett. The front facade consists of two wide, swell-front bays. These
enframe a narrow, central stair tower above an entrance porch that has Ionic
columns and is surmounted by a low balustrade. This central section is carried up
above the cornice line. The top floor is given emphasis through the introduction
- of round-arched windows. At the bold roof cornice, carried. on console brackets, is
a frieze with swags. : :

No. 491-495 is a large four-story corner apartment house of brick, which is
described under No. 186 Prospect Park West. It is entered from Fourteenth Street.
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STATEMENT BY THE COMMISSION

The Landmarks Preservation Commission recognizes that the needs of the
churches in the Park Slope Historic District may change in the years ahead.
By this designation it is not intended to freeze the properties of those churches
in their present state for all time'and thus prevent future appropriate alterations
needed by the churches for all their buildings. The Commission believes it has
the obligation and, indeed, it has the desire to cooperate with owners in
Historic Districts who may wish to make changes in their properties to meet their
current and future needs. This attitude reflects the Commission's endorsement
of the view that Landmarks are often successfully preserved through active and
benef1c1a1 use.

The Landmarks Preservatlon Law contains many provisions relating to changes
in Historic Districts. The Commission is already working with owners who wish to .
make changes in their properties and has given many approvals. In this connection
the Commission wishes to state at this time that it recognizes that the churches in
the Park Slope Historic District may want to erect new buildings on their grounds
in the future. The Commission recognizes that the churches may also wish to make
exterior alterations to their existing buildings. The Commission looks forward
to working with the representatives of these churches when they desire to erect
new buildings on their grounds or to make exterior alterations on the1r existing
buildings. : S

FIIDING: AND DESIGNATIONS

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture and
other features of this area, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that
the Park Slope Historic District contains buildings and other improvements which
have a special character and special historical and aesthetic interest and value
and which represent one or more periods or styles of architecture typical of one
or more eras in the history of New York City and which cause this area, by reason
of these factors, to constitute a dlStlnCt section of the City. :

. The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the

Park Slope Historic District is one of the most beautifully situated residential
neighborhoods in the City, that its history and development is closely related

to that of the adjacent Prospect Park, that it is almost exclusively residential

in character with minimal inroads by commerce, that it retains an aura of the past
- to an extent which is unusual in New York, that the wide sunny avenues and tree-
lined streets, with houses of relatively uniform height punctuated by church spires,
provide a living illustration of the 19th century characterization of Brooklyn

as "a city of homes and churches,' that the major development of the District
within a relatively brief span of some five decades, from the Civil Yar period

to Yorld War I, produced a special quality of homogeneity and regularity reflecting
the desire of developers, builders and architects to achieve coherence and dignity
in planning, that this development was a reflection of the social and cultural
aspirations of its residents, that the houses, churches and other structures
provide, in microcosm, a cross-section of the important trends in American archi-
tecture of the time, that the styles include principally: 1late Italianate, French
Second Empire, neo- Grec Victorian Gothic, Queen Anne and exceptionally notable
examples of Romanesque Rev1va1 houses, the finest in the City and among the most
outstanding in the country; followed by the neo-Renaissance, neo-Classical, neo-
-Federal and neo-Georgian, representing the last great wave of development of the
District after the turn-of-the-century: and, finally, that because of its distin-
guished architecture and its special character as a carefully planned, homogeneous
community, it is an outstanding Historic District within the City which continues
to attract new residents.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 63 of the Charter of the
City of New York and Chapter 8-A of the Administrative Code of the City of New
York, the Landmarks Preservation Cormission designates as an Historic District the
Park Slope Historic District, Borough of Brooklyn, containing the property bounded
by the southern property line of 446 through 494 14th Street, the eastern property
line of 494 14th Street, 14th Street, Prospect Park West, 10th Street, the eastern
and northern property lines of 693 10th Street, part of the northern property line
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of 691 10th Street, the eastern property line of 572 9th Street, 9th Street,
Prospect Park West, 4th Street, the eastern -property lines of 597 4th Street, the
eastern property line of 634 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the eastern property line of
631 3rd Street, the southern property lines of 646 and 648 2nd Street and of 65
Prospect Park West, Prospect Park West, 1lst Street, the eastern property line of
567 1st Strget, part of the southern and the eastern property lines of 316 Garfield
Place, Garfield Place, the eastern property line of 323 Garfield Place, part of
the southern property line of 54 Montgomery Place, the southern property lines of
56 through 60 Montgomery Place and of 32 Prospect Park West, Prospect Park West,
Montgomery Place, part of the eastern property line of 59 Montgomery Place, the
southern property line of 25 Prospect Park West, Prospect Park West, part of the
nortbern property line of 13 Prospect Park "Yest, the eastern property line of 946
President Street, President Street, the eastern property line of 953 President
Street, the northern property lines of 953 through 947 President Street, the
northern and part of the western property lines of 945 President Street, the
northern property line of 943 President Street, part of the eastern and the
northern property lines of 941 President Street, the northern property lines of
93? through 933 President Street, the eastern property line of 902 Union Street,
Union Street, the eastern property lines of 71 through 63 8th Avenue, the southern
property lines of 264 through 276 Berkeley Place, the eastern property line of 276
Berkeley Place, Berkeley Place, the eastern property lines of 49 through 27 8th
Avenue, Lincoln Place, Plaza Street, the northern property line of 5 Plaza Street,
8th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the eastern property line of 217 St. Johns Place, the
northern property lines of 217 through 179 St. Johns Place, part of the northern
property line of 31-35 7th Avenue, the eastern property line of 29 7th Avenue, the
eastern property line of 146 Sterling Place, Sterling Place, the eastern property
lines of 19 through 13 7th Avenue, the northern property line of 13 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, Park Place, the eastern property line of 133 Park Place, the northern
property lines of 133 through 95 Park Place, the western property line of 95 Park
Place, Park Place, the western and part of the northern property lines of the
stable (90 Park Place), the southern property line of the stable (90 Park Place),
part of the western property line of 92 Park Place, the southern property lines of
92 through 144 Park Place, the western property lines of 18 through 24 7th Avenue,
Sterling Place, the western property line of 130 Sterling Place, the western prop-
erty line of 34 7th Avenue, part of the northern property line of 139 St. Johns
Place, the northern property lines of 137 through 93 St. Johns Place, the eastern
property lines of 143 through 135 6th Avenue, Sterling Place, the western property
lines of 128 through 146 6th Avenue, St. Johns Place, the western property lines
of 148 through 168 6th Avenue, Lincoln Place, 6th Avenue, Berkeley Place, the
western property lines of 188 through 192-A 6th Avenue, the southern property

line of 192-A 6th Avenue, 6th Avenue, the southern property line of 199 6th Avenue,
part of the western and the southern property lines of 100 Berkeley Place, the
southern property lines of 102 through 156 Berkeley Place, part of the southern
property line of 158 Berkeley Place, the southern property line of 86 7th Avenue,
7th Avenue, the southern property line of 87 7th Avenue, the western property

line of 865 Union Street, Union Street, the western and part of the southern prop-
erty lines of 820 Union Street, the western property line of 833 President Street,
Presiaent Street, the western property line of 828 President Street, the western
property line of 749 Carroll Street, Carroll Street, the western property line of
776 Carroll Street, the western property lines of 8 through 22 Polhemus Place,
part of the northern and the western property lines of 24 Polhemus Place, the
western property line of 219 Garfield Place, Garfield Place, the western and part
of the southern property lines of 214 Garfield Place, the western property line of
465 1st Street, lst Street, the western property line of 460 1lst Street, part of
the northern and the western property lines of 507 2nd Street, 2nd Street, the
western property line of 516A-516 2nd Street, the western property line of 509 3rd
Street, 3rd Street, the western property line of 516 3rd Street, the western prop-
erty line of 465 4th Street, 4th Street, the western property line of 486 4th
Street, the southern property lines of 486 through 504 4th Street, the eastern
property line of 504 4th Street, 4th Street, the eastern and part of the northern
property lines of 513 4th Street, the eastern property line of 562 3rd Street,

3rd Street, 8th Avenue, the southern property line of 225-227 8th Avenue, the
western property line of 581 3rd Street, 3rd Street, the western property line

of 592 3rd Street, the northern and western property lines of 539 4th Street,

4th Street, the western property line of 528 4th Street, the western property

line of 557 5th Street, 5th Street, 8th Avenue, 6th Street, the western property
line of 590 6th Street, part of the northern property line of 571 7th Street, the
northern property lines of 569 through 553 Seventh Street, the western property
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line of 553 7th Street, 7th Street, the western property line of S50 7th Street,
the western property line of 511 8th Street, 8th Street, the western property
line of 502 8th Street, the western property line of 519 9th Street, 9th Street,
the western property line of 526 9th Street, part of the western property line of
643 10th Street, the northern nrorerty lines of 641 through 631-633 10th Street,
8th Avenue, 10th Street, the western and part of the southern property lines of
642 10th Street, the western property line of 583 11th Street, llth Street, the
western property line of 584 11th Street, part of the northern property line of
479 12th Street, the northern property line of 1113 8th Avenue, 8th Avenue,

14th Street, the western property line of 446 14 Street.
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TYPNGRAPHICAL ERRATA

Fagan...instaad of Fagen.
schonl, . ingtnn’ ~F Sghool,
ashlar...instead ot sghlnr
is...instead of are.

served as the...instead of served the.
symbolical...instead of symbolica.
supported...instead of support,
combination...instead of co bination.
design...instead of deisgn.
two...instead of tho.

No. 32...instead of (No. 32).
handsome...instead of handso,
Parfitt...instead of Farfitt,

read framements;...instead of framements,
read pediments, in this house of 1900,...instead of
pediments a,. .
read 1860s. ... instead of 1362.

read Thomas H. ...instead of Thomas A.
read panels...instead of panel

read 1887-88...instead of 1187-88.
read 52-54...instead of 52-52.

read Doherty...instead of Dougherty.
read 921-941...instead of 927-941.
read reflect...instead of presage
read
feature. :

read Sloan, Jr,...instead of Sloane,.

read Pohlman...instead of Pohlmann.

read Delaney...instead of Delany

read northwest...instead of northeast.

read J.H. ...instead of N.H.

read neo-Federal...instead of Federal

read street, ...instead of streets.

read complemented by an...instead of complemented.
read
interrupted.
read and is approached...instead of and approached.
read Bros. Yet...instead of Bros yet.
read
has.
read
read
read
read
read
read
read
read
read

read
roea !
read
read
read
read
read
read
read
read
read
read
read

up to the...instead of up the.

Philip I. Cootey...instead of Philip J.Cooty.
828-844...instead of 823-948.
Donnellon...instead of Donnellow
designs...instead of designs,.
Mowbray...instead of !lowbrey.

house (No. 588-598)...instead of house.
Brooklyn...instead of Rooklyn.
harmonize...instead of harmonizes.

read those...instead of thosw.

read four-story apartment...instead of four-story
brick apartment.

read fleur-de-lis...instead of fleur de lys.

read more...instead of merely.

read who later developed...instead of who had
developed.

read and also developed Nos. 490-502...instead of
and Nos. 490-502.

read columns at...instead of columns of

Chappell...instead of George W.
wvavrence . I~1%, ., . inste~1 of Vaulk
marshes...instead of marches.
redefined...instead of redfined.

rerdl Snorce D,
read

read
read
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Colonial feature...instead of Colonial Revival ‘

eave-line is interrupted...instead of eave-line

Renaissance style has...instead of Renaissance
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